

ACTS OF 2024 LEGISLATURE

Acts 035-135

ACT No. 35

SENATE BILL NO. 204
BY SENATOR MIZELL
AN ACT

To provide relative to state highways; to designate a portion of Louisiana Highway 1064 in Tangipahoa Parish as the "Rev. Alfred L. Hart Memorial Highway"; to provide for restrictions on costs of materials to the department; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, a portion of Louisiana Highway 1064 in Tangipahoa Parish, beginning at the intersection of Louisiana Highway 1064 and Interstate I-55 and ending at North Cherry Street Extension Road, is hereby designated as "Rev. Alfred L. Hart Memorial Highway".

Section 2. The Department of Transportation and Development is hereby directed to erect and maintain appropriate signs of this designation provided local or private monies are received by the department equal to the department's actual costs for material, fabrication, mounting posts, and installation of each sign, not to exceed the sum of five hundred fifty dollars per sign.

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 36

SENATE BILL NO. 211
BY SENATOR LAMBERT
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 56:325.1(A)(3)(b), relative to possession limits for certain fish; to provide for size limits for spotted sea trout and red drum; to provide for possession of fish fillets; to provide for the Wildlife and Fisheries Commission; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 56:325.1(A)(3)(b) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§325.1. Size and possession limits; recreational saltwater finfish; penalties

A.(1)

(3)(a)

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Subparagraph (a) of this Paragraph and R.S. 56:325.2(A) and (B), a fisherman who holds and is in possession of a valid recreational fishing license and can demonstrate to the department's satisfaction use of a boat launch located south of U.S. Highway 90 and that the fisherman has been actively on the water or at a remote camp that can be accessed only by water for two days or more may possess up to the possession limit of filleted red drum, spotted sea trout, and Southern flounder. The filleted fish shall have sufficient skin remaining on the fillet to allow for identification of the species and shall be segregated by species into plastic bags or plastic containers that are marked by species to allow easy identification, the date caught, and the name and license number of the person who took the fish. The spotted sea trout allowable size of fillets shall be no less than ten inches in length and the red drum shall be no less than fourteen inches in length set by the commission. The fish shall be in the possession only of the person who took the fish. However, no fisherman shall be actively fishing or engaged in fishing while in possession of more than the daily take limit.

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 37

SENATE BILL NO. 214
BY SENATOR MIGUEZ
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:95.5(C)(2), relative to the illegal carrying of

THE ADVOCATE
PAGE 1

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

weapons; to provide an exception for the lawful concealed carry of a handgun in a restaurant that serves alcoholic beverages; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:95.5(C)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§95.5. Possession of firearm on premises of alcoholic beverage outlet

C.(1)

(2) The provisions of this Section shall not apply to a person possessing a firearm in accordance with a concealed handgun permit issued pursuant to R.S. 40:1379.1 or 1379.3, or pursuant to R.S. 14:95(M) on the premises of an alcoholic beverage outlet which has been issued a Class A-Restaurant permit, as defined in Part II of Chapter 1 or Part II of Chapter 2 of Title 26 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 4, 2024; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval by the legislature or July 4, 2024, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 38

SENATE BILL NO. 233
BY SENATOR MIGUEZ
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:95(H)(2) and to enact R.S. 40:1379.1.3(D),(E),(F), and (G) and 1379.1.4(F),(G),(H), and (I), relative to carrying of concealed firearms; to provide relative to carrying of concealed firearms by qualified law enforcement officers and retired law enforcement officers and certain state officials; to provide relative to penalties for violation of concealed carry provisions; to provide relative to authority of attorney general to bring civil actions; to provide for court costs and attorney fees; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:95(H)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§95. Illegal carrying of weapons

H.

(2) Nothing in this Subsection shall permit the carrying of a weapon in the state capitol building; **with the exception of the following state officials if they are annually qualified in the use of firearms by the Council on Peace Officer Standards and Training:**

(a) The attorney general and members of his Louisiana Bureau of Investigation security detail.

(b) Members of the legislature.

Section 2. R.S. 40:1379.1.3(D),(E),(F), and (G) and 1379.1.4(F),(G),(H), and (I) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1379.1.3. Carrying of concealed firearms by qualified law enforcement officers

D. No business organization shall deny entry or otherwise prohibit a qualified law enforcement officer who is lawfully carrying a concealed firearm from entering a venue.

E. As used in this Section:

(1) "Business organization" means a sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, or other business association recognized by the Internal Revenue Service.

(2) "Venue" means a physical location open to the public that is operated, managed, owned by, or otherwise under the control or authority of a business organization.

F. A business organization operating a venue shall be subject to a civil fine of one thousand dollars per occurrence to be paid to the Department of Justice for each violation of the provisions of Subsection D of this Section. Each violation of Subsection D of this Section shall constitute a separate offense. The attorney general shall have the authority to bring a civil action arising out of any violation of the provisions of Subsection D of this Section, in addition to any other authority granted by the Constitution of Louisiana and laws of this state.

G. The court shall assess all court costs, including attorney fees, incurred in the institution of the action authorized by Subsection F of this Section against the subject of the action for any violation of the provisions of Subsection D of this Section.

§1379.1.4. Carrying of concealed firearms by qualified retired law enforcement officers

F. No business organization shall deny entry or otherwise prohibit a qualified retired law enforcement officer who is lawfully carrying a concealed firearm

CODING: Words in struck through type are deletions from existing law; words underlined (House Bills) and underscored and boldfaced (Senate Bills) are additions.

from entering a venue.

G. As used in this Section:

(1) "Business organization" means a sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, or other business association recognized by the Internal Revenue Service.

(2) "Venue" means a physical location open to the public that is operated, managed, owned by, or otherwise under the control or authority of a business organization.

H. A business organization operating a venue shall be subject to a civil fine of one thousand dollars per occurrence to be paid to the Department of Justice for each violation of the provisions of Subsection F of this Section. Each violation of Subsection F of this Section shall constitute a separate offense. The attorney general shall have the authority to bring a civil action arising out of any violation of the provisions of Subsection F of this Section, in addition to any other authority granted by the Constitution of Louisiana and laws of this state.

I. The court shall assess all court costs, including attorney fees, incurred in the institution of the action authorized by Subsection H of this Section against the subject of the action for any violation of the provisions of Subsection F of this Section.

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 39

HOUSE BILL NO. 9
BY REPRESENTATIVE ILLG
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 11:1636(B)(1) and (2), relative to the District Attorneys' Retirement System; to provide technical changes; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article X, Section 29(C) of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 11:1636(B)(1) and (2) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1636. Survivors' benefits

* * *

B. Upon the death of any active contributing member with five or more years of creditable service, or any member with twenty-three years of service who has not retired, the following benefits shall be paid:

(1) Surviving spouse with or without minor children. The member shall be deemed to have been eligible to retire and to have exercised option 2 benefits on behalf of the surviving spouse who shall be paid such benefits just as though the member had retired and elected option 2 benefits on the day following death. Benefits shall be based on the retirement benefit accrual rate and reduction factors applicable to the member's retirement benefit with salary and creditable service through the date of death; however, the reduction of benefits resulting from the application of R.S. ~~11:1632(B) or 1633(5)~~ 11:1632(B) or 1633(B) and the option 2 factors used shall be based on the presumption that the member continued in service to the date he would have first become eligible for retirement under R.S. ~~11:1633(5) or 1632(B)~~ 11:1632(B) or 1633(A).

(2) Surviving minor children, no surviving spouse. The aggregate amount payable to all surviving minor children shall be eighty percent of the member's benefits accrued through his date of death. Such accrued benefits shall be based on salary and creditable service through the date of death; however, any reduction in benefits resulting from the application of R.S. ~~11:1632(B) or 1633(5)~~ 11:1632(B) or 1633(B) shall not be in excess of the reduction resulting from the presumption that the member continued in service to the date he would have first become eligible for retirement under R.S. ~~11:1633(5) or 1632(B)~~ 11:1632(B) or 1633(A). Benefits payable to minor children shall be paid in equal shares with shares reallocated as each child's benefit ceases.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 40

HOUSE BILL NO. 74
BY REPRESENTATIVE BACALA
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Criminal Procedure Article 404(J), relative to jury commissions; to provide for the functions of the jury commission in the parishes of Ascension, Assumption, and St. James; to transfer the functions of the jury commission to the clerks of court of Ascension Parish, Assumption Parish, and St. James Parish; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Criminal Procedure Article 404(J) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 404. Appointment of jury commissions; term of office; oath; quorum; performance of functions of jury commissions in certain parishes

THE ADVOCATE
PAGE 2

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

* * *

J. In the parish parishes of Ascension, Assumption, Jackson, and St. James, the function of the jury commission shall be performed by the clerk clerks of court of Ascension Parish, Assumption Parish, Jackson Parish, and St. James Parish or by a deputy clerk of court designated by the respective clerk in writing to act in his stead in all matters affecting the jury commission. The clerk of court or his designated deputy shall have the same powers, duties, and responsibilities, and shall be governed by all applicable provisions of law pertaining to jury commissioners. The clerk clerks of court of Ascension Parish, Assumption Parish, Jackson Parish, and St. James Parish shall perform the duties and responsibilities otherwise imposed upon him by law with respect to jury venires, shall coordinate the jury venire process, and shall receive the compensation generally authorized for a jury commissioner.

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 41

HOUSE BILL NO. 102
BY REPRESENTATIVE FIRMENT
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 13:5554.13, relative to the payment of group insurance premiums for retired sheriffs and deputy sheriffs in LaSalle Parish; to create a permanent fund; to require the depositing of certain monies into the fund; to provide for investment of monies in the fund; to authorize the withdrawal of earnings; to provide for limitations on appropriations from the fund; to provide for audits of the fund; to provide for the membership and election on the investment advisory board; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:5554.13 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§5554.13. LaSalle Parish; payment of group insurance premiums; retired sheriffs and deputy sheriffs; creation of fund

A. There is hereby created the LaSalle Parish Sheriff Retired Employees Insurance Fund, hereinafter referred to in this Section as the "LSREIF", to help offset the payment by the sheriff's office of LaSalle Parish of the premium costs for eligible retired sheriffs and retired deputy sheriffs as provided in R.S. 13:5554(M).

B. The sheriff of LaSalle Parish may contribute to the LSREIF at his discretion.

C. Upon recommendations of the board established in Subsection F of this Section, the sheriff of LaSalle Parish shall invest the funds into the Louisiana Asset Management Pool.

D.(1) The earnings realized on the monies invested pursuant to Subsection C of this Section shall be available for the sheriff to withdraw for the sole purpose of paying the insurance premium costs provided in R.S. 13:5554(M) for retired sheriffs and retired deputy sheriffs of LaSalle Parish, legal representation costs for the LSREIF board, or both, provided that no such earnings shall be withdrawn until the amount of principal and accumulated earnings in the LSREIF are equal to the sum of two million five hundred thousand dollars.

(2) In the event that the total amount of monies derived from deposits provided in Subsection B of this Section and investment earnings fall below the sum of two million five hundred thousand dollars, no earnings shall be withdrawn, and any balance owed for the payment of insurance premium costs as required by R.S. 13:5554(M) or legal representation costs for the LSREIF board shall be paid in full from the sheriff's general fund.

E. The legislative auditor shall audit the fund annually and audit costs shall be paid by the sheriff of LaSalle Parish from the sheriff's general fund.

F.(1) To provide recommendations concerning the investment of funds as provided in Subsection C of this Section, the sheriff shall establish an investment advisory board consisting of three members as follows:

(a) The sheriff or his designee.

(b) One retired sheriff or retired deputy sheriff of the department, appointed by the sheriff, who shall serve a term determined by the sheriff.

(c) One active deputy sheriff of the department, appointed by the sheriff, who shall serve a term determined by the sheriff.

(2) The members of the board shall elect a chairperson at its first board meeting, which shall be held within thirty days after the appointment of board members.

(3) Any board vacancy shall be filled within sixty days of the date the vacancy occurs.

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 42

HOUSE BILL NO. 163
BY REPRESENTATIVE BOURRIQUE
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 13:5554.9(D) and (F), relative to the employee

CODING: Words in ~~struck through~~ type are deletions from existing law; words underlined (House Bills) and underscored and **boldfaced** (Senate Bills) are additions.

insurance fund for retired sheriffs and deputy sheriffs in Cameron Parish; to provide relative to the membership of the investment advisory board; and to provide for the terms of members; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:5554.9(D) and (F) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§5554.9. Cameron Parish; payment of group insurance premiums; retired sheriffs and deputy sheriffs; creation of fund

* * *

~~D.(1) The earnings realized on the monies deposited pursuant to Subsection B of this Section and the monies invested pursuant to Subsection C of this Section and the accumulated earnings shall be available for the sheriff to withdraw for the sole purpose of paying the insurance premium costs, claims, and premiums provided in R.S. 13:5554(G) and (I) for retired sheriffs and retired deputy sheriffs of Cameron Parish, legal representation costs for the CREIF Board, or both, provided that no such earnings shall be withdrawn until the amount of principal and accumulated earnings in the CREIF are equal to the sum of one million five hundred thousand dollars.~~

~~(2) In the event that the total amount of monies derived from deposits provided in Subsection B of this Section and investment earnings fall below the sum of one million five hundred thousand dollars, no earnings shall be withdrawn, and any balance owed for the payment of insurance premium costs as required by R.S. 13:5554(G) and (I) or legal representation costs for the CREIF Board shall be paid in full from the sheriff's general fund.~~

* * *

F.(1) To provide recommendations concerning the investment of funds as provided in Subsection C of this Section, the sheriff shall establish an investment advisory board consisting of ~~three~~ five members as follows:

~~(a) The sheriff or his designee. The chief financial officer of the sheriff's office.~~

~~(b) One retired sheriff or retired deputy sheriff of the department, appointed by the sheriff, who shall serve a term determined by the sheriff. Four active or retired sheriffs or deputy sheriffs as determined by the sheriff.~~

~~(c) One active deputy sheriff of the department, appointed by the sheriff, who shall serve a term determined by the sheriff.~~

~~(2) The terms of the members shall be concurrent with that of the sheriff.~~

~~(2)(3) The members of the board shall elect a chairperson at its first board meeting, which shall be held within thirty days after the appointment of board members.~~

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 43

HOUSE BILL NO. 206
BY REPRESENTATIVE VILLIO
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Criminal Procedure Article 657 and to enact Code of Criminal Procedure Article 657.3, relative to the continued commitment of certain committed persons; to provide for an exception; to provide for continued custody of certain committed persons based on criteria; to provide for the duration of active supervised release; to provide for a definition; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Criminal Procedure Article 657 is hereby amended and reenacted and Code of Criminal Procedure Article 657.3 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

Art. 657. Discharge or release; hearing

After considering the report or reports filed pursuant to Articles 655 and 656, the court may either continue the commitment or hold a contradictory hearing to determine whether the committed person no longer has a mental illness as defined by ~~R.S. 28:2~~ Article 657.3 and can be discharged, or can be released on probation, without danger to others or to himself as defined by R.S. 28:2. At the hearing the burden shall be upon the state to seek continuance of the confinement by proving by clear and convincing evidence that the committed person currently has a mental illness and is dangerous, ~~except as provided in Code of Criminal Procedure Article 657.3.~~ After the hearing, and upon filing written findings of fact and conclusions of law, the court may order the committed person discharged, released on probation subject to specified conditions for a fixed or an indeterminate period, or recommitted to the state mental institution. A copy of the judgment and order containing the written findings of fact and conclusions of law shall be forwarded to the administrator of the forensic facility. Notice to the counsel for the committed person and the district attorney of the contradictory hearing shall be given at least thirty days prior to the hearing.

* * *

Art. 657.3. Active supervised release for dangerous but not mentally ill committed persons

A. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the state may seek active supervised release by the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, office of probation and parole, of a committed person based upon the committed person's continued dangerousness even if the committed person does not have a mental illness as defined by this Article, if both of the

following conditions are satisfied:

(1) The committed person was found not guilty by reason of insanity for any of the following offenses or attempts to commit any of them:

(a) Any crime punishable by death or by life imprisonment.

(b) Any crime that is either a crime of violence as defined by R.S. 14:2(B) or a sex offense as defined by R.S. 15:541.

(2) The state proves by clear and convincing evidence that the committed person is dangerous to others or dangerous to himself as defined by R.S. 28:2. In satisfying its burden of proof, the state may not rely solely upon the nature of the crime for which the committed person was found not guilty by reason of insanity and may not rely solely upon the diagnosis of any personality disorder.

B. Upon satisfaction of the criteria for active supervised release provided in Paragraph A of this Article and consideration of any report filed pursuant to Articles 655 and 656, the court shall order the committed person to be placed on active supervised release with any special conditions recommended to the court as well as any conditions of probation provided in Article 895 et seq. for a period not to exceed three years. Such period may be extended in three-year increments upon motion of the district attorney and proof that the committed person still satisfies the criteria for active supervised release under this Article. Under no circumstances shall a committed person who is on active supervised release pursuant to this Article be subject to a probation period that is longer than the maximum term he would have received if he had been convicted of the offense.

C. When the committed person is placed on active supervised release, the clerk of court shall deliver a certificate to him setting forth the conditions of his release. The committed person shall be required to agree in writing to the conditions of his release.

D. When the committed person has violated or is suspected of violating the conditions of his release, he may be arrested and detained pursuant to Article 899.

E. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as abrogating or negating any other provision of this Chapter or any other provision of law relative to the continued commitment, discharge, or conditional release of a person committed pursuant to Article 654.

F. For the purposes of this Title, "mental illness" means a psychiatric disorder which has substantial adverse effects on a person's ability to function and requires care and treatment. It does not refer to a person with, solely, an intellectual disability, or who suffers solely from epilepsy or a substance-related or addictive disorder.

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 44

HOUSE BILL NO. 212
BY REPRESENTATIVE BEAULLIEU
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 46:1844(Y), relative to victim notification in certain circumstances; to require the Louisiana Department of Health to provide notice to certain parties when a person committed to their custody is transferred or released from custody; to require the office of the district attorney to provide notice to certain parties; to provide with respect to electronic notice when a defendant escapes or absconds; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 46:1844(Y) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1844. Basic rights for victim and witness

* * *

Y. Notification when the defendant is found not competent to stand trial or not guilty by reason of insanity.

(1) When the defendant has been adjudicated as not competent to stand trial or has been found not guilty by reason of insanity and has been committed to the custody of the Louisiana Department of Health pursuant to Title XXI of the Code of Criminal Procedure, the Louisiana Department of Health shall notify the appropriate court of criminal jurisdiction and the district attorney if any of the following occur:

(a) The defendant is transferred to another facility.

(b) The defendant is placed on conditional release, including any material changes that are made to the conditions of his release.

(c) The defendant is released from custody.

(2)(a) Upon filing of a victim notice and registration form by a victim, a family member of a victim, or a witness, the district attorney's office shall notify by mail or electronic communications the victim or the victim's family and all persons who have filed a victim registration and notification form within thirty days of the receipt of notification.

(b) Notice by electronic communication shall be allowed only in instances where the registered person has opted in to such form of notification during the registration process and is complete upon transmission.

(3)(a) In the event of an escape or absconding of a defendant, including a juvenile defendant, from any facility under the jurisdiction of the Louisiana Department of Health or from a private mental institution where the defendant has been committed, the Louisiana Department of Health or the private mental institution shall immediately notify all of the following of the

escape by the most reasonable and expedient means possible:

- (i) The appropriate court of criminal jurisdiction.
- (ii) The district attorney.
- (iii) The victim, family member of the victim, or witness, if known to the department, at the most current address or phone number on file with the department.

(b) If the defendant is recaptured, the Louisiana Department of Health or the private mental institution shall send notice within forty-eight hours of regaining custody of the defendant.

(4) In no case shall the state be held liable for damages for any failure to provide notice pursuant to this Section.

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 45

HOUSE BILL NO. 214
BY REPRESENTATIVES VILLIO AND THOMPSON
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:72.2, relative to offenses against property; to provide relative to the offense of monetary instrument abuse; to provide relative to elements of the offense; to provide relative to definitions; to provide for a penalty; to provide for restitution; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:72.2 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:
§72.2. Monetary instrument abuse

A. Whoever makes, issues, possesses, sells, or otherwise transfers a counterfeit or forged monetary instrument of the United States, a state, or a political subdivision thereof, or of an organization, or a person with intent to deceive or defraud another person, shall be fined not more than one million dollars but not less than five thousand dollars or imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than ten years but not less than six months, or both.

B. Whoever makes, issues, possesses, sells, or otherwise transfers an implement designed for or particularly suited for making a counterfeit or forged monetary instrument with the intent to deceive or defraud a person shall be fined not more than one million dollars but not less than five thousand dollars, or imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than ten years but not less than six months, or both.

C. Upon a second or subsequent conviction of a violation of the provisions of this Section, the offender shall be imprisoned with or without hard labor, for not less than one year nor more than ten years and may, in addition, be required to pay a fine of not more than one million dollars.

D. For purposes of this Section:

(1) "Counterfeit" means a document or writing that purports to be genuine but is not, because it has been falsely made, manufactured, or composed.

(2) "Forged" means the false making or altering, with intent to defraud, of any signature to, or any part of, any writing purporting to have legal efficacy. Forged also means the washing through the use of chemical solvents or physical removal of ink writing on a monetary instrument with the intent to defraud, including but not limited to the washing or physical removal of a name of a payee or dollar amount on a monetary instrument.

(3) "Monetary instrument" means:

(a) A note, stock certificate, treasury stock certificate, bond, treasury bond, debenture, certificate of deposit, interest coupon, warrant, debit or credit instrument, access device or means of electronic fund transfer, United States currency, check or draft, money order, bank check, teller's check, cashier's check, traveler's check, letter of credit, warehouse receipt, negotiable bill of lading, certificate of interest in or participation in any profit-sharing agreement, collateral-trust certificate, pre-organization certificate of subscription, transferable share, investment contract, voting trust certificate, or certificate of interest in tangible or intangible property.

(b) An instrument evidencing ownership of goods, wares, or merchandise.

(c) Any other written instrument commonly known as a security.

(d) A certificate of interest in, certificate of participation in, certificate for, receipt for, or warrant or option or other right to subscribe to or purchase, any of the foregoing.

(e) A blank form of any of the foregoing.

(4) "Organization" means a legal entity, other than a government, established or organized for any purpose, and includes a corporation, limited liability company, company, federally insured financial institution, association, firm, partnership, joint stock company, foundation, institution, society, union, or any other association of persons which operates in or the activities of which affect intrastate, interstate, or foreign commerce.

(5) "State" includes a any state of the United States, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, Guam, the Virgin Islands, and any other territory or possession of the United States.

D. E. In addition to the penalties provided in Subsections A, and B, and C of this Section, a person convicted under the provisions of this Section shall be ordered to make full restitution to the victim and any other person who has suffered a financial loss as a result of the offense in accordance with Code of Criminal Procedure Article 883.2. If a person ordered to make restitution pursuant to this Section is found to be indigent and therefore unable to make

restitution in full at the time of conviction, the court shall order a periodic payment plan consistent with the person's financial ability.

Approved by the Governor, May 13, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 46

SENATE BILL NO. 1
BY SENATOR PRICE AND REPRESENTATIVES BRYANT, CHASSION,
DAVIS, JACKSON, LARVADAIN, LYONS, MARCELLE, NEWELL,
SELDERS AND WALTERS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 11:143(C)(2), relative to transfers between public retirement systems; to provide for the actuarially required employer contributions; to provide for the definition of a term; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 11:143(C)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§143. Transfers between systems

* * *

C. Except as provided in Paragraph (D)(6) of this Section and notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, the system, fund, or plan from which the person transfers such credit shall transfer to the receiving system, fund, or plan an amount which is the lesser of the following:

* * *

(2)(a) All employee contributions, all employer contributions, provided that in any system, fund, or plan, where the employer contribution is not a fixed percentage of the employee's earnings, an employer contribution which that is equal to the employee contribution, in addition to a sum, representing interest, equal to the board-approved actuarial valuation rate of the transferring system, fund, or plan compounded annually, of all contributions per annum for each year of contribution to the date of transfer.

(b) For any system covered by the provisions of R.S. 11:102 or 103, "employer contributions" as used in this Paragraph means the actuarially required employer contributions determined in accordance with R.S. 11:102 or 103, as applicable.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024, or on the day following such approval by the legislature, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 47

SENATE BILL NO. 3
BY SENATOR PRICE
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 11:1452, relative to the Louisiana Assessors' Retirement Fund; to provide relative to deferred retirement; to provide for receipt of benefits by an employee who terminates prior to attaining retirement eligibility; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 11:1452 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:
§1452. Deferred retirement

If the services as an employee or assessor of any member who has twelve or more years of credited service are terminated prior to the time the member becomes fifty-five years of age **eligible for normal retirement**, the former member may leave his contributions in the fund and upon attaining the age of fifty-five years **required under the provisions of R.S. 11:1421**, he shall be eligible for a regular retirement benefit. ~~If the services as an employee or assessor of any member who has thirty or more years of credited service are terminated prior to the time the member becomes fifty years of age, the former member may leave his contributions in the fund and upon attaining the age of fifty years, he shall be eligible for a regular retirement benefit.~~

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 48

SENATE BILL NO. 36
BY SENATOR KLEINPETER
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 13:5554.13, relative to the payment of group insurance premiums for retired sheriffs and deputy sheriffs in West Feliciana Parish; to create a permanent fund; to provide for the depositing of certain monies into the fund; to provide for investment of monies in the fund; to authorize the withdrawal of earnings; to provide for limitations on appropriations from the fund; to provide for audits of the fund; to provide for the membership of the investment advisory board; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:5554.13 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§5554.13. West Feliciana Parish; payment of group insurance premiums; retired sheriffs and deputy sheriffs; creation of fund

A. There is hereby created the West Feliciana Parish Sheriff Retired Employees Insurance Fund, hereinafter referred to as the "WFREIF", to help offset the payment by the sheriff's office of West Feliciana Parish of the premium costs for eligible retired sheriffs and retired deputy sheriffs as provided in R.S. 13:5554(G).

B. The sheriff of West Feliciana Parish may contribute to the WFREIF at his discretion.

C. Upon recommendations of the board established in Subsection F of this Section, the sheriff of West Feliciana Parish shall invest at least twenty-five percent in fixed income investments into the WFREIF, provided that at least seventy-five percent is rated as investment grade by a nationally recognized rating agency, and may invest in equities.

D.(1) The monies deposited pursuant to Subsection B of this Section and the monies invested pursuant to Subsection C of this Section and the accumulated earnings shall be available for the sheriff to withdraw for the sole purpose of paying the insurance costs, claims, or premiums for retired sheriffs and retired deputy sheriffs of West Feliciana Parish, or for legal representation costs for the WFREIF Board.

(2) In the event that the total amount of monies deposited pursuant to Subsection B of this Section and the monies invested pursuant to Subsection C of this Section fall below the sum of one million five hundred thousand dollars, no earnings shall be withdrawn, and any balance owed for the payment of insurance premium costs or legal representation costs for the board established in Subsection F of this Section shall be paid in full from the sheriff's general fund.

E. Any financial audit conducted of the sheriff's office of West Feliciana Parish shall specifically address compliance with the provisions of this Section.

F.(1) To provide recommendations concerning the investment of funds as provided in Subsection C of this Section, the sheriff shall establish an investment advisory board consisting of three members as follows:

(a) The sheriff or his designee.

(b) One retired sheriff or retired deputy sheriff of the department, appointed by the sheriff, who shall serve a term determined by the sheriff.

(c) One active deputy sheriff of the department, appointed by the sheriff, who shall serve a term determined by the sheriff.

(2) The members of the board shall elect a chairperson at its first board meeting, which shall be held within thirty days after the appointment of board members.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 49

SENATE BILL NO. 45
BY SENATOR MCMATH AND REPRESENTATIVES BERAULT,
BOURRIQUE, BOYD, BRYANT, CARVER, CHASSION, COX,
DAVIS, FISHER, GLORIOSO, GREEN, HILFERTY, HUGHES, KNOX,
LARVADAIN, MARCELLE, MUSCARELLO, NEWELL, OWEN, RISER,
STAGNI, TAYLOR, THOMAS, THOMPSON, TURNER, VILLIO, WALTERS,
WILEY AND YOUNG
AN ACT

To provide relative to highways in the state; to designate an elevated portion of Interstate 12 in St. Tammany Parish as the "Patricia 'Pat' Brister Memorial Bridge"; to designate a portion of United States Highway 51 in St. John the Baptist Parish as the "Arnold J. Labat Memorial Highway"; to provide for restrictions on costs of materials to the department; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. (A) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the elevated portion of Interstate 12 in St. Tammany Parish, which crosses the Tchefuncte River, is hereby designated as the "Patricia 'Pat' Brister Memorial Bridge".

(B) The Department of Transportation and Development is hereby directed to erect and maintain appropriate signs of this designation provided local or private monies are received by the department equal to the department's actual

THE ADVOCATE
PAGE 5

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

costs for material, fabrication, mounting posts, and installation of each sign, not to exceed the sum of one thousand six hundred eighty dollars per sign.

Section 2. (A) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, a portion of United States Highway 51 in St. John the Baptist Parish between United States Highway 61 and Interstate 10, is hereby designated as the "Arnold J. Labat Memorial Highway".

(B) The Department of Transportation and Development is hereby directed to erect and maintain appropriate signs of the designation provided local or private monies are received by the department equal to the department's actual costs for material, fabrication, mounting posts, and installation of each sign, not to exceed the sum of five hundred fifty dollars per sign.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 50

SENATE BILL NO. 65
BY SENATOR HENSGENS
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 49:191(2)(b) and to repeal R.S. 49:191(12)(c), relative to the Department of Energy and Natural Resources, including provisions to provide for the recreation of the Department of Energy and Natural Resources and the statutory entities made a part of the department by law; to provide for the effective termination date for all statutory authority for the existence of such statutory entities; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Pursuant to R.S. 49:193, the Department of Energy and Natural Resources and the statutory entities made a part of the department by law shall be recreated effective June 30, 2024, and all statutory authority therefor is continued in accordance with the provisions of Part XII of Chapter 1 of Title 49 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950.

Section 2. All statutory authority for the existence of the Department of Energy and Natural Resources and the statutory entities made a part of the department as recreated by Section 1 of this Act shall cease as of July 1, 2029, pursuant to R.S. 49:191. However, the Department of Energy and Natural Resources may be recreated prior to such date in accordance with the provisions of Part XII of Chapter 1 of Title 49 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950.

Section 3. The provisions of R.S. 49:193 are hereby superseded to the extent that those provisions are in conflict with the provisions of this Act.

Section 4. R.S. 49:191(2)(b) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§191. Termination of legislative authority for existence of statutory entities; phase-out period for statutory entities; table of dates

Notwithstanding any termination dates set by any previous Act of the legislature, the statutory entities set forth in this Section shall begin to terminate their operations on July first of each of the following years, and all legislative authority for the existence of any statutory entity, as defined in R.S. 49:190, shall cease as of July first of the following year, which shall be the termination date:

(2) July 1, 2028:

* * *
* * *

(b) The Department of Energy and Natural Resources and all statutory entities made a part of the department by law.

* * *

Section 5. R.S. 49:191(12)(c) is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Section 6. This Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024, or on the day following such approval by the legislature, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 51

SENATE BILL NO. 67
BY SENATORS WHEAT, ABRAHAM, ALLAIN, BARROW, BASS,
BOUDREAUX, BOUIE, CLOUD, CONNICK, EDMONDS, FOIL, HARRIS,
HENRY, HODGES, JACKSON-ANDREWS, JENKINS, KLEINPETER,
LAMBERT, LUNEAU, MCMATH, MIGUEZ, MILLER, MIZELL, MORRIS,
OWEN, PRESSLY, PRICE, SEABAUGH, STINE, TALBOT AND WOMACK
AND REPRESENTATIVES AMEDEE, BACALA, BAGLEY, BAMBURG,
BERAULT, BILLINGS, BOURRIQUE, BOYD, BOYER, BRASS,
BRAUD, BROWN, BRYANT, BUTLER, CARLSON, CARPENTER,
CARRIER, WILFORD CARTER, CARVER, CHASSION, CHENEVERT,
CREWS, DAVIS, DEVILLIER, DEWITT, DICKERSON, DOMANGUE,
ECHOLS, EDMONSTON, EGAN, EMERSON, FIRMENT, FISHER,
FONTENOT, FREIBERG, GADBERRY, GLORIOSO, GREEN, HEBERT,
HILFERTY, HORTON, HUGHES, ILLG, JACKSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON,
KNOX, JACOB LANDRY, LARVADAIN, LYONS, MACK, MCCORMICK,

CODING: Words in ~~struck through~~ type are deletions from existing law; words under-
scored (House Bills) and underscored and **boldfaced** (Senate Bills) are additions.

To provide relative to state highways; to designate a portion of Interstate 55 in Tangipahoa Parish as the "Trooper Hung Le Memorial Highway"; to provide for restrictions on costs of materials to the department; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the portion of Interstate 55 between mile marker sixteen and mile marker twenty-three in Tangipahoa Parish is hereby designated as the "Trooper Hung Le Memorial Highway".

Section 2. The Department of Transportation and Development is hereby directed to erect and maintain appropriate signs of this designation provided local or private monies are received by the department equal to the department's actual costs for material, fabrication, mounting posts, and installation of each sign, not to exceed the sum of one thousand six hundred eighty dollars per sign.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 52

SENATE BILL NO. 71
BY SENATOR CLOUD
AN ACT

To authorize and provide for the transfer of certain state property; to authorize the transfer of certain state property in Allen Parish and East Baton Rouge Parish; to provide for the property description; to provide for reservation of mineral rights; to provide terms and conditions; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. The commissioner of administration and the secretary of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, are hereby authorized and empowered to convey, transfer, assign, lease, or deliver any interest the state may have to all or any portion of the following described parcel of property to the Allen Parish Police Jury:

A portion of the Allen Correctional Center (OSL Site Code 5-02-008), being situated in Sections 5 and 8, Township 6 South, Range 4 West, Allen Parish, Louisiana, said portion estimated to contain approximately 160 acres.

Section 2. The commissioner of administration and the secretary of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections are hereby authorized to enter into such agreements, covenants, conditions, and stipulations and to execute such documents as necessary to properly effectuate any conveyance, transfer, assignment, lease, or delivery of title to the property described in Section 1, and as more specifically described in any such agreements entered into and documents executed by and between the parties.

Section 3. The commissioner of administration and the president of Southern University and Agricultural and Mechanical College, notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, are hereby authorized and empowered to convey, transfer, assign, lease, or deliver any interest the state may have to all or any portion of the following described parcel of property in East Baton Rouge Parish to the Southern University System Foundation:

A CERTAIN LOT OR PORTION OF GROUND, together with all the buildings and improvements thereon, situated in the Parish of East Baton Rouge, State of Louisiana in that subdivision thereof known as SOUTHERN HEIGHTS, and being more particularly described according to the official map of said subdivision on file and of record in the office of the Clerk and Recorder for said Parish and State of LOT NUMBER THIRTY-SIX (36) said subdivision, said lot having such measurements and dimensions as are shown on the official recorded subdivision map.

Section 4. The commissioner of administration and the president of Southern University and Agricultural and Mechanical College are hereby authorized to enter into such agreements, covenants, conditions, and stipulations and to execute such documents as necessary to properly effectuate any conveyance, transfer, assignment, lease, or delivery of title to the property described in Section 3, and as more specifically described in any such agreements entered into and documents executed by and between the parties.

Section 5. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 53

SENATE BILL NO. 82
BY SENATOR ALLAIN
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 3:1(7), 1024, and 3225(A), relative to the state chemist; to provide relative to the director of the Louisiana Agricultural Experiment Station of the Louisiana State University Agricultural Center or his designee; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 3:1(7), 1024, and 3225(A) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1. Terms defined

As used in this Title, the terms defined in this Section have the meanings herein given to them, except where the context expressly indicates otherwise:

* * *

(7) "State chemist", notwithstanding anything in this Title to the contrary, means the director of the Louisiana agricultural experiment station of the Louisiana State University Agricultural Center ~~and also shall mean or~~ his designee, who shall be a member of the university's academic faculty and who, as determined by the state chemist, possesses a practical understanding of a body of knowledge that is sufficient to properly effect relevant analytical and microscopical work, research that may contribute to the knowledge of the properties, values, and proper use of commercial feeding stuffs, commercial fertilizers, and commercial insecticides and fungicides in Louisiana, and other analyses, determinations, responsibilities, duties, and obligations imposed on the state chemist in this Title.

* * *

§1024. Director of experiment stations as state chemist

The director of the Louisiana Agricultural Experiment Station of the Louisiana State University Agricultural Center or his designee shall be the state chemist, with all the rights conferred and all the duties and obligations imposed on the state chemist, especially as to analytical and microscopical work that may be necessary or desirable and all research as may contribute to the knowledge of the properties, values, and proper use of commercial feeding stuffs, commercial fertilizers, and commercial insecticides and fungicides in Louisiana.

* * *

§3225. State chemist

A. The director of the Louisiana Agricultural Experiment Station of the Louisiana State University Agricultural Center or his designee shall be the state chemist.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 54

SENATE BILL NO. 95
BY SENATOR WHEAT
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 3:743(B) and (C), relative to strayed animals; to provide for the possession of a strayed animal; to provide for additional notification methods; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 3:743(B) and (C) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§743. Strayed animals

* * *

B. Each person who takes possession of a strayed animal which is subject to the provisions of this Part shall notify the commission by certified mail, return receipt requested or by electronic submission through the department's website. The notice shall indicate the kind of animal; the color, weight, size, sex, age, brands, marks, and distinguishing features of the animal; the place where the animal is kept; and the name and address of the person holding the animal. The costs and expenses which may be charged by a person holding a strayed animal shall commence on the date the notice is mailed or electronically submitted through the department's website to the commission.

C. If the commission is unable to determine the ownership of the strayed animal, the commission shall notify the person holding the strayed animal who, within ten days of receipt of the notice, shall cause the strayed animal to be advertised and sold in accordance with ~~law~~ R.S. 3:3006.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on

the day following such approval.
Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.
A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 55

SENATE BILL NO. 104
BY SENATOR WHEAT
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 3:3004(A), 3005(B), and 3006, relative to livestock found at large; to provide for who may take possession of livestock found at large; to provide for notice and procedure for the sale of unclaimed livestock; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 3:3004(A), 3005(B), and 3006 are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§3004. Impounding livestock found at large upon highways

A. All sheriffs, deputy sheriffs, constables, ~~and~~ justices of the peace, ~~or animal control authorities of any parish in which livestock was found at large~~ shall, and any other person may, take possession of and impound any livestock found at large upon any public highway of this state in any ward where livestock is presently prohibited from roaming at large or may hereafter be prohibited from roaming at large as hereinafter provided for. Any livestock so taken and impounded shall be impounded in the parish in which taken and when taken by a sheriff, deputy sheriff, constable, ~~or~~ justice of the peace, ~~or animal control authority~~, the owner thereof shall be notified personally or by leaving written notice at the place of his residence within twenty-four hours after taking possession of such livestock. Any person other than a sheriff, deputy sheriff, constable, or justice of the peace, taking possession of and impounding livestock shall immediately notify the sheriff of the parish in which the livestock is taken and said sheriff shall, within twenty-four hours of such notification, notify the owner in the manner hereinabove provided.

* * *

§3005. Advertisement of impounding when owner is unknown

* * *

B. The sheriff ~~or animal control authority of the parish in which the livestock was found at large~~ shall then give notice by ~~advertising in a newspaper the parish government's public notice procedure of general circulation within the parish~~ setting forth the fact of the taking of possession, a description of the livestock, that the owner is unknown or if known that he cannot be located. This ~~advertisement notice~~ shall notify any person claiming to be the owner of such livestock to appear before the sheriff at a place named and a time not less than three days nor more than six days from the date of notice to prove such claim or ownership. If the owner appears and proves to the satisfaction of the sheriff that he is the owner of the stock impounded, the sheriff shall require the owner to pay the fee of the person taking the stock, the cost of feeding and caring for the stock at the rates hereinabove specified in R.S. 3:3004 and the cost of ~~advertisement notice~~.

§3006. Sale of unclaimed livestock

If after the notice provided for in R.S. 3:3004 and R.S. 3:3005 the owner does not appear at the time specified the sheriff shall proceed to sell such impounded livestock in the following manner:

The sheriff ~~or animal control authority of the parish in which the livestock was found at large shall give notice by the parish government's public notice procedure shall advertise in a newspaper of general circulation in the parish where the sale is to take place the fact of such sale, the date and place of the sale.~~ The place of the sale shall be at the court house or at some other public place in the vicinity of the court house and the sale shall be made not less than ten nor more than twenty days after publication of one notice of ~~said sale. Said sale the sale. The sale shall be by auction to the last and highest bidder for cash. From the price of said the sale the sheriff shall deduct the fee of the person impounding the livestock, the cost of feeding and caring for the livestock at the rates herein above specified in R.S. 3:3004 and all expenses incurred in the sale. He shall pay the person taking up the livestock the fee due him and the person feeding and caring for the livestock the fees provided for such services and the remainder shall be retained in the parish government where the animal was located paid into the state treasury.~~

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 56

SENATE BILL NO. 105
BY SENATOR SEABAUGH

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:95.1(B) and (D), relative to the crime of possession of firearms or carrying concealed weapons by a person convicted of certain crimes; to make the crime applicable to a person convicted of any felony; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:95.1(B) and (D) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§95.1. Possession of firearm or carrying concealed weapon by a person convicted of certain felonies

* * *

B. Whoever is found guilty of violating the provisions of this Section shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not less than five nor more than twenty years without the benefit of probation, parole, or suspension of sentence and be fined not less than one thousand dollars nor more than five thousand dollars. ~~Notwithstanding the provisions of R.S. 14:27, whoever~~ **Whoever** is found guilty of attempting to violate the provisions of this Section shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not ~~less than one year nor~~ more than seven and one-half years and fined not less than ~~five hundred one thousand~~ **one thousand** dollars nor more than ~~two thousand five hundred five thousand~~ **five thousand** dollars.

* * *

D. If a violation of this Section is committed during the commission of a crime of violence as defined in R.S. 14:2(B), ~~and or~~ the defendant has a prior conviction of a crime of violence, then the violation of this Section shall be designated as a crime of violence.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 57

SENATE BILL NO. 121
BY SENATOR COUSSAN
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Civil Procedure Arts. 4843 (D), (E), (F), and (G) and to repeal Code of Civil Procedure Art. 4843(H), relative to jurisdiction of city courts; to provide relative to the amount in dispute when the civil jurisdiction is concurrent with the district court; to provide with respect to the jurisdictional amount in dispute in the City Court of Crowley, the City Court of Lafayette, and the City Court of Rayne; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Civil Procedure Arts. 4843 (D), (E), (F), and (G) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 4843. City court jurisdiction; amount in dispute; injunctive actions by state or political subdivision

* * *

~~D. In the City Court of Lafayette, the civil jurisdiction is concurrent with the district court in cases where the amount in dispute, or the value of the property involved, does not exceed twenty thousand dollars.~~

~~E. In the City Court of Bogalusa, the City Court of Bunkie, the City Court of Eunice, the City Court of Marksville, the City Court of Natchitoches, a city court in New Orleans, the City Court of Opelousas, the City Court of Port Allen, the City Court of Ville Platte, and the City Court of Winnsboro, the civil jurisdiction is concurrent with the district court in cases where the amount in dispute, or the value of the property involved, does not exceed twenty-five thousand dollars.~~

~~F. In the City Court of Breaux Bridge, the City Court of Crowley, the City Court of Hammond, the City Court of Houma, the City Court of Jeanerette, the City Court of Jennings, the City Court of Monroe, the City Court of New Iberia, the City Court of Oakdale, the City Court of Rayne, and the City Court of Winnfield, the civil jurisdiction is concurrent with the district court in cases where the amount in dispute, or the value of the property involved, does not exceed thirty thousand dollars.~~

~~G. In the City Court of Abbeville, the City Court of Baker, the City Court of Baton Rouge, the City Court of Crowley, the City Court of Kaplan, the City Court of Lafayette, the City Court of Leesville, the City Court of Minden, the City Court of Plaquemine, the City Court of Rayne, the City Court of Shreveport, the City Court of Springhill, and the City Court of Zachary, the civil jurisdiction is concurrent with the district court in cases where the amount in dispute, or the value of the property involved, does not exceed thirty-five thousand dollars.~~

~~H. In the City Court of Alexandria, the Third Ward City Court of Franklin, the City Court of Pineville, the City Court of East St. Tammany, the City Court of Ruston, the City Court of Sulphur, and the City Court of Lake Charles, the civil jurisdiction is concurrent with the district court in cases where the amount in dispute, or the value of the property involved, does not exceed fifty thousand dollars.~~

Section 2. Code of Civil Procedure Article 4843(H) is hereby repealed.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 58

SENATE BILL NO. 132
BY SENATOR MILLER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:95.2.1(A) and 95.2.2(C)(2), relative to offenses affecting the public; to provide relative to the crimes of illegal carrying of a firearm at a parade and reckless discharge of a firearm at a parade; to provide relative to penalties; to provide relative to exceptions; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:95.2.1(A) and 95.2.2(C)(2) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§95.2.1. Illegal carrying of a firearm at a parade with any firearm used in the commission of a crime of violence

A. (1) Whoever commits the crime of illegal carrying of weapons pursuant to R.S. 14:95 with any firearm used in the commission of a crime of violence as defined in R.S. 14:2(B), within one thousand feet of any parade or demonstration for which a permit is issued by a governmental entity, shall be fined not more than two thousand dollars, or imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not less than one year nor more than five years, or both. **The entire sentence of imprisonment, not to exceed the first three years for sentences greater than three years, shall be served without benefit of parole, probation, or suspension of sentence.**

(2) Any sentence issued pursuant to the provisions of this Subsection and any sentence issued pursuant to a violation of a crime of violence as defined in R.S. 14:2(B) shall be served consecutively.

* * *

§95.2.2. Reckless discharge of a firearm at a parade or demonstration

* * *

C. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to:

* * *

(2) The possession of a firearm occurring within one thousand feet of a public gathering entirely within a private residence or in accordance with a concealed handgun permit issued pursuant to R.S. 40:1379.1 **and 1379.3.**

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 59

SENATE BILL NO. 194
BY SENATOR MIGUEZ
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 40:1796, relative to preemption of state law; to provide relative to the regulation of firearms; to provide with respect to the authority of political subdivisions to regulate the sale, purchase, possession, ownership, transfer, transportation, license, or registration of firearms or ammunition; to provide relative to remedies; to provide relative to terms, conditions, and procedures; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 40:1796 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows: §1796. Preemption of state law

A. No governing authority of a political subdivision shall enact ~~after July 15, 1985, or enforce~~ any ordinance, ~~order, or~~ regulation, **policy, procedure, rule, or any other form of executive or legislative action** more restrictive than state law concerning in any way the **manufacture, sale, purchase, possession, carrying, storage, ownership, taxation, transfer, transportation, license, or registration of firearms, ammunition, or components of firearms or ammunition, firearms accessories, knives, edged weapons, or any combination thereof, ;** ~~however, this Section shall not apply to the levy and collection of sales and use taxes, license fees and taxes and permit fees, nor shall it affect the authority of political subdivisions to prohibit the possession of a weapon or firearm in the commercial establishments and public buildings enumerated in R.S. 40:1379.3(N).~~ **Any existing ordinance, order, regulation, policy, procedure, rule, or any other form of executive or legislative action in violation of this Subsection shall be null and void, and of no effect.**

B. A political subdivision shall repeal, rescind, or amend to conform, any ordinance, order, regulation, policy, procedure, rule, or any other form of executive or legislative action in violation of this Section within six months after August 1, 2024.

C. A person or an organization whose membership is adversely affected by any ordinance, order, regulation, policy, procedure, rule, or any other form of executive or legislative action promulgated or caused to be enforced in violation of this Section may file suit against an offending political subdivision in any court of this state having jurisdiction for declaratory and injunctive relief. A court shall award a prevailing plaintiff in any such suit reasonable attorney fees and costs including expert witness fees and expenses.

~~B-D.~~ Nothing in this Section shall prohibit a local governing authority in a high-risk area from developing a plan with federally licensed firearms manufacturers, dealers, or importers to secure the inventory of firearms and

ammunition of those licensees in order to prevent looting of the licensee's premises during a declared state of emergency or disaster. Such plan shall be renewed on a periodic basis. The information contained in the plan shall be deemed security procedures as defined in R.S. 44:3.1 and shall be released only to the sheriffs of the parishes or police chiefs of municipalities in which the declared state of emergency or disaster exists.

~~E.~~ For the purposes of this Section:

(1) "Declared emergency or disaster" means an emergency or disaster declared by the governor or parish president pursuant to the provisions of the Louisiana Homeland Security and Emergency Assistance and Disaster Act.

(2) "High-risk area" means the parishes of Assumption, Calcasieu, Cameron, Iberia, Jefferson, Lafourche, Orleans, Plaquemines, St. Bernard, St. Charles, St. James, St. John, St. Martin, St. Mary, St. Tammany, Tangipahoa, Terrebonne, and Vermilion.

F. This Section shall not apply to the levy and collection of sales and use taxes, license fees and taxes, and permit fees, nor shall it affect the authority of political subdivisions to prohibit the possession of a weapon or firearm in the commercial establishments and public buildings enumerated in R.S. 40:1379.3(N).

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 60

SENATE BILL NO. 260
BY SENATOR CLOUD AND REPRESENTATIVES CARRIER, CHASSION,
DEWITT, EDMONSTON AND SCHAMERHORN
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 32:387.14, relative to commercial truck permits; to provide for a multi-use permit; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 32:387.14 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows: §387.14. Special permit; heavy equipment

In addition to the special permits issued on an annual basis or a per trip basis as provided for in this Part, the secretary is hereby authorized to issue annual special permits to transporters of heavy equipment. **Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, permits issued under this Section may be amended or transferred between vehicles four times per calendar year. Any additional transfers are within the discretion of the Department of Transportation and Development.** The secretary shall promulgate rules and regulations in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act to implement the provisions of this Section, including but not limited to the fee for such annual permit, which shall not exceed two thousand five hundred dollars, and the size and weight authorized under the permit, which shall not exceed size and weight restrictions for transporters of heavy equipment under this Part.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 61

SENATE BILL NO. 273
BY SENATOR HENSGENS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 56:497(B)(2), relative to taking of bait shrimp; to provide for the duty and authority of the Louisiana Wildlife and Fisheries Commission; to provide for a special bait dealers permit; to provide for use of certain gear; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 56:497(B)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows: §497. Saltwater shrimp seasons; bait shrimp

* * *

B.(1)

* * *

(2) Bait shrimp may be taken in state waters during the closed seasons, but only in cast nets; dip nets with a diameter not to exceed three feet operated only by hand without any mechanical device or pulley whatsoever; bait traps; and bait seines in compliance with R.S. 56:323 and 500(B). No **bait** shrimp may be taken in state waters during closed seasons with the use of a butterfly net, paupier, skimmer net, trawl, night trawl, or beam trawl except **with the special bait dealers permit as set forth in this Subpart provided by the commission pursuant to Subsection C of this Section.**

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 62

SENATE BILL NO. 375

BY SENATORS KLEINPETER AND MILLER AND REPRESENTATIVES
CARRIER, CHASSION, JACKSON, LYONS AND SELDERS
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 47:463.230 and 463.231, relative to motor vehicle special prestige license plates; to provide for the establishment of the "Telecommunicator" and the "Special Need Advocacy, Support and Inclusion for all Abilities" special prestige license plates; to provide for creation, issuance, design, fees, distribution, and rule promulgation applicable to such license plates; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 47:463.230 and 463.231 are hereby enacted to read as follows:
§463.230. Special prestige license plate; "Telecommunicator"

A.(1) The secretary of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections shall establish a special prestige motor vehicle license plate to be known as the "Telecommunicator" plate, provided there is a minimum of one thousand applicants for such plate. The plate shall be restricted to use on passenger cars, pickup trucks, recreational vehicles, motorcycles, and vans.

(2) The Department of Public Safety and Corrections, office of motor vehicles, shall create the special prestige license plate when the applicable statutory provisions are met and the department's electronic vehicle and title registration system is updated to accommodate the creation of new plates.

B. The secretary shall work in conjunction with the chairpersons of the Louisiana Care and Compassion Committee of the Louisiana Association of Public Safety Communications Officials to select the color and design of the plate, provided it is in compliance with R.S. 47:463(A)(3). The design shall include the words "Telecommunicator".

C. The special prestige license plate shall be issued, upon application, to any telecommunicator in good standing with a law enforcement, EMS, fire, or a 9-1-1 agency in the same manner as any other motor vehicle license plate.

D. The department shall collect an annual royalty fee of twenty-five dollars that shall be disbursed in accordance with Subsection E of this Section. This fee shall be in addition to the standard motor vehicle license tax imposed by Article VII, Section 5 of the Constitution of Louisiana, and a handling fee of three dollars and fifty cents for each plate to be retained by the department to offset a portion of administrative costs.

E. The annual royalty fee shall be collected by the department and forwarded to the Louisiana Care and Compassion Committee of the Louisiana Association of Public Safety Communications Officials.

F. The secretary shall promulgate and adopt rules and regulations as are necessary to implement the provisions of this Section.

§463.231. Special prestige license plate; "Special Need Advocacy, Support and Inclusion for all Abilities"

A.(1) The secretary of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections shall establish a special prestige motor vehicle license plate to be known as the "Special Needs Advocacy, Support and Inclusion for All Abilities" plate, provided there is a minimum of one thousand applicants for such plate. The plate shall be restricted to use on passenger cars, pickup trucks, recreational vehicles, motorcycles, and vans.

(2) The Department of Public Safety and Corrections, office of motor vehicles, shall create the special prestige license plate when the applicable statutory provisions are met and the department's electronic vehicle and title registration system is updated to accommodate the creation of new plates.

B. The secretary shall work in conjunction with the president of The Arc Baton Rouge to select the color and design of the plate, provided it is in compliance with R.S. 47:463(A)(3). The design shall include the words "Special Needs Advocacy, Support and Inclusion for All Abilities".

C. The special prestige license plate shall be issued upon application to any citizen of Louisiana certified as a member of The Arc Baton Rouge in the same manner as any other motor vehicle license plate.

D. The department shall collect an annual royalty fee of twenty-five dollars that shall be disbursed in accordance with Subsection E of this Section. This royalty fee shall be in addition to the standard motor vehicle license tax imposed by Article VII, Section 5 of the Constitution of Louisiana, and a handling fee of three dollars and fifty cents for each plate to be retained by the department to offset a portion of administrative costs.

E. The annual royalty fee shall be collected by the department and forwarded to The Arc Baton Rouge. The monies received from the royalty fees shall be used to provide advocacy, services and support for Louisiana children and adults with special needs and of all abilities.

F. The secretary shall promulgate and adopt rules and regulations as are necessary to implement the provisions of this Section.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 63

SENATE BILL NO. 377
BY SENATOR KLEINPETER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:95.1(A), relative to illegal possession of a firearm or concealed carry of a weapon; to prohibit possession of a firearm or carrying a concealed weapon by persons convicted of certain felonies; to provide for consideration of certain juvenile offenses; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:95.1(A) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§95.1. Possession of firearm or carrying concealed weapon by a person convicted of certain felonies

A.(1) It is unlawful for any person who has been convicted of, or has been found not guilty by reason of insanity for, a crime of violence as defined in R.S. 14:2(B) which is a felony or simple burglary, burglary of a pharmacy, burglary of an inhabited dwelling, unauthorized entry of an inhabited dwelling, felony illegal use of weapons or dangerous instrumentalities, manufacture or possession of a delayed action incendiary device, manufacture or possession of a bomb, or possession of a firearm while in the possession of or during the sale or distribution of a controlled dangerous substance, or any violation of the Uniform Controlled Dangerous Substances Law which is a felony, or any crime which is defined as a sex offense in R.S. 15:541, or any crime defined as an attempt to commit one of the above-enumerated offenses under the laws of this state, or who has been convicted under the laws of any other state or of the United States or of any foreign government or country of a crime which, if committed in this state, would be one of the above-enumerated crimes, to possess a firearm or carry a concealed weapon.

(2)(a) This Section shall also apply to any person who committed a felony-grade delinquent act described in Paragraph (1) of this Subsection while in possession of a firearm, if adjudicated when that person was fifteen or sixteen years of age, and the person is under the age of twenty-two years at the time of the violation of this Section.

(b) The provisions of this Paragraph shall not apply to any person who has been accepted into military service as a member of any of the branches of the armed forces of the United States as defined by 10 U.S.C. 101(a)(4), the reserve components of the armed forces of the United States as defined by 10 U.S.C. 10101, or the Louisiana National Guard.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 64

HOUSE BILL NO. 92
BY REPRESENTATIVE ROMERO
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 15:563.4, relative to Act No. 460 of the 2023 Regular Session of the Legislature of Louisiana; to provide for the naming of a previous Act of the legislature; to provide for the naming of a certain Act relative to a statewide database of individuals convicted of child abuse; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 15:563.4 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§563.4. Short title

This Chapter shall be referred to and may be cited as "The Remy Mann Act".

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 1, 2024; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval by the legislature or July 1, 2024, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 65

HOUSE BILL NO. 138
BY REPRESENTATIVE SCHLEGEL
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:283.2(A)(1) and (4) and (B)(3) and to enact R.S. 14:283.2(C)(5), relative to the nonconsensual disclosure of a private image; to provide relative to the offense of nonconsensual disclosure of a private image; to provide relative to the elements of the offense of nonconsensual disclosure of a private image; to provide for exceptions; to provide for definitions; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:283.2(A)(1) and (4) and (B)(3) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 14:283.2(C)(5) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§283.2. Nonconsensual disclosure of a private image

A. A person commits the offense of nonconsensual disclosure of a private image when all of the following occur:

(1) The person intentionally discloses an image of another person who is ~~seventeen years of age or older~~, who is identifiable from the image or

information displayed in connection with the image; and either whose intimate parts are exposed in whole or in part or who is engaged in sexual conduct.

* * *

(4) ~~The person who discloses the image has the intent to harass or cause emotional distress to the person in the image, and the person who commits the offense knew or should have known that the disclosure could harass or cause emotional distress to the person in the image.~~

B. Disclosure of an image under any of the following circumstances does not constitute commission of the offense defined in Subsection A of this Section:

* * *

(3) When the person depicted in the image voluntarily or knowingly exposed his or her intimate parts or engaged in sexual conduct in a public setting.

* * *

C. For purposes of this Section:

* * *

(5) “Sexual conduct” means actual or simulated vaginal, anal, or oral sexual intercourse, deviant sexual intercourse, sexual bestiality, masturbation, sadomasochistic abuse, or exhibition of the genitals.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 66

HOUSE BILL NO. 184
BY REPRESENTATIVE MCFARLAND
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 33:381(C)(36), relative to the village of Calvin and Winn Parish; to authorize the abolition of the office of police chief and the police department in the village of Calvin; to authorize making the police chief an appointed position; to authorize the town to contract with other law enforcement entities in the parish for law enforcement services; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 33:381(C)(36) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§381. Municipal officers

* * *

C.

* * *

(36)(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the board of aldermen of the village of Calvin may, upon recommendation of the mayor, abolish the office of chief of police of the village or determine that the chief shall not be elected at large but shall be appointed by the board upon recommendation of the mayor. No such action by the board shall be effective until the end of the term of the police chief in office at the time of the action or when a vacancy occurs in the office.

(b) If the office of chief of police is abolished and the municipal police department is abolished pursuant to R.S. 33:362(C), the village may contract with or enter into a cooperative endeavor agreement with any law enforcement entity or officer within Winn Parish for police services for the village. If the office of chief of police is made appointive, the term of office and salary of the chief shall be determined by the board of aldermen upon recommendation of the mayor.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 67

HOUSE BILL NO. 202
BY REPRESENTATIVES CARVER, ADAMS, BOYER, COX, KNOX,
LAFLEUR, MOORE, WALTERS, AND WILEY
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 14:67.6 and 67.7, relative to offenses against property; to create the crime of mail theft; to create the crime of theft or unauthorized reproduction of a mail receptacle key or lock; to provide for definitions; to provide for penalties; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:67.6 and 67.7 are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§67.6. Mail theft

A. As used in this Section, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

(1) “Mail” means any letter, postal card, parcel, envelope, package, bag, or any other sealed article addressed to another, along with its contents.

(2) “Mail depository” means a mail box, letter box, or mail receptacle of a postal service, an office of a postal service, or a vehicle of a postal service.

(3) “Postal service” means the United States Postal Service or its contractors,

THE ADVOCATE
PAGE 10

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

or any commercial courier that delivers mail.

B. Any of the following acts shall constitute mail theft:

(1) Removing mail from a mail depository or taking mail from a mail carrier with a postal service with an intent to steal.

(2) Obtaining custody of mail by fraud or deception with an intent to steal.

(3) Selling, receiving, possessing, transferring, buying, or concealing mail obtained by acts described in Paragraphs (1) or (2) of this Subsection, while knowing or having reason to know the mail was obtained illegally.

C.(1) Whoever violates the provisions of this Section shall be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than five years, or fined not more than five thousand dollars, or both.

(2) Upon a second or subsequent conviction or violation of the provisions of this Section, the offender shall be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not less than one year nor more than ten years and may, in addition, be fined not more than twenty thousand dollars.

D. In addition to the penalties provided in Subsection C of this Section, a person convicted under this Section shall be ordered to make full restitution to the victim and any other person who has suffered a financial loss as a result of the offense in accordance with Code of Criminal Procedure Article 883.2.

E. An offense committed under this Section may be prosecuted in any of the following parishes:

(1) The parish where the offense occurred.

(2) The parish of residence or place of business of the direct or indirect victim.

§67.7. Theft or unauthorized reproduction of a mail receptacle key or lock
A. As used in this Section, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

(1) “Mail” means any letter, postal card, parcel, envelope, package, bag, or any other sealed article addressed to another, along with its contents.

(2) “Postal service” means the United States Postal Service or its contractors, or any commercial courier that delivers mail.

B. Any of the following acts shall constitute theft or unauthorized reproduction of a mail receptacle key or lock:

(1) Stealing or obtaining by false pretense any key or lock adopted by a postal service for any box or other authorized receptacle for the deposit or delivery of mail.

(2) Knowingly and unlawfully making, forging, or counterfeiting any such key, or possessing any such key or lock adopted by a postal service that delivers mail with the intent to unlawfully or improperly use, sell, or otherwise dispose of the key or lock, or to cause the key or lock to be unlawfully or improperly used, sold, or otherwise disposed.

C.(1) Whoever violates the provisions of this Section shall be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than five years, or fined not more than five thousand dollars, or both.

(2) Upon a second or subsequent conviction or violation of the provisions of this Section, the offender shall be imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not less than one year nor more than ten years and may, in addition, be fined not more than twenty thousand dollars.

D. In addition to the penalties provided in Subsection C of this Section, a person convicted under this Section shall be ordered to make full restitution to the victim and any other person who has suffered a financial loss as a result of the offense in accordance with Code of Criminal Procedure Article 883.2.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 68

HOUSE BILL NO. 235
BY REPRESENTATIVES COATES, CARPENTER, ROBBY CARTER,
WILFORD CARTER, CHASSION, COX, DEWITT, JACKSON, KNOX,
LAFLEUR, MACK, NEWELL, SELDERS, TAYLOR, AND WYBLE
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 38:2212.1(A)(2)(a), relative to public bid law exceptions; to increase the exception limit that triggers the application of certain public bid law requirements to the purchase of vehicles for conversion into law enforcement or fire service vehicles; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 38:2212.1(A)(2)(a) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§2212.1. Advertisement and letting to lowest responsible bidder; materials and supplies; exemptions

A.

* * *

(2)(a) Any purchase by a local governmental unit of a used or new motor vehicle for conversion into a law enforcement or fire service vehicle or fire fighting or rescue apparatus, which purchase cost does not exceed the sum of forty seventy thousand dollars per vehicle or apparatus, shall not be subject to the threshold delineated in Paragraph (1) of this Subsection. Written specifications, quotations, and confirmation of accepted offers for such purchase shall be obtained and made a part of the purchase file. However, any such purchase which sum is in excess of forty seventy thousand dollars per vehicle shall be advertised and let for bid under the procedures

CODING: Words in ~~struck through~~ type are deletions from existing law; words underlined (House Bills) and underscored and **boldfaced** (Senate Bills) are additions.

outlined by the provisions of this Section. This provision shall be applicable to all paid and volunteer fire departments administered or supervised by a local government unit or a nonprofit corporation under contract with a fire protection district or other political subdivision.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 69

HOUSE BILL NO. 296
BY REPRESENTATIVE GEYMANN
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 49:191(2)(b) and to repeal R.S. 49:191(12)(g), relative to the Department of Wildlife and Fisheries, including provisions to provide for the re-creation of the Department of Wildlife and Fisheries and the statutory entities made a part of the department by law; to provide for the effective termination date for all statutory authority for the existence of such statutory entities; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Pursuant to R.S. 49:193, the Department of Wildlife and Fisheries and the statutory entities made a part of the department by law shall be re-created effective June 30, 2024, and all statutory authority therefor is continued in accordance with the provisions of Part XII of Chapter 1 of Title 49 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950.

Section 2. All statutory authority for the existence of the Department of Wildlife and Fisheries and the statutory entities made a part of the department as re-created by Section 1 of this Act shall cease as of July 1, 2029, pursuant to R.S. 49:191. However, the Department of Wildlife and Fisheries may be re-created prior to such date in accordance with the provisions of Part XII of Chapter 1 of Title 49 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950.

Section 3. The provisions of R.S. 49:193 are hereby superseded to the extent that those provisions are in conflict with the provisions of this Act.

Section 4. R.S. 49:191(2)(b) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§191. Termination of legislative authority for existence of statutory entities; phase-out period for statutory entities; table of dates

Notwithstanding any termination dates set by any previous Act of the legislature, the statutory entities set forth in this Section shall begin to terminate their operations on July first of each of the following years, and all legislative authority for the existence of any statutory entity, as defined in R.S. 49:190, shall cease as of July first of the following year, which shall be the termination date:

* * *

(2) July 1, 2028:

* * *

(b) The Department of Wildlife and Fisheries and all statutory entities made a part of the department by law.

Section 5. R.S. 49:191(12)(g) is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Section 6. This Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024, or on the day following such approval by the legislature, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 70

HOUSE BILL NO. 339
BY REPRESENTATIVES OWEN, ADAMS, AMEDEE, BAYHAM, CREWS,
EDMONSTON, EGAN, GLORIOSO, MANDIE LANDRY, SCHAMERHORN,
STAGNI, AND WALTERS
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 2:135.4, relative to acceptable forms of payment at air carrier airports; to authorize air carrier airports and their agents to receive certain types of payment for transactions; to prohibit air carrier airports and their agents from refusing to accept certain payments for transactions; to provide for exceptions; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 2:135.4 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§135.4. Payment methods at airports

A. For purposes of this Section, the term "authorized agent" shall mean any non-aeronautical service at the airport that provides business or products that are not associated with aviation.

B.(1) All air carrier airports or their authorized agents may collect payment by credit card, debit card, or a similar approved payment device for any transaction including but not limited to food and beverage or other consumer-related purchases in commercial terminal facilities.

(2) No air carrier airport or its authorized agent shall prohibit the use of United States currency, coin or paper money, for the payment of such

THE ADVOCATE
PAGE 11

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

transactions.

C. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to the purchase of airline tickets, luggage fees, purchases through the airline, parking fees, or rental transactions, and transactions involving self-service kiosks or vending machines, or fees charged directly by an airport for non-consumer services or items.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 71

HOUSE BILL NO. 350
BY REPRESENTATIVE ORGERON
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Section 1 of Act No. 160 of the 2017 Regular Session, relative to the Grand Isle Port Commission; to provide relative to the use of certain state property near Grand Isle for seafood research; to provide relative to the specification of the boundaries and size of the areas in which the research will be conducted; to require the port commission adhere to the Louisiana Wildlife and Fisheries Commission rules and regulations; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Section 1 of Act No. 160 of the 2017 Regular Session of the Legislature is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Section 1. (A) The Grand Isle Port Commission may use, in accordance with this Act, the following described state water bottoms, water columns, and water surfaces above the specified sections of water bottoms:

(1) An area of approximately twenty-five and one-half acres in Caminada Pass, Jefferson Parish, Louisiana, circumscribed by lines connecting the following points (projection in North American datum, 1983):

(+) (a) The Northeast corner is located at 29 degrees, 13 minutes, 22.45 seconds, North, 90 degrees, 02 minutes, 22.46 seconds, West.

(+) (b) The Southeast corner is located at 29 degrees, 13 minutes, 12.95 seconds, North, 90 degrees, 02 minutes, 28.65 seconds, West.

(+) (c) The boundary shall then run northwest from the Southeast corner to a point 29 degrees, 13 minutes, 14.69 seconds, North, 90 degrees, 02 minutes, 32.13 seconds, West.

(+) (d) The boundary shall then run southwest to a point 29 degrees, 13 minutes, 08.59 seconds, North, 90 degrees, 02 minutes, 36.09 seconds, West.

(+) (e) The Southwest corner is located at 29 degrees, 13 minutes, 10.53 seconds, North, 90 degrees, 02 minutes, 39.97 seconds, West.

(+) (f) The Northwest corner is located at 29 degrees, 13 minutes, 26.14 seconds, North, 90 degrees, 02 minutes, 29.82 seconds, West.

(2) An area of approximately ~~thirteen~~ twenty-seven and one-half acres in Bayou Rigaud, Jefferson Parish, Louisiana, circumscribed by lines connecting the following points (projection in North American datum, 1983):

(+) (a) The Northeast corner is located at 29 degrees, 14 minutes, 27.52 seconds, North, 90 degrees, 01 minutes, 03.03 seconds, West.

(+) (b) The Southeast corner is located at 29 degrees, 14 minutes, ~~20.40~~ 13.28 seconds, North, 90 degrees, 00 minutes, ~~55.54~~ 48.03 seconds, West.

(+) (c) The Southwest corner is at 29 degrees, 14 minutes, ~~16.39~~ 09.21 seconds, North, 90 degrees, ~~01 00~~ minutes, ~~00.65~~ 53.08 seconds, West.

(+) (d) The Northwest corner is at 29 degrees, 14 minutes, 23.57 seconds, North, 90 degrees, 01 minutes, 08.22 seconds, West.

(B) The port commission is authorized to use such water bottoms, water columns, and water surfaces for the sole purpose of an off-bottom oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*) culture project undertaken in cooperation with the Louisiana Sea Grant program subject to approval of all state and federal agencies with jurisdiction over activities conducted in connection with the project. Notwithstanding the provisions of R.S. 56:431.2(A)(1), the port commission shall adhere to the rules and regulations adopted by the Louisiana Wildlife and Fisheries Commission governing alternative oyster culture activity.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 72

HOUSE BILL NO. 369
BY REPRESENTATIVE LYONS
AN ACT

To repeal R.S. 13:621.24.1, relative to the Twenty-Fourth Judicial District Court; to repeal authorization for a separate environmental docket.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:621.24.1 is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

CODING: Words in ~~struck through~~ type are deletions from existing law; words underlined (House Bills) and underscoring and **boldfaced** (Senate Bills) are additions.

ACT No. 73

HOUSE BILL NO. 381
BY REPRESENTATIVE BRAUD
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 48:250.4.2, relative to Department of Transportation and Development spending; to provide for the Department of Transportation and Development's use of toll revenue and credits generated in connection with the Belle Chasse Bridge project; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 48:250.4.2 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§250.4.2. Use of toll revenue and credits; Belle Chasse Bridge public-private partnership

A. The department shall use any revenue or credits generated in connection with the Belle Chasse public-private partnership, including windfall proceeds payments, distribution of refinancing gain, and toll credits only as follows:

(1) To reduce toll rates on the project.

(2) To pay amounts owed to the developer for exercising the department's early handback option.

(3) To pay any annual consumer price index (CPI) buy-down payment amount.

(4) For department projects or improvements within any area identified per the public-private partnership contract for any alternative facility.

B. Any use of funds or credits generated in connection with the Belle Chasse Bridge public-private partnership shall conform to the provisions of the comprehensive agreement governing the partnership and all applicable laws.

C. Prior to using any revenue or credits generated in connection with the Belle Chasse Bridge public-private partnership, the secretary shall provide notice of the intended use to the legislative delegations from Plaquemines Parish, and receive approval for such use from the Joint Legislative Committee on Transportation, Highways and Public Works.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 74

HOUSE BILL NO. 385
BY REPRESENTATIVES OWEN, CHASSION, AND KNOX
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 29:288(A)(1) and (B)(1), relative to survivor's education benefits; to provide for education benefits for survivors of qualified veterans; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 29:288(A)(1) and (B)(1) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§288. Educational benefits for children, spouses, and surviving spouses of veterans

A.(1) For the purpose of this Subsection, "qualified veteran" shall mean a member of the armed forces of the United States of America who:

(a) Was either killed in action, died in active service from other causes, is missing in action, is a prisoner of war, died as a result of a service-connected disability incurred during a wartime period as defined in R.S. 29:251.2, or who, prior to death, was rated ninety to one hundred percent service-connected disabled by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs by evaluation of the rating schedule or was determined by the department to be unemployable as a result of a service-connected disability, and who was a resident of Louisiana for a period of not less than twelve months immediately preceding entrance into service or for a period not less than ~~twenty-four~~ twelve months prior to the veteran's death or who had been permanently assigned and reported for duty to an active, National Guard, or Reserve installation or assignment in the state of Louisiana.

(b) Is rated ninety to one hundred percent service-connected disabled by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs by evaluation of the rating schedule or is determined by the department to be unemployable as a result of a service-connected disability and has been a resident of Louisiana for a period of not less than ~~twenty-four~~ twelve months prior to the veteran's child's admission into a program of education at a public postsecondary institution.

B.(1) For the purpose of this Subsection, "qualified veteran" shall mean a member of the armed forces of the United States of America who was killed in action, died in active service from other causes, is missing in action, is a prisoner of war, died as a result of a service-connected disability incurred during a wartime period as defined in R.S. 29:251.2, or who, prior to death, was rated ninety to one hundred percent service-connected disabled by the

United States Department of Veterans Affairs by evaluation of the rating schedule or was determined by the department to be unemployable as a result of a service-connected disability, and was a resident of Louisiana for a period of not less than twelve months immediately preceding entrance into service or for a period not less than ~~twenty-four~~ twelve months prior to death or who had been permanently assigned and reported for duty to an active, National Guard, or Reserve installation or assignment in the state of Louisiana.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 75

HOUSE BILL NO. 397
BY REPRESENTATIVE ST. BLANC
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 40:1749.13(B)(2), 1749.14(C)(1)(b)(iii) and (v), and 1749.15(B), to enact R.S. 40:1749.12(20) through (22) and 1749.13(E), and to repeal R.S. 40:1749.21(C) and (D), relative to the Louisiana Underground Utilities and Facilities Damage Prevention Law; to provide for definitions; to provide for excavations and demolitions; to provide for regional notification centers; to provide for emergency excavations; to remove obsolete provisions; to provide for effectiveness; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 40:1749.13(B)(2), 1749.14(C)(1)(b)(iii) and (v), and 1749.15(B) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 40:1749.12(20) through (22) and 1749.13(E) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1749.12. Definitions

As used in this Part, the following terms have the meanings ascribed to them in this Section:

(20) "Large project excavation or demolition" means excavation or demolition activity that cannot reasonably be completed within the requirements of R.S. 40:1749.13(B)(2).

(21) "Marine excavator" means an excavator or demolisher who is performing excavation or demolition in areas such as swamps, wetlands, shallow water, waterways, rivers, bayous, bays, lakes, the sea, and arms of the sea.

(22) "Routine excavation or demolition" means excavation or demolition activity that requires no more than twenty calendar days to be completed, and no more than thirty calendar days for agricultural, forestry, or marine excavation or demolition activity.

§1749.13. Excavation and demolition; prohibitions

B.

(2) This notice shall contain the name, address, and telephone number of the person filing the notice of intent, and, if different, the person responsible for the excavation or demolition, the starting date, anticipated duration, and description of the specific type of excavation or demolition operation to be conducted, the specific location of the proposed excavation or demolition and a statement as to whether directional boring or explosives are to be used. If the excavation or demolition is part of a larger project, the The notice shall be confined to the actual area of proposed excavation or demolition that will occur during the twenty-day time period under pursuant to R.S. 40:1749.14(C).

E.(1) The purpose of this Subsection is to allow for voluntary agreements in writing between operators of underground utilities or facilities and excavators and demolishers to determine the mark-by time, as well as the duration of excavation and demolition projects that cannot be reasonably completed within the time frame required for routine excavation or demolition.

(2) Unless hereinafter specifically excepted, all other provisions of this Subsection shall apply to large project excavations or demolitions.

(3) Upon an excavator or demolisher contacting the regional notification center to provide notice of excavation or demolition, the excavator or demolisher may request that the excavation or demolition be recognized as a large project excavation or demolition. At which time, the regional notification center shall notify all affected underground utility and facility operators that a large project excavation or demolition request has been submitted.

(4) A large project excavation or demolition request shall only be submitted electronically to the regional notification center at least ten business days prior to the commencement of the excavation or demolition.

(5) The submission of a large project excavation or demolition request shall also include the names and contact information of any and all subcontractors of the excavator or demolisher who will be working on the project.

(6) Upon receipt of the large project excavation or demolition notification request, operators of underground utilities or facilities and the requesting excavator or demolisher may attempt to reach a mutual agreement in writing to determine the scope of work, the mark-by-times, and any other details of the project that the operator and excavator or demolisher mutually agree need to be included in the written agreement such as the marking schedule and additional parties to be included in the notification request. In no event

shall an agreement be entered into pursuant to this Subsection for a duration of more than ninety calendar days.

(7) If mutual agreement between the operator and the excavator or demolisher cannot be reached, the large project excavation or demolition notification request shall be deemed null and void, and the provisions of R.S. 40:1749.13(B) shall apply.

§1749.14. Regional notification center

* * *

C.(1) Each operator of an underground facility or utility, after having received the notification request from the regional notification center of an intent to excavate or an intent to conduct normal commercial farming operations, shall supply, prior to the proposed excavation or normal commercial farming operation, the following information to the person responsible for the excavation or normal commercial farming operation:

* * *

(b)

* * *

(iii) When the utility or facility operator has marked the location of underground facilities or utilities, the marking shall be deemed good as long as visible, but not longer than twenty calendar days, including weekends and holidays, from the mark-by time, ~~unless the notice was designated as a large project excavation or demolition and a written agreement has been reached between the operator and the excavator or demolisher.~~ However, if the proposed excavation or demolition activity could impact a pipeline located on or in water, the commissioner may extend the time period allowed for completion of the excavation or demolition. An additional notice to the regional notification center shall be given by the excavator or demolisher in accordance with the provisions of this Part when the marks are no longer visible or if the excavation or demolition cannot be completed within twenty calendar days from the mark-by time, ~~whichever occurs first.~~ for routine excavation or demolition or ninety calendar days for large project excavation or demolition.

* * *

(v) In the case whereby a forestry excavator, ~~or~~ agricultural excavator, ~~or~~ marine excavator has requested that the utilities and facilities be marked for location, the operator of a utility or facility shall mark the area of their utilities or facilities. The markings provided by the operator shall be deemed good as long as the markings are visible or up to thirty calendar days from the time the markings were made, whichever is shorter.

* * *

§1749.15. Emergency excavation; notice required; penalty

* * *

B. The excavator shall certify in the notice required in Subsection A of this Section that the situation poses an imminent threat or danger to life, health, or property or is the result of an unplanned utility outage and requires immediate action and that the excavator, or owner, or operator has ~~a crew~~ personnel on site.

* * *

Section 2. R.S. 40:1749.21(C) and (D) are hereby repealed in their entirety.

Section 3. This Act shall become effective on January 1, 2025.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 76

HOUSE BILL NO. 403
BY REPRESENTATIVES ECHOLS, CHASSION, AND KNOX
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 47:305.76(B)(48) and (49), relative to exemptions from local sales and use taxes; to provide relative to the local sales and use tax exemption for the procurement and administration in medical clinics of certain prescription drugs administered by infusion, injection, or topical system; to provide for diseases and conditions for which such drugs must be prescribed in order to qualify for the local sales and use tax exemption; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 47:305.76(B)(48) and (49) are hereby enacted to read as follows: §305.76. Exemption; infused, ~~or~~ injected, ~~or~~ topical prescription drugs for treating certain diseases and conditions

* * *

B. The exemption provided for in Subsection A of this Section shall apply only to prescription drugs that are prescribed for the treatment of the following diseases and conditions:

* * *

(48) Cataracts.

(49) Ocular inflammation and pain following ophthalmic surgery.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 1, 2024; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on July 1, 2024, or on the day following such approval by the legislature, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry

Secretary of State

ACT No. 77

HOUSE BILL NO. 450
BY REPRESENTATIVE SCHAMERHORN
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 49:191(2)(b) and to repeal R.S. 49:191(12)(d), relative to the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, including provisions to provide for the re-creation of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections and the statutory entities made a part of the department by law; to provide for the effective termination date for all statutory authority for the existence of such statutory entities; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Pursuant to R.S. 49:193, the Department of Public Safety and Corrections and the statutory entities made a part of the department by law shall be re-created effective June 30, 2024, and all statutory authority therefor is continued in accordance with the provisions of Part XII of Chapter 1 of Title 49 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950.

Section 2. All statutory authority for the existence of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections and the statutory entities made a part of the department as re-created by Section 1 of this Act shall cease as of July 1, 2029, pursuant to R.S. 49:191. However, the Department of Public Safety and Corrections may be re-created prior to such date in accordance with the provisions of Part XII of Chapter 1 of Title 49 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950.

Section 3. The provisions of R.S. 49:193 are hereby superseded to the extent that those provisions are in conflict with the provisions of this Act.

Section 4. R.S. 49:191(2)(b) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§191. Termination of legislative authority for existence of statutory entities; phase-out period for statutory entities; table of dates

Notwithstanding any termination dates set by any previous Act of the legislature, the statutory entities set forth in this Section shall begin to terminate their operations on July first of each of the following years, and all legislative authority for the existence of any statutory entity, as defined in R.S. 49:190, shall cease as of July first of the following year, which shall be the termination date:

* * *

(2) July 1, 2028:

* * *

(b) The Department of Public Safety and Corrections and all statutory entities made a part of the department by law.

Section 5. R.S. 49:191(12)(d) is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Section 6. This Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024, or on the day following such approval by the legislature, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 78

HOUSE BILL NO. 527
BY REPRESENTATIVE EGAN
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 29:295(C), relative to veterans cemeteries; to provide for burial fees; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 29:295(C) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows: §295. Louisiana veterans cemeteries

* * *

C. The department may charge a fee of ~~seven hundred forty-five dollars based upon the date of death of the decedent, equal to the federal plot allowances~~ for burials in a cemetery operated pursuant to this Section and may promulgate rules for the department to waive the fee, or any portion thereof, for financial hardship as defined and set forth in the rules promulgated by the department. The department may use the funds generated from the collection of burial fees to pay for costs associated with the operation of the cemeteries.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 79

HOUSE BILL NO. 537
BY REPRESENTATIVE BOURRIQUE
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 56:266(D)(1), relative to appropriations; to provide

for reallocation of money received from fur trapping licenses into the Louisiana Fur Public Education and Marketing Fund; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 56:266(D)(1) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§266. Louisiana Fur Public Education and Marketing Fund

* * *

D. Appropriations

(1) All revenues received by the state from license fees imposed on trappers as required in R.S. 56:251(A)(1) shall be credited to the Bond Security and Redemption Fund. After a sufficient amount is allocated from that fund to pay all obligations secured by the full faith and credit of the state which become due and payable within any fiscal year, the state treasurer is authorized and directed to transfer annually the amount of twenty dollars for each resident trapping license sold and one hundred forty five dollars for each nonresident trapping license sold, all from revenues derived from the sale of said licenses these license fees, into a special fund designated as the Louisiana Fur Public Education and Marketing Fund.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 80

HOUSE BILL NO. 540
BY REPRESENTATIVES GEYMANN AND AMEDEE
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 30:101.9(D)(5), relative to the Fishermen's Gear Compensation and Underwater Obstruction Removal Dedicated Fund Account; to provide for disbursement and expenditure of monies in the account; to provide for eligible claimants; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 30:101.9(D)(5) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§101.9. Fishermen's Gear Compensation and Underwater Obstruction Removal Dedicated Fund Account

* * *

D. The monies in the account may be disbursed and expended pursuant to the authority and direction of the assistant secretary for the following purposes and uses:

* * *

(5) Payment of any fully justified claim made in accordance with procedures established in this Section for actual damages suffered by a commercial or charter boat fisherman as a result of hitting or snagging an obstruction or hazard in the waters of the state resulting from natural occurrences, oil and gas activities, or other activities where the owner of the obstruction is unknown.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 81

HOUSE BILL NO. 576
BY REPRESENTATIVE BRAUD
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 13:2582(G) and 2622, relative to justices of the peace; to provide relative to qualifications; to provide relative to elections and designations of justices of the peace; to provide for the territorial jurisdiction of certain justice of the peace courts in Plaquemines Parish; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:2582(G) and 2622 are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§2582. Justices of the peace; qualifications; election; term of office; nullity; persons ineligible

* * *

G. Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsection A of this Section, in Plaquemines Parish, the justice of the peace in ward three may be a resident of ward three or ward four and the respective district.

* * *

§2622. Territorial jurisdiction of the justice of the peace courts of Plaquemines Parish

A. The territorial jurisdiction of the several justice of the peace courts within the parish of Plaquemines, as they exist on the effective date of this Section, shall continue in effect until changed in accordance with the law.

B. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, the justice of the peace in ward three shall serve as the justice of the peace in ward three and ward four. The territorial limits of the justice of the peace in ward three shall include the territorial limits of ward four.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 82

HOUSE BILL NO. 648
BY REPRESENTATIVES ZERINGUE, AMEDEE, BAYHAM, BILLINGS,
WILFORD CARTER, CHASSION, COX, DEWITT, DOMANGUE,
FONTENOT, GREEN, ILLG, KERNER, OWEN, TAYLOR, AND THOMPSON
AN ACT

To designate the bridge on Louisiana Highway 648 over Bayou Lafourche as the "Austin Bush Memorial Bridge" and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. The bridge on Louisiana Highway 648 over Bayou Lafourche in Thibodaux, Louisiana, shall be known and is hereby designated as the "Austin Bush Memorial Bridge".

Section 2. The Department of Transportation and Development or its contractors are hereby directed to erect and maintain appropriate signage reflecting this designation provided local or private monies are received by the department equal to the department's actual cost for material, fabrication, mounting posts, and installation of each sign, not to exceed the sum of five hundred fifty dollars per sign.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 83

HOUSE BILL NO. 654
BY REPRESENTATIVE HILFERTY
AN ACT

To provide for authorized uses of certain public property in Orleans Parish and to amend and reenact Sections 1 and 2 of Act No. 152 of the 2019 Regular Session of the Legislature, relative to the lease of certain state property in Orleans Parish and Jefferson Parish; to authorize the lease of public property; to provide relative to cooperative endeavor agreements between the City of New Orleans, Jefferson Parish, and the state; to provide property descriptions; to provide for terms and conditions; to provide an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1.(A) In addition to the authority granted by Act No. 209 of the 1906 Regular Session of the Louisiana General Assembly and Act No. 9 of the 1910 Regular Session of the Louisiana General Assembly and notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, the council of the City of New Orleans may authorize and empower the City of New Orleans or a public benefit corporation of the City of New Orleans to lease, on such terms and conditions as the council may prescribe, to one or more offerers selected through a request for proposal developed and issued pursuant to a cooperative endeavor agreement between the state, the City of New Orleans, and Jefferson Parish, all or any part of the following described property:

That parcel of property located west of West Roadway Street and that parcel located north of North Roadway Street and west of Breakwater Drive, within the area dedicated in the above-referenced Acts, to wit:

That portion of the protection or revetment levee bordering on Lake Pontchartrain, and lying between the west bank of the New Basin Canal on the east, and the prolongation of the boundary line between the parishes of Orleans and Jefferson on the west; all lands now lying under the waters of Lake Pontchartrain between the protection or revetment levee on the south; the west bank of the New Basin Canal on the east, the prolongation of the boundary line between the parishes of Orleans and Jefferson on the west, and a line drawn parallel to and in front of said protection or revetment levee, a distance of fifteen hundred feet therefrom on the north; all lands now lying under the waters of Lake Pontchartrain in the rear or south of the aforesaid protection or revetment levee on the north, the shore of Lake Pontchartrain on the south, and the lands belonging to private persons on the east and west.

(B) The lease authorized by Subsection A of this Section may be for any purpose consistent with applicable zoning laws, except that no portion of the described property may be leased for residential use.

Section 2. Sections 1 and 2 of Act No. 152 of the 2019 Regular Session of the Legislature are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Section 1. The commissioner of administration, notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, is hereby authorized and empowered to lease any interest, excluding mineral rights, the state may have to all or any portion of the following described parcel of property to the responsible offerer one or more offerers selected through a request for proposal developed and issued pursuant to a cooperative endeavor agreement between the state, the City of New Orleans Parish, and Jefferson Parish:

A parcel of state owned land and water bottom located on the south shore of Lake Pontchartrain on or adjacent to the boundary of Orleans Parish and Jefferson Parish.

Section 2. (A) The state is authorized to lease the property described in Section 1 of this Act either directly to the selected offerer or offerers or to the City of New Orleans or a public benefit corporation of the City of New Orleans, who will then be permitted to sublease the property to the selected offerer or offerers in accordance with the terms of this Act.

(B) The commissioner of administration is hereby authorized to enter into such agreements, covenants, conditions, and stipulations and to execute such documents as necessary to properly effectuate any lease, excluding mineral rights, to the property described in Section 1 of this Act, and as more specifically described in any such agreements entered into and documents executed by and between the ~~parties commissioner of administration and the selected responsible offerer~~ for a term not to exceed ninety-nine years, in exchange for consideration proportionate to the appraised value of the property. ~~The provisions of this Act shall apply to more than one responsible offerer if the cooperative endeavor agreement provides for dividing the property described in Section 1 into multiple leases.~~

(C) Notwithstanding any applicable zoning laws to the contrary, no portion of the property described in Section 1 of this Act may be leased for residential use.

Section 3. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 84

HOUSE BILL NO. 718
BY REPRESENTATIVE CARVER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 6:314(E), R.S. 9:1515(C) and (D), and R.S. 47:2437, relative to taxes; to repeal from certain provisions of law references to a previously repealed inheritance tax; to repeal certain notification requirements relating to a previously repealed inheritance tax; to make technical changes; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 6:314(E) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:
§314. Trust deposits; death of depositor; payment
* * *

E. No bank paying a beneficiary in accordance with this Section shall be liable to the estate or any heir of the decedent nor shall the account holder be liable for any estate, inheritance, or succession taxes which may be due the state, and delivery of the funds shall constitute a full and complete discharge of the bank for the payment or delivery so made and shall relieve the bank from all adverse claims thereto by a person claiming as a surviving or former spouse or a successor to such a spouse. No tax collector, creditor, heir, legatee, personal representative, or any other person shall have any right or cause of action against the financial institution on account of such payment; ~~and R.S. 47:2410 shall not apply to such cases.~~
* * *

Section 2. R.S. 9:1515(C) and (D) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1515. Payment to surviving spouse or children of deceased; last wages due by employers
* * *

C. The employer may make the payments referred to in this Section; without any court proceedings, order, or judgment authorizing the same and without determining ~~whether or not any inheritance taxes may be due or whether the funds belong to the separate estate of the decedent or to the community which existed between the decedent and the surviving spouse, but only if the employer forwards an affidavit stating the name of the deceased, the amount paid, the name of the recipient, and a copy of the release document substantiating the release to the secretary of the Department of Revenue within ten calendar days of the release of the funds.~~

D. The execution of the instrument referred to in Subsection B of this Section and the receipt of such person for such payment shall constitute a full release and discharge of the employer for the amount paid ~~and for all inheritance taxes which may be determined to be due.~~ No person natural or juridical shall have any right or cause of action against such employer because of such payment. ~~R.S. 47:2410 does not apply in such cases.~~
* * *

Section 3. R.S. 47:2437 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:
§2437. Installment payments; agreement

A. The secretary may enter into an agreement with the estate of a decedent for the payment of the ~~inheritance tax and estate transfer tax due to the state of Louisiana on an installment basis.~~

B. ~~This~~ The agreement may be entered into only if the estate of the decedent meets the criteria of rules and regulations established by the secretary.

C. The agreement shall provide for the payment of legal interest on the installment payments in accordance with R.S. 13:4202 from the date the taxes

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

became due under the provisions of ~~R.S. 47:2425 and 2432~~ R.S. 47:2432.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 85

HOUSE BILL NO. 720
BY REPRESENTATIVE SCHLEGEL
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 40:967.1, relative to controlled dangerous substances; to provide for the unlawful distribution of fentanyl under certain circumstances; to provide for a penalty; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 40:967.1 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:
§967.1. Prohibited acts--Schedule II; distribution of fentanyl with certain characteristics

A. Any person who violates the provisions of R.S. 40:967(A) with respect to fentanyl, where the fentanyl or packaging of the fentanyl reasonably appeals in a manner where there is reasonable appeal to a minor due to the shape, color, taste, or design of the fentanyl or the fentanyl's packaging, shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not less than twenty-five years nor more than ninety-nine years without benefit of probation, parole, or suspension of sentence.

B. Any person who violates the provisions of R.S. 40:967(A) with respect to fentanyl, where the fentanyl or packaging of the fentanyl is designed to resemble branded prescription medication or its generic equivalent, shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not less than ten years nor more than forty years without benefit of probation, parole, or suspension of sentence.

C. For the purposes of this Section, the following definitions shall apply:

(1) "Fentanyl" shall mean a substance or mixture containing a detectable amount of fentanyl or its analogues, or carfentanil or a mixture or substance containing a detectable amount of carfentanil or its analogues.

(2) "Reasonable appeal" "Reasonably appeals to a minor" shall mean a design of the fentanyl or the fentanyl's packaging, ~~including that, due to the shape, color, taste, or design, includes but is not to be limited to a resemblance of any of the following:~~

(a) A noncontrolled substance that is primarily consumed by and marketed to minors.

(b) The shape of an animal, vehicle, person, or character.

(c) Food or beverage that is attractive to minors and that is commonly sold in retail establishments, regardless of whether the food or beverage is generic, trademarked, or a branded product.

(d) Candy.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 86

HOUSE BILL NO. 773
BY REPRESENTATIVE CARPENTER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 9:315.19, relative to child support; to provide for the schedule of basic child support obligations; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 9:315.19 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:
§315.19. Schedule for support

The schedule of support to be used for determining the basic child support obligation is as follows:

LOUISIANA CHILD SUPPORT GUIDELINE
SCHEDULE OF BASIC CHILD SUPPORT OBLIGATIONS

COMBINED ADJUSTED MONTHLY GROSS INCOME	ONE CHILD	TWO CHILDREN (TOTAL)	THREE CHILDREN (TOTAL)	FOUR CHILDREN (TOTAL)	FIVE CHILDREN (TOTAL)	SIX CHILDREN (TOTAL)
0-950	100	100	100	100	100	100
1000	119	120	122	123	124	126
1050	43	43	44	44	45	45
1100	82	83	84	85	86	87
1150	124	125	126	128	129	130
1200	158	160	162	164	165	167

CODING: Words in ~~struck through~~ type are deletions from existing law; words underlined (House Bills) and underscored and **boldfaced** (Senate Bills) are additions.

1250	<u>193</u>	<u>195</u>	<u>197</u>	<u>199</u>	<u>202</u>	<u>204</u>
1300	<u>230</u>	<u>233</u>	<u>235</u>	<u>238</u>	<u>240</u>	<u>243</u>
1350	<u>261</u>	<u>267</u>	<u>270</u>	<u>273</u>	<u>276</u>	<u>279</u>
1400	<u>292</u>	<u>305</u>	<u>308</u>	<u>312</u>	<u>315</u>	<u>318</u>
1450	<u>301</u>	<u>340</u>	<u>344</u>	<u>347</u>	<u>351</u>	<u>355</u>
1500	<u>310</u>	<u>375</u>	<u>379</u>	<u>383</u>	<u>387</u>	<u>391</u>
1550	<u>319</u>	<u>412</u>	<u>417</u>	<u>421</u>	<u>426</u>	<u>430</u>
1600	<u>328</u>	<u>447</u>	<u>452</u>	<u>457</u>	<u>462</u>	<u>467</u>
1650	<u>337</u>	<u>480</u>	<u>487</u>	<u>493</u>	<u>498</u>	<u>503</u>
1700	<u>347</u>	<u>513</u>	<u>525</u>	<u>531</u>	<u>537</u>	<u>542</u>
1750	<u>356</u>	<u>546</u>	<u>561</u>	<u>567</u>	<u>573</u>	<u>579</u>
1800	<u>365</u>	<u>561</u>	<u>598</u>	<u>605</u>	<u>611</u>	<u>618</u>
1850	<u>374</u>	<u>575</u>	<u>634</u>	<u>641</u>	<u>648</u>	<u>654</u>
1900	<u>383</u>	<u>588</u>	<u>668</u>	<u>676</u>	<u>684</u>	<u>691</u>
1950	<u>393</u>	<u>603</u>	<u>702</u>	<u>715</u>	<u>722</u>	<u>730</u>
2000	<u>402</u>	<u>617</u>	<u>735</u>	<u>750</u>	<u>758</u>	<u>766</u>
2050	<u>411</u>	<u>631</u>	<u>769</u>	<u>786</u>	<u>794</u>	<u>803</u>
2100	<u>420</u>	<u>645</u>	<u>786</u>	<u>823</u>	<u>833</u>	<u>841</u>
2150	<u>429</u>	<u>659</u>	<u>803</u>	<u>861</u>	<u>868</u>	<u>877</u>
2200	<u>439</u>	<u>673</u>	<u>820</u>	<u>898</u>	<u>906</u>	<u>915</u>
2250	<u>447</u>	<u>687</u>	<u>837</u>	<u>935</u>	<u>941</u>	<u>951</u>
2300	<u>456</u>	<u>700</u>	<u>853</u>	<u>953</u>	<u>976</u>	<u>986</u>
2350	<u>466</u>	<u>715</u>	<u>871</u>	<u>973</u>	<u>1015</u>	<u>1024</u>
2400	<u>474</u>	<u>728</u>	<u>887</u>	<u>991</u>	<u>1054</u>	<u>1060</u>
2450	<u>483</u>	<u>741</u>	<u>903</u>	<u>1009</u>	<u>1093</u>	<u>1095</u>
2500	<u>492</u>	<u>756</u>	<u>921</u>	<u>1029</u>	<u>1132</u>	<u>1134</u>
2550	<u>501</u>	<u>769</u>	<u>937</u>	<u>1047</u>	<u>1152</u>	<u>1169</u>
2600	<u>511</u>	<u>784</u>	<u>955</u>	<u>1067</u>	<u>1173</u>	<u>1207</u>
2650	<u>519</u>	<u>797</u>	<u>971</u>	<u>1085</u>	<u>1193</u>	<u>1297</u>
2700	<u>528</u>	<u>811</u>	<u>988</u>	<u>1103</u>	<u>1214</u>	<u>1319</u>
2750	<u>537</u>	<u>825</u>	<u>1005</u>	<u>1123</u>	<u>1235</u>	<u>1343</u>
2800	<u>546</u>	<u>838</u>	<u>1022</u>	<u>1141</u>	<u>1255</u>	<u>1364</u>
2850	<u>555</u>	<u>852</u>	<u>1038</u>	<u>1159</u>	<u>1275</u>	<u>1386</u>
2900	<u>564</u>	<u>866</u>	<u>1056</u>	<u>1179</u>	<u>1297</u>	<u>1410</u>
2950	<u>573</u>	<u>880</u>	<u>1072</u>	<u>1197</u>	<u>1317</u>	<u>1432</u>
3000	<u>582</u>	<u>894</u>	<u>1089</u>	<u>1217</u>	<u>1339</u>	<u>1455</u>
3050	<u>591</u>	<u>907</u>	<u>1106</u>	<u>1235</u>	<u>1359</u>	<u>1477</u>
3100	<u>600</u>	<u>921</u>	<u>1122</u>	<u>1253</u>	<u>1379</u>	<u>1499</u>
3150	<u>609</u>	<u>935</u>	<u>1140</u>	<u>1273</u>	<u>1400</u>	<u>1522</u>
3200	<u>618</u>	<u>949</u>	<u>1156</u>	<u>1291</u>	<u>1421</u>	<u>1544</u>
3250	<u>627</u>	<u>962</u>	<u>1172</u>	<u>1310</u>	<u>1441</u>	<u>1566</u>
3300	<u>636</u>	<u>977</u>	<u>1190</u>	<u>1329</u>	<u>1462</u>	<u>1589</u>
3350	<u>645</u>	<u>990</u>	<u>1206</u>	<u>1348</u>	<u>1482</u>	<u>1611</u>
3400	<u>654</u>	<u>1004</u>	<u>1224</u>	<u>1367</u>	<u>1504</u>	<u>1635</u>
3450	<u>663</u>	<u>1018</u>	<u>1240</u>	<u>1385</u>	<u>1524</u>	<u>1657</u>
3500	<u>672</u>	<u>1031</u>	<u>1257</u>	<u>1404</u>	<u>1544</u>	<u>1678</u>
3550	<u>681</u>	<u>1046</u>	<u>1274</u>	<u>1423</u>	<u>1566</u>	<u>1702</u>
3600	<u>690</u>	<u>1059</u>	<u>1291</u>	<u>1442</u>	<u>1586</u>	<u>1724</u>
3650	<u>699</u>	<u>1073</u>	<u>1307</u>	<u>1460</u>	<u>1606</u>	<u>1746</u>
3700	<u>708</u>	<u>1087</u>	<u>1325</u>	<u>1480</u>	<u>1628</u>	<u>1769</u>
3750	<u>717</u>	<u>1100</u>	<u>1341</u>	<u>1498</u>	<u>1648</u>	<u>1791</u>
3800	<u>726</u>	<u>1115</u>	<u>1359</u>	<u>1517</u>	<u>1669</u>	<u>1814</u>
3850	<u>735</u>	<u>1128</u>	<u>1375</u>	<u>1536</u>	<u>1689</u>	<u>1836</u>
3900	<u>744</u>	<u>1141</u>	<u>1391</u>	<u>1553</u>	<u>1709</u>	<u>1857</u>
3950	<u>753</u>	<u>1155</u>	<u>1406</u>	<u>1571</u>	<u>1728</u>	<u>1878</u>
4000	<u>761</u>	<u>1167</u>	<u>1421</u>	<u>1587</u>	<u>1746</u>	<u>1898</u>
4050	<u>769</u>	<u>1179</u>	<u>1436</u>	<u>1604</u>	<u>1764</u>	<u>1918</u>
4100	<u>778</u>	<u>1193</u>	<u>1452</u>	<u>1622</u>	<u>1784</u>	<u>1939</u>
4150	<u>786</u>	<u>1205</u>	<u>1466</u>	<u>1638</u>	<u>1802</u>	<u>1959</u>
4200	<u>795</u>	<u>1219</u>	<u>1482</u>	<u>1656</u>	<u>1821</u>	<u>1980</u>

4250	<u>803</u>	<u>1231</u>	<u>1497</u>	<u>1672</u>	<u>1839</u>	<u>1999</u>
4300	<u>812</u>	<u>1243</u>	<u>1511</u>	<u>1688</u>	<u>1857</u>	<u>2018</u>
4350	<u>821</u>	<u>1256</u>	<u>1527</u>	<u>1706</u>	<u>1876</u>	<u>2039</u>
4400	<u>829</u>	<u>1268</u>	<u>1541</u>	<u>1722</u>	<u>1894</u>	<u>2059</u>
4450	<u>837</u>	<u>1281</u>	<u>1556</u>	<u>1738</u>	<u>1912</u>	<u>2078</u>
4500	<u>846</u>	<u>1294</u>	<u>1572</u>	<u>1756</u>	<u>1931</u>	<u>2099</u>
4550	<u>854</u>	<u>1307</u>	<u>1587</u>	<u>1773</u>	<u>1950</u>	<u>2120</u>
4600	<u>864</u>	<u>1321</u>	<u>1604</u>	<u>1792</u>	<u>1971</u>	<u>2143</u>
4650	<u>872</u>	<u>1334</u>	<u>1620</u>	<u>1810</u>	<u>1991</u>	<u>2164</u>
4700	<u>881</u>	<u>1348</u>	<u>1636</u>	<u>1828</u>	<u>2010</u>	<u>2185</u>
4750	<u>891</u>	<u>1362</u>	<u>1653</u>	<u>1847</u>	<u>2032</u>	<u>2208</u>
4800	<u>899</u>	<u>1375</u>	<u>1669</u>	<u>1865</u>	<u>2051</u>	<u>2229</u>
4850	<u>908</u>	<u>1388</u>	<u>1685</u>	<u>1882</u>	<u>2070</u>	<u>2251</u>
4900	<u>917</u>	<u>1402</u>	<u>1702</u>	<u>1901</u>	<u>2091</u>	<u>2273</u>
4950	<u>925</u>	<u>1413</u>	<u>1715</u>	<u>1916</u>	<u>2107</u>	<u>2291</u>
5000	<u>933</u>	<u>1426</u>	<u>1730</u>	<u>1933</u>	<u>2126</u>	<u>2311</u>
5050	<u>940</u>	<u>1437</u>	<u>1744</u>	<u>1948</u>	<u>2143</u>	<u>2329</u>
5100	<u>948</u>	<u>1449</u>	<u>1758</u>	<u>1963</u>	<u>2160</u>	<u>2348</u>
5150	<u>956</u>	<u>1461</u>	<u>1773</u>	<u>1980</u>	<u>2178</u>	<u>2368</u>
5200	<u>964</u>	<u>1473</u>	<u>1787</u>	<u>1996</u>	<u>2195</u>	<u>2386</u>
5250	<u>969</u>	<u>1481</u>	<u>1797</u>	<u>2007</u>	<u>2208</u>	<u>2400</u>
5300	<u>975</u>	<u>1490</u>	<u>1808</u>	<u>2020</u>	<u>2222</u>	<u>2415</u>
5350	<u>981</u>	<u>1499</u>	<u>1818</u>	<u>2031</u>	<u>2234</u>	<u>2428</u>
5400	<u>987</u>	<u>1508</u>	<u>1830</u>	<u>2044</u>	<u>2248</u>	<u>2444</u>
5450	<u>993</u>	<u>1517</u>	<u>1840</u>	<u>2055</u>	<u>2260</u>	<u>2457</u>
5500	<u>998</u>	<u>1525</u>	<u>1850</u>	<u>2066</u>	<u>2273</u>	<u>2471</u>
5550	<u>1004</u>	<u>1534</u>	<u>1861</u>	<u>2079</u>	<u>2287</u>	<u>2486</u>
5600	<u>1010</u>	<u>1543</u>	<u>1871</u>	<u>2090</u>	<u>2299</u>	<u>2499</u>
5650	<u>1016</u>	<u>1551</u>	<u>1882</u>	<u>2102</u>	<u>2312</u>	<u>2513</u>
5700	<u>1022</u>	<u>1561</u>	<u>1893</u>	<u>2114</u>	<u>2326</u>	<u>2528</u>
5750	<u>1027</u>	<u>1569</u>	<u>1903</u>	<u>2126</u>	<u>2338</u>	<u>2542</u>
5800	<u>1033</u>	<u>1578</u>	<u>1914</u>	<u>2138</u>	<u>2352</u>	<u>2557</u>
5850	<u>1039</u>	<u>1587</u>	<u>1925</u>	<u>2150</u>	<u>2365</u>	<u>2570</u>
5900	<u>1045</u>	<u>1595</u>	<u>1935</u>	<u>2161</u>	<u>2377</u>	<u>2584</u>
5950	<u>1050</u>	<u>1604</u>	<u>1945</u>	<u>2172</u>	<u>2390</u>	<u>2597</u>
6000	<u>1054</u>	<u>1609</u>	<u>1951</u>	<u>2179</u>	<u>2397</u>	<u>2606</u>
6050	<u>1057</u>	<u>1614</u>	<u>1957</u>	<u>2186</u>	<u>2405</u>	<u>2614</u>
6100	<u>1061</u>	<u>1620</u>	<u>1964</u>	<u>2193</u>	<u>2413</u>	<u>2623</u>
6150	<u>1064</u>	<u>1625</u>	<u>1970</u>	<u>2200</u>	<u>2420</u>	<u>2631</u>
6200	<u>1068</u>	<u>1631</u>	<u>1977</u>	<u>2208</u>	<u>2429</u>	<u>2640</u>
6250	<u>1072</u>	<u>1636</u>	<u>1983</u>	<u>2215</u>	<u>2436</u>	<u>2648</u>
6300	<u>1075</u>	<u>1641</u>	<u>1989</u>	<u>2221</u>	<u>2444</u>	<u>2656</u>
6350	<u>1079</u>	<u>1647</u>	<u>1995</u>	<u>2229</u>	<u>2452</u>	<u>2665</u>
6400	<u>1083</u>	<u>1652</u>	<u>2002</u>	<u>2236</u>	<u>2459</u>	<u>2673</u>
6450	<u>1086</u>	<u>1657</u>	<u>2008</u>	<u>2243</u>	<u>2467</u>	<u>2681</u>
6500	<u>1090</u>	<u>1663</u>	<u>2014</u>	<u>2250</u>	<u>2475</u>	<u>2690</u>
6550	<u>1094</u>	<u>1668</u>	<u>2020</u>	<u>2257</u>	<u>2483</u>	<u>2699</u>
6600	<u>1097</u>	<u>1674</u>	<u>2027</u>	<u>2264</u>	<u>2491</u>	<u>2708</u>
6650	<u>1101</u>	<u>1679</u>	<u>2033</u>	<u>2271</u>	<u>2498</u>	<u>2716</u>
6700	<u>1105</u>	<u>1684</u>	<u>2039</u>	<u>2278</u>	<u>2505</u>	<u>2723</u>
6750	<u>1109</u>	<u>1690</u>	<u>2045</u>	<u>2284</u>	<u>2512</u>	<u>2731</u>
6800	<u>1112</u>	<u>1695</u>	<u>2050</u>	<u>2290</u>	<u>2519</u>	<u>2738</u>
6850	<u>1116</u>	<u>1699</u>	<u>2055</u>	<u>2296</u>	<u>2525</u>	<u>2745</u>
6900	<u>1120</u>	<u>1705</u>	<u>2061</u>	<u>2302</u>	<u>2533</u>	<u>2753</u>
6950	<u>1123</u>	<u>1710</u>	<u>2066</u>	<u>2308</u>	<u>2539</u>	<u>2760</u>
7000	<u>1127</u>	<u>1715</u>	<u>2072</u>	<u>2315</u>	<u>2546</u>	<u>2768</u>
7050	<u>1131</u>	<u>1720</u>	<u>2078</u>	<u>2321</u>	<u>2553</u>	<u>2775</u>
7100	<u>1135</u>	<u>1725</u>	<u>2083</u>	<u>2327</u>	<u>2559</u>	<u>2782</u>
7150	<u>1139</u>	<u>1731</u>	<u>2089</u>	<u>2333</u>	<u>2566</u>	<u>2790</u>

7200	<u>1142</u>	<u>1736</u>	<u>2094</u>	<u>2339</u>	<u>2573</u>	<u>2797</u>
7250	<u>1146</u>	<u>1741</u>	<u>2099</u>	<u>2345</u>	<u>2579</u>	<u>2804</u>
7300	<u>1150</u>	<u>1746</u>	<u>2105</u>	<u>2351</u>	<u>2587</u>	<u>2812</u>
7350	<u>1153</u>	<u>1751</u>	<u>2110</u>	<u>2357</u>	<u>2593</u>	<u>2819</u>
7400	<u>1157</u>	<u>1756</u>	<u>2116</u>	<u>2364</u>	<u>2600</u>	<u>2826</u>
7450	<u>1162</u>	<u>1763</u>	<u>2125</u>	<u>2374</u>	<u>2611</u>	<u>2838</u>
7500	<u>1166</u>	<u>1770</u>	<u>2135</u>	<u>2384</u>	<u>2623</u>	<u>2851</u>
7550	<u>1171</u>	<u>1778</u>	<u>2145</u>	<u>2396</u>	<u>2636</u>	<u>2865</u>
7600	<u>1175</u>	<u>1785</u>	<u>2155</u>	<u>2407</u>	<u>2647</u>	<u>2878</u>
7650	<u>1179</u>	<u>1793</u>	<u>2164</u>	<u>2417</u>	<u>2659</u>	<u>2890</u>
7700	<u>1184</u>	<u>1800</u>	<u>2175</u>	<u>2429</u>	<u>2672</u>	<u>2904</u>
7750	<u>1188</u>	<u>1808</u>	<u>2184</u>	<u>2440</u>	<u>2684</u>	<u>2917</u>
7800	<u>1193</u>	<u>1816</u>	<u>2195</u>	<u>2451</u>	<u>2696</u>	<u>2931</u>
7850	<u>1197</u>	<u>1823</u>	<u>2204</u>	<u>2462</u>	<u>2708</u>	<u>2944</u>
7900	<u>1201</u>	<u>1830</u>	<u>2214</u>	<u>2473</u>	<u>2720</u>	<u>2956</u>
7950	<u>1206</u>	<u>1838</u>	<u>2224</u>	<u>2484</u>	<u>2733</u>	<u>2970</u>
8000	<u>1210</u>	<u>1845</u>	<u>2234</u>	<u>2495</u>	<u>2744</u>	<u>2983</u>
8050	<u>1214</u>	<u>1852</u>	<u>2243</u>	<u>2506</u>	<u>2756</u>	<u>2996</u>
8100	<u>1219</u>	<u>1860</u>	<u>2254</u>	<u>2517</u>	<u>2769</u>	<u>3010</u>
8150	<u>1223</u>	<u>1867</u>	<u>2263</u>	<u>2528</u>	<u>2780</u>	<u>3022</u>
8200	<u>1226</u>	<u>1871</u>	<u>2266</u>	<u>2531</u>	<u>2784</u>	<u>3027</u>
8250	<u>1229</u>	<u>1874</u>	<u>2269</u>	<u>2535</u>	<u>2788</u>	<u>3031</u>
8300	<u>1232</u>	<u>1877</u>	<u>2272</u>	<u>2538</u>	<u>2792</u>	<u>3035</u>
8350	<u>1235</u>	<u>1881</u>	<u>2275</u>	<u>2542</u>	<u>2796</u>	<u>3039</u>
8400	<u>1237</u>	<u>1884</u>	<u>2278</u>	<u>2545</u>	<u>2799</u>	<u>3043</u>
8450	<u>1240</u>	<u>1888</u>	<u>2282</u>	<u>2549</u>	<u>2803</u>	<u>3047</u>
8500	<u>1243</u>	<u>1891</u>	<u>2285</u>	<u>2552</u>	<u>2807</u>	<u>3051</u>
8550	<u>1246</u>	<u>1895</u>	<u>2288</u>	<u>2555</u>	<u>2811</u>	<u>3056</u>
8600	<u>1249</u>	<u>1898</u>	<u>2291</u>	<u>2559</u>	<u>2815</u>	<u>3060</u>
8650	<u>1251</u>	<u>1901</u>	<u>2294</u>	<u>2562</u>	<u>2819</u>	<u>3064</u>
8700	<u>1254</u>	<u>1905</u>	<u>2297</u>	<u>2566</u>	<u>2822</u>	<u>3068</u>
8750	<u>1257</u>	<u>1908</u>	<u>2300</u>	<u>2569</u>	<u>2826</u>	<u>3072</u>
8800	<u>1260</u>	<u>1912</u>	<u>2303</u>	<u>2573</u>	<u>2830</u>	<u>3076</u>
8850	<u>1263</u>	<u>1915</u>	<u>2306</u>	<u>2576</u>	<u>2834</u>	<u>3080</u>
8900	<u>1266</u>	<u>1919</u>	<u>2310</u>	<u>2581</u>	<u>2839</u>	<u>3086</u>
8950	<u>1270</u>	<u>1924</u>	<u>2316</u>	<u>2587</u>	<u>2845</u>	<u>3093</u>
9000	<u>1273</u>	<u>1929</u>	<u>2321</u>	<u>2593</u>	<u>2852</u>	<u>3100</u>
9050	<u>1277</u>	<u>1934</u>	<u>2326</u>	<u>2599</u>	<u>2858</u>	<u>3107</u>
9100	<u>1281</u>	<u>1939</u>	<u>2332</u>	<u>2604</u>	<u>2865</u>	<u>3114</u>
9150	<u>1285</u>	<u>1944</u>	<u>2337</u>	<u>2610</u>	<u>2871</u>	<u>3121</u>
9200	<u>1288</u>	<u>1949</u>	<u>2342</u>	<u>2616</u>	<u>2878</u>	<u>3128</u>
9250	<u>1292</u>	<u>1954</u>	<u>2347</u>	<u>2622</u>	<u>2884</u>	<u>3135</u>
9300	<u>1296</u>	<u>1959</u>	<u>2352</u>	<u>2628</u>	<u>2890</u>	<u>3142</u>
9350	<u>1299</u>	<u>1964</u>	<u>2358</u>	<u>2633</u>	<u>2897</u>	<u>3149</u>
9400	<u>1303</u>	<u>1969</u>	<u>2363</u>	<u>2639</u>	<u>2903</u>	<u>3156</u>
9450	<u>1307</u>	<u>1974</u>	<u>2368</u>	<u>2645</u>	<u>2910</u>	<u>3163</u>
9500	<u>1310</u>	<u>1979</u>	<u>2373</u>	<u>2651</u>	<u>2916</u>	<u>3170</u>
9550	<u>1314</u>	<u>1984</u>	<u>2378</u>	<u>2657</u>	<u>2922</u>	<u>3177</u>
9600	<u>1318</u>	<u>1989</u>	<u>2384</u>	<u>2662</u>	<u>2929</u>	<u>3183</u>
9650	<u>1322</u>	<u>1995</u>	<u>2390</u>	<u>2670</u>	<u>2937</u>	<u>3192</u>
9700	<u>1328</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2400</u>	<u>2681</u>	<u>2949</u>	<u>3205</u>
9750	<u>1333</u>	<u>2011</u>	<u>2410</u>	<u>2691</u>	<u>2961</u>	<u>3218</u>
9800	<u>1339</u>	<u>2020</u>	<u>2419</u>	<u>2702</u>	<u>2973</u>	<u>3231</u>
9850	<u>1345</u>	<u>2028</u>	<u>2429</u>	<u>2713</u>	<u>2984</u>	<u>3244</u>
9900	<u>1350</u>	<u>2036</u>	<u>2439</u>	<u>2724</u>	<u>2996</u>	<u>3257</u>
9950	<u>1356</u>	<u>2045</u>	<u>2448</u>	<u>2735</u>	<u>3008</u>	<u>3270</u>
10000	<u>1362</u>	<u>2053</u>	<u>2458</u>	<u>2746</u>	<u>3020</u>	<u>3283</u>
10050	<u>1367</u>	<u>2061</u>	<u>2468</u>	<u>2756</u>	<u>3032</u>	<u>3296</u>
10100	<u>1373</u>	<u>2070</u>	<u>2477</u>	<u>2767</u>	<u>3044</u>	<u>3309</u>

10150	<u>1379</u>	<u>2078</u>	<u>2487</u>	<u>2778</u>	<u>3056</u>	<u>3322</u>
10200	<u>1384</u>	<u>2086</u>	<u>2497</u>	<u>2789</u>	<u>3068</u>	<u>3335</u>
10250	<u>1390</u>	<u>2095</u>	<u>2507</u>	<u>2800</u>	<u>3080</u>	<u>3348</u>
10300	<u>1396</u>	<u>2103</u>	<u>2516</u>	<u>2811</u>	<u>3092</u>	<u>3361</u>
10350	<u>1401</u>	<u>2111</u>	<u>2526</u>	<u>2821</u>	<u>3104</u>	<u>3374</u>
10400	<u>1407</u>	<u>2120</u>	<u>2536</u>	<u>2832</u>	<u>3116</u>	<u>3387</u>
10450	<u>1413</u>	<u>2128</u>	<u>2545</u>	<u>2843</u>	<u>3127</u>	<u>3400</u>
10500	<u>1418</u>	<u>2136</u>	<u>2555</u>	<u>2854</u>	<u>3139</u>	<u>3412</u>
10550	<u>1424</u>	<u>2145</u>	<u>2565</u>	<u>2865</u>	<u>3151</u>	<u>3425</u>
10600	<u>1430</u>	<u>2153</u>	<u>2574</u>	<u>2876</u>	<u>3163</u>	<u>3438</u>
10650	<u>1435</u>	<u>2161</u>	<u>2584</u>	<u>2886</u>	<u>3175</u>	<u>3451</u>
10700	<u>1441</u>	<u>2170</u>	<u>2594</u>	<u>2897</u>	<u>3187</u>	<u>3464</u>
10750	<u>1447</u>	<u>2178</u>	<u>2604</u>	<u>2908</u>	<u>3199</u>	<u>3477</u>
10800	<u>1451</u>	<u>2185</u>	<u>2612</u>	<u>2918</u>	<u>3210</u>	<u>3489</u>
10850	<u>1455</u>	<u>2192</u>	<u>2621</u>	<u>2927</u>	<u>3220</u>	<u>3500</u>
10900	<u>1459</u>	<u>2198</u>	<u>2629</u>	<u>2936</u>	<u>3230</u>	<u>3511</u>
10950	<u>1463</u>	<u>2204</u>	<u>2637</u>	<u>2946</u>	<u>3240</u>	<u>3522</u>
11000	<u>1467</u>	<u>2211</u>	<u>2645</u>	<u>2955</u>	<u>3250</u>	<u>3533</u>
11050	<u>1471</u>	<u>2217</u>	<u>2653</u>	<u>2964</u>	<u>3260</u>	<u>3544</u>
11100	<u>1475</u>	<u>2223</u>	<u>2662</u>	<u>2973</u>	<u>3270</u>	<u>3555</u>
11150	<u>1478</u>	<u>2230</u>	<u>2670</u>	<u>2982</u>	<u>3280</u>	<u>3566</u>
11200	<u>1482</u>	<u>2236</u>	<u>2678</u>	<u>2991</u>	<u>3290</u>	<u>3577</u>
11250	<u>1486</u>	<u>2242</u>	<u>2686</u>	<u>3001</u>	<u>3301</u>	<u>3588</u>
11300	<u>1490</u>	<u>2249</u>	<u>2694</u>	<u>3010</u>	<u>3311</u>	<u>3599</u>
11350	<u>1494</u>	<u>2255</u>	<u>2703</u>	<u>3019</u>	<u>3321</u>	<u>3610</u>
11400	<u>1498</u>	<u>2261</u>	<u>2711</u>	<u>3028</u>	<u>3331</u>	<u>3621</u>
11450	<u>1502</u>	<u>2268</u>	<u>2719</u>	<u>3037</u>	<u>3341</u>	<u>3632</u>
11500	<u>1506</u>	<u>2274</u>	<u>2727</u>	<u>3046</u>	<u>3351</u>	<u>3642</u>
11550	<u>1509</u>	<u>2280</u>	<u>2735</u>	<u>3055</u>	<u>3361</u>	<u>3653</u>
11600	<u>1513</u>	<u>2287</u>	<u>2744</u>	<u>3065</u>	<u>3371</u>	<u>3664</u>
11650	<u>1517</u>	<u>2293</u>	<u>2752</u>	<u>3074</u>	<u>3381</u>	<u>3675</u>
11700	<u>1521</u>	<u>2299</u>	<u>2760</u>	<u>3083</u>	<u>3391</u>	<u>3686</u>
11750	<u>1525</u>	<u>2306</u>	<u>2768</u>	<u>3092</u>	<u>3401</u>	<u>3697</u>
11800	<u>1529</u>	<u>2312</u>	<u>2776</u>	<u>3101</u>	<u>3411</u>	<u>3708</u>
11850	<u>1533</u>	<u>2318</u>	<u>2785</u>	<u>3110</u>	<u>3421</u>	<u>3719</u>
11900	<u>1536</u>	<u>2325</u>	<u>2793</u>	<u>3120</u>	<u>3432</u>	<u>3730</u>
11950	<u>1540</u>	<u>2329</u>	<u>2798</u>	<u>3126</u>	<u>3438</u>	<u>3737</u>
12000	<u>1543</u>	<u>2333</u>	<u>2803</u>	<u>3131</u>	<u>3444</u>	<u>3743</u>
12050	<u>1546</u>	<u>2337</u>	<u>2807</u>	<u>3136</u>	<u>3449</u>	<u>3749</u>
12100	<u>1549</u>	<u>2342</u>	<u>2812</u>	<u>3140</u>	<u>3455</u>	<u>3755</u>
12150	<u>1552</u>	<u>2346</u>	<u>2816</u>	<u>3145</u>	<u>3460</u>	<u>3761</u>
12200	<u>1555</u>	<u>2350</u>	<u>2820</u>	<u>3150</u>	<u>3465</u>	<u>3767</u>
12250	<u>1557</u>	<u>2354</u>	<u>2825</u>	<u>3155</u>	<u>3471</u>	<u>3773</u>
12300	<u>1560</u>	<u>2358</u>	<u>2829</u>	<u>3160</u>	<u>3476</u>	<u>3779</u>
12350	<u>1563</u>	<u>2362</u>	<u>2834</u>	<u>3165</u>	<u>3482</u>	<u>3785</u>
12400	<u>1566</u>	<u>2366</u>	<u>2838</u>	<u>3170</u>	<u>3487</u>	<u>3791</u>
12450	<u>1569</u>	<u>2370</u>	<u>2843</u>	<u>3175</u>	<u>3493</u>	<u>3796</u>
12500	<u>1572</u>	<u>2374</u>	<u>2847</u>	<u>3180</u>	<u>3498</u>	<u>3802</u>
12550	<u>1575</u>	<u>2378</u>	<u>2851</u>	<u>3185</u>	<u>3503</u>	<u>3808</u>
12600	<u>1578</u>	<u>2382</u>	<u>2856</u>	<u>3190</u>	<u>3509</u>	<u>3814</u>
12650	<u>1581</u>	<u>2387</u>	<u>2860</u>	<u>3195</u>	<u>3514</u>	<u>3820</u>
12700	<u>1584</u>	<u>2391</u>	<u>2865</u>	<u>3200</u>	<u>3520</u>	<u>3826</u>
12750	<u>1587</u>	<u>2395</u>	<u>2869</u>	<u>3205</u>	<u>3525</u>	<u>3832</u>
12800	<u>1590</u>	<u>2399</u>	<u>2873</u>	<u>3210</u>	<u>3531</u>	<u>3838</u>
12850	<u>1593</u>	<u>2403</u>	<u>2878</u>	<u>3215</u>	<u>3536</u>	<u>3844</u>
12900	<u>1596</u>	<u>2407</u>	<u>2882</u>	<u>3220</u>	<u>3542</u>	<u>3850</u>
12950	<u>1599</u>	<u>2411</u>	<u>2887</u>	<u>3225</u>	<u>3547</u>	<u>3856</u>
13000	<u>1602</u>	<u>2415</u>	<u>2891</u>	<u>3229</u>	<u>3552</u>	<u>3861</u>
13050	<u>1605</u>	<u>2419</u>	<u>2896</u>	<u>3234</u>	<u>3558</u>	<u>3867</u>

13100	<u>1609</u>	<u>2425</u>	<u>2901</u>	<u>3241</u>	<u>3565</u>	<u>3875</u>
13150	<u>1613</u>	<u>2430</u>	<u>2907</u>	<u>3247</u>	<u>3572</u>	<u>3882</u>
13200	<u>1617</u>	<u>2435</u>	<u>2912</u>	<u>3253</u>	<u>3578</u>	<u>3890</u>
13250	<u>1621</u>	<u>2441</u>	<u>2918</u>	<u>3259</u>	<u>3585</u>	<u>3897</u>
13300	<u>1625</u>	<u>2446</u>	<u>2924</u>	<u>3266</u>	<u>3592</u>	<u>3905</u>
13350	<u>1646</u>	<u>2475</u>	<u>2954</u>	<u>3299</u>	<u>3629</u>	<u>3945</u>
13400	<u>1650</u>	<u>2481</u>	<u>2960</u>	<u>3306</u>	<u>3637</u>	<u>3953</u>
13450	<u>1655</u>	<u>2486</u>	<u>2966</u>	<u>3313</u>	<u>3645</u>	<u>3962</u>
13500	<u>1659</u>	<u>2492</u>	<u>2972</u>	<u>3320</u>	<u>3652</u>	<u>3970</u>
13550	<u>1663</u>	<u>2498</u>	<u>2978</u>	<u>3327</u>	<u>3660</u>	<u>3978</u>
13600	<u>1668</u>	<u>2504</u>	<u>2985</u>	<u>3334</u>	<u>3667</u>	<u>3986</u>
13650	<u>1672</u>	<u>2510</u>	<u>2991</u>	<u>3341</u>	<u>3675</u>	<u>3994</u>
13700	<u>1676</u>	<u>2516</u>	<u>2997</u>	<u>3348</u>	<u>3682</u>	<u>4003</u>
13750	<u>1681</u>	<u>2521</u>	<u>3003</u>	<u>3354</u>	<u>3690</u>	<u>4011</u>
13800	<u>1685</u>	<u>2527</u>	<u>3009</u>	<u>3361</u>	<u>3697</u>	<u>4019</u>
13850	<u>1689</u>	<u>2533</u>	<u>3015</u>	<u>3368</u>	<u>3705</u>	<u>4027</u>
13900	<u>1694</u>	<u>2539</u>	<u>3021</u>	<u>3375</u>	<u>3712</u>	<u>4035</u>
13950	<u>1698</u>	<u>2545</u>	<u>3028</u>	<u>3382</u>	<u>3720</u>	<u>4044</u>
14000	<u>1703</u>	<u>2551</u>	<u>3034</u>	<u>3389</u>	<u>3728</u>	<u>4052</u>
14050	<u>1707</u>	<u>2557</u>	<u>3040</u>	<u>3396</u>	<u>3735</u>	<u>4060</u>
14100	<u>1711</u>	<u>2562</u>	<u>3046</u>	<u>3402</u>	<u>3743</u>	<u>4068</u>
14150	<u>1716</u>	<u>2568</u>	<u>3052</u>	<u>3409</u>	<u>3750</u>	<u>4077</u>
14200	<u>1720</u>	<u>2574</u>	<u>3058</u>	<u>3416</u>	<u>3758</u>	<u>4085</u>
14250	<u>1724</u>	<u>2580</u>	<u>3064</u>	<u>3423</u>	<u>3765</u>	<u>4093</u>
14300	<u>1727</u>	<u>2584</u>	<u>3069</u>	<u>3428</u>	<u>3771</u>	<u>4099</u>
14350	<u>1730</u>	<u>2588</u>	<u>3073</u>	<u>3432</u>	<u>3775</u>	<u>4104</u>
14400	<u>1733</u>	<u>2592</u>	<u>3076</u>	<u>3436</u>	<u>3780</u>	<u>4109</u>
14450	<u>1736</u>	<u>2595</u>	<u>3080</u>	<u>3440</u>	<u>3784</u>	<u>4114</u>
14500	<u>1739</u>	<u>2599</u>	<u>3084</u>	<u>3445</u>	<u>3789</u>	<u>4119</u>
14550	<u>1742</u>	<u>2603</u>	<u>3087</u>	<u>3449</u>	<u>3794</u>	<u>4124</u>
14600	<u>1744</u>	<u>2606</u>	<u>3091</u>	<u>3453</u>	<u>3798</u>	<u>4129</u>
14650	<u>1747</u>	<u>2610</u>	<u>3095</u>	<u>3457</u>	<u>3803</u>	<u>4133</u>
14700	<u>1750</u>	<u>2614</u>	<u>3099</u>	<u>3461</u>	<u>3807</u>	<u>4138</u>
14750	<u>1753</u>	<u>2617</u>	<u>3102</u>	<u>3465</u>	<u>3812</u>	<u>4143</u>
14800	<u>1756</u>	<u>2621</u>	<u>3106</u>	<u>3469</u>	<u>3816</u>	<u>4148</u>
14850	<u>1759</u>	<u>2625</u>	<u>3110</u>	<u>3473</u>	<u>3821</u>	<u>4153</u>
14900	<u>1761</u>	<u>2628</u>	<u>3113</u>	<u>3478</u>	<u>3825</u>	<u>4158</u>
14950	<u>1764</u>	<u>2632</u>	<u>3117</u>	<u>3482</u>	<u>3830</u>	<u>4163</u>
15000	<u>1767</u>	<u>2636</u>	<u>3121</u>	<u>3486</u>	<u>3835</u>	<u>4168</u>
15050	<u>1770</u>	<u>2640</u>	<u>3124</u>	<u>3490</u>	<u>3839</u>	<u>4173</u>
15100	<u>1773</u>	<u>2643</u>	<u>3128</u>	<u>3494</u>	<u>3844</u>	<u>4178</u>
15150	<u>1776</u>	<u>2647</u>	<u>3132</u>	<u>3498</u>	<u>3848</u>	<u>4183</u>
15200	<u>1778</u>	<u>2651</u>	<u>3136</u>	<u>3502</u>	<u>3853</u>	<u>4188</u>
15250	<u>1781</u>	<u>2654</u>	<u>3139</u>	<u>3507</u>	<u>3857</u>	<u>4193</u>
15300	<u>1784</u>	<u>2658</u>	<u>3143</u>	<u>3511</u>	<u>3862</u>	<u>4198</u>
15350	<u>1787</u>	<u>2662</u>	<u>3147</u>	<u>3515</u>	<u>3866</u>	<u>4203</u>
15400	<u>1790</u>	<u>2665</u>	<u>3150</u>	<u>3519</u>	<u>3871</u>	<u>4208</u>
15450	<u>1793</u>	<u>2669</u>	<u>3154</u>	<u>3523</u>	<u>3876</u>	<u>4213</u>
15500	<u>1795</u>	<u>2673</u>	<u>3158</u>	<u>3527</u>	<u>3880</u>	<u>4218</u>
15550	<u>1798</u>	<u>2676</u>	<u>3162</u>	<u>3531</u>	<u>3885</u>	<u>4223</u>
15600	<u>1801</u>	<u>2680</u>	<u>3165</u>	<u>3536</u>	<u>3889</u>	<u>4228</u>
15650	<u>1804</u>	<u>2684</u>	<u>3169</u>	<u>3540</u>	<u>3894</u>	<u>4233</u>
15700	<u>1809</u>	<u>2691</u>	<u>3178</u>	<u>3550</u>	<u>3905</u>	<u>4245</u>
15750	<u>1814</u>	<u>2699</u>	<u>3187</u>	<u>3560</u>	<u>3916</u>	<u>4257</u>
15800	<u>1819</u>	<u>2707</u>	<u>3196</u>	<u>3570</u>	<u>3927</u>	<u>4269</u>
15850	<u>1824</u>	<u>2714</u>	<u>3205</u>	<u>3580</u>	<u>3938</u>	<u>4281</u>
15900	<u>1829</u>	<u>2722</u>	<u>3214</u>	<u>3590</u>	<u>3949</u>	<u>4293</u>
15950	<u>1834</u>	<u>2730</u>	<u>3223</u>	<u>3601</u>	<u>3961</u>	<u>4305</u>
16000	<u>1840</u>	<u>2737</u>	<u>3232</u>	<u>3611</u>	<u>3972</u>	<u>4317</u>

16050	<u>1845</u>	<u>2745</u>	<u>3242</u>	<u>3621</u>	<u>3983</u>	<u>4329</u>
16100	<u>1850</u>	<u>2752</u>	<u>3251</u>	<u>3631</u>	<u>3994</u>	<u>4341</u>
16150	<u>1855</u>	<u>2760</u>	<u>3260</u>	<u>3641</u>	<u>4005</u>	<u>4354</u>
16200	<u>1860</u>	<u>2768</u>	<u>3269</u>	<u>3651</u>	<u>4016</u>	<u>4366</u>
16250	<u>1865</u>	<u>2775</u>	<u>3278</u>	<u>3661</u>	<u>4027</u>	<u>4378</u>
16300	<u>1870</u>	<u>2783</u>	<u>3287</u>	<u>3671</u>	<u>4039</u>	<u>4390</u>
16350	<u>1875</u>	<u>2790</u>	<u>3295</u>	<u>3681</u>	<u>4049</u>	<u>4401</u>
16400	<u>1879</u>	<u>2797</u>	<u>3303</u>	<u>3690</u>	<u>4059</u>	<u>4412</u>
16450	<u>1884</u>	<u>2804</u>	<u>3311</u>	<u>3699</u>	<u>4069</u>	<u>4423</u>
16500	<u>1888</u>	<u>2810</u>	<u>3320</u>	<u>3708</u>	<u>4079</u>	<u>4434</u>
16550	<u>1893</u>	<u>2817</u>	<u>3328</u>	<u>3717</u>	<u>4089</u>	<u>4444</u>
16600	<u>1897</u>	<u>2824</u>	<u>3336</u>	<u>3726</u>	<u>4098</u>	<u>4455</u>
16650	<u>1902</u>	<u>2831</u>	<u>3344</u>	<u>3735</u>	<u>4108</u>	<u>4466</u>
16700	<u>1906</u>	<u>2837</u>	<u>3351</u>	<u>3743</u>	<u>4117</u>	<u>4475</u>
16750	<u>1910</u>	<u>2842</u>	<u>3357</u>	<u>3750</u>	<u>4125</u>	<u>4484</u>
16800	<u>1913</u>	<u>2848</u>	<u>3364</u>	<u>3758</u>	<u>4133</u>	<u>4493</u>
16850	<u>1917</u>	<u>2853</u>	<u>3371</u>	<u>3765</u>	<u>4141</u>	<u>4502</u>
16900	<u>1921</u>	<u>2859</u>	<u>3377</u>	<u>3772</u>	<u>4150</u>	<u>4511</u>
16950	<u>1925</u>	<u>2864</u>	<u>3384</u>	<u>3780</u>	<u>4158</u>	<u>4519</u>
17000	<u>1928</u>	<u>2870</u>	<u>3391</u>	<u>3787</u>	<u>4166</u>	<u>4528</u>
17050	<u>1932</u>	<u>2876</u>	<u>3397</u>	<u>3795</u>	<u>4174</u>	<u>4537</u>
17100	<u>1936</u>	<u>2881</u>	<u>3404</u>	<u>3802</u>	<u>4182</u>	<u>4546</u>
17150	<u>1939</u>	<u>2887</u>	<u>3410</u>	<u>3809</u>	<u>4190</u>	<u>4555</u>
17200	<u>1943</u>	<u>2892</u>	<u>3417</u>	<u>3817</u>	<u>4199</u>	<u>4564</u>
17250	<u>1947</u>	<u>2898</u>	<u>3424</u>	<u>3824</u>	<u>4207</u>	<u>4573</u>
17300	<u>1951</u>	<u>2904</u>	<u>3430</u>	<u>3832</u>	<u>4215</u>	<u>4582</u>
17350	<u>1954</u>	<u>2909</u>	<u>3437</u>	<u>3839</u>	<u>4223</u>	<u>4590</u>
17400	<u>1958</u>	<u>2915</u>	<u>3444</u>	<u>3846</u>	<u>4231</u>	<u>4599</u>
17450	<u>1962</u>	<u>2920</u>	<u>3450</u>	<u>3854</u>	<u>4239</u>	<u>4608</u>
17500	<u>1966</u>	<u>2926</u>	<u>3457</u>	<u>3861</u>	<u>4247</u>	<u>4617</u>
17550	<u>1969</u>	<u>2931</u>	<u>3464</u>	<u>3869</u>	<u>4256</u>	<u>4626</u>
17600	<u>1973</u>	<u>2937</u>	<u>3470</u>	<u>3876</u>	<u>4264</u>	<u>4635</u>
17650	<u>1977</u>	<u>2943</u>	<u>3477</u>	<u>3884</u>	<u>4272</u>	<u>4644</u>
17700	<u>1980</u>	<u>2948</u>	<u>3483</u>	<u>3891</u>	<u>4280</u>	<u>4652</u>
17750	<u>1984</u>	<u>2954</u>	<u>3490</u>	<u>3898</u>	<u>4288</u>	<u>4661</u>
17800	<u>1988</u>	<u>2959</u>	<u>3497</u>	<u>3906</u>	<u>4296</u>	<u>4670</u>
17850	<u>1992</u>	<u>2965</u>	<u>3503</u>	<u>3913</u>	<u>4305</u>	<u>4679</u>
17900	<u>1995</u>	<u>2970</u>	<u>3510</u>	<u>3921</u>	<u>4313</u>	<u>4688</u>
17950	<u>1999</u>	<u>2976</u>	<u>3517</u>	<u>3928</u>	<u>4321</u>	<u>4697</u>
18000	<u>2003</u>	<u>2982</u>	<u>3523</u>	<u>3935</u>	<u>4329</u>	<u>4706</u>
18050	<u>2006</u>	<u>2987</u>	<u>3530</u>	<u>3943</u>	<u>4337</u>	<u>4714</u>
18100	<u>2010</u>	<u>2993</u>	<u>3536</u>	<u>3950</u>	<u>4345</u>	<u>4723</u>
18150	<u>2014</u>	<u>2998</u>	<u>3543</u>	<u>3958</u>	<u>4353</u>	<u>4732</u>
18200	<u>2017</u>	<u>3003</u>	<u>3548</u>	<u>3963</u>	<u>4360</u>	<u>4739</u>
18250	<u>2020</u>	<u>3007</u>	<u>3552</u>	<u>3968</u>	<u>4365</u>	<u>4745</u>
18300	<u>2023</u>	<u>3011</u>	<u>3557</u>	<u>3973</u>	<u>4370</u>	<u>4750</u>
18350	<u>2026</u>	<u>3015</u>	<u>3561</u>	<u>3978</u>	<u>4375</u>	<u>4756</u>
18400	<u>2029</u>	<u>3019</u>	<u>3565</u>	<u>3982</u>	<u>4381</u>	<u>4762</u>
18450	<u>2032</u>	<u>3023</u>	<u>3570</u>	<u>3987</u>	<u>4386</u>	<u>4768</u>
18500	<u>2035</u>	<u>3027</u>	<u>3574</u>	<u>3992</u>	<u>4391</u>	<u>4773</u>
18550	<u>2038</u>	<u>3031</u>	<u>3578</u>	<u>3997</u>	<u>4396</u>	<u>4779</u>
18600	<u>2041</u>	<u>3035</u>	<u>3582</u>	<u>4002</u>	<u>4402</u>	<u>4785</u>
18650	<u>2044</u>	<u>3039</u>	<u>3587</u>	<u>4006</u>	<u>4407</u>	<u>4790</u>
18700	<u>2047</u>	<u>3043</u>	<u>3591</u>	<u>4011</u>	<u>4412</u>	<u>4796</u>
18750	<u>2050</u>	<u>3048</u>	<u>3595</u>	<u>4016</u>	<u>4417</u>	<u>4802</u>
18800	<u>2053</u>	<u>3052</u>	<u>3599</u>	<u>4021</u>	<u>4423</u>	<u>4807</u>
18850	<u>2056</u>	<u>3056</u>	<u>3604</u>	<u>4025</u>	<u>4428</u>	<u>4813</u>
18900	<u>2059</u>	<u>3060</u>	<u>3608</u>	<u>4030</u>	<u>4433</u>	<u>4819</u>

18950	<u>2062</u>	<u>3064</u>	<u>3612</u>	<u>4035</u>	<u>4438</u>	<u>4825</u>
19000	<u>2065</u>	<u>3068</u>	<u>3617</u>	<u>4040</u>	<u>4444</u>	<u>4830</u>
19050	<u>2068</u>	<u>3072</u>	<u>3621</u>	<u>4044</u>	<u>4449</u>	<u>4836</u>
19100	<u>2071</u>	<u>3076</u>	<u>3625</u>	<u>4049</u>	<u>4454</u>	<u>4842</u>
19150	<u>2074</u>	<u>3080</u>	<u>3629</u>	<u>4054</u>	<u>4459</u>	<u>4847</u>
19200	<u>2077</u>	<u>3084</u>	<u>3634</u>	<u>4059</u>	<u>4465</u>	<u>4853</u>
19250	<u>2080</u>	<u>3088</u>	<u>3638</u>	<u>4064</u>	<u>4470</u>	<u>4859</u>
19300	<u>2083</u>	<u>3092</u>	<u>3642</u>	<u>4068</u>	<u>4475</u>	<u>4865</u>
19350	<u>2086</u>	<u>3096</u>	<u>3646</u>	<u>4073</u>	<u>4480</u>	<u>4870</u>
19400	<u>2089</u>	<u>3100</u>	<u>3651</u>	<u>4078</u>	<u>4486</u>	<u>4876</u>
19450	<u>2092</u>	<u>3104</u>	<u>3655</u>	<u>4083</u>	<u>4491</u>	<u>4882</u>
19500	<u>2095</u>	<u>3108</u>	<u>3659</u>	<u>4087</u>	<u>4496</u>	<u>4887</u>
19550	<u>2098</u>	<u>3112</u>	<u>3664</u>	<u>4092</u>	<u>4501</u>	<u>4893</u>
19600	<u>2101</u>	<u>3116</u>	<u>3668</u>	<u>4097</u>	<u>4507</u>	<u>4899</u>
19650	<u>2104</u>	<u>3121</u>	<u>3672</u>	<u>4102</u>	<u>4512</u>	<u>4904</u>
19700	<u>2107</u>	<u>3125</u>	<u>3676</u>	<u>4107</u>	<u>4517</u>	<u>4910</u>
19750	<u>2110</u>	<u>3129</u>	<u>3681</u>	<u>4111</u>	<u>4522</u>	<u>4916</u>
19800	<u>2113</u>	<u>3133</u>	<u>3685</u>	<u>4116</u>	<u>4528</u>	<u>4922</u>
19850	<u>2116</u>	<u>3137</u>	<u>3689</u>	<u>4121</u>	<u>4533</u>	<u>4927</u>
19900	<u>2119</u>	<u>3141</u>	<u>3693</u>	<u>4126</u>	<u>4538</u>	<u>4933</u>
19950	<u>2122</u>	<u>3145</u>	<u>3698</u>	<u>4130</u>	<u>4543</u>	<u>4939</u>
20000	<u>2125</u>	<u>3149</u>	<u>3702</u>	<u>4135</u>	<u>4549</u>	<u>4944</u>
20050	<u>2128</u>	<u>3153</u>	<u>3706</u>	<u>4140</u>	<u>4554</u>	<u>4950</u>
20100	<u>2131</u>	<u>3157</u>	<u>3711</u>	<u>4145</u>	<u>4559</u>	<u>4956</u>
20150	<u>2134</u>	<u>3161</u>	<u>3715</u>	<u>4149</u>	<u>4564</u>	<u>4962</u>
20200	<u>2137</u>	<u>3165</u>	<u>3719</u>	<u>4154</u>	<u>4570</u>	<u>4967</u>
20250	<u>2140</u>	<u>3169</u>	<u>3723</u>	<u>4159</u>	<u>4575</u>	<u>4973</u>
20300	<u>2143</u>	<u>3173</u>	<u>3728</u>	<u>4164</u>	<u>4580</u>	<u>4979</u>
20350	<u>2146</u>	<u>3177</u>	<u>3732</u>	<u>4169</u>	<u>4585</u>	<u>4984</u>
20400	<u>2149</u>	<u>3181</u>	<u>3736</u>	<u>4173</u>	<u>4591</u>	<u>4990</u>
20450	<u>2152</u>	<u>3185</u>	<u>3740</u>	<u>4178</u>	<u>4596</u>	<u>4996</u>
20500	<u>2155</u>	<u>3189</u>	<u>3744</u>	<u>4182</u>	<u>4601</u>	<u>5001</u>
20550	<u>2158</u>	<u>3193</u>	<u>3748</u>	<u>4187</u>	<u>4606</u>	<u>5006</u>
20600	<u>2161</u>	<u>3197</u>	<u>3752</u>	<u>4191</u>	<u>4611</u>	<u>5012</u>
20650	<u>2164</u>	<u>3201</u>	<u>3756</u>	<u>4196</u>	<u>4616</u>	<u>5017</u>
20700	<u>2166</u>	<u>3204</u>	<u>3760</u>	<u>4200</u>	<u>4620</u>	<u>5022</u>
20750	<u>2169</u>	<u>3208</u>	<u>3764</u>	<u>4205</u>	<u>4625</u>	<u>5028</u>
20800	<u>2172</u>	<u>3212</u>	<u>3769</u>	<u>4209</u>	<u>4630</u>	<u>5033</u>
20850	<u>2175</u>	<u>3216</u>	<u>3773</u>	<u>4214</u>	<u>4635</u>	<u>5039</u>
20900	<u>2178</u>	<u>3220</u>	<u>3777</u>	<u>4218</u>	<u>4640</u>	<u>5044</u>
20950	<u>2181</u>	<u>3223</u>	<u>3781</u>	<u>4223</u>	<u>4645</u>	<u>5049</u>
21000	<u>2183</u>	<u>3227</u>	<u>3785</u>	<u>4227</u>	<u>4650</u>	<u>5055</u>
21050	<u>2186</u>	<u>3231</u>	<u>3789</u>	<u>4232</u>	<u>4655</u>	<u>5060</u>
21100	<u>2189</u>	<u>3235</u>	<u>3793</u>	<u>4236</u>	<u>4660</u>	<u>5065</u>
21150	<u>2192</u>	<u>3239</u>	<u>3797</u>	<u>4241</u>	<u>4665</u>	<u>5071</u>
21200	<u>2195</u>	<u>3243</u>	<u>3801</u>	<u>4245</u>	<u>4670</u>	<u>5076</u>
21250	<u>2198</u>	<u>3246</u>	<u>3805</u>	<u>4250</u>	<u>4675</u>	<u>5082</u>
21300	<u>2200</u>	<u>3250</u>	<u>3809</u>	<u>4254</u>	<u>4680</u>	<u>5087</u>
21350	<u>2203</u>	<u>3254</u>	<u>3813</u>	<u>4259</u>	<u>4685</u>	<u>5092</u>
21400	<u>2206</u>	<u>3258</u>	<u>3817</u>	<u>4263</u>	<u>4690</u>	<u>5098</u>
21450	<u>2209</u>	<u>3262</u>	<u>3821</u>	<u>4268</u>	<u>4695</u>	<u>5103</u>
21500	<u>2212</u>	<u>3265</u>	<u>3825</u>	<u>4272</u>	<u>4700</u>	<u>5108</u>
21550	<u>2215</u>	<u>3269</u>	<u>3829</u>	<u>4277</u>	<u>4705</u>	<u>5114</u>
21600	<u>2217</u>	<u>3273</u>	<u>3833</u>	<u>4281</u>	<u>4709</u>	<u>5119</u>
21650	<u>2220</u>	<u>3277</u>	<u>3837</u>	<u>4286</u>	<u>4714</u>	<u>5125</u>
21700	<u>2223</u>	<u>3281</u>	<u>3841</u>	<u>4290</u>	<u>4719</u>	<u>5130</u>
21750	<u>2226</u>	<u>3285</u>	<u>3845</u>	<u>4295</u>	<u>4724</u>	<u>5135</u>
21800	<u>2229</u>	<u>3288</u>	<u>3849</u>	<u>4299</u>	<u>4729</u>	<u>5141</u>
21850	<u>2232</u>	<u>3292</u>	<u>3853</u>	<u>4304</u>	<u>4734</u>	<u>5146</u>

21900	<u>2234</u>	<u>3296</u>	<u>3857</u>	<u>4308</u>	<u>4739</u>	<u>5151</u>
21950	<u>2237</u>	<u>3300</u>	<u>3861</u>	<u>4313</u>	<u>4744</u>	<u>5157</u>
22000	<u>2240</u>	<u>3304</u>	<u>3865</u>	<u>4317</u>	<u>4749</u>	<u>5162</u>
22050	<u>2243</u>	<u>3307</u>	<u>3869</u>	<u>4322</u>	<u>4754</u>	<u>5168</u>
22100	<u>2245</u>	<u>3312</u>	<u>3875</u>	<u>4328</u>	<u>4761</u>	<u>5176</u>
22150	<u>2248</u>	<u>3316</u>	<u>3881</u>	<u>4335</u>	<u>4768</u>	<u>5183</u>
22200	<u>2250</u>	<u>3320</u>	<u>3887</u>	<u>4341</u>	<u>4775</u>	<u>5191</u>
22250	<u>2253</u>	<u>3324</u>	<u>3892</u>	<u>4348</u>	<u>4782</u>	<u>5199</u>
22300	<u>2255</u>	<u>3329</u>	<u>3898</u>	<u>4354</u>	<u>4789</u>	<u>5206</u>
22350	<u>2258</u>	<u>3333</u>	<u>3904</u>	<u>4360</u>	<u>4797</u>	<u>5214</u>
22400	<u>2260</u>	<u>3337</u>	<u>3909</u>	<u>4367</u>	<u>4804</u>	<u>5221</u>
22450	<u>2262</u>	<u>3341</u>	<u>3915</u>	<u>4373</u>	<u>4811</u>	<u>5229</u>
22500	<u>2265</u>	<u>3346</u>	<u>3921</u>	<u>4380</u>	<u>4818</u>	<u>5237</u>
22550	<u>2267</u>	<u>3350</u>	<u>3927</u>	<u>4386</u>	<u>4825</u>	<u>5244</u>
22600	<u>2270</u>	<u>3354</u>	<u>3932</u>	<u>4392</u>	<u>4832</u>	<u>5252</u>
22650	<u>2272</u>	<u>3358</u>	<u>3938</u>	<u>4399</u>	<u>4839</u>	<u>5260</u>
22700	<u>2275</u>	<u>3363</u>	<u>3944</u>	<u>4405</u>	<u>4846</u>	<u>5267</u>
22750	<u>2277</u>	<u>3367</u>	<u>3950</u>	<u>4412</u>	<u>4853</u>	<u>5275</u>
22800	<u>2280</u>	<u>3371</u>	<u>3955</u>	<u>4418</u>	<u>4860</u>	<u>5283</u>
22850	<u>2282</u>	<u>3375</u>	<u>3961</u>	<u>4425</u>	<u>4867</u>	<u>5290</u>
22900	<u>2285</u>	<u>3380</u>	<u>3967</u>	<u>4431</u>	<u>4874</u>	<u>5298</u>
22950	<u>2287</u>	<u>3384</u>	<u>3973</u>	<u>4437</u>	<u>4881</u>	<u>5306</u>
23000	<u>2289</u>	<u>3388</u>	<u>3978</u>	<u>4444</u>	<u>4888</u>	<u>5313</u>
23050	<u>2292</u>	<u>3392</u>	<u>3984</u>	<u>4450</u>	<u>4895</u>	<u>5321</u>
23100	<u>2294</u>	<u>3396</u>	<u>3990</u>	<u>4457</u>	<u>4902</u>	<u>5329</u>
23150	<u>2297</u>	<u>3401</u>	<u>3995</u>	<u>4463</u>	<u>4909</u>	<u>5336</u>
23200	<u>2299</u>	<u>3405</u>	<u>4001</u>	<u>4469</u>	<u>4916</u>	<u>5344</u>
23250	<u>2302</u>	<u>3409</u>	<u>4007</u>	<u>4476</u>	<u>4923</u>	<u>5352</u>
23300	<u>2304</u>	<u>3413</u>	<u>4013</u>	<u>4482</u>	<u>4930</u>	<u>5359</u>
23350	<u>2307</u>	<u>3418</u>	<u>4018</u>	<u>4489</u>	<u>4937</u>	<u>5367</u>
23400	<u>2309</u>	<u>3422</u>	<u>4024</u>	<u>4495</u>	<u>4944</u>	<u>5375</u>
23450	<u>2312</u>	<u>3426</u>	<u>4030</u>	<u>4501</u>	<u>4952</u>	<u>5382</u>
23500	<u>2314</u>	<u>3430</u>	<u>4036</u>	<u>4508</u>	<u>4959</u>	<u>5390</u>
23550	<u>2317</u>	<u>3435</u>	<u>4041</u>	<u>4514</u>	<u>4966</u>	<u>5398</u>
23600	<u>2319</u>	<u>3439</u>	<u>4047</u>	<u>4521</u>	<u>4973</u>	<u>5405</u>
23650	<u>2321</u>	<u>3443</u>	<u>4053</u>	<u>4527</u>	<u>4980</u>	<u>5413</u>
23700	<u>2324</u>	<u>3447</u>	<u>4059</u>	<u>4533</u>	<u>4987</u>	<u>5421</u>
23750	<u>2326</u>	<u>3452</u>	<u>4064</u>	<u>4540</u>	<u>4994</u>	<u>5428</u>
23800	<u>2329</u>	<u>3456</u>	<u>4070</u>	<u>4546</u>	<u>5001</u>	<u>5436</u>
23850	<u>2331</u>	<u>3460</u>	<u>4076</u>	<u>4553</u>	<u>5008</u>	<u>5444</u>
23900	<u>2334</u>	<u>3464</u>	<u>4081</u>	<u>4559</u>	<u>5015</u>	<u>5451</u>
23950	<u>2336</u>	<u>3469</u>	<u>4087</u>	<u>4565</u>	<u>5022</u>	<u>5459</u>
24000	<u>2339</u>	<u>3473</u>	<u>4093</u>	<u>4572</u>	<u>5029</u>	<u>5467</u>
24050	<u>2341</u>	<u>3477</u>	<u>4099</u>	<u>4578</u>	<u>5036</u>	<u>5474</u>
24100	<u>2344</u>	<u>3481</u>	<u>4104</u>	<u>4585</u>	<u>5043</u>	<u>5482</u>
24150	<u>2346</u>	<u>3486</u>	<u>4110</u>	<u>4591</u>	<u>5050</u>	<u>5489</u>
24200	<u>2348</u>	<u>3490</u>	<u>4116</u>	<u>4597</u>	<u>5057</u>	<u>5497</u>
24250	<u>2351</u>	<u>3494</u>	<u>4122</u>	<u>4604</u>	<u>5064</u>	<u>5505</u>
24300	<u>2353</u>	<u>3498</u>	<u>4127</u>	<u>4610</u>	<u>5071</u>	<u>5512</u>
24350	<u>2356</u>	<u>3502</u>	<u>4133</u>	<u>4617</u>	<u>5078</u>	<u>5520</u>
24400	<u>2358</u>	<u>3507</u>	<u>4139</u>	<u>4623</u>	<u>5085</u>	<u>5528</u>
24450	<u>2361</u>	<u>3511</u>	<u>4145</u>	<u>4629</u>	<u>5092</u>	<u>5535</u>
24500	<u>2363</u>	<u>3515</u>	<u>4150</u>	<u>4636</u>	<u>5099</u>	<u>5543</u>
24550	<u>2366</u>	<u>3519</u>	<u>4156</u>	<u>4642</u>	<u>5106</u>	<u>5551</u>
24600	<u>2368</u>	<u>3524</u>	<u>4162</u>	<u>4649</u>	<u>5114</u>	<u>5558</u>
24650	<u>2371</u>	<u>3528</u>	<u>4167</u>	<u>4655</u>	<u>5121</u>	<u>5566</u>
24700	<u>2373</u>	<u>3532</u>	<u>4173</u>	<u>4661</u>	<u>5128</u>	<u>5574</u>
24750	<u>2375</u>	<u>3536</u>	<u>4179</u>	<u>4668</u>	<u>5135</u>	<u>5581</u>
24800	<u>2378</u>	<u>3541</u>	<u>4185</u>	<u>4674</u>	<u>5142</u>	<u>5589</u>

24850	<u>2380</u>	<u>3545</u>	<u>4190</u>	<u>4681</u>	<u>5149</u>	<u>5597</u>
24900	<u>2383</u>	<u>3549</u>	<u>4196</u>	<u>4687</u>	<u>5156</u>	<u>5604</u>
24950	<u>2385</u>	<u>3553</u>	<u>4202</u>	<u>4694</u>	<u>5163</u>	<u>5612</u>
25000	<u>2388</u>	<u>3558</u>	<u>4208</u>	<u>4700</u>	<u>5170</u>	<u>5620</u>
25050	<u>2390</u>	<u>3562</u>	<u>4213</u>	<u>4706</u>	<u>5177</u>	<u>5627</u>
25100	<u>2393</u>	<u>3566</u>	<u>4219</u>	<u>4713</u>	<u>5184</u>	<u>5635</u>
25150	<u>2395</u>	<u>3570</u>	<u>4225</u>	<u>4719</u>	<u>5191</u>	<u>5643</u>
25200	<u>2398</u>	<u>3575</u>	<u>4231</u>	<u>4726</u>	<u>5198</u>	<u>5650</u>
25250	<u>2400</u>	<u>3579</u>	<u>4236</u>	<u>4732</u>	<u>5205</u>	<u>5658</u>
25300	<u>2402</u>	<u>3583</u>	<u>4242</u>	<u>4738</u>	<u>5212</u>	<u>5666</u>
25350	<u>2405</u>	<u>3587</u>	<u>4248</u>	<u>4745</u>	<u>5219</u>	<u>5673</u>
25400	<u>2407</u>	<u>3591</u>	<u>4253</u>	<u>4751</u>	<u>5226</u>	<u>5681</u>
25450	<u>2410</u>	<u>3596</u>	<u>4259</u>	<u>4758</u>	<u>5233</u>	<u>5689</u>
25500	<u>2412</u>	<u>3600</u>	<u>4265</u>	<u>4764</u>	<u>5240</u>	<u>5696</u>
25550	<u>2415</u>	<u>3604</u>	<u>4271</u>	<u>4770</u>	<u>5247</u>	<u>5704</u>
25600	<u>2417</u>	<u>3608</u>	<u>4276</u>	<u>4777</u>	<u>5254</u>	<u>5712</u>
25650	<u>2420</u>	<u>3613</u>	<u>4282</u>	<u>4783</u>	<u>5261</u>	<u>5719</u>
25700	<u>2422</u>	<u>3617</u>	<u>4288</u>	<u>4790</u>	<u>5269</u>	<u>5727</u>
25750	<u>2425</u>	<u>3621</u>	<u>4294</u>	<u>4796</u>	<u>5276</u>	<u>5735</u>
25800	<u>2427</u>	<u>3625</u>	<u>4299</u>	<u>4802</u>	<u>5283</u>	<u>5742</u>
25850	<u>2430</u>	<u>3630</u>	<u>4305</u>	<u>4809</u>	<u>5290</u>	<u>5750</u>
25900	<u>2432</u>	<u>3634</u>	<u>4311</u>	<u>4815</u>	<u>5297</u>	<u>5758</u>
25950	<u>2434</u>	<u>3638</u>	<u>4317</u>	<u>4822</u>	<u>5304</u>	<u>5765</u>
26000	<u>2437</u>	<u>3642</u>	<u>4322</u>	<u>4828</u>	<u>5311</u>	<u>5773</u>
26050	<u>2439</u>	<u>3647</u>	<u>4328</u>	<u>4834</u>	<u>5318</u>	<u>5780</u>
26100	<u>2442</u>	<u>3651</u>	<u>4334</u>	<u>4841</u>	<u>5325</u>	<u>5788</u>
26150	<u>2444</u>	<u>3655</u>	<u>4339</u>	<u>4847</u>	<u>5332</u>	<u>5796</u>
26200	<u>2447</u>	<u>3659</u>	<u>4345</u>	<u>4854</u>	<u>5339</u>	<u>5803</u>
26250	<u>2449</u>	<u>3664</u>	<u>4351</u>	<u>4860</u>	<u>5346</u>	<u>5811</u>
26300	<u>2452</u>	<u>3668</u>	<u>4357</u>	<u>4866</u>	<u>5353</u>	<u>5819</u>
26350	<u>2454</u>	<u>3672</u>	<u>4362</u>	<u>4873</u>	<u>5360</u>	<u>5826</u>
26400	<u>2457</u>	<u>3676</u>	<u>4368</u>	<u>4879</u>	<u>5367</u>	<u>5834</u>
26450	<u>2459</u>	<u>3680</u>	<u>4374</u>	<u>4886</u>	<u>5374</u>	<u>5842</u>
26500	<u>2461</u>	<u>3685</u>	<u>4380</u>	<u>4892</u>	<u>5381</u>	<u>5849</u>
26550	<u>2464</u>	<u>3689</u>	<u>4385</u>	<u>4898</u>	<u>5388</u>	<u>5857</u>
26600	<u>2466</u>	<u>3693</u>	<u>4391</u>	<u>4905</u>	<u>5395</u>	<u>5865</u>
26650	<u>2469</u>	<u>3697</u>	<u>4397</u>	<u>4911</u>	<u>5402</u>	<u>5872</u>
26700	<u>2471</u>	<u>3702</u>	<u>4403</u>	<u>4918</u>	<u>5409</u>	<u>5880</u>
26750	<u>2474</u>	<u>3706</u>	<u>4408</u>	<u>4924</u>	<u>5416</u>	<u>5888</u>
26800	<u>2476</u>	<u>3710</u>	<u>4414</u>	<u>4930</u>	<u>5424</u>	<u>5895</u>
26850	<u>2479</u>	<u>3714</u>	<u>4420</u>	<u>4937</u>	<u>5431</u>	<u>5903</u>
26900	<u>2481</u>	<u>3719</u>	<u>4425</u>	<u>4943</u>	<u>5438</u>	<u>5911</u>
26950	<u>2484</u>	<u>3723</u>	<u>4431</u>	<u>4950</u>	<u>5445</u>	<u>5918</u>
27000	<u>2486</u>	<u>3727</u>	<u>4437</u>	<u>4956</u>	<u>5452</u>	<u>5926</u>
27050	<u>2488</u>	<u>3731</u>	<u>4443</u>	<u>4962</u>	<u>5459</u>	<u>5934</u>
27100	<u>2491</u>	<u>3736</u>	<u>4448</u>	<u>4969</u>	<u>5466</u>	<u>5941</u>
27150	<u>2493</u>	<u>3740</u>	<u>4454</u>	<u>4975</u>	<u>5473</u>	<u>5949</u>
27200	<u>2496</u>	<u>3744</u>	<u>4460</u>	<u>4982</u>	<u>5480</u>	<u>5957</u>
27250	<u>2498</u>	<u>3748</u>	<u>4466</u>	<u>4988</u>	<u>5487</u>	<u>5964</u>
27300	<u>2501</u>	<u>3753</u>	<u>4471</u>	<u>4995</u>	<u>5494</u>	<u>5972</u>
27350	<u>2503</u>	<u>3757</u>	<u>4477</u>	<u>5001</u>	<u>5501</u>	<u>5980</u>
27400	<u>2506</u>	<u>3761</u>	<u>4483</u>	<u>5007</u>	<u>5508</u>	<u>5987</u>
27450	<u>2508</u>	<u>3765</u>	<u>4489</u>	<u>5014</u>	<u>5515</u>	<u>5995</u>
27500	<u>2511</u>	<u>3769</u>	<u>4494</u>	<u>5020</u>	<u>5522</u>	<u>6003</u>
27550	<u>2513</u>	<u>3774</u>	<u>4500</u>	<u>5027</u>	<u>5529</u>	<u>6010</u>
27600	<u>2515</u>	<u>3778</u>	<u>4506</u>	<u>5033</u>	<u>5536</u>	<u>6018</u>
27650	<u>2518</u>	<u>3782</u>	<u>4512</u>	<u>5039</u>	<u>5543</u>	<u>6026</u>
27700	<u>2520</u>	<u>3786</u>	<u>4517</u>	<u>5046</u>	<u>5550</u>	<u>6033</u>
27750	<u>2523</u>	<u>3791</u>	<u>4523</u>	<u>5052</u>	<u>5557</u>	<u>6041</u>

27800	<u>2525</u>	<u>3795</u>	<u>4529</u>	<u>5059</u>	<u>5564</u>	<u>6049</u>
27850	<u>2528</u>	<u>3799</u>	<u>4534</u>	<u>5065</u>	<u>5571</u>	<u>6056</u>
27900	<u>2530</u>	<u>3803</u>	<u>4540</u>	<u>5071</u>	<u>5579</u>	<u>6064</u>
27950	<u>2533</u>	<u>3808</u>	<u>4546</u>	<u>5078</u>	<u>5586</u>	<u>6071</u>
28000	<u>2535</u>	<u>3812</u>	<u>4552</u>	<u>5084</u>	<u>5593</u>	<u>6079</u>
28050	<u>2538</u>	<u>3816</u>	<u>4557</u>	<u>5091</u>	<u>5600</u>	<u>6087</u>
28100	<u>2540</u>	<u>3820</u>	<u>4562</u>	<u>5096</u>	<u>5605</u>	<u>6093</u>
28150	<u>2543</u>	<u>3824</u>	<u>4566</u>	<u>5101</u>	<u>5611</u>	<u>6099</u>
28200	<u>2545</u>	<u>3827</u>	<u>4571</u>	<u>5105</u>	<u>5616</u>	<u>6104</u>
28250	<u>2548</u>	<u>3831</u>	<u>4575</u>	<u>5110</u>	<u>5621</u>	<u>6110</u>
28300	<u>2550</u>	<u>3835</u>	<u>4579</u>	<u>5115</u>	<u>5626</u>	<u>6116</u>
28350	<u>2553</u>	<u>3838</u>	<u>4583</u>	<u>5119</u>	<u>5631</u>	<u>6121</u>
28400	<u>2555</u>	<u>3842</u>	<u>4587</u>	<u>5124</u>	<u>5636</u>	<u>6127</u>
28450	<u>2558</u>	<u>3846</u>	<u>4592</u>	<u>5129</u>	<u>5642</u>	<u>6132</u>
28500	<u>2561</u>	<u>3849</u>	<u>4596</u>	<u>5133</u>	<u>5647</u>	<u>6138</u>
28550	<u>2563</u>	<u>3853</u>	<u>4600</u>	<u>5138</u>	<u>5652</u>	<u>6144</u>
28600	<u>2566</u>	<u>3857</u>	<u>4604</u>	<u>5143</u>	<u>5657</u>	<u>6149</u>
28650	<u>2568</u>	<u>3860</u>	<u>4608</u>	<u>5147</u>	<u>5662</u>	<u>6155</u>
28700	<u>2571</u>	<u>3864</u>	<u>4613</u>	<u>5152</u>	<u>5667</u>	<u>6160</u>
28750	<u>2573</u>	<u>3868</u>	<u>4617</u>	<u>5157</u>	<u>5673</u>	<u>6166</u>
28800	<u>2576</u>	<u>3871</u>	<u>4621</u>	<u>5162</u>	<u>5678</u>	<u>6172</u>
28850	<u>2578</u>	<u>3875</u>	<u>4625</u>	<u>5166</u>	<u>5683</u>	<u>6177</u>
28900	<u>2581</u>	<u>3879</u>	<u>4629</u>	<u>5171</u>	<u>5688</u>	<u>6183</u>
28950	<u>2583</u>	<u>3882</u>	<u>4633</u>	<u>5176</u>	<u>5693</u>	<u>6188</u>
29000	<u>2586</u>	<u>3886</u>	<u>4638</u>	<u>5180</u>	<u>5698</u>	<u>6194</u>
29050	<u>2589</u>	<u>3890</u>	<u>4642</u>	<u>5185</u>	<u>5703</u>	<u>6200</u>
29100	<u>2591</u>	<u>3894</u>	<u>4646</u>	<u>5190</u>	<u>5709</u>	<u>6205</u>
29150	<u>2594</u>	<u>3897</u>	<u>4650</u>	<u>5194</u>	<u>5714</u>	<u>6211</u>
29200	<u>2596</u>	<u>3901</u>	<u>4654</u>	<u>5199</u>	<u>5719</u>	<u>6217</u>
29250	<u>2599</u>	<u>3905</u>	<u>4659</u>	<u>5204</u>	<u>5724</u>	<u>6222</u>
29300	<u>2601</u>	<u>3908</u>	<u>4663</u>	<u>5208</u>	<u>5729</u>	<u>6228</u>
29350	<u>2604</u>	<u>3912</u>	<u>4667</u>	<u>5213</u>	<u>5734</u>	<u>6233</u>
29400	<u>2606</u>	<u>3916</u>	<u>4671</u>	<u>5218</u>	<u>5740</u>	<u>6239</u>
29450	<u>2609</u>	<u>3919</u>	<u>4675</u>	<u>5223</u>	<u>5745</u>	<u>6245</u>
29500	<u>2612</u>	<u>3923</u>	<u>4680</u>	<u>5227</u>	<u>5750</u>	<u>6250</u>
29550	<u>2614</u>	<u>3927</u>	<u>4684</u>	<u>5232</u>	<u>5755</u>	<u>6256</u>
29600	<u>2617</u>	<u>3930</u>	<u>4688</u>	<u>5237</u>	<u>5760</u>	<u>6261</u>
29650	<u>2619</u>	<u>3934</u>	<u>4692</u>	<u>5241</u>	<u>5765</u>	<u>6267</u>
29700	<u>2622</u>	<u>3938</u>	<u>4696</u>	<u>5246</u>	<u>5771</u>	<u>6273</u>
29750	<u>2624</u>	<u>3941</u>	<u>4701</u>	<u>5251</u>	<u>5776</u>	<u>6278</u>
29800	<u>2627</u>	<u>3945</u>	<u>4705</u>	<u>5255</u>	<u>5781</u>	<u>6284</u>
29850	<u>2629</u>	<u>3949</u>	<u>4709</u>	<u>5260</u>	<u>5786</u>	<u>6289</u>
29900	<u>2632</u>	<u>3952</u>	<u>4713</u>	<u>5265</u>	<u>5791</u>	<u>6295</u>
29950	<u>2634</u>	<u>3956</u>	<u>4717</u>	<u>5269</u>	<u>5796</u>	<u>6301</u>
30000	<u>2637</u>	<u>3960</u>	<u>4722</u>	<u>5274</u>	<u>5802</u>	<u>6306</u>
30050	<u>2640</u>	<u>3963</u>	<u>4726</u>	<u>5279</u>	<u>5807</u>	<u>6312</u>
30100	<u>2642</u>	<u>3967</u>	<u>4730</u>	<u>5283</u>	<u>5812</u>	<u>6317</u>
30150	<u>2645</u>	<u>3971</u>	<u>4734</u>	<u>5288</u>	<u>5817</u>	<u>6323</u>
30200	<u>2647</u>	<u>3974</u>	<u>4738</u>	<u>5293</u>	<u>5822</u>	<u>6329</u>
30250	<u>2650</u>	<u>3978</u>	<u>4743</u>	<u>5298</u>	<u>5827</u>	<u>6334</u>
30300	<u>2652</u>	<u>3982</u>	<u>4747</u>	<u>5302</u>	<u>5832</u>	<u>6340</u>
30350	<u>2655</u>	<u>3985</u>	<u>4751</u>	<u>5307</u>	<u>5838</u>	<u>6345</u>
30400	<u>2657</u>	<u>3989</u>	<u>4755</u>	<u>5312</u>	<u>5843</u>	<u>6351</u>
30450	<u>2660</u>	<u>3993</u>	<u>4759</u>	<u>5316</u>	<u>5848</u>	<u>6357</u>
30500	<u>2663</u>	<u>3996</u>	<u>4764</u>	<u>5321</u>	<u>5853</u>	<u>6362</u>
30550	<u>2665</u>	<u>4000</u>	<u>4768</u>	<u>5326</u>	<u>5858</u>	<u>6368</u>
30600	<u>2668</u>	<u>4004</u>	<u>4772</u>	<u>5330</u>	<u>5863</u>	<u>6374</u>
30650	<u>2670</u>	<u>4007</u>	<u>4776</u>	<u>5335</u>	<u>5869</u>	<u>6379</u>
30700	<u>2673</u>	<u>4011</u>	<u>4780</u>	<u>5340</u>	<u>5874</u>	<u>6385</u>

30750	<u>2675</u>	<u>4015</u>	<u>4785</u>	<u>5344</u>	<u>5879</u>	<u>6390</u>
30800	<u>2678</u>	<u>4018</u>	<u>4789</u>	<u>5349</u>	<u>5884</u>	<u>6396</u>
30850	<u>2680</u>	<u>4022</u>	<u>4793</u>	<u>5354</u>	<u>5889</u>	<u>6402</u>
30900	<u>2683</u>	<u>4026</u>	<u>4797</u>	<u>5359</u>	<u>5894</u>	<u>6407</u>
30950	<u>2685</u>	<u>4030</u>	<u>4801</u>	<u>5363</u>	<u>5900</u>	<u>6413</u>
31000	<u>2688</u>	<u>4033</u>	<u>4806</u>	<u>5368</u>	<u>5905</u>	<u>6418</u>
31050	<u>2691</u>	<u>4037</u>	<u>4810</u>	<u>5373</u>	<u>5910</u>	<u>6424</u>
31100	<u>2693</u>	<u>4041</u>	<u>4814</u>	<u>5377</u>	<u>5915</u>	<u>6430</u>
31150	<u>2696</u>	<u>4044</u>	<u>4818</u>	<u>5382</u>	<u>5920</u>	<u>6435</u>
31200	<u>2698</u>	<u>4048</u>	<u>4822</u>	<u>5387</u>	<u>5925</u>	<u>6441</u>
31250	<u>2701</u>	<u>4052</u>	<u>4827</u>	<u>5391</u>	<u>5930</u>	<u>6446</u>
31300	<u>2703</u>	<u>4055</u>	<u>4831</u>	<u>5396</u>	<u>5936</u>	<u>6452</u>
31350	<u>2706</u>	<u>4059</u>	<u>4835</u>	<u>5401</u>	<u>5941</u>	<u>6458</u>
31400	<u>2708</u>	<u>4063</u>	<u>4839</u>	<u>5405</u>	<u>5946</u>	<u>6463</u>
31450	<u>2711</u>	<u>4066</u>	<u>4843</u>	<u>5410</u>	<u>5951</u>	<u>6469</u>
31500	<u>2713</u>	<u>4070</u>	<u>4848</u>	<u>5415</u>	<u>5956</u>	<u>6474</u>
31550	<u>2716</u>	<u>4074</u>	<u>4852</u>	<u>5419</u>	<u>5961</u>	<u>6480</u>
31600	<u>2719</u>	<u>4077</u>	<u>4856</u>	<u>5424</u>	<u>5967</u>	<u>6486</u>
31650	<u>2721</u>	<u>4081</u>	<u>4860</u>	<u>5429</u>	<u>5972</u>	<u>6491</u>
31700	<u>2724</u>	<u>4085</u>	<u>4864</u>	<u>5434</u>	<u>5977</u>	<u>6497</u>
31750	<u>2726</u>	<u>4088</u>	<u>4869</u>	<u>5438</u>	<u>5982</u>	<u>6502</u>
31800	<u>2729</u>	<u>4092</u>	<u>4873</u>	<u>5443</u>	<u>5987</u>	<u>6508</u>
31850	<u>2731</u>	<u>4096</u>	<u>4877</u>	<u>5448</u>	<u>5992</u>	<u>6514</u>
31900	<u>2734</u>	<u>4099</u>	<u>4881</u>	<u>5452</u>	<u>5998</u>	<u>6519</u>
31950	<u>2736</u>	<u>4103</u>	<u>4885</u>	<u>5457</u>	<u>6003</u>	<u>6525</u>
32000	<u>2739</u>	<u>4107</u>	<u>4890</u>	<u>5462</u>	<u>6008</u>	<u>6531</u>
32050	<u>2742</u>	<u>4110</u>	<u>4894</u>	<u>5466</u>	<u>6013</u>	<u>6536</u>
32100	<u>2744</u>	<u>4114</u>	<u>4898</u>	<u>5471</u>	<u>6018</u>	<u>6542</u>
32150	<u>2747</u>	<u>4118</u>	<u>4902</u>	<u>5476</u>	<u>6023</u>	<u>6547</u>
32200	<u>2749</u>	<u>4121</u>	<u>4906</u>	<u>5480</u>	<u>6028</u>	<u>6553</u>
32250	<u>2752</u>	<u>4125</u>	<u>4911</u>	<u>5485</u>	<u>6034</u>	<u>6559</u>
32300	<u>2754</u>	<u>4129</u>	<u>4915</u>	<u>5490</u>	<u>6039</u>	<u>6564</u>
32350	<u>2757</u>	<u>4132</u>	<u>4919</u>	<u>5494</u>	<u>6044</u>	<u>6570</u>
32400	<u>2759</u>	<u>4136</u>	<u>4923</u>	<u>5499</u>	<u>6049</u>	<u>6575</u>
32450	<u>2762</u>	<u>4140</u>	<u>4927</u>	<u>5504</u>	<u>6054</u>	<u>6581</u>
32500	<u>2764</u>	<u>4143</u>	<u>4932</u>	<u>5509</u>	<u>6059</u>	<u>6587</u>
32550	<u>2767</u>	<u>4147</u>	<u>4936</u>	<u>5513</u>	<u>6065</u>	<u>6592</u>
32600	<u>2770</u>	<u>4151</u>	<u>4940</u>	<u>5518</u>	<u>6070</u>	<u>6598</u>
32650	<u>2772</u>	<u>4155</u>	<u>4944</u>	<u>5523</u>	<u>6075</u>	<u>6603</u>
32700	<u>2775</u>	<u>4158</u>	<u>4948</u>	<u>5527</u>	<u>6080</u>	<u>6609</u>
32750	<u>2777</u>	<u>4162</u>	<u>4953</u>	<u>5532</u>	<u>6085</u>	<u>6615</u>
32800	<u>2780</u>	<u>4166</u>	<u>4957</u>	<u>5537</u>	<u>6090</u>	<u>6620</u>
32850	<u>2782</u>	<u>4169</u>	<u>4961</u>	<u>5541</u>	<u>6096</u>	<u>6626</u>
32900	<u>2785</u>	<u>4173</u>	<u>4965</u>	<u>5546</u>	<u>6101</u>	<u>6631</u>
32950	<u>2787</u>	<u>4177</u>	<u>4969</u>	<u>5551</u>	<u>6106</u>	<u>6637</u>
33000	<u>2790</u>	<u>4180</u>	<u>4974</u>	<u>5555</u>	<u>6111</u>	<u>6643</u>
33050	<u>2793</u>	<u>4184</u>	<u>4978</u>	<u>5560</u>	<u>6116</u>	<u>6648</u>
33100	<u>2795</u>	<u>4188</u>	<u>4982</u>	<u>5565</u>	<u>6121</u>	<u>6654</u>
33150	<u>2798</u>	<u>4191</u>	<u>4986</u>	<u>5570</u>	<u>6126</u>	<u>6659</u>
33200	<u>2800</u>	<u>4195</u>	<u>4990</u>	<u>5574</u>	<u>6132</u>	<u>6665</u>
33250	<u>2803</u>	<u>4199</u>	<u>4995</u>	<u>5579</u>	<u>6137</u>	<u>6671</u>
33300	<u>2805</u>	<u>4202</u>	<u>4999</u>	<u>5584</u>	<u>6142</u>	<u>6676</u>
33350	<u>2808</u>	<u>4206</u>	<u>5003</u>	<u>5588</u>	<u>6147</u>	<u>6682</u>
33400	<u>2810</u>	<u>4210</u>	<u>5007</u>	<u>5593</u>	<u>6152</u>	<u>6688</u>
33450	<u>2813</u>	<u>4213</u>	<u>5011</u>	<u>5598</u>	<u>6157</u>	<u>6693</u>
33500	<u>2815</u>	<u>4217</u>	<u>5016</u>	<u>5602</u>	<u>6163</u>	<u>6699</u>
33550	<u>2818</u>	<u>4221</u>	<u>5020</u>	<u>5607</u>	<u>6168</u>	<u>6704</u>
33600	<u>2821</u>	<u>4224</u>	<u>5024</u>	<u>5612</u>	<u>6173</u>	<u>6710</u>
33650	<u>2823</u>	<u>4228</u>	<u>5028</u>	<u>5616</u>	<u>6178</u>	<u>6716</u>

33700	<u>2826</u>	<u>4232</u>	<u>5032</u>	<u>5621</u>	<u>6183</u>	<u>6721</u>
33750	<u>2828</u>	<u>4235</u>	<u>5037</u>	<u>5626</u>	<u>6188</u>	<u>6727</u>
33800	<u>2831</u>	<u>4239</u>	<u>5041</u>	<u>5630</u>	<u>6194</u>	<u>6732</u>
33850	<u>2833</u>	<u>4243</u>	<u>5045</u>	<u>5635</u>	<u>6199</u>	<u>6738</u>
33900	<u>2836</u>	<u>4246</u>	<u>5049</u>	<u>5640</u>	<u>6204</u>	<u>6744</u>
33950	<u>2838</u>	<u>4250</u>	<u>5053</u>	<u>5645</u>	<u>6209</u>	<u>6749</u>
34000	<u>2841</u>	<u>4254</u>	<u>5058</u>	<u>5649</u>	<u>6214</u>	<u>6755</u>
34050	<u>2844</u>	<u>4257</u>	<u>5062</u>	<u>5654</u>	<u>6219</u>	<u>6760</u>
34100	<u>2846</u>	<u>4261</u>	<u>5066</u>	<u>5659</u>	<u>6224</u>	<u>6766</u>
34150	<u>2849</u>	<u>4265</u>	<u>5070</u>	<u>5663</u>	<u>6230</u>	<u>6772</u>
34200	<u>2851</u>	<u>4268</u>	<u>5074</u>	<u>5668</u>	<u>6235</u>	<u>6777</u>
34250	<u>2854</u>	<u>4272</u>	<u>5079</u>	<u>5673</u>	<u>6240</u>	<u>6783</u>
34300	<u>2856</u>	<u>4276</u>	<u>5083</u>	<u>5677</u>	<u>6245</u>	<u>6788</u>
34350	<u>2859</u>	<u>4280</u>	<u>5087</u>	<u>5682</u>	<u>6250</u>	<u>6794</u>
34400	<u>2861</u>	<u>4283</u>	<u>5091</u>	<u>5687</u>	<u>6255</u>	<u>6800</u>
34450	<u>2864</u>	<u>4287</u>	<u>5095</u>	<u>5691</u>	<u>6261</u>	<u>6805</u>
34500	<u>2866</u>	<u>4291</u>	<u>5099</u>	<u>5696</u>	<u>6266</u>	<u>6811</u>
34550	<u>2869</u>	<u>4294</u>	<u>5104</u>	<u>5701</u>	<u>6271</u>	<u>6816</u>
34600	<u>2872</u>	<u>4298</u>	<u>5108</u>	<u>5706</u>	<u>6276</u>	<u>6822</u>
34650	<u>2874</u>	<u>4302</u>	<u>5112</u>	<u>5710</u>	<u>6281</u>	<u>6828</u>
34700	<u>2877</u>	<u>4305</u>	<u>5116</u>	<u>5715</u>	<u>6286</u>	<u>6833</u>
34750	<u>2879</u>	<u>4309</u>	<u>5120</u>	<u>5720</u>	<u>6292</u>	<u>6839</u>
34800	<u>2882</u>	<u>4313</u>	<u>5125</u>	<u>5724</u>	<u>6297</u>	<u>6845</u>
34850	<u>2884</u>	<u>4316</u>	<u>5129</u>	<u>5729</u>	<u>6302</u>	<u>6850</u>
34900	<u>2887</u>	<u>4320</u>	<u>5133</u>	<u>5734</u>	<u>6307</u>	<u>6856</u>
34950	<u>2889</u>	<u>4324</u>	<u>5137</u>	<u>5738</u>	<u>6312</u>	<u>6861</u>
35000	<u>2892</u>	<u>4327</u>	<u>5141</u>	<u>5743</u>	<u>6317</u>	<u>6867</u>
35050	<u>2895</u>	<u>4331</u>	<u>5146</u>	<u>5748</u>	<u>6322</u>	<u>6873</u>
35100	<u>2897</u>	<u>4335</u>	<u>5150</u>	<u>5752</u>	<u>6328</u>	<u>6878</u>
35150	<u>2900</u>	<u>4338</u>	<u>5154</u>	<u>5757</u>	<u>6333</u>	<u>6884</u>
35200	<u>2902</u>	<u>4342</u>	<u>5158</u>	<u>5762</u>	<u>6338</u>	<u>6889</u>
35250	<u>2905</u>	<u>4346</u>	<u>5162</u>	<u>5766</u>	<u>6343</u>	<u>6895</u>
35300	<u>2907</u>	<u>4349</u>	<u>5167</u>	<u>5771</u>	<u>6348</u>	<u>6901</u>
35350	<u>2910</u>	<u>4353</u>	<u>5171</u>	<u>5776</u>	<u>6353</u>	<u>6906</u>
35400	<u>2912</u>	<u>4357</u>	<u>5175</u>	<u>5781</u>	<u>6359</u>	<u>6912</u>
35450	<u>2915</u>	<u>4360</u>	<u>5179</u>	<u>5785</u>	<u>6364</u>	<u>6917</u>
35500	<u>2917</u>	<u>4364</u>	<u>5183</u>	<u>5790</u>	<u>6369</u>	<u>6923</u>
35550	<u>2920</u>	<u>4368</u>	<u>5188</u>	<u>5795</u>	<u>6374</u>	<u>6929</u>
35600	<u>2923</u>	<u>4371</u>	<u>5192</u>	<u>5799</u>	<u>6379</u>	<u>6934</u>
35650	<u>2925</u>	<u>4375</u>	<u>5196</u>	<u>5804</u>	<u>6384</u>	<u>6940</u>
35700	<u>2928</u>	<u>4379</u>	<u>5200</u>	<u>5809</u>	<u>6390</u>	<u>6945</u>
35750	<u>2930</u>	<u>4382</u>	<u>5204</u>	<u>5813</u>	<u>6395</u>	<u>6951</u>
35800	<u>2933</u>	<u>4386</u>	<u>5209</u>	<u>5818</u>	<u>6400</u>	<u>6957</u>
35850	<u>2935</u>	<u>4390</u>	<u>5213</u>	<u>5823</u>	<u>6405</u>	<u>6962</u>
35900	<u>2938</u>	<u>4393</u>	<u>5217</u>	<u>5827</u>	<u>6410</u>	<u>6968</u>
35950	<u>2940</u>	<u>4397</u>	<u>5221</u>	<u>5832</u>	<u>6415</u>	<u>6973</u>
36000	<u>2943</u>	<u>4401</u>	<u>5225</u>	<u>5837</u>	<u>6421</u>	<u>6979</u>
36050	<u>2946</u>	<u>4405</u>	<u>5230</u>	<u>5842</u>	<u>6426</u>	<u>6985</u>
36100	<u>2948</u>	<u>4408</u>	<u>5234</u>	<u>5846</u>	<u>6431</u>	<u>6990</u>
36150	<u>2951</u>	<u>4412</u>	<u>5238</u>	<u>5851</u>	<u>6436</u>	<u>6996</u>
36200	<u>2953</u>	<u>4416</u>	<u>5242</u>	<u>5856</u>	<u>6441</u>	<u>7002</u>
36250	<u>2956</u>	<u>4419</u>	<u>5246</u>	<u>5860</u>	<u>6446</u>	<u>7007</u>
36300	<u>2958</u>	<u>4423</u>	<u>5251</u>	<u>5865</u>	<u>6451</u>	<u>7013</u>
36350	<u>2961</u>	<u>4427</u>	<u>5255</u>	<u>5870</u>	<u>6457</u>	<u>7018</u>
36400	<u>2963</u>	<u>4430</u>	<u>5259</u>	<u>5874</u>	<u>6462</u>	<u>7024</u>
36450	<u>2966</u>	<u>4434</u>	<u>5263</u>	<u>5879</u>	<u>6467</u>	<u>7030</u>
36500	<u>2968</u>	<u>4438</u>	<u>5267</u>	<u>5884</u>	<u>6472</u>	<u>7035</u>
36550	<u>2971</u>	<u>4441</u>	<u>5272</u>	<u>5888</u>	<u>6477</u>	<u>7041</u>
36600	<u>2974</u>	<u>4445</u>	<u>5276</u>	<u>5893</u>	<u>6482</u>	<u>7046</u>

36650	<u>2976</u>	<u>4449</u>	<u>5280</u>	<u>5898</u>	<u>6488</u>	<u>7052</u>
36700	<u>2979</u>	<u>4452</u>	<u>5284</u>	<u>5902</u>	<u>6493</u>	<u>7058</u>
36750	<u>2981</u>	<u>4456</u>	<u>5288</u>	<u>5907</u>	<u>6498</u>	<u>7063</u>
36800	<u>2984</u>	<u>4460</u>	<u>5293</u>	<u>5912</u>	<u>6503</u>	<u>7069</u>
36850	<u>2986</u>	<u>4463</u>	<u>5297</u>	<u>5917</u>	<u>6508</u>	<u>7074</u>
36900	<u>2989</u>	<u>4467</u>	<u>5301</u>	<u>5921</u>	<u>6513</u>	<u>7080</u>
36950	<u>2991</u>	<u>4471</u>	<u>5305</u>	<u>5926</u>	<u>6519</u>	<u>7086</u>
37000	<u>2994</u>	<u>4474</u>	<u>5309</u>	<u>5931</u>	<u>6524</u>	<u>7091</u>
37050	<u>2996</u>	<u>4478</u>	<u>5314</u>	<u>5935</u>	<u>6529</u>	<u>7097</u>
37100	<u>2999</u>	<u>4482</u>	<u>5318</u>	<u>5940</u>	<u>6534</u>	<u>7102</u>
37150	<u>3002</u>	<u>4485</u>	<u>5322</u>	<u>5945</u>	<u>6539</u>	<u>7108</u>
37200	<u>3004</u>	<u>4489</u>	<u>5326</u>	<u>5949</u>	<u>6544</u>	<u>7114</u>
37250	<u>3007</u>	<u>4493</u>	<u>5330</u>	<u>5954</u>	<u>6549</u>	<u>7119</u>
37300	<u>3009</u>	<u>4496</u>	<u>5335</u>	<u>5959</u>	<u>6555</u>	<u>7125</u>
37350	<u>3012</u>	<u>4500</u>	<u>5339</u>	<u>5963</u>	<u>6560</u>	<u>7130</u>
37400	<u>3014</u>	<u>4504</u>	<u>5343</u>	<u>5968</u>	<u>6565</u>	<u>7136</u>
37450	<u>3017</u>	<u>4507</u>	<u>5347</u>	<u>5973</u>	<u>6570</u>	<u>7142</u>
37500	<u>3019</u>	<u>4511</u>	<u>5351</u>	<u>5978</u>	<u>6575</u>	<u>7147</u>
37550	<u>3022</u>	<u>4515</u>	<u>5356</u>	<u>5982</u>	<u>6580</u>	<u>7153</u>
37600	<u>3025</u>	<u>4518</u>	<u>5360</u>	<u>5987</u>	<u>6586</u>	<u>7159</u>
37650	<u>3027</u>	<u>4522</u>	<u>5364</u>	<u>5992</u>	<u>6591</u>	<u>7164</u>
37700	<u>3030</u>	<u>4526</u>	<u>5368</u>	<u>5996</u>	<u>6596</u>	<u>7170</u>
37750	<u>3032</u>	<u>4529</u>	<u>5372</u>	<u>6001</u>	<u>6601</u>	<u>7175</u>
37800	<u>3035</u>	<u>4533</u>	<u>5377</u>	<u>6006</u>	<u>6606</u>	<u>7181</u>
37850	<u>3037</u>	<u>4537</u>	<u>5381</u>	<u>6010</u>	<u>6611</u>	<u>7187</u>
37900	<u>3040</u>	<u>4541</u>	<u>5385</u>	<u>6015</u>	<u>6617</u>	<u>7192</u>
37950	<u>3042</u>	<u>4544</u>	<u>5389</u>	<u>6020</u>	<u>6622</u>	<u>7198</u>
38000	<u>3045</u>	<u>4548</u>	<u>5393</u>	<u>6024</u>	<u>6627</u>	<u>7203</u>
38050	<u>3047</u>	<u>4552</u>	<u>5398</u>	<u>6029</u>	<u>6632</u>	<u>7209</u>
38100	<u>3050</u>	<u>4555</u>	<u>5402</u>	<u>6034</u>	<u>6637</u>	<u>7215</u>
38150	<u>3053</u>	<u>4559</u>	<u>5406</u>	<u>6038</u>	<u>6642</u>	<u>7220</u>
38200	<u>3055</u>	<u>4563</u>	<u>5410</u>	<u>6043</u>	<u>6647</u>	<u>7226</u>
38250	<u>3058</u>	<u>4566</u>	<u>5414</u>	<u>6048</u>	<u>6653</u>	<u>7231</u>
38300	<u>3060</u>	<u>4570</u>	<u>5419</u>	<u>6053</u>	<u>6658</u>	<u>7237</u>
38350	<u>3063</u>	<u>4574</u>	<u>5423</u>	<u>6057</u>	<u>6663</u>	<u>7243</u>
38400	<u>3065</u>	<u>4577</u>	<u>5427</u>	<u>6062</u>	<u>6668</u>	<u>7248</u>
38450	<u>3068</u>	<u>4581</u>	<u>5431</u>	<u>6067</u>	<u>6673</u>	<u>7254</u>
38500	<u>3070</u>	<u>4585</u>	<u>5435</u>	<u>6071</u>	<u>6678</u>	<u>7259</u>
38550	<u>3073</u>	<u>4588</u>	<u>5440</u>	<u>6076</u>	<u>6684</u>	<u>7265</u>
38600	<u>3076</u>	<u>4592</u>	<u>5444</u>	<u>6081</u>	<u>6689</u>	<u>7271</u>
38650	<u>3078</u>	<u>4596</u>	<u>5448</u>	<u>6085</u>	<u>6694</u>	<u>7276</u>
38700	<u>3081</u>	<u>4599</u>	<u>5452</u>	<u>6090</u>	<u>6699</u>	<u>7282</u>
38750	<u>3083</u>	<u>4603</u>	<u>5456</u>	<u>6095</u>	<u>6704</u>	<u>7287</u>
38800	<u>3086</u>	<u>4607</u>	<u>5461</u>	<u>6099</u>	<u>6709</u>	<u>7293</u>
38850	<u>3088</u>	<u>4610</u>	<u>5465</u>	<u>6104</u>	<u>6715</u>	<u>7299</u>
38900	<u>3091</u>	<u>4614</u>	<u>5469</u>	<u>6109</u>	<u>6720</u>	<u>7304</u>
38950	<u>3093</u>	<u>4618</u>	<u>5473</u>	<u>6113</u>	<u>6725</u>	<u>7310</u>
39000	<u>3096</u>	<u>4621</u>	<u>5477</u>	<u>6118</u>	<u>6730</u>	<u>7316</u>
39050	<u>3098</u>	<u>4625</u>	<u>5482</u>	<u>6123</u>	<u>6735</u>	<u>7321</u>
39100	<u>3101</u>	<u>4629</u>	<u>5486</u>	<u>6128</u>	<u>6740</u>	<u>7327</u>
39150	<u>3104</u>	<u>4632</u>	<u>5490</u>	<u>6132</u>	<u>6745</u>	<u>7332</u>
39200	<u>3106</u>	<u>4636</u>	<u>5494</u>	<u>6137</u>	<u>6751</u>	<u>7338</u>
39250	<u>3109</u>	<u>4640</u>	<u>5498</u>	<u>6142</u>	<u>6756</u>	<u>7344</u>
39300	<u>3111</u>	<u>4643</u>	<u>5503</u>	<u>6146</u>	<u>6761</u>	<u>7349</u>
39350	<u>3114</u>	<u>4647</u>	<u>5507</u>	<u>6151</u>	<u>6766</u>	<u>7355</u>
39400	<u>3116</u>	<u>4651</u>	<u>5511</u>	<u>6156</u>	<u>6771</u>	<u>7360</u>
39450	<u>3119</u>	<u>4654</u>	<u>5515</u>	<u>6160</u>	<u>6776</u>	<u>7366</u>
39500	<u>3121</u>	<u>4658</u>	<u>5519</u>	<u>6165</u>	<u>6782</u>	<u>7372</u>
39550	<u>3124</u>	<u>4662</u>	<u>5524</u>	<u>6170</u>	<u>6787</u>	<u>7377</u>

39600	<u>3127</u>	<u>4666</u>	<u>5528</u>	<u>6174</u>	<u>6792</u>	<u>7383</u>
39650	<u>3129</u>	<u>4669</u>	<u>5532</u>	<u>6179</u>	<u>6797</u>	<u>7388</u>
39700	<u>3132</u>	<u>4673</u>	<u>5536</u>	<u>6184</u>	<u>6802</u>	<u>7394</u>
39750	<u>3134</u>	<u>4677</u>	<u>5540</u>	<u>6189</u>	<u>6807</u>	<u>7400</u>
39800	<u>3137</u>	<u>4680</u>	<u>5545</u>	<u>6193</u>	<u>6813</u>	<u>7405</u>
39850	<u>3139</u>	<u>4684</u>	<u>5549</u>	<u>6198</u>	<u>6818</u>	<u>7411</u>
39900	<u>3142</u>	<u>4688</u>	<u>5553</u>	<u>6203</u>	<u>6823</u>	<u>7416</u>
39950	<u>3144</u>	<u>4691</u>	<u>5557</u>	<u>6207</u>	<u>6828</u>	<u>7422</u>
40000	<u>3147</u>	<u>4695</u>	<u>5561</u>	<u>6212</u>	<u>6833</u>	<u>7428</u>
40050	<u>3149</u>	<u>4699</u>	<u>5566</u>	<u>6217</u>	<u>6838</u>	<u>7433</u>
40100	<u>3152</u>	<u>4702</u>	<u>5570</u>	<u>6221</u>	<u>6843</u>	<u>7439</u>
40150	<u>3155</u>	<u>4706</u>	<u>5574</u>	<u>6226</u>	<u>6849</u>	<u>7444</u>
40200	<u>3157</u>	<u>4710</u>	<u>5578</u>	<u>6231</u>	<u>6854</u>	<u>7450</u>
40250	<u>3160</u>	<u>4713</u>	<u>5582</u>	<u>6235</u>	<u>6859</u>	<u>7456</u>
40300	<u>3162</u>	<u>4717</u>	<u>5586</u>	<u>6240</u>	<u>6864</u>	<u>7461</u>
40350	<u>3165</u>	<u>4721</u>	<u>5591</u>	<u>6245</u>	<u>6869</u>	<u>7467</u>
40400	<u>3167</u>	<u>4724</u>	<u>5595</u>	<u>6249</u>	<u>6874</u>	<u>7473</u>
40450	<u>3170</u>	<u>4728</u>	<u>5599</u>	<u>6254</u>	<u>6880</u>	<u>7478</u>
40500	<u>3172</u>	<u>4732</u>	<u>5603</u>	<u>6259</u>	<u>6885</u>	<u>7484</u>
40550	<u>3175</u>	<u>4735</u>	<u>5607</u>	<u>6264</u>	<u>6890</u>	<u>7489</u>
40600	<u>3178</u>	<u>4739</u>	<u>5612</u>	<u>6268</u>	<u>6895</u>	<u>7495</u>
40650	<u>3180</u>	<u>4743</u>	<u>5616</u>	<u>6273</u>	<u>6900</u>	<u>7501</u>
40700	<u>3183</u>	<u>4746</u>	<u>5620</u>	<u>6278</u>	<u>6905</u>	<u>7506</u>
40750	<u>3185</u>	<u>4750</u>	<u>5624</u>	<u>6282</u>	<u>6911</u>	<u>7512</u>
40800	<u>3188</u>	<u>4754</u>	<u>5628</u>	<u>6287</u>	<u>6916</u>	<u>7517</u>
40850	<u>3190</u>	<u>4757</u>	<u>5633</u>	<u>6292</u>	<u>6921</u>	<u>7523</u>
40900	<u>3193</u>	<u>4761</u>	<u>5637</u>	<u>6296</u>	<u>6926</u>	<u>7529</u>
40950	<u>3195</u>	<u>4765</u>	<u>5641</u>	<u>6301</u>	<u>6931</u>	<u>7534</u>
41000	<u>3198</u>	<u>4768</u>	<u>5645</u>	<u>6306</u>	<u>6936</u>	<u>7540</u>
41050	<u>3200</u>	<u>4772</u>	<u>5649</u>	<u>6310</u>	<u>6941</u>	<u>7545</u>
41100	<u>3203</u>	<u>4776</u>	<u>5654</u>	<u>6315</u>	<u>6947</u>	<u>7551</u>
41150	<u>3206</u>	<u>4779</u>	<u>5658</u>	<u>6320</u>	<u>6952</u>	<u>7557</u>
41200	<u>3208</u>	<u>4783</u>	<u>5662</u>	<u>6325</u>	<u>6957</u>	<u>7562</u>
41250	<u>3211</u>	<u>4787</u>	<u>5666</u>	<u>6329</u>	<u>6962</u>	<u>7568</u>
41300	<u>3213</u>	<u>4791</u>	<u>5670</u>	<u>6334</u>	<u>6967</u>	<u>7573</u>
41350	<u>3216</u>	<u>4794</u>	<u>5675</u>	<u>6339</u>	<u>6972</u>	<u>7579</u>
41400	<u>3218</u>	<u>4798</u>	<u>5679</u>	<u>6343</u>	<u>6978</u>	<u>7585</u>
41450	<u>3221</u>	<u>4802</u>	<u>5683</u>	<u>6348</u>	<u>6983</u>	<u>7590</u>
41500	<u>3223</u>	<u>4805</u>	<u>5687</u>	<u>6353</u>	<u>6988</u>	<u>7596</u>
41550	<u>3226</u>	<u>4809</u>	<u>5691</u>	<u>6357</u>	<u>6993</u>	<u>7601</u>
41600	<u>3229</u>	<u>4813</u>	<u>5696</u>	<u>6362</u>	<u>6998</u>	<u>7607</u>
41650	<u>3231</u>	<u>4816</u>	<u>5700</u>	<u>6367</u>	<u>7003</u>	<u>7613</u>
41700	<u>3234</u>	<u>4820</u>	<u>5704</u>	<u>6371</u>	<u>7009</u>	<u>7618</u>
41750	<u>3236</u>	<u>4824</u>	<u>5708</u>	<u>6376</u>	<u>7014</u>	<u>7624</u>
41800	<u>3239</u>	<u>4827</u>	<u>5712</u>	<u>6381</u>	<u>7019</u>	<u>7630</u>
41850	<u>3241</u>	<u>4831</u>	<u>5717</u>	<u>6385</u>	<u>7024</u>	<u>7635</u>
41900	<u>3244</u>	<u>4835</u>	<u>5721</u>	<u>6390</u>	<u>7029</u>	<u>7641</u>
41950	<u>3246</u>	<u>4838</u>	<u>5725</u>	<u>6395</u>	<u>7034</u>	<u>7646</u>
42000	<u>3249</u>	<u>4842</u>	<u>5729</u>	<u>6400</u>	<u>7040</u>	<u>7652</u>
42050	<u>3251</u>	<u>4846</u>	<u>5733</u>	<u>6404</u>	<u>7045</u>	<u>7658</u>
42100	<u>3254</u>	<u>4849</u>	<u>5738</u>	<u>6409</u>	<u>7050</u>	<u>7663</u>
42150	<u>3257</u>	<u>4853</u>	<u>5742</u>	<u>6414</u>	<u>7055</u>	<u>7669</u>
42200	<u>3259</u>	<u>4857</u>	<u>5746</u>	<u>6418</u>	<u>7060</u>	<u>7674</u>
42250	<u>3262</u>	<u>4860</u>	<u>5750</u>	<u>6423</u>	<u>7065</u>	<u>7680</u>
42300	<u>3264</u>	<u>4864</u>	<u>5754</u>	<u>6428</u>	<u>7070</u>	<u>7686</u>
42350	<u>3267</u>	<u>4868</u>	<u>5759</u>	<u>6432</u>	<u>7076</u>	<u>7691</u>
42400	<u>3269</u>	<u>4871</u>	<u>5763</u>	<u>6437</u>	<u>7081</u>	<u>7697</u>
42450	<u>3272</u>	<u>4875</u>	<u>5767</u>	<u>6442</u>	<u>7086</u>	<u>7702</u>
42500	<u>3274</u>	<u>4879</u>	<u>5771</u>	<u>6446</u>	<u>7091</u>	<u>7708</u>

42550	<u>3277</u>	<u>4882</u>	<u>5775</u>	<u>6451</u>	<u>7096</u>	<u>7714</u>
42600	<u>3280</u>	<u>4886</u>	<u>5780</u>	<u>6456</u>	<u>7101</u>	<u>7719</u>
42650	<u>3282</u>	<u>4890</u>	<u>5784</u>	<u>6461</u>	<u>7107</u>	<u>7725</u>
42700	<u>3285</u>	<u>4893</u>	<u>5788</u>	<u>6465</u>	<u>7112</u>	<u>7730</u>
42750	<u>3287</u>	<u>4897</u>	<u>5792</u>	<u>6470</u>	<u>7117</u>	<u>7736</u>
42800	<u>3290</u>	<u>4901</u>	<u>5796</u>	<u>6475</u>	<u>7122</u>	<u>7742</u>
42850	<u>3292</u>	<u>4904</u>	<u>5801</u>	<u>6479</u>	<u>7127</u>	<u>7747</u>
42900	<u>3295</u>	<u>4908</u>	<u>5805</u>	<u>6484</u>	<u>7132</u>	<u>7753</u>
42950	<u>3297</u>	<u>4912</u>	<u>5809</u>	<u>6489</u>	<u>7138</u>	<u>7758</u>
43000	<u>3300</u>	<u>4916</u>	<u>5813</u>	<u>6493</u>	<u>7143</u>	<u>7764</u>
43050	<u>3302</u>	<u>4919</u>	<u>5817</u>	<u>6498</u>	<u>7148</u>	<u>7770</u>
43100	<u>3305</u>	<u>4923</u>	<u>5822</u>	<u>6503</u>	<u>7153</u>	<u>7775</u>
43150	<u>3308</u>	<u>4927</u>	<u>5826</u>	<u>6507</u>	<u>7158</u>	<u>7781</u>
43200	<u>3310</u>	<u>4930</u>	<u>5830</u>	<u>6512</u>	<u>7163</u>	<u>7787</u>
43250	<u>3313</u>	<u>4934</u>	<u>5834</u>	<u>6517</u>	<u>7168</u>	<u>7792</u>
43300	<u>3315</u>	<u>4938</u>	<u>5838</u>	<u>6521</u>	<u>7174</u>	<u>7798</u>
43350	<u>3318</u>	<u>4941</u>	<u>5843</u>	<u>6526</u>	<u>7179</u>	<u>7803</u>
43400	<u>3320</u>	<u>4945</u>	<u>5847</u>	<u>6531</u>	<u>7184</u>	<u>7809</u>
43450	<u>3323</u>	<u>4949</u>	<u>5851</u>	<u>6536</u>	<u>7189</u>	<u>7815</u>
43500	<u>3325</u>	<u>4952</u>	<u>5855</u>	<u>6540</u>	<u>7194</u>	<u>7820</u>
43550	<u>3328</u>	<u>4956</u>	<u>5859</u>	<u>6545</u>	<u>7199</u>	<u>7826</u>
43600	<u>3330</u>	<u>4960</u>	<u>5864</u>	<u>6550</u>	<u>7205</u>	<u>7831</u>
43650	<u>3333</u>	<u>4963</u>	<u>5868</u>	<u>6554</u>	<u>7210</u>	<u>7837</u>
43700	<u>3336</u>	<u>4967</u>	<u>5872</u>	<u>6559</u>	<u>7215</u>	<u>7843</u>
43750	<u>3338</u>	<u>4971</u>	<u>5876</u>	<u>6564</u>	<u>7220</u>	<u>7848</u>
43800	<u>3341</u>	<u>4974</u>	<u>5880</u>	<u>6568</u>	<u>7225</u>	<u>7854</u>
43850	<u>3343</u>	<u>4978</u>	<u>5885</u>	<u>6573</u>	<u>7230</u>	<u>7859</u>
43900	<u>3346</u>	<u>4982</u>	<u>5889</u>	<u>6578</u>	<u>7236</u>	<u>7865</u>
43950	<u>3349</u>	<u>4986</u>	<u>5894</u>	<u>6584</u>	<u>7242</u>	<u>7872</u>
44000	<u>3352</u>	<u>4991</u>	<u>5900</u>	<u>6590</u>	<u>7249</u>	<u>7880</u>
44050	<u>3355</u>	<u>4996</u>	<u>5905</u>	<u>6596</u>	<u>7256</u>	<u>7887</u>
44100	<u>3359</u>	<u>5001</u>	<u>5911</u>	<u>6603</u>	<u>7263</u>	<u>7895</u>
44150	<u>3362</u>	<u>5005</u>	<u>5917</u>	<u>6609</u>	<u>7270</u>	<u>7902</u>
44200	<u>3365</u>	<u>5010</u>	<u>5922</u>	<u>6615</u>	<u>7277</u>	<u>7910</u>
44250	<u>3368</u>	<u>5015</u>	<u>5928</u>	<u>6622</u>	<u>7284</u>	<u>7918</u>
44300	<u>3371</u>	<u>5020</u>	<u>5934</u>	<u>6628</u>	<u>7291</u>	<u>7925</u>
44350	<u>3375</u>	<u>5025</u>	<u>5939</u>	<u>6634</u>	<u>7298</u>	<u>7933</u>
44400	<u>3378</u>	<u>5029</u>	<u>5945</u>	<u>6641</u>	<u>7305</u>	<u>7940</u>
44450	<u>3381</u>	<u>5034</u>	<u>5951</u>	<u>6647</u>	<u>7312</u>	<u>7948</u>
44500	<u>3384</u>	<u>5039</u>	<u>5956</u>	<u>6653</u>	<u>7319</u>	<u>7955</u>
44550	<u>3388</u>	<u>5044</u>	<u>5962</u>	<u>6660</u>	<u>7326</u>	<u>7963</u>
44600	<u>3391</u>	<u>5049</u>	<u>5968</u>	<u>6666</u>	<u>7333</u>	<u>7971</u>
44650	<u>3394</u>	<u>5053</u>	<u>5973</u>	<u>6672</u>	<u>7340</u>	<u>7978</u>
44700	<u>3397</u>	<u>5058</u>	<u>5979</u>	<u>6679</u>	<u>7347</u>	<u>7986</u>
44750	<u>3400</u>	<u>5063</u>	<u>5985</u>	<u>6685</u>	<u>7353</u>	<u>7993</u>
44800	<u>3404</u>	<u>5068</u>	<u>5990</u>	<u>6691</u>	<u>7360</u>	<u>8001</u>
44850	<u>3407</u>	<u>5073</u>	<u>5996</u>	<u>6698</u>	<u>7367</u>	<u>8008</u>
44900	<u>3410</u>	<u>5077</u>	<u>6002</u>	<u>6704</u>	<u>7374</u>	<u>8016</u>
44950	<u>3413</u>	<u>5082</u>	<u>6007</u>	<u>6710</u>	<u>7381</u>	<u>8024</u>
45000	<u>3416</u>	<u>5087</u>	<u>6013</u>	<u>6717</u>	<u>7388</u>	<u>8031</u>
45050	<u>3420</u>	<u>5092</u>	<u>6019</u>	<u>6723</u>	<u>7395</u>	<u>8039</u>
45100	<u>3423</u>	<u>5096</u>	<u>6024</u>	<u>6729</u>	<u>7402</u>	<u>8046</u>
45150	<u>3426</u>	<u>5101</u>	<u>6030</u>	<u>6736</u>	<u>7409</u>	<u>8054</u>
45200	<u>3429</u>	<u>5106</u>	<u>6036</u>	<u>6742</u>	<u>7416</u>	<u>8061</u>
45250	<u>3433</u>	<u>5111</u>	<u>6041</u>	<u>6748</u>	<u>7423</u>	<u>8069</u>
45300	<u>3436</u>	<u>5116</u>	<u>6047</u>	<u>6755</u>	<u>7430</u>	<u>8076</u>
45350	<u>3439</u>	<u>5120</u>	<u>6053</u>	<u>6761</u>	<u>7437</u>	<u>8084</u>
45400	<u>3442</u>	<u>5125</u>	<u>6058</u>	<u>6767</u>	<u>7444</u>	<u>8092</u>
45450	<u>3445</u>	<u>5130</u>	<u>6064</u>	<u>6774</u>	<u>7451</u>	<u>8099</u>

45500	<u>3449</u>	<u>5135</u>	<u>6070</u>	<u>6780</u>	<u>7458</u>	<u>8107</u>
45550	<u>3452</u>	<u>5140</u>	<u>6075</u>	<u>6786</u>	<u>7465</u>	<u>8114</u>
45600	<u>3455</u>	<u>5144</u>	<u>6081</u>	<u>6793</u>	<u>7472</u>	<u>8122</u>
45650	<u>3458</u>	<u>5149</u>	<u>6087</u>	<u>6799</u>	<u>7479</u>	<u>8129</u>
45700	<u>3462</u>	<u>5154</u>	<u>6092</u>	<u>6805</u>	<u>7486</u>	<u>8137</u>
45750	<u>3465</u>	<u>5159</u>	<u>6098</u>	<u>6812</u>	<u>7493</u>	<u>8145</u>
45800	<u>3468</u>	<u>5164</u>	<u>6104</u>	<u>6818</u>	<u>7500</u>	<u>8152</u>
45850	<u>3471</u>	<u>5168</u>	<u>6109</u>	<u>6824</u>	<u>7507</u>	<u>8160</u>
45900	<u>3474</u>	<u>5173</u>	<u>6115</u>	<u>6831</u>	<u>7514</u>	<u>8167</u>
45950	<u>3478</u>	<u>5178</u>	<u>6121</u>	<u>6837</u>	<u>7521</u>	<u>8175</u>
46000	<u>3481</u>	<u>5183</u>	<u>6126</u>	<u>6843</u>	<u>7527</u>	<u>8182</u>
46050	<u>3484</u>	<u>5188</u>	<u>6132</u>	<u>6849</u>	<u>7534</u>	<u>8190</u>
46100	<u>3487</u>	<u>5192</u>	<u>6138</u>	<u>6856</u>	<u>7541</u>	<u>8198</u>
46150	<u>3490</u>	<u>5197</u>	<u>6143</u>	<u>6862</u>	<u>7548</u>	<u>8205</u>
46200	<u>3494</u>	<u>5202</u>	<u>6149</u>	<u>6868</u>	<u>7555</u>	<u>8213</u>
46250	<u>3497</u>	<u>5207</u>	<u>6155</u>	<u>6875</u>	<u>7562</u>	<u>8220</u>
46300	<u>3500</u>	<u>5211</u>	<u>6160</u>	<u>6881</u>	<u>7569</u>	<u>8228</u>
46350	<u>3503</u>	<u>5216</u>	<u>6166</u>	<u>6887</u>	<u>7576</u>	<u>8235</u>
46400	<u>3507</u>	<u>5221</u>	<u>6172</u>	<u>6894</u>	<u>7583</u>	<u>8243</u>
46450	<u>3510</u>	<u>5226</u>	<u>6177</u>	<u>6900</u>	<u>7590</u>	<u>8250</u>
46500	<u>3513</u>	<u>5231</u>	<u>6183</u>	<u>6906</u>	<u>7597</u>	<u>8258</u>
46550	<u>3516</u>	<u>5235</u>	<u>6189</u>	<u>6913</u>	<u>7604</u>	<u>8266</u>
46600	<u>3519</u>	<u>5240</u>	<u>6194</u>	<u>6919</u>	<u>7611</u>	<u>8273</u>
46650	<u>3523</u>	<u>5245</u>	<u>6200</u>	<u>6925</u>	<u>7618</u>	<u>8281</u>
46700	<u>3526</u>	<u>5250</u>	<u>6206</u>	<u>6932</u>	<u>7625</u>	<u>8288</u>
46750	<u>3529</u>	<u>5255</u>	<u>6211</u>	<u>6938</u>	<u>7632</u>	<u>8296</u>
46800	<u>3532</u>	<u>5259</u>	<u>6217</u>	<u>6944</u>	<u>7639</u>	<u>8303</u>
46850	<u>3536</u>	<u>5264</u>	<u>6223</u>	<u>6951</u>	<u>7646</u>	<u>8311</u>
46900	<u>3539</u>	<u>5269</u>	<u>6228</u>	<u>6957</u>	<u>7653</u>	<u>8319</u>
46950	<u>3542</u>	<u>5274</u>	<u>6234</u>	<u>6963</u>	<u>7660</u>	<u>8326</u>
47000	<u>3545</u>	<u>5279</u>	<u>6240</u>	<u>6970</u>	<u>7667</u>	<u>8334</u>
47050	<u>3548</u>	<u>5283</u>	<u>6245</u>	<u>6976</u>	<u>7674</u>	<u>8341</u>
47100	<u>3552</u>	<u>5288</u>	<u>6251</u>	<u>6982</u>	<u>7681</u>	<u>8349</u>
47150	<u>3555</u>	<u>5293</u>	<u>6257</u>	<u>6989</u>	<u>7688</u>	<u>8356</u>
47200	<u>3558</u>	<u>5298</u>	<u>6262</u>	<u>6995</u>	<u>7695</u>	<u>8364</u>
47250	<u>3561</u>	<u>5303</u>	<u>6268</u>	<u>7001</u>	<u>7701</u>	<u>8372</u>
47300	<u>3565</u>	<u>5307</u>	<u>6274</u>	<u>7008</u>	<u>7708</u>	<u>8379</u>
47350	<u>3568</u>	<u>5312</u>	<u>6279</u>	<u>7014</u>	<u>7715</u>	<u>8387</u>
47400	<u>3571</u>	<u>5317</u>	<u>6285</u>	<u>7020</u>	<u>7722</u>	<u>8394</u>
47450	<u>3574</u>	<u>5322</u>	<u>6291</u>	<u>7027</u>	<u>7729</u>	<u>8402</u>
47500	<u>3577</u>	<u>5326</u>	<u>6296</u>	<u>7033</u>	<u>7736</u>	<u>8409</u>
47550	<u>3581</u>	<u>5331</u>	<u>6302</u>	<u>7039</u>	<u>7743</u>	<u>8417</u>
47600	<u>3584</u>	<u>5336</u>	<u>6308</u>	<u>7046</u>	<u>7750</u>	<u>8424</u>
47650	<u>3587</u>	<u>5341</u>	<u>6313</u>	<u>7052</u>	<u>7757</u>	<u>8432</u>
47700	<u>3590</u>	<u>5346</u>	<u>6319</u>	<u>7058</u>	<u>7764</u>	<u>8440</u>
47750	<u>3593</u>	<u>5350</u>	<u>6325</u>	<u>7065</u>	<u>7771</u>	<u>8447</u>
47800	<u>3597</u>	<u>5355</u>	<u>6330</u>	<u>7071</u>	<u>7778</u>	<u>8455</u>
47850	<u>3600</u>	<u>5360</u>	<u>6336</u>	<u>7077</u>	<u>7785</u>	<u>8462</u>
47900	<u>3603</u>	<u>5365</u>	<u>6342</u>	<u>7084</u>	<u>7792</u>	<u>8470</u>
47950	<u>3606</u>	<u>5370</u>	<u>6347</u>	<u>7090</u>	<u>7799</u>	<u>8477</u>
48000	<u>3610</u>	<u>5374</u>	<u>6353</u>	<u>7096</u>	<u>7806</u>	<u>8485</u>
48050	<u>3613</u>	<u>5379</u>	<u>6359</u>	<u>7103</u>	<u>7813</u>	<u>8493</u>
48100	<u>3616</u>	<u>5384</u>	<u>6364</u>	<u>7109</u>	<u>7820</u>	<u>8500</u>
48150	<u>3619</u>	<u>5389</u>	<u>6370</u>	<u>7115</u>	<u>7827</u>	<u>8508</u>
48200	<u>3622</u>	<u>5394</u>	<u>6376</u>	<u>7122</u>	<u>7834</u>	<u>8515</u>
48250	<u>3626</u>	<u>5398</u>	<u>6381</u>	<u>7128</u>	<u>7841</u>	<u>8523</u>
48300	<u>3629</u>	<u>5403</u>	<u>6387</u>	<u>7134</u>	<u>7848</u>	<u>8530</u>
48350	<u>3632</u>	<u>5408</u>	<u>6393</u>	<u>7141</u>	<u>7855</u>	<u>8538</u>
48400	<u>3635</u>	<u>5413</u>	<u>6398</u>	<u>7147</u>	<u>7862</u>	<u>8546</u>

48450	3639	5418	6404	7153	7869	8553
48500	3642	5422	6410	7160	7875	8561
48550	3645	5427	6415	7166	7882	8568
48600	3648	5432	6421	7172	7889	8576
48650	3651	5437	6427	7179	7896	8583
48700	3655	5441	6432	7185	7903	8591
48750	3658	5446	6438	7191	7910	8598
48800	3661	5451	6444	7197	7917	8606
48850	3664	5456	6449	7204	7924	8614
48900	3667	5461	6455	7210	7931	8621
48950	3671	5465	6461	7216	7938	8629
49000	3674	5470	6466	7223	7945	8636
49050	3677	5475	6472	7229	7952	8644
49100	3680	5480	6478	7235	7959	8651
49150	3684	5485	6483	7242	7966	8659
49200	3687	5489	6489	7248	7973	8667
49250	3690	5494	6495	7254	7980	8674
49300	3693	5499	6500	7261	7987	8682
49350	3696	5504	6506	7267	7994	8689
49400	3699	5508	6511	7273	8000	8696
49450	3703	5513	6517	7279	8007	8704
49500	3706	5517	6522	7285	8014	8711
49550	3709	5522	6528	7291	8020	8718
49600	3712	5527	6533	7297	8027	8725
49650	3715	5531	6538	7303	8034	8733
49700	3718	5536	6544	7309	8040	8740
49750	3721	5540	6549	7316	8047	8747
49800	3724	5545	6555	7322	8054	8754
49850	3727	5550	6560	7328	8060	8762
49900	3730	5554	6566	7334	8067	8769
49950	3733	5559	6571	7340	8074	8776
50000	3737	5563	6576	7346	8080	8783

Section 2. The provisions of this Act shall become effective on January 1, 2025.

Approved by the Governor, May 15, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 87

SENATE BILL NO. 7
BY SENATOR CONNICK AND REPRESENTATIVE KNOX
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 15:909, relative to state juvenile institutions; to provide relative to reporting of escapes from juvenile institutions; to expand reporting requirements for juvenile escapes to facilities that house juveniles on behalf of the state; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 15:909 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows: §909. Reporting of escapes from state juvenile institutions; records

A. The superintendent or highest ranking employee of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, ~~Corrections Services~~ **corrections services**, or the person acting on behalf of the department, **or the operator of a facility that houses juvenile offenders on behalf of the state**, who is physically present at and in charge of a juvenile institution **or facility that houses juvenile offenders on behalf of the state** at the time of an escape from that institution shall, within ten minutes after being notified that a child or offender has escaped from or left the premises or grounds of the institution without authority, notify or take necessary steps to ~~insure~~ **ensure** the notification of every law enforcement agency, as defined in this Section, **and local media outlets**.

B. **(1)** The superintendent or person in charge of a state juvenile institution **or facility that houses juvenile offenders on behalf of the state** shall maintain a record and description of every escape from the juvenile institution **or escape from a facility that houses juvenile offenders on behalf of the state** of which the superintendent **or other person** has control. The record shall list the date and time of the escape, the number of offenders who escaped, the offenses for which the escapees were placed at the institution, the name of each law enforcement agency notified of the escape, the time each law enforcement

agency was notified and the name of the person receiving the notice, and the name of the department employee or agent who notified that law enforcement agency.

(2) The report **provided for by this Subsection** shall be available for public inspection and shall list all prior escapes, if any, from the institution **or facility that houses juvenile offenders on behalf of the state** within the last five years ~~of prior to the date of the last most recent~~ escape. A copy of the report shall be delivered to each law enforcement agency as defined in this Section **and made available to local media outlets and the general public upon proper submission of a public records request**.

C. The secretary of the department shall promulgate rules and regulations to ~~insure~~ **ensure** the immediate reporting of all escapes from juvenile institutions **and facilities that house juvenile offenders on behalf of the state** as required by this Section.

D. As used in this Section;

(1) "law ~~Law~~ enforcement agency" means the sheriff's office, all police departments in the parish, and the office of state police.

(2) "Local media outlets" means local news services, including but not limited to print, broadcast, and online platforms.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 88

SENATE BILL NO. 16
BY SENATOR PRESSLY
(On Recommendation of the Louisiana State Law Institute)
AN ACT

To amend and reenact the introductory paragraph of Code of Evidence Art. 702(A) and (4), relative to expert testimony; to provide for a burden of proof; to provide with respect to expert opinions; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. The introductory paragraph of Code of Evidence Art. 702(A) and (4) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 702. Testimony by experts

A. A witness who is qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify in the form of an opinion or otherwise if **the proponent demonstrates to the court that it is more likely than not that:**

(4) The expert ~~has reliably applied~~ **expert's opinion reflects a reliable application** of the principles and methods to the facts of the case.

Comments - 2024

This amendment does not change the law and is intended to align the language of this Article with the 2023 amendments to Rule 702 of the Federal Rules of Evidence.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 89

SENATE BILL NO. 29
BY SENATOR MILLER

(On Recommendation of the Louisiana State Law Institute)
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 9:374(G)(2) and to enact R.S. 9:375(C), relative to the allocation of community property; to provide for factors for consideration in allocating community property; to provide for attorney fees; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 9:374(G)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 9:375(C) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§374. Possession and use of family residence or community movables or immovables

* * *

G. (1)

* * *

(2) The court shall determine allocation of community property after considering:

(a) The custody of the children and exclusive use and occupancy of the family residence.

(b) The total community property, **including the liquidity of community assets, and spousal management rights in community assets and liabilities**.

(c) The need of a spouse for funds to maintain a household prior to partition.

(d) The need of a spouse to receive legal representation during the course of the proceedings.

(e) The history of domestic abuse during the marriage.

(f) The history of financial control by one of the spouses during the marriage.

* * *

* * *

C. In an action in accordance with R.S. 9:374, the court may award attorney fees and costs when it determines that either party has caused unreasonable delay.

Revision Comments – 2024

A party's failure to respond to a court order amounts to contempt of court and is punishable under the provisions of Louisiana law. See, e.g., Code of Civil Procedure Article 221 et seq. This revision extends the availability of attorney fees and costs beyond acts involving contempt of court to frivolous filings and purposeful unreasonable delay. Attorney fees and costs are not available for delays that are intentional but reasonable.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 90

SENATE BILL NO. 32
BY SENATOR MILLER

(On Recommendation of the Louisiana State Law Institute)

AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Civil Procedure Arts. 3421, 3422, 3422.1(B), (C), and (E), 3431, 3432, 3432.1, 3434, and 3443, and to enact Code of Civil Procedure Art. 3433, relative to small succession procedures; to provide for the definition of a small succession; to provide for court costs; to provide for immovable property damaged by disaster; to provide for judicial proceedings; to provide for affidavits for small successions; to provide for the delivery of property; to provide for the sale of succession property; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Civil Procedure Arts. 3421, 3422, 3422.1(B), (C), and (E), 3431, 3432, 3432.1, 3434, and 3443 are hereby amended and reenacted, and Code of Civil Procedure Art. 3433 is hereby enacted, to read as follows:

Art. 3421. Small successions defined

~~A small succession, within the meaning of this Title, is the succession or the ancillary any of the following:~~

~~(1) The succession of a person who at any time has died and the decedent's property died domiciled in Louisiana has and who died leaving property with a gross value of one hundred twenty-five thousand dollars or less valued as of the date of death,~~

~~(2) The ancillary succession of a person who died domiciled outside of Louisiana and who died leaving property in Louisiana with a gross value of one hundred twenty-five thousand dollars or less valued as of the date of death.~~

~~(3) The succession of a person whose or, if the date of death occurred at least twenty years prior to the date of filing execution of a small succession affidavit as authorized in this Title, and who died leaving property in Louisiana of any value.~~

~~B. A small succession shall also include a succession of a person who has died testate, leaving no immovable property, and probate of the testament of the deceased would have the same effect as if the deceased had died intestate.~~

Comments – 2024

This revision clarifies the scope of the small succession legislation. It changes the law insofar as it allows the estate of a decedent who dies testate and domiciled in Louisiana with immovable property to qualify as a small succession, provided that the gross value of the estate is one hundred twenty-five thousand dollars or less. In doing so, this revision allows a testate succession that includes immovable property and qualifies as a small succession under this Title to qualify for reduced court costs under Article 3422, but the revision does not allow such a succession to utilize the affidavit process provided in Article 3431.

Art. 3422. Court costs; compensation

In judicial proceedings under this Title, the following schedule of costs, compensation, and fees shall prevail:

~~(1) Court costs for successions valued less than one hundred twenty-five thousand dollars shall be one-half of the court costs in similar proceedings in larger successions that are not small successions, but the minimum costs in any case shall be five dollars; and,~~

~~(2) The compensation of the succession representative shall be not more than five percent of the gross assets of the succession.~~

Comments – 2024

This revision clarifies the law. It changes the law only insofar as it eliminates an outdated reference to a minimum court cost for a small succession.

Art. 3422.1. Small succession immovable property damaged by disaster or catastrophe

* * *

~~B. In the absence of a written agreement between co-owners for the use and management of such the immovable recorded in the conveyance or mortgage records for the parish in which the immovable is situated, any public entity or agent of such a public entity may conclusively presume that a co-owner in possession of the immovable for more than one year has been appointed by all co-owners to manage, administer, repair, reconstruct, and restore the immovable, and to receive, disburse and account for funds given to him by the public entity solely for the purposes of such repair, reconstruction, and~~

restoration as a managing co-owner.

~~C. The power of the managing co-owner shall include the power to execute mortgages to secure funds not exceeding the amount necessary to repair, reconstruct, and restore the immovable, and also to encumber the immovable with such restrictions as may be required by the public entity, without the need to obtain the concurrence of all co-owners. do any of the following, without the need to obtain the concurrence of all co-owners:~~

~~(1) Manage, administer, repair, reconstruct, and restore the immovable.~~

~~(2) Receive, disburse, and account for funds given to the managing co-owner by a public entity solely for the purposes of the repair, reconstruction, and restoration of the immovable.~~

~~(3) Execute mortgages to secure funds not exceeding the amount necessary to repair, reconstruct, and restore the immovable.~~

~~(4) Encumber the immovable with restrictions as may be required by a public entity.~~

* * *

~~E. The management of the immovable by the co-owner shall be subject to the laws of negotiorum gestio and mandate applicable to co-owners. However, the provisions of this Article shall control to the extent of any conflict to the extent not inconsistent with the provisions of this Article.~~

* * *

Comments – 2024

This revision clarifies the law by reorganizing various provisions in existing law. It does not change the law, which allows for a “managing co-owner” to perform various actions provided in Paragraph C of this Article without the concurrence of other co-owners in dealing with certain types of damaged immovable property subject to a small succession proceeding.

Art. 3431. Small successions; judicial opening unnecessary

~~A. It shall not be necessary to open judicially the small succession of a any of the following persons:~~

~~(1) A person domiciled in Louisiana who died intestate or testate as provided by Article 3421(B), or,~~

~~(2) A person domiciled in Louisiana who died testate leaving no immovable property in Louisiana, if the surviving spouse, all persons who would inherit under the testament, and all other persons who would inherit in the absence of a testament agree to waive probate of the testament.~~

~~(3) A person domiciled outside of Louisiana who died intestate or whose testament has been probated by court order of another state, and whose sole heirs are the following:~~

~~(1) His descendants;~~

~~(2) His ascendants;~~

~~(3) His brothers or sisters, or descendants thereof;~~

~~(4) His surviving spouse;~~

~~(5) His legatees under a testament.~~

~~B. Any person appointed as public administrator by the governor may use the affidavit procedure of this Chapter to take possession of the estate of the deceased, if the estate of the deceased would qualify as a small succession, for transmittal to the state, provided that there is no surviving spouse or other heir present or represented in the state; and provided he that the public administrator has advertised one time in the official journal of the parish where a succession would have been opened under in accordance with Article 2811; and verifies that he has received no notice of opposition has been received.~~

C. The legal notice required in Paragraph B of this Article shall read as follows:

“Notice is hereby given to any heirs or creditors of _____ that _____, Public Administrator for the parish of _____, intends to administer the intestate succession of _____, under the provisions of Small Successions as set forth in Chapter 2 of Title V of Book VI of the Code of Civil Procedure.

Anyone having an objection to such the administration of the succession should notify _____ at _____.”

Comments – 2024

This revision preserves much of existing law but modifies the law with regard to when the judicial opening of a succession is unnecessary for some types of successions. Specifically, in accordance with this revision, it is not necessary to open judicially the succession of a decedent who died testate and domiciled in Louisiana if the estate qualifies as a small succession and the decedent's succession does not transfer immovable property in Louisiana, provided that the surviving spouse, all persons who would inherit under the testament, and all other persons who would inherit in the absence of a testament agree to waive probate of the testament. Similarly, it is not necessary to open judicially the succession of a decedent who died domiciled outside of Louisiana, if the estate qualifies as a small succession and the decedent died either intestate or testate, provided that the testament has been probated by a foreign court.

Art. 3432. Affidavit for small succession for a person who died intestate; contents

~~A. When it is not necessary under in accordance with the provisions of Article 3431 to open judicially a small succession, at least two persons, including the surviving spouse, if any, and one or more competent major heirs of the deceased, may execute one or more multiple originals of an affidavit, duly sworn before any officer or person authorized to administer oaths in the place where the affidavit is executed, setting forth all of the following:~~

~~(1) The date of death of the deceased, and his domicile at the time thereof;~~

~~(2) The fact that the deceased died intestate;~~

(3) The marital status of the deceased, the location of the last residence of the deceased, and the name of the surviving spouse, if any, and the surviving spouse's address, domicile, and location of last residence;.

(4) The names and last known addresses of the heirs of the deceased, their relationship to the deceased, and the statement that an heir not signing the affidavit **either**:

(a) ~~cannot~~ **Cannot** be located after the exercise of reasonable diligence, ~~or,~~

(b) ~~was~~ **Was** given ~~ten~~ **thirty** days notice by ~~U.S.~~ **United States** mail of the affiants' intent to execute an affidavit for small succession and did not object;.

(5) A description of the property left by the deceased, including whether the property is community or separate, and which, in the case of immovable property, ~~must~~ **shall** be sufficient to identify the property for purposes of transfer;.

(6) A showing of the value of each item of property, and the aggregate value of ~~all such~~ **the** property, at the time of the death of the deceased;.

(7) A statement describing the respective interests in the property ~~which~~ **that** each heir has inherited and whether a legal usufruct of the surviving spouse attaches to the property;.

(8) An affirmation that, by signing the affidavit, the affiant, if an heir, has accepted the succession of the deceased; ~~and,~~

(9) An affirmation that, by signing the affidavit, the affiants swear under penalty of perjury that the information contained in the affidavit is true, correct, and complete to the best of their knowledge, information, and belief.

B. If the deceased had no surviving spouse, the affidavit ~~must~~ **shall** be signed by at least two heirs. If the deceased had no surviving spouse and only one heir, the affidavit ~~must~~ **shall** also be signed by a second person who has actual knowledge of the matters stated ~~therein~~ **in the affidavit**.

C. In addition to the powers of a natural tutor ~~or curator~~ otherwise provided by law, a natural tutor may also execute the affidavit on behalf of a minor child without the necessity of filing a petition pursuant to Article 4061, ~~and a curator may also execute the affidavit on behalf of an interdict without the necessity of court authorization.~~

Comments - 2024

This revision preserves much of existing law but provides a unified approach for decedents who die intestate, whether domiciled in Louisiana or outside of Louisiana. The contents of the required affidavit have not been changed by the revision, other than to make minor semantic changes, to extend the notice period given to heirs not signing the affidavit in accordance with Subsubparagraph (A)(4)(b) of this Article, and to include curators in Paragraph C of this Article.

Art. 3432.1. Affidavit for small succession for a person **domiciled in Louisiana** who died testate; contents

A. When it is not necessary ~~under~~ **in accordance with** the provisions of Article 3431 to open judicially a small succession, ~~at least two persons~~ **all of the heirs and legatees of the deceased**, including the surviving spouse, if any, ~~and one or more competent legatees of the deceased,~~ may execute one or more multiple originals of an affidavit, duly sworn before any officer or person authorized to administer oaths in the place where the affidavit is executed, setting forth all of the following:

(1) The date of death of the deceased, and his domicile at the time thereof.

(2) The fact that the deceased died testate.

(3) The marital status of the deceased, the location of the last residence of the deceased, and the name of the surviving spouse, if any, and the surviving spouse's address, domicile, and location of last residence, together with the names and last known addresses of the ~~legal~~ heirs of the deceased, and identifying those of the ~~legal~~ heirs who are also forced heirs of the deceased.

(4) The names and last known addresses of the legatees of the deceased, ~~and the statement that a legatee not signing the affidavit was given ten days notice by U.S. mail of the affiants' intent to execute an affidavit for small succession and did not object.~~

(5) A description of the **movable** property left by the deceased, including whether the property is community or separate, and ~~which, in the case of an affirmation that the deceased died owning no~~ immovable property, ~~must~~ be sufficient to identify the property for purposes of transfer **in Louisiana**.

(6) A showing of the value of each item of property subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of Louisiana, and the aggregate value of ~~all such~~ **the** property, at the time of the death of the deceased.

(7) A statement describing the respective interests in the property ~~which~~ **that** each legatee has inherited and whether a ~~legal~~ usufruct of the surviving spouse attaches to the property.

(8) An attachment consisting of ~~certified copies~~ **a copy** of the testament ~~and, if the testament has been probated by court order of another state, the probate order of the other state.~~

(9) An affirmation that, by signing the affidavit, the affiant, if a legatee, has accepted the legacy of the deceased.

(10) **An affirmation that, by signing the affidavit, each affiant expressly waives any right to challenge the validity of the testament or any of its provisions.**

(11) An affirmation that, by signing the affidavit, the affiants swear under penalty of perjury that the information contained in the affidavit is true, correct, and complete to the best of their knowledge, information, and belief.

B. ~~If the deceased had no surviving spouse, the affidavit must be signed by at least two persons who have actual knowledge of the matters stated therein.~~

C. In addition to the powers of a natural tutor ~~or curator~~ otherwise provided by law, a natural tutor may also execute the affidavit on behalf of a minor child without the necessity of filing a petition pursuant to Article 4061, ~~and a curator may also execute the affidavit on behalf of an interdict without the~~

necessity of court authorization.

Comments - 2024

This revision preserves much of existing law and specifies the requirements of an affidavit for decedents who die testate and domiciled in Louisiana. Unlike Articles 3432(A) and 3433(A), all heirs and legatees of the deceased, including the surviving spouse, must sign the affidavit prescribed in this Article. The affidavit procedure prescribed in this Article is not available if a decedent died testate owning immovable property in Louisiana.

Art. 3433. Affidavit for small succession for a person domiciled outside of Louisiana who died testate; contents

A. When it is not necessary in accordance with the provisions of Article 3431 to open judicially a small succession, at least two persons, including the surviving spouse, if any, and one or more legatees of the deceased, may execute one or more multiple originals of an affidavit, duly sworn before any officer or person authorized to administer oaths in the place where the affidavit is executed, setting forth all of the following:

(1) The date of death of the deceased, and his domicile at the time thereof.

(2) The fact that the deceased died testate.

(3) The marital status of the deceased, the location of the last residence of the deceased, and the name of the surviving spouse, if any, and the surviving spouse's address, domicile, and location of last residence, together with the names and last known addresses of the heirs of the deceased, and identifying those of the heirs who are also forced heirs of the deceased.

(4) The names and last known addresses of the legatees of the deceased, and the statement that a legatee not signing the affidavit was given thirty-days notice by United States mail of the affiants' intent to execute an affidavit for small succession and did not object.

(5) A description of the property left by the deceased in Louisiana, including whether the property is community or separate, and which, in the case of immovable property, shall be sufficient to identify the property for purposes of transfer.

(6) A showing of the value of each item of property subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of Louisiana, and the aggregate value of the property, at the time of the death of the deceased.

(7) A statement describing the respective interests in the property that each legatee has inherited and whether a usufruct of the surviving spouse attaches to the property.

(8) An attachment consisting of a copy of the testament and a certified copy of the probate order of the court of another jurisdiction or the equivalent thereof.

(9) An affirmation that, by signing the affidavit, the affiant, if a legatee, has accepted the legacy of the deceased.

(10) An affirmation that, by signing the affidavit, the affiants swear under penalty of perjury that the information contained in the affidavit is true, correct, and complete to the best of their knowledge, information, and belief.

B. If the deceased had no surviving spouse, the affidavit shall be signed by at least two persons who have actual knowledge of the matters stated in the affidavit.

C. In addition to the powers of a natural tutor or curator otherwise provided by law, a natural tutor may also execute the affidavit on behalf of a minor child without the necessity of filing a petition pursuant to Article 4061, and a curator may also execute the affidavit on behalf of an interdict without the necessity of court authorization.

Comments - 2024

This revision preserves much of existing law and specifies the requirements of an affidavit for decedents who die testate and domiciled outside of Louisiana. Unlike Article 3432.1(A), only two persons must sign the affidavit prescribed in this Article. Again, unlike Article 3432.1, this Article allows for use of the affidavit procedure when the decedent dies domiciled outside of Louisiana while owning immovable property in Louisiana but requires, in accordance with Subparagraph (A)(8) of this Article, that both a copy of the testament and the probate order must be attached to the affidavit.

Art. 3434. Endorsed copy of affidavit authority for delivery of property

A. A multiple original of the affidavit ~~or a certified copy thereof~~ authorized by Article 3432, ~~or 3432.1,~~ **or 3433** shall be full and sufficient authority for the payment of **any money** or the delivery of any ~~money or~~ property of the deceased described in the affidavit to the heirs or legatees of the deceased and the surviving spouse in community, if any, in the percentages listed ~~therein~~ **in the affidavit**, by any federally insured depository institution, financial institution, trust company, warehouseman, ~~or other~~ depository, **domestic or foreign corporation**, or by any person having ~~such~~ **the** property in his possession or under his control. Similarly, a multiple original of an affidavit satisfying the requirements of this Article shall be full and sufficient authority for the transfer to the heirs or legatees of the deceased, and surviving spouse in community, if any, or to their assigns, of any stock or registered bonds in the name of the deceased and described in the affidavit, by any domestic or foreign corporation.

B. The receipt of the persons named in the affidavit as heirs or legatees of the deceased, or surviving spouse in community thereof, constitutes a full release and discharge for the payment of money or delivery of property made ~~under in accordance with~~ the provisions of this Article. Any creditor, heir, legatee, succession representative, or other person whatsoever shall have no right or cause of action against the person paying the money; or delivering the property; ~~or transferring the stock or bonds, under in accordance with~~ the provisions of this Article; on account of ~~such~~ **the** payment; ~~or~~ transfer.

C.(1) A multiple original of the affidavit, ~~to which has been attached a~~

certified copy of the deceased's death certificate, or a certified copy thereof and any required attachments in accordance with Article 3433 shall be recorded in the conveyance records in the office of the clerk of court in of the parish where any immovable property described therein in the affidavit is situated; after at least ninety days have elapsed from the date of the deceased's death. For recordation purposes, a photocopy of the certified death certificate may serve as, and take the place of, the certified copy of the death certificate.

(2) An affidavit so recorded, or a certified copy thereof, shall be admissible as evidence in any action involving immovable property to which it the affidavit relates or which is affected by the instrument, affidavit and shall be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein in the affidavit, including the relationship to the deceased of the parties recognized as heir, legatee, surviving spouse in community, or usufructuary as the case may be, and of their rights in the immovable property of the deceased.

(3) An action by a person who claims to be a successor of a deceased person; but who has not been recognized ~~as such~~ in an affidavit authorized by Article 3432 or ~~3432.1~~, **3433** to assert an interest in immovable property formerly owned by the deceased; against a third person who has acquired an interest in the property; ~~or against his successors~~ by onerous title, or against his successors, is prescribed two years from the date of the recording of the affidavit and required attachments in accordance with this Paragraph Article.

Comments - 2024

(a) This revision preserves much of existing law and provides that an affidavit executed in accordance with this Chapter is sufficient authorization for a person holding property of the decedent to deliver it in accordance with the affidavit. Moreover, delivery of the property of the decedent in accordance with the affidavit provided in this Chapter protects transferees from claims of third parties in accordance with Paragraph B of this Article.

(b) Paragraph C of this Article provides that recordation of the affidavit and the relevant attachments in the conveyance records is required only if immovable property is involved pursuant to Article 3432 or 3433.

(c) Analogous to R.S. 9:5630, Subparagraph (C)(3) of this Article limits the rights to immovable property of third persons who claim to be successors of the decedent but who are not recognized in the affidavit.

* * *

Art. 3443. Sale of succession property; publication of notice of sale

A. Notice of the public sale of property, movable or immovable, by the succession representative of a small succession shall be published once and only in the parish where the succession is pending, and the property shall be sold ~~not no~~ less than ten days nor more than fifteen days after publication.

B. Notice of the application of the succession representative of a small succession to sell succession property, movable or immovable, at private sale shall be published once and only in the parish where the succession proceeding is pending; and shall state that any opposition to the proposed sale must shall be filed within ten days of the date of publication.

Comments - 2024

This revision does not change the law but makes only minor semantic changes.

Section 2. (A) The Louisiana State Law Institute is hereby directed to print the following Comment to Code of Civil Procedure Article 3441:

Comments - 2024

The 2024 revision did not affect this Article, which provides that all of the rules applicable to the judicial opening of a succession and its acceptance without administration apply to small succession proceedings.

(B) The Louisiana State Law Institute is hereby directed to print the following Comment to Code of Civil Procedure Article 3442:

Comments - 2024

The 2024 revision did not affect this Article, which provides that all of the rules applicable to the judicial opening of a succession and its rules for sending heirs and legatees into possession apply to small succession proceedings.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 91

SENATE BILL NO. 38
BY SENATOR EDMONDS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 17:4002.3(2)(b) and the introductory paragraph of 4002.5(A) and (A)(1) and (B), relative to the course providers; to provide with respect to definitions; to provide with respect to student eligibility, course approval, and enrollment; to provide relative to student individual graduation plans; to provide with respect to the duties of the department; to provide with respect to the duties of the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education and public school governing authorities; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 17:4002.3(2)(b) and the introductory paragraph of 4002.5(A), (A) (1) and (B) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§4002.3. Definitions

As used in this Part, the following terms have the following meanings unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

* * *

(2) "Eligible funded student" means any student who resides in Louisiana and meets the following criteria:

* * *

(b) Has obtained approval from the local school superintendent or other Has consulted with the person designated by the governing authority of the school that he attends to enroll in a course pursuant to this Part and has written permission from a parent or legal guardian. Pursuant to R.S. 17:4002.5, the student shall not be permitted to enroll in a course that conflicts with any of the following:

(i) A determination made by the student's school counselor that the course is not to be academically appropriate considering the student's chosen major or graduation pathway.

(ii) The department's published student high school planning resources.

* * *

§4002.5. Public school governing authority duties; accountability; rules

A. The governing authority of each public elementary and secondary school shall establish policies and procedures whereby an eligible funded student may be granted approval to enroll enrolls in a course pursuant to this Part, which shall also provide for the following:

(1) Determination Advising the student and his parent or legal custodian as part of the development and annual review of the student's Individual Graduation Plan, pursuant to R.S. 17:2925 of whether a requested course is academically appropriate for the student.

* * *

B. Each local public school system shall make available to all students during the annual course enrollment process for the school system the course catalogue as provided by the department derived from a list of course providers approved by the state board during the annual course enrollment process for that local school system.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 1, 2025; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval by the legislature or July 1, 2025, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 92

SENATE BILL NO. 39
BY SENATOR MIZELL

(On Recommendation of the Louisiana State Law Institute)
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Children's Code Arts. 412(I), 421, the introductory paragraph of 617(A) and (4), the introductory paragraph of 618(A), (2), and (3), 648, 672(A)(2), 683(E) and (F), 718(A), 720(A), (B)(1) and (6), (C), and (D), 776(A), 781(D) and (E), 895, 1004(B), (D), and (F), 1007(B), 1015.2(B), 1016(A) and (B), 1019(C), 1035(B), the introductory paragraph of 1036(C), the introductory paragraph of (D) and (E), 1036.2(E), 1037.1(A), 1107.8(A), 1124(C), 1125(B), 1132(D), the introductory paragraph of 1170(A), 1200(B)(7)(a)(iii), the introductory paragraph of 1223(B) and (B)(7)(a)(iii), 1264, 1267(2), 1409(T), 1428, 1436, and the introductory paragraph of 1569(A), (4), and (7), and to enact Children's Code Art. 625.1, relative to the continuous revision of the Children's Code; to provide for cross-references; to provide for technical corrections; to provide for advising children of their rights; to provide for notice to the Louisiana Department of Health; to provide for notice to Mental Health Advocacy Services; to provide for the child's right to counsel; to provide for the disapproval of the placement of children; to provide for the purpose and motion of guardianship; and to provide for related matters. Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Children's Code Arts. 412(D), 421, the introductory paragraph of 617(A) and (4), the introductory paragraph of 618(A), (2), and (3), 648, 672(A)(2), 683(E) and (F), 718(A), 720(A), (B)(1) and (6), (C), and (D), 776(A), 781(D) and (E), 895, 1004(B), (D), and (F), 1007(B), 1015.2(B), 1016(A) and (B), 1019(C), 1035(B), the introductory paragraph of 1036(C), the introductory paragraph of (D) and (E), 1036.2(E), 1037.1(A), 1107.8(A), 1124(C), 1125(B), 1132(D), the introductory paragraph of 1170(A), 1200(B)(7)(a)(iii), the introductory paragraph of 1223(B) and (B)(7)(a)(iii), 1264, 1267(2), 1409(T), 1428, 1436, and the introductory paragraph of 1569(A), (4), and (7) are hereby amended and reenacted and Children's Code Art. 625.1 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

Art. 412. Confidentiality of records; disclosure exceptions; sanctions

* * *

I. Any violation of the confidentiality provisions of this Article shall be punishable as a constructive contempt of court pursuant to ~~Article 1509(E)~~ Articles 1507 through 1509.1.

* * *

Art. 421. Probation officers

A. The ~~judge of the court~~ shall have the authority to commission probation officers, one of whom may be designated as chief probation officer or director of probation.

B. Probation officers shall have the power and authority to make arrests; to serve notices, orders, subpoenas, and writs; and to execute all orders and

perform any other duties incident to their office. Nothing herein contained in **this Paragraph** shall be construed to relieve the sheriff from the duties as set forth in R.S. 13:5539.

C. Employment of ~~such personnel~~ **probation officers** by any court for its exclusive service shall in no wise ~~way~~ be affected by or limit the court in availing itself of the services of ~~such the~~ officers or other employees as may be provided by the state.

* * *

Art. 617. Temporary restraining order

A. Upon good cause shown in an ex parte proceeding, the court may enter a temporary restraining order, without bond, as if ~~the court~~ deems necessary to protect from abuse or neglect the petitioner, any children, or any person alleged to be an incompetent. Immediate and present danger of abuse shall constitute good cause for purposes of this Article. The order may include but is not limited to the following:

* * *

(4) Prohibiting either party from transferring, encumbering, or otherwise disposing of property mutually owned or leased by the parties, except when in the ordinary course of business; or for the necessary support of the party or the ~~minor~~ children.

* * *

Art. 618. Protective orders; content; modification; service

A. The court may grant any protective order or approve any consent agreement to bring about a cessation of abuse or neglect of a party, any ~~minor~~ children, or any person alleged to be incompetent, ~~which and the~~ relief may include but is not limited to:

* * *

(2) When there is a duty to support a party, any ~~minor~~ children, or any person alleged to be incompetent living in the residence or household, ordering payment of temporary support or provision of suitable housing for them.

(3) Awarding temporary custody of or establishing temporary visitation rights and conditions with regard to any ~~minor~~ children or person alleged to be incompetent.

* * *

Art. 625.1. Advice of rights for children

A. At the first hearing at which the child appears, the judge shall advise any child ten years of age or older, in a developmentally appropriate manner and in terms understandable to the child, that the child is a party to the proceedings and has all of the following rights:

(1) To be represented by an independent and qualified attorney who shall have duties of loyalty, confidentiality, advocacy, and competent representation.

(2) To have notice of and attend all hearings.

(3) To have regular and meaningful communication with the child's attorney in a way that is understandable to the child.

(4) To have the child's attorney present the child's case, including presenting the child's wishes.

(5) To testify as to the child's wishes.

(6) To be free from discrimination based on race, religion, disability, national origin, and sex.

(7) To be provided qualified interpretation, translation, and language assistance services.

(8) To be provided reasonable accommodations for any disability.

(9) If the child has been placed in foster care, to be provided an individualized case plan, which shall provide all of the following:

(a) A focus on the child's health, welfare, and safety and achieving a permanent placement that the child helps to develop and that is continuously updated.

(b) A placement with siblings when consistent with the child's health, welfare, and safety.

(c) A visitation plan that protects significant relationships with relatives through continuing contact when consistent with the child's health, welfare, and safety.

(d) If the child is fourteen years of age or older, the inclusion of a transitional plan that is designed for the child, and with the child, to assist in achieving a successful transition and that is continuously updated. The plan shall include education, health, permanent connections, living arrangements, independent living skills, and employment.

(10) To have the child's attorney file a written response objecting to the case plan and to have the judge approve or disapprove all or part of the case plan.

(11) If the child is fourteen years of age or older and in foster care, to the rights as provided in R.S. 46:286.16, Foster Youth's Bill of Rights (FYBOR).

B. Written notice of the rights set forth in Paragraph A of this Article shall be given to the child; the parents, foster parents, or pre-adoptive parents of the child; and any relative providing care to the child.

Comments – 2024

(a) This Article is new and applies only in child in need of care proceedings.

(b) This Article is intended to ensure that the child is informed directly, and all other parties indirectly, of the substantive and procedural rights of the child in a child in need of care proceeding and to limit undue interference by parents, foster parents, or others who may not otherwise know that children have rights. This Article informs all parties that the child is not just the subject of the proceeding but is a party and a full participant.

* * *

Art. 648. Advice of rights at appearance to answer petition

At the appearance to answer, the court shall advise the parent **and the child** of his ~~their~~ rights and responsibilities pursuant to ~~Article~~ **Articles 625 and 625.1**, unless ~~they were~~ so advised at a previous hearing.

Art. 672. Care and treatment by department; **placement; disapproval**

A.

* * *

* * *

~~(2) Upon motion of the court, for good cause shown, a contradictory hearing shall be held and thereafter, the presiding judge shall have the authority to disapprove a placement chosen by the department if it is not in the best interest of the child and shall issue a written order that the department choose a more suitable placement with reasons supporting the court's decision. The court may disapprove the placement of a child on its own motion or on the motion of a party for good cause shown after a contradictory hearing. The party's motion shall be in writing and contain particularized allegations that the placement is not in the best interest of the child. The court may deny the party's motion or set a contradictory hearing with notice to all parties. The hearing may be consolidated with any previously scheduled hearing. If the court disapproves the placement, the court shall render specific written reasons for finding that the placement is not in the best interest of the child and shall order the department to choose a more suitable placement.~~

* * *

Art. 683. Disposition; generally

* * *

E. A child shall not be committed to a public or private mental institution or institution for persons with mental illness unless the court finds, based on psychological or psychiatric evaluation, that the child has a mental disorder, other than an intellectual disability, ~~which that~~ has a substantial adverse effect on ~~his the child's~~ ability to function and requires care and treatment in an institution. When the child is in the custody of the state of Louisiana, this finding shall not be made without ~~the a~~ **contradictory hearing, notice to the Louisiana Department of Health, bureau of legal services, and** representation of the child by an attorney appointed from the Mental Health Advocacy Service, unless ~~such attorneys are unavailable as determined by the director or the child retains private counsel,~~ who shall represent only the interest of the child. The Mental Health Advocacy Service's attorney so appointed shall continue to represent the child in any proceeding relating to admission, change of status, or discharge from the mental hospital or psychiatric unit. Upon modification of the disposition to a placement other than a mental hospital or psychiatric unit, the Mental Health Advocacy Service's attorney shall be relieved of representation of the child.

F. A child shall not be committed to a public or private institution for persons with intellectual disabilities unless the court finds, based on psychological or psychiatric evaluation **pursuant to R.S. 28:451.1 et seq.**, that the child has an intellectual disability and ~~such that the~~ condition has a substantial adverse effect on ~~his the child's~~ ability to function and requires care and treatment in an institution.

* * *

Art. 718. Purpose of guardianship

A. The purpose of guardianship is to provide a permanent placement for children when ~~neither reunification with a parent nor adoption has been found to be the court has found that adoption is not~~ in ~~their the children's~~ best interest **and the children cannot be safely reunified with their parents within a reasonable time;** to encourage stability and permanence in the lives of children who have been adjudicated to be in need of care and have been removed from the custody of their parent; and to increase the opportunities for the prompt permanent placement of children, especially with relatives, without ongoing supervision by the department.

* * *

Art. 720. Motion for guardianship

A. After a child has been adjudicated to be in need of care, a motion for guardianship may be filed by the department, parent, counsel for the child, or, when the guardian is deceased, an individual previously named as a successor guardian by the guardian in a guardianship subsidy agreement with the department; or the department may submit a case plan along with the case review report to the court and all counsel of record recommending guardianship in accordance with ~~Children's Code~~ Articles 674, 688, and 689.

B. The motion, case review report, or case plan shall include all of the following:

(1) The name and gender of the child, and the date and place of ~~his the~~ **child's** birth.

* * *

(6) A plain and concise statement of the facts on which the motion, case review report, or case plan for guardianship is sought; ~~and why neither adoption nor reunification with a parent is in the best interest of the child; and why the child cannot be safely reunified with the parent within a reasonable time. If a parent files the motion, any statement that the child cannot be safely reunified with the parent within a reasonable time shall not be deemed an admission for any purpose other than satisfying the motion.~~

C. If any of the information required by Paragraph B of this Article is unknown, the motion, case review report, or case plan shall state that fact. In addition, if the location of either parent is unknown, the motion, case review report, or case plan shall disclose efforts to locate ~~him the parent~~.

D. Unless not yet completed, the home study, as required by ~~Children's Code~~ Article 721, shall be attached to the motion, case review report, or case plan. If not attached, the home study shall be submitted to the court as soon as it is completed.

* * *

Art. 776. Permanency planning reports

A. If at any point in family in need of services proceedings; a child enters the custody of the state, the provisions of Chapters 13, 15, and 16 of Title VI of this Code and Article ~~1004.1~~ 1004.2 shall be applicable.

Art. 781. Disposition; generally

D. A child shall not be committed to a public or private mental institution or institution for persons with mental illness unless the court finds, based on psychological or psychiatric evaluation, that the child has a mental disorder, other than an intellectual disability, ~~which that~~ which that has a substantial adverse effect on ~~his~~ the child's ability to function and requires care and treatment in an institution. When the child is in the custody of the state of Louisiana, this finding shall not be made without ~~the~~ a contradictory hearing, notice to the Louisiana Department of Health, bureau of legal services, and representation of the child by an attorney appointed from the Mental Health Advocacy Service, unless ~~such attorneys are unavailable as determined by the director or~~ the child retains private counsel, who shall represent only the interest of the child. The Mental Health Advocacy Service's attorney ~~so~~ appointed shall continue to represent the child in any proceeding relating to admission, change of status, or discharge from the mental hospital or psychiatric unit. Upon modification of the disposition to a placement other than a mental hospital or psychiatric unit, the Mental Health Advocacy Service's attorney shall be relieved of representation of the child.

E. A child shall not be committed to a public or private institution for persons with intellectual disabilities unless the court finds, based on psychological or psychiatric evaluation pursuant to R.S. 28:451.1 et seq., that the child has an intellectual disability and ~~such that the~~ such that the condition has a substantial adverse effect on ~~his~~ the child's ability to function and requires care and treatment in an institution.

Art. 895. Commitment to mental institution

A. In cases in which a child has been adjudicated a delinquent, the court may commit ~~him~~ the child to a public or private mental institution or institution for persons with mental illness if the court finds, based on psychological or psychiatric evaluation, that the child has a mental disorder, other than an intellectual disability, ~~which that~~ which that has a substantial adverse effect on ~~his~~ the child's ability to function and requires care and treatment in an institution.

B. This finding shall not be made without a contradictory hearing and notice to the Louisiana Department of Health, bureau of legal services, and unless the child is accorded ~~his right to special~~ special counsel in accordance with Article 809(C).

Art. 1004. Petition for termination of parental rights; authorization to file

B. Counsel appointed for the child pursuant to Article 607 may petition for the termination of parental rights of the parent of the child if the petition alleges a ground authorized by Article ~~1015(5), (6), or (7)~~ 1015(4), (5), or (6) and, although eighteen months have elapsed since the date of the child's adjudication as a child in need of care, no petition has been filed by the district attorney or the department.

D. The department may petition for the termination of parental rights of the parent of the child when any of the following apply:

(1) The child has been subjected to abuse or neglect after the child is returned to the parent's care and custody while under department supervision, and termination is authorized by Article ~~1015(4)(j)~~ 1015(3)(j).

(2) The parent's parental rights to one or more of the child's siblings have been terminated due to neglect or abuse and prior attempts to rehabilitate the parent have been unsuccessful, and termination is authorized by Article ~~1015(4)(k)~~ 1015(3)(k).

(3) The child has been abandoned and termination is authorized by Article ~~1015(5)~~ 1015(4).

(4) The child has been placed in the custody of the state, and termination is authorized by Article ~~1015(6)~~ 1015(5).

(5) The child is in foster care because the parent is incarcerated, and termination is authorized by Article ~~1015(7)~~ 1015(6).

(6) The child is in foster care and, despite diligent efforts by the department to identify the child's father, ~~his~~ the father's identity is unknown, and termination is authorized by Article ~~1015(10)~~ 1015(8).

F. By special appointment for a particular case, the court or the district attorney may designate private counsel authorized to petition for the termination of parental rights of the parent of the child on the ground of abandonment authorized by Article ~~1015(5)~~ 1015(4).

Art. 1007. Court records of proceedings

B. The address and parish of the petitioner and each person on whose behalf the petition for termination of parental rights is filed under the provisions of Article ~~1015(3) or (9)~~ 1015.1 may remain confidential with the court.

Art. 1015.2. Termination of parental rights; certain grounds; costs and fees

B. All court costs, attorney fees, costs of enforcement and modification proceedings, costs of appeals, evaluation fees, and expert witness fees incurred in filing, maintaining, or defending any proceeding under in

accordance with Article 1015.1 shall be paid by the perpetrator of the sex offense, including all costs of medical and psychological care for the sexually abused ~~adult, parent~~ parent or for the child conceived as a result of the sex offense.

Art. 1016. Right to counsel

A.(1) The child and ~~the~~ each identified parent shall ~~each~~ have the right to be represented by separate counsel in a termination proceeding brought in accordance with this Title. The child shall be a party to the proceedings. Neither the child nor anyone purporting to act on behalf of the child ~~may~~ shall be permitted to waive the child's right to counsel.

(2) ~~For actions brought under Article 1015.1, the court shall have discretion to decide under the circumstances for each case whether to appoint counsel for the child.~~ In no event shall the petitioner of ~~such an~~ an action pursuant to Article 1015.1 or the ~~minor~~ child be required to interact with the respondent as a condition to pursue termination under in accordance with this Article. Any counsel acting on behalf of the child shall not require a petitioner to make the child available for any visitation or conversation with the respondent or the respondent's family and shall not require any nonoffending petitioner to take classes or provide updates on the child. A petitioner shall have the right to seek an ~~expedited suspensive appeal~~ emergency supervisory writ for any violation of this Article.

B. The court shall appoint the entity designated for the jurisdiction by the Louisiana Supreme Court to provide qualified, independent counsel for the child in ~~such a~~ the proceeding. Counsel for the child shall have the authority to represent the child throughout the termination proceeding and any appellate review.

Art. 1019. Contents of the petition

C. The petition shall allege facts ~~which that~~ which that constitute the grounds necessary for the termination of parental rights as set forth in Article 1015 or 1015.1.

Art. 1035. Burden of proof

B. The parent asserting a mental or physical disability as an affirmative defense to abandonment under pursuant to Article ~~1015(5)~~ 1015(4) bears the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.

Art. 1036. Proof of parental misconduct

C. ~~Under Article 1015(6)~~ In accordance with Article 1015(5), lack of parental compliance with a case plan may be evidenced by one or more of the following:

D. ~~Under Article 1015(6)~~ In accordance with Article 1015(5), lack of any reasonable expectation of significant improvement in the parent's conduct in the near future may be evidenced by one or more of the following:

E. ~~Under Article 1015(7)~~ In accordance with Article 1015(6), a sentence of at least five years of imprisonment raises a presumption of the parent's inability to care for the child for an extended period of time, although the incarceration of a parent shall not in and of itself be sufficient to deprive a parent of ~~his~~ parental rights.

Art. 1036.2. Incarcerated parent; duties; assessment

E. The notification form given to the incarcerated parent shall be substantially as follows:

NOTICE OF DUTY TO PROVIDE A REASONABLE PLAN FOR THE APPROPRIATE CARE OF YOUR CHILD AND TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS LAW
NOTICE TO PARENT: YOUR CHILD(REN), _____ HAS/HAVE BEEN PLACED IN THE CUSTODY OF THE LOUISIANA DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES BY ORDER OF THE _____ Parish juvenile court _____ on _____.

PLEASE BE ADVISED OF THE FOLLOWING:

Louisiana law provides that you may name a person who is willing and able to serve as the custodian of your child(ren) and to offer a wholesome and stable environment for your child(ren). Failure to furnish a reasonable plan for the appropriate care of your child(ren) may result in the termination of your parental rights.

Please refer to Louisiana Children's Code, Title X, Articles 1001 to 1043, especially Articles ~~1015(7)~~ 1015(6) and 1036(E), for the details of Louisiana law regarding the termination of parental rights. A copy of the law is attached to this notice.

You are hereby notified that Louisiana law requires that you provide a reasonable plan for the appropriate care of your child(ren), other than continued foster care, within sixty (60) days of your receipt of this notice, which date is _____. Your plan shall include the names, addresses, cellular numbers, telephone numbers, and other contact information of every suitable alternative caregiver. You may provide additional information by filling out this form and mailing it in the stamped, self-addressed envelope given to you by the department before _____. If you fail or refuse to do so, you may lose all rights to your child(ren). Your plan will be examined to determine if it is reasonable and appropriate. Please provide your plan in detail no later than _____ to the following person:

NAME: _____
 ADDRESS: _____
 CITY/STATE/ZIP: _____
 TELEPHONE: _____

NOTE: IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS OR NEED ANY ASSISTANCE, CONTACT THE ABOVE PERSON OR YOUR ATTORNEY IMMEDIATELY.

Copy of the law, La. Ch.C. Arts. 1001 - 1043, Attached. PLEASE READ.

I, _____, hereby certify that a copy of this notice with La. Ch.C. Arts. 1001-1043 attached, was delivered to _____ on _____ by personal delivery at the following location _____.

DATE: _____

Signature of caseworker

I, _____, have received a copy of this notice, together with the attached laws (La. Ch.C. Arts. 1001-1043), and acknowledge that I understand fully that my rights may be terminated and my child(ren) adopted by others if I do not provide a reasonable plan of appropriate care while I am incarcerated, other than continued foster care, within sixty (60) days of my receipt of this notice on _____.

Signature of parent

Witness: _____ Date: _____

* * *

Art. 1037.1. Continuing contact with biological relatives

A. Subsequent to a termination of parental rights judgment when custody is granted to the department, the court may order continuing contact between the child and the parent, sibling, or other biological relative. The court may grant such an order only after it makes ~~finding~~ **findings** of fact that continuing contact is in the best interest of the child. The court may receive expert testimony on the issue of continuing contact.

* * *

Art. 1107.8. Notice of filing of act of intent to surrender for adoption; form; objection and form

A. The notice of filing of a mother's intent to surrender for adoption shall contain the following information in substantially the following form:

"NOTICE OF FILING OF ACT OF INTENT TO SURRENDER

FOR ADOPTION

Be advised that on the _____ day of _____, 20____, _____ (MOTHER'S NAME) voluntarily filed an act of intent to surrender for adoption of her ~~minor~~ child, namely _____, born on the _____ day of _____, 20____, in the Parish/County of _____, State of _____.

OR

[Be advised that on the _____ day of _____, 20____, _____ (MOTHER'S NAME) voluntarily filed an act of intent to surrender for adoption of her expected child to be born on or about _____, 20____.]

The act of intent to surrender for adoption names you as the father of this child. The act of intent to surrender for adoption does not bind the mother to follow through with plans to surrender her child for adoption. She may change her mind. Its only purpose is to determine whether you will oppose plans for surrendering this child for adoption.

You may attempt to oppose the proposed adoption of this child only by filing a written objection with this court within fifteen days after you receive this notice. In your objection, you must provide the court with an address where you can be contacted about further proceedings, if any, regarding the child's adoption.

A form for your use is attached.

Note that this objection must be signed under oath before a notary public after you have proved your identity. If the objection does not have the notary's signature, it is not effective.

If you do file such a written objection:

(1) You will have the right to receive notice of any surrender for adoption that the mother may hereafter sign giving up her parental rights to the child.

(2) You will also have the right to be given notice of any hearing scheduled by the court to decide whether your parental rights should be terminated. At that hearing, you must show that you are claiming or have acknowledged paternity of the child and must prove that you have assumed parental responsibility for the child, that you are a fit parent, and that you are willing and able to take custody of the child. At that hearing, the court will decide whether your efforts have been sufficient to preserve your parental rights regarding this child and to prevent the child's adoption.

These notices will be served upon you at the address you provide in your written objection.

If you do not file a written, notarized objection within fifteen days from the time you receive this notice, then you waive notice and service of future surrender or adoption proceedings, you have no cause of action to challenge the child's adoption, and all rights you may have as the child's alleged father may be terminated by order of this court and the child may be adopted if the mother does decide to sign a surrender of the child for adoption.

These are serious consequences. You are urged to contact a lawyer to advise you further."

* * *

Art. 1124. Requirement of family information

* * *

C. The form for the affidavit shall be substantially as follows:

STATE OF _____

PARISH/COUNTY OF _____

AFFIDAVIT

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, personally came and appeared

SURRENDERING PARENT

who declares that he/she has executed a true and correct Statement of Family History to provide the adoptive parents of the ~~minor~~ child with nonidentifying medical genetic information in accordance with the provisions of Louisiana Children's Code Articles 1124 through 1127.

Affiant understands and agrees that the nonidentifying Statement of Family History will be attached to the Act of Surrender and included in the sealed adoption record. Affiant further understands that the Statement of Family History will be given to the prospective adoptive parent(s) at the time of placement and made available, upon request, to the adopted person at the age of eighteen years or older.

Affiant has been informed that this affidavit shall be included in the sealed adoption record only and will not be given to the adoptive parents or the ~~minor~~ child.

SIGNATURE OF SURRENDERING PARENT

NAME OF SURRENDERING PARENT

SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED BEFORE ME THIS _____ DAY OF _____, 20____.

NOTARY PUBLIC

Art. 1125. Statement of family history; contents; form

* * *

B. The Statement of Family History form shall be substantially as follows:

STATEMENT OF FAMILY HISTORY

	Child's Biological MOTHER	Child's Biological FATHER
Age		
Height		
Weight		
Hair color		
Eye color		
Complexion		
Body build		
Education-last grade completed/ degree received		
Right/left handed		
Occupation		
Talents		
Religion		
Race		
Ethnicity/ Nationality		
Native American/ Tribal Affiliation, if applicable		
Other		
Yes	No	Diseases/conditions
		If yes, <ul style="list-style-type: none"> state relationship to child [biological parent (mother or father), sibling (full or half), grandparent (paternal or maternal), great grandparent (paternal or maternal), aunt/uncle/cousin (paternal or maternal)]; state specific condition; age of onset; treatment (medication, surgery, etc.); and outcome.
		Cancer
		Heart disease
		Stroke
		High blood pressure
		Diabetes
		Kidney disease
		Liver disease
		Digestive disorders
		Respiratory disorders
		Blood disease (sickle cell, hemophilia, etc.)

		Glandular disturbances (thyroid, adrenal, growth, etc.)	
		Neurological & muscular disorders (multiple sclerosis, muscular dystrophy, Tay-Sachs, etc.)	
		Arthritis (juvenile, rheumatoid, gout, hammertoe, etc.)	
		Epilepsy, seizures, convulsions	
		Allergies (drugs, food, other)	
		Asthma	
		Vision problems/blindness	
		Hearing problems/deafness	
		Speech disorders	
		Dental problems/braces	
		Birth defects (cleft palate, missing digit, club foot, etc.)	
		Curvature of spine	
		Headaches/migraines	
		Alcoholism	
		Substance abuse	
		Eating disorders/obesity	
		Mental illness (schizophrenia, bipolar, depressive, etc.)	
		Intellectual disability-non-injury (PKU, Down's Down Syndrome, etc.)	
		Learning disabilities (ADD, ADHD, etc.)	
		Multiple births	
		Miscarriages, stillbirths, neonatal deaths	
		SIDS	
		Rh Factor	
		HIV (biological mother only)	
		Venereal disease during pregnancy (biological mother only)	
		Other: specify	
		Other: specify	
		Other: specify	
Prenatal History			
Yes	No		If yes, • state type; • state amount; and • state during what months of pregnancy.
		Prescription medication	
		Over the counter medication	
		Alcohol	
		Tobacco	
		Other Drugs	

Are the parents of the child biologically related to each other?
Yes ___ No ___

If yes what is the biological relationship? _____

Has the ~~minor~~ child had the following immunizations?

YES NO
YES NO
() () Birth-2 mo. Hepatitis (Hep B)
() () 12-15 mo. Hib, MMR # 1

() () 1 - 4 mo. Hep B
() () 12-18 mo. Var (chickenpox)
() () 2 mo. DTaP, IPV, Hib,
() () 15-18 mo. DTaP
() () 4 mo. DTaP, IPV, Hib,
() () 4-6 yrs. MMR # 2, DTaP, OPV
() () 6 mo. DTaP, Hib,
() () 11-12 yrs. MMR # 2, Var, Hep B
() () 6-18 mo. Hep B, IPV
() () 11-16 yrs. Td (tetanus, diphtheria)

Has the ~~minor~~ child had the following illnesses?

YES NO
YES NO
() () Pertussis (P) (Whooping Cough)
() () Rheumatic Fever
() () Rubella (R) (Measles)
() () Tonsillitis
() () Mumps (M)
() () Convulsions
() () Chicken Pox (Var)
() () Asthma
() () Rotavirus (Rv)
() () Polio (IPV)
() () Scarlet Fever
() () Allergies, specify _____
() () Diphtheria (D) _____
() () Surgery, operations, specify _____
() () Glandular Disturbances, specify _____

Does the ~~minor~~ child have or has ~~he~~ **the child** had any other serious illnesses or medical conditions?

* * *

Art. 1132. Notice of filing of surrender; form

* * *

D. The notice of the surrender shall be issued by the clerk and shall contain the following information in substantially the following form:

“NOTICE OF FILING OF SURRENDER

Be advised that on the ___ day of ___, 20___, an authentic Act of Surrender executed by ___ was filed wherein she surrendered for adoption her ~~minor~~ child, namely ___, born on the ___ day of ___, ___, in the Parish of ___, State of ___.

The Act of Surrender alleges that you are the father of this child. You may attempt to oppose the adoption of this child only by filing a written objection with this court within fifteen days after you receive this notice.

If you file a written objection timely, the court will then hold a hearing within twenty days of the filing of the opposition, to determine whether you have established or forfeited your parental rights.

To establish your parental rights to oppose the adoption, you must acknowledge that you are the father of the child or be found to be the father by court order as a result of blood tests. Thereafter, you must also demonstrate to the court that you are a fit parent who is willing and able to assume the legal and physical care of your child. You must also demonstrate that you have made a substantial commitment to your parental responsibilities by providing or attempting to provide substantial and consistent support for the mother during pregnancy or after the child's birth and by frequently and consistently visiting or attempting to visit the child after birth.

If you fail to file a written motion of opposition, or if, after a hearing on a motion timely filed, the court finds that you have failed to establish your parental right to oppose the adoption, the court will order the termination of any and all parental rights you may have and the child may be subject to adoption.”

* * *

Art. 1170. Types of adoption

A. This Title sets forth the exclusive procedures for adoption of ~~minor~~ children in Louisiana. There are three types of adoption of ~~minor~~ children in Louisiana:

* * *

Art. 1200. Fee disclosure; permissible reimbursement of expenses; court review; report

* * *

B. Only the following services provided by the Department of Children and Family Services, or payments made through a licensed adoption agency; or an adoption attorney, are permissible and not a violation of R.S. 14:286:

* * *

(7)

* * *

(a) Living expenses in accordance with this Subparagraph may be paid for a reasonable time before the birth of her child and for no more than forty-five days after the birth and may include the following:

* * *

(iii) Food for the mother and any ~~minor~~ children residing in her home.

* * *

Art. 1223. Fee disclosure; permissible reimbursement of expenses; court review; report

* * *

B. Only the following services provided by the Department of Children and

Family Services, or ~~payment~~ **payments** made through a licensed adoption agency; or an adoption attorney, are permissible and not a violation of R.S. 14:286:

(7)

(a) Living expenses in accordance with this Subparagraph may be paid for a reasonable time before the birth of her child and for no more than forty-five days after the birth and may include the following:

(iii) Food for the mother and any ~~minor~~ children residing in her home.

Art. 1264. Post-adoption visitation rights of grandparents
Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, the natural parents of a deceased parent whose child is thereafter adopted and the parents of a party who has forfeited the right to object to the adoption of ~~his~~ **the** child pursuant to Article 1245 may have limited visitation rights to the ~~minor~~ **adopted** child ~~so-adopted~~.

Art. 1267. Burden of proof
The grandparents requesting limited visitation rights shall prove both of the following:

(2) That ~~such~~ limited visitation rights would be in the best ~~interests~~ **interest** of the ~~minor~~ child.

Art. 1409. Rights guaranteed

T. The institution shall prohibit the mistreatment, neglect, or abuse of any ~~minor~~ child in any way.

Art. 1428. Notice of admission
A. The director of the treatment facility shall notify the ~~minor patient's~~ **minor's** nearest relative, if known, or designated responsible party, if any, in writing of the minor's admission by emergency certificate as soon as reasonably possible.

B. Within seventy-two hours after an admission of any minor to a treatment facility by emergency certificate, copies of the physician's and coroner's emergency certificates shall be delivered by the facility by personal delivery, email, or facsimile to the MHAS office located nearest to the treatment facility.

Art. 1436. Hearing; notice
A. Upon the filing of the petition, the court shall assign a time, not later than eighteen calendar days thereafter, ~~shall assign~~ **and** a place for a hearing upon the petition; and shall cause reasonable notice thereof to be given ~~delivered~~ **at least ten days prior to the hearing** to the minor, ~~his~~ **the** minor's attorney, and the petitioner, and the Louisiana Department of Health, bureau of legal services.

B. The notice shall inform the minor respondent that he has a ~~of the~~ right to be present at the hearing; ~~that he has a~~ **the** right to counsel, ~~that he, and,~~ if indigent or otherwise qualified, has the right to have counsel appointed to represent him by ~~from~~ the MHAS; and ~~that he has~~ the right to **call and cross-examine** ~~cross-examine~~ witnesses testifying at any hearing on such application ~~the petition~~.

Art. 1569. Temporary restraining order
A. Upon good cause shown in an ex parte proceeding, the court may enter a temporary restraining order, without bond, as if ~~the court~~ **deems** necessary to protect from abuse the petitioner, any children, or any person alleged to be ~~an~~ incompetent. Immediate and present danger of abuse shall constitute good cause for purposes of this Article. The order may include but is not limited to the following:

(4) Prohibiting either party from the transferring, encumbering, or otherwise disposing of property mutually owned or leased by the parties, except when in the ordinary course of business; or for the necessary support of the party or the ~~minor~~ children.

(7) Granting to the petitioner the exclusive care, possession, or control of any pets belonging to or under the care of the petitioner or ~~minor~~ children residing in the residence or household of either party, and directing the defendant to refrain from harassing, interfering with, abusing or injuring any pet, without legal justification, known to be owned, possessed, leased, kept, or held by either party or a ~~minor~~ child residing in the residence or household of either party.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.
A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 93

SENATE BILL NO. 41
BY SENATOR MORRIS

AN ACT

To amend and reenact Children's Code Art. 102, relative to purpose and construction of the Children's Code; to provide that one purpose of the Louisiana Children's Code is to promote public safety; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Children's Code. Art. 102 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 102. Purpose and construction

The provisions of this Code shall be liberally construed to the end that each child and parent coming within the jurisdiction of the court shall be accorded due process and that each child shall receive, preferably in his own home, the care, guidance, and control that will be conducive to his welfare. In those instances when he is removed from the control of his parents, the court shall secure for him care as nearly as possible equivalent to that which the parents should have given him. These Code provisions shall be construed to promote the stability of the family, and to secure simplicity in procedure, fairness in adjudication and administration, and the elimination of unjustifiable delay, **and to promote public safety.**

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 94

SENATE BILL NO. 49
BY SENATOR MILLER
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 9:2449.1 and R.S. 22:911.1, relative to divorce; to provide with respect to certain beneficiary designation prior to divorce; to provide for the automatic revocation of certain benefits upon divorce; to provide with respect to certain retirement accounts; to provide relative to life insurance; to provide for liability of payor of certain proceeds upon death; to provide relative to exceptions; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 9:2449.1 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§2449.1. Revocation upon divorce; deferred compensation plans

A. A divorce of an individual from the individual's spouse revokes any benefit payable to the former spouse by reason of the individual's death under any pension, profit-sharing, retirement, or similar benefit plan, provided the divorce occurs after the beneficiary is designated, the parties remained divorced from each other at the time of death, and no judgment or property-settlement agreement expressly provides otherwise. If revocation occurs, the proceeds of the plan are payable as if the former spouse had predeceased the decedent.

B. A payor is not liable for having made payment in good faith reliance on the validity of a beneficiary designation affecting any pension, profit-sharing, retirement, or similar benefit plan before the payor has received written notice of the divorce, judgment, or property-settlement agreement at its home office or principal office with notice that the beneficiary designation has been revoked under this Section, and has had a reasonable time within which to act.

C. This Section shall not apply to any beneficiary designation made pursuant to the Louisiana Public Retirement Law.

Section 2. R.S. 22:911.1 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§911.1. Revocation upon divorce; beneficiary designation in life insurance and annuity contracts

A. In all policies of life or endowment insurance and in all annuity contracts, divorce revokes any revocable designation made by a divorced individual to the former spouse, provided the divorce occurs after the beneficiary is designated, the parties remained divorced from each other at the time of death, and no judgment or property-settlement agreement expressly provides otherwise. If revocation occurs, the proceeds of the policy or annuity contract are payable as if the former spouse had predeceased the decedent.

B. A payor is not liable for having made payment in good faith reliance on the validity of a beneficiary designation affecting any insurance policy or annuity before the payor has received written notice of the divorce, judgment, or property-settlement agreement, and has had a reasonable time within which to act.

Section 3. The provisions of this Act shall be given prospective application only and shall not apply to beneficiaries named prior to the effective date of this Act.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 95

SENATE BILL NO. 54
BY SENATOR WHEAT AND REPRESENTATIVES BRYANT, WILFORD
CARTER, CARVER, CHASSION, COATES, MIKE JOHNSON, MELERINE,
SELDERS, TAYLOR, THOMAS, THOMPSON, WYBLE AND ZERINGUE
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 17:440.3, relative to emergency training and certifications for coaches; to require elementary and secondary school coaches to have certain certifications; to provide for limitation of liability; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 17:440.3 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§440.3. School coaches; required certifications

A. Beginning in the 2025-2026 school year, any high school employee who serves as a coach for the school shall obtain and maintain certification in cardiopulmonary resuscitation, first aid, and automatic external defibrillator use. The certification shall be consistent with the American Heart Association, American Red Cross, or other national evidence-based emergency cardiovascular care guidelines.

B. The provisions of R.S. 9:2793 shall apply to any coach who is certified pursuant to this Section and performs cardiopulmonary resuscitation or first aid or uses an automatic external defibrillator in his capacity as a school coach.

C.(1) It is the intention of this legislature that this Section shall not create an unfunded mandate on any city, parish, and other local public school board.

(2) The provisions of this Section shall not apply to any city, parish, or other local public school board until one of the following occurs:

(a) The legislature appropriates funds in an amount necessary to implement the provisions of this Section.

(b) Grants or other private donations are made to the school to pay for the costs of implementing the provisions of this Section.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 96

SENATE BILL NO. 77
BY SENATOR MILLER
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 9:410, relative to filiation actions; to provide relative to civil actions; to provide with respect to succession proceedings; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 9:410 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§410. Filiation; ordinary proceedings

A filiation action pursuant to Civil Code Article 197 shall be a civil action brought in an ordinary proceeding under Book II of the Code of Civil Procedure, and may be instituted separately or cumulated in a succession proceeding. However, the mere commencement of a succession proceeding under Book VI of the Code of Civil Procedure shall not constitute the instituting of a filiation action for purposes of Civil Code Article 197.

Section 2. The provisions of this Act shall be interpretive, procedural, and remedial.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 97

SENATE BILL NO. 85
BY SENATOR EDMONDS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 17:1964(A)(8), relative to the Jimmy D. Long School for Math, Science, and the Arts; to provide relative to the membership of the board of directors; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 17:1964(A)(8) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1964. Board of directors; creation; membership; terms; powers, duties, and functions; voting; compensation

A. There is hereby created a board of directors for the school, sometimes hereinafter referred to as the "board". The board shall be composed of twenty-four members as follows:

* * *

(8) Two members of the Senate ~~Committee on Education~~ who shall be appointed by the chairman of ~~that committee~~ the Senate Committee on Education.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 98

SENATE BILL NO. 188
BY SENATOR COUSSAN
(On Recommendation of the Louisiana State Law Institute)
AN ACT

To enact Part VI of Chapter 1 of Code Title V of Code Book I of Title 9 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, to be comprised of R.S. 9:377 through 377.19, relative to the Uniform Collaborative Family Law Act; to provide for applicability; to provide for definitions; to provide for participation agreements; to provide for the collaborative family law process; to provide for court approval; to provide for emergency orders; to provide for collaborative family law attorneys; to provide for confidentiality; to provide for a privilege against disclosure; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Part VI of Chapter 1 of Code Title V of Code Book I of Title 9 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, comprised of R.S. 9:377 through 377.19, is hereby enacted to read as follows:

PART VI. UNIFORM COLLABORATIVE FAMILY LAW ACT

§377. Short title

This Part may be cited as the Uniform Collaborative Family Law Act.

§377.1. Legislative intent; conflicts; application and construction

A. It is the policy of this state to encourage the peaceable resolution of disputes and the early resolution of pending litigation through compromise, with special consideration given to disputes involving the parent-child relationship, including disputes over the custody and support of a child.

B. If a provision of this Part conflicts with another provision of Louisiana law and the conflict cannot be reconciled, this Part prevails.

C. In applying and construing this Part, consideration shall be given to the need to promote uniformity of the law with respect to its subject matter among states that enact a collaborative law process for family law matters.

Revision Comments - 2024

(a) Collaborative law is a voluntary, contractually based alternative dispute resolution process for parties who seek to negotiate a resolution of their dispute. The ground rules for collaborative family law participation are set forth in a written agreement in which parties designate collaborative lawyers and agree not to seek resolution of a dispute by a tribunal during the collaborative law process.

(b) Collaborative law matters that arise under the family law of this state are those matters detailed in R.S. 13:1401.

(c) The provisions of this Part do not alter the applicability of R.S. 46:236.1.2, which affords the state certain rights against the parties in cases in which it provides child support enforcement services.

§377.2. Definitions

In this Part, the following terms have the following meanings:

(1) "Collaborative family law communication" means a statement, whether oral or in a record, or verbal or nonverbal, that:

(a) Is made to conduct, participate in, continue, or reconvene a collaborative family law process.

(b) Occurs after the parties sign a collaborative family law participation agreement and before the collaborative family law process is concluded.

(2) "Collaborative family law matter" means a dispute, transaction, claim, problem, or issue for resolution, including a dispute, claim, or issue in a proceeding, that is described in a collaborative family law participation agreement and arises under the family or domestic relations law of this state, including:

(a) Marriage, divorce, dissolution, annulment, and property distribution.

(b) Child custody, visitation, and parenting time.

(c) Alimony, spousal support, maintenance, and child support.

(d) Adoption.

(e) Parentage.

(f) Premarital, marital, and post-marital agreements.

(3) "Collaborative family law participation agreement" means an agreement by persons to participate in a collaborative family law process.

(4) "Collaborative family law process" means a procedure intended to resolve a collaborative family law matter without intervention by a tribunal in which persons:

(a) Sign a collaborative family law participation agreement.

(b) Are represented by collaborative lawyers.

(5) "Collaborative lawyer" means a lawyer who represents a party in a collaborative family law process.

(6) "Law firm" means:

(a) Lawyers who practice law together in a partnership, professional corporation, sole proprietorship, limited liability company, or association.

(b) Lawyers employed in a legal services organization, or the legal department of a corporation or other organization, or the legal department of a government or governmental subdivision, agency, or instrumentality.

(7) "Nonparty participant" means a person, other than a party and the party's collaborative lawyer, who participates in a collaborative family law process.

(8) "Party" means a person who signs a collaborative family law participation agreement and whose consent is necessary to resolve a collaborative family law matter.

(9) "Person" means an individual, corporation, business trust, estate, trust, partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture,

public corporation, government or governmental subdivision, agency, or instrumentality, or any other legal or commercial entity.

(10) "Proceeding" means a judicial, administrative, arbitral, or other adjudicative process before a tribunal, including related prehearing and post-hearing motions, conferences, and discovery.

(11) "Prospective party" means a person who discusses with a prospective collaborative lawyer the possibility of signing a collaborative family law participation agreement.

(12) "Record" means information that is inscribed on a tangible medium or that is stored in an electronic or other medium and is retrievable in perceivable form.

(13) "Related to a collaborative family law matter" means involving the same parties, transaction or occurrence, nucleus of operative fact, dispute, claim, or issue as the collaborative family law matter.

(14) "Sign" means, with present intent to authenticate or adopt a record, either:

(a) To execute or adopt a tangible symbol.

(b) To attach to or logically associate with the record an electronic symbol, sound, or process.

(15) "Tribunal" means a court, arbitrator, administrative agency, or other body acting in an adjudicative capacity that, after presentation of evidence or legal argument, has jurisdiction to render a decision affecting a party's interests in a family law matter.

§377.3. Applicability

This Part applies to a collaborative family law participation agreement that meets the requirements of R.S. 9:377.4 and that is signed on or after August 1, 2024.

§377.4. Collaborative family law participation agreement; requirements

A. A collaborative family law participation agreement is a voluntary, contractually based alternative dispute resolution process that shall:

(1) Be in a record.

(2) Be signed by the parties.

(3) State the parties' intention to resolve a collaborative family law matter through a collaborative family law process in accordance with this Part.

(4) Describe the nature and scope of the family law matter.

(5) Identify the collaborative lawyer who represents each party in the process.

(6) Contain a statement by each collaborative lawyer confirming the lawyer's representation of a party in the collaborative family law process.

B. Parties may agree to include in a collaborative family law participation agreement additional provisions not inconsistent with this Part.

§377.5. Beginning and concluding collaborative family law process

A. A collaborative family law process begins when the parties sign a collaborative law participation agreement.

B. A tribunal shall not order a party to participate in a collaborative family law process over that party's objection.

C. A collaborative family law process is concluded by any of the following:

(1) Resolution of a collaborative family law matter as evidenced by a signed record.

(2) Resolution of a part of the collaborative family law matter, evidenced by a signed record, in which the parties agree that the remaining parts of the family law matter will not be resolved in the process.

(3) Termination of the process.

D. A collaborative family law process terminates:

(1) When a party gives notice to other parties in a record that the process is ended.

(2) When a party:

(a) Begins a proceeding related to a collaborative family law matter without the agreement of all parties.

(b) In a pending proceeding related to the family law matter:

(i) Initiates a pleading, motion, order to show cause, or request for a conference with the tribunal.

(ii) Requests that the proceeding be put on the tribunal's active calendar.

(iii) Takes similar action requiring notice to be sent to the parties.

(3) Except as otherwise provided by Subsection G of this Section, when a party discharges a collaborative lawyer, or a collaborative lawyer withdraws from further representation of a party.

E. A party's collaborative lawyer shall give prompt notice to all other parties in a record of a discharge or withdrawal.

F. A party may terminate a collaborative family law process with or without cause.

G. Notwithstanding the discharge or withdrawal of a collaborative lawyer, a collaborative family law process continues if, not later than thirty days after the date that the notice of the discharge or withdrawal of a collaborative lawyer required by Subsection E of this Section is sent to the parties:

(1) The unrepresented party engages a successor collaborative lawyer.

(2) In a signed record:

(a) The parties consent to continue the process by reaffirming the collaborative family law participation agreement.

(b) The collaborative family law agreement is amended to identify the successor collaborative lawyer.

(c) The successor collaborative lawyer confirms the lawyer's representation of a party in the collaborative family law process.

H. A collaborative family law process does not conclude if, with the consent of the parties, a party requests a tribunal to approve a resolution of the collaborative family law matter or any part thereof as evidenced by a signed record.

I. A collaborative family law participation agreement may provide additional methods of concluding a collaborative family law process.

§377.6. Proceedings pending before tribunal; status report

A. Persons in a proceeding pending before a tribunal may sign a collaborative family law participation agreement to seek to resolve a collaborative family law matter related to the proceeding. The parties shall file promptly with the tribunal a notice of the agreement after it is signed. Subject to Subsection C of this Section and to R.S. 9:377.7 and 377.8, the filing operates as an application for a stay of the proceeding.

B. The parties shall file promptly with the tribunal notice in a record when a collaborative family law process concludes. The stay of the proceeding in accordance with Subsection A of this Section is lifted when the notice is filed. The notice shall not specify any reason for termination of the collaborative family law process.

C. A tribunal in which a proceeding is stayed in accordance with Subsection A of this Section may require the parties and collaborative lawyers to provide a status report on the collaborative family law process and the proceeding. A status report may include only information on whether the process is ongoing or concluded. It shall not include a report, assessment, evaluation, recommendation, finding, or other communication regarding a collaborative family law process or collaborative family law matter.

D. A tribunal shall not consider a communication made in violation of Subsection C of this Section.

E. A tribunal shall provide parties notice and an opportunity to be heard before dismissing a proceeding in which a notice of collaborative family law process is filed based on delay or failure to prosecute.

§377.7. Emergency order

During a collaborative family law process, a tribunal may issue emergency orders to protect the health, safety, welfare, or interest of a party, or of a family member or household member as those terms are defined in R.S. 46:2132.

Revision Comments - 2024

If a party to a collaborative family law process initiates a proceeding under the Domestic Abuse Assistance Act, R.S. 46:2131 et seq., the collaborative process terminates in accordance with R.S. 9:377.5. Emergency orders may include, among other things, orders issued in accordance with Code of Civil Procedure Article 3945, R.S. 13:1816, or Children's Code Articles 618, 1560, and 1564 et seq.

§377.8. Approval of agreement by tribunal

A tribunal may approve an agreement resulting from a collaborative family law process.

§377.9. Disqualification of collaborative lawyer and lawyers in associated law firm

A. Except as otherwise provided in Subsection C of this Section, a collaborative lawyer is disqualified from appearing before a tribunal to represent a party in a proceeding related to the collaborative family law matter.

B. Except as otherwise provided in Subsection C of this Section and in R.S. 9:377.10 and 377.11, a lawyer in a law firm with which the collaborative lawyer is associated is disqualified from appearing before a tribunal to represent a party in a proceeding related to the collaborative family law matter if the collaborative lawyer is disqualified from doing so in accordance with Subsection A of this Section.

C. A collaborative lawyer or a lawyer in a law firm with which the collaborative lawyer is associated may represent a party:

(1) To ask a tribunal to approve an agreement resulting from the collaborative family law process.

(2) To seek or defend an emergency order to protect the health, safety, welfare, or interest of a party, or of a family member or household member as those terms are defined in R.S. 46:2132, if a successor lawyer is not immediately available to represent that person.

D. If Paragraph (C)(2) of this Section applies, a collaborative lawyer or a lawyer in a law firm with which the collaborative lawyer is associated may represent a party, or a family member or household member as those terms are defined in R.S. 46:2132, only until the person is represented by a successor lawyer or reasonable measures are taken to protect the health, safety, welfare, or interest of the person.

§377.10. Low-income parties

A. The disqualification of R.S. 9:377.9(A) applies to a collaborative lawyer representing a party with or without fee.

B. After a collaborative family law process concludes, another lawyer in a law firm with which a collaborative lawyer is associated may represent a party without fee in the collaborative family law matter or a matter related to the collaborative family law matter if all of the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) The party has an annual income that qualifies the party for free legal representation in accordance with the criteria established by the law firm for free legal representation.

(2) The collaborative family law participation agreement so provides.

(3) The collaborative lawyer is isolated from any participation in the collaborative family law matter or a matter related to the collaborative family law matter through procedures within the law firm that are reasonably calculated to isolate the collaborative lawyer from participation.

§377.11. Governmental entity as party

A. The disqualification of R.S. 9:377.9(A) applies to a collaborative lawyer representing a party that is a government or governmental subdivision, agency, or instrumentality.

B. After a collaborative family law process concludes, another lawyer in a law firm with which the collaborative lawyer is associated may represent a government or governmental subdivision, agency, or instrumentality in the collaborative family law matter or a matter related to the collaborative family

law matter if all of the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) The collaborative family law participation agreement so provides.

(2) The collaborative lawyer is isolated from any participation in the collaborative family law matter or a matter related to the collaborative family law matter through procedures within the law firm that are reasonably calculated to isolate the collaborative lawyer from participation.

§377.12. Disclosure of information

Except as provided by law other than this Part, during the collaborative family law process, upon the request of another party, a party shall make timely, full, candid, and informal disclosure of information related to the collaborative family law matter without formal discovery. A party also shall update promptly previously disclosed information that has materially changed. The parties may define the scope of disclosure during the collaborative family law process.

§377.13. Standards of professional responsibility and mandatory reporting not affected

This Part does not affect any of the following:

(1) The professional responsibility obligations and standards applicable to a lawyer or other licensed professional.

(2) The obligation of a person to report abuse or neglect, abandonment, or exploitation of a child or adult under the laws of this state.

§377.14. Appropriateness of collaborative law process

Before a prospective party signs a collaborative family law participation agreement, a prospective collaborative lawyer shall:

(1) Assess with the prospective party factors that the lawyer reasonably believes relate to whether a collaborative family law process is appropriate for the prospective party's family law matter.

(2) Provide the prospective party with information that the lawyer reasonably believes is sufficient for the party to make an informed decision about the material benefits and risks of a collaborative family law process as compared to the material benefits and risks of other reasonably available alternatives for resolving the proposed collaborative family law matter, such as litigation, mediation, arbitration, or expert evaluation.

(3) Advise the prospective party that:

(a) After signing an agreement, if a party initiates a proceeding or seeks tribunal intervention in a pending proceeding related to the collaborative family law matter, the collaborative family law process terminates.

(b) Participation in a collaborative family law process is voluntary and any party has the right to terminate unilaterally a collaborative family law process with or without cause.

(c) The collaborative lawyer and any lawyer in a law firm with which the collaborative lawyer is associated shall not appear before a tribunal to represent a party in a proceeding related to the collaborative family law matter, except as authorized by R.S. 9:377.9(C), 377.10(B), or 377.11(B).

Revision Comments - 2024

Paragraph (1) of this Section includes a reasonable assessment of whether the Post Separation Family Violence Relief Act or the Domestic Abuse Assistance Act would be applicable in the matter, and thus whether the collaborative family law process is an appropriate mechanism for resolving the parties' dispute. Therefore, Section 15 of the Uniform Collaborative Law Act, which specifically addresses domestic violence, is not reproduced in this Part.

§377.15. Confidentiality of collaborative family law communication

A collaborative family law communication is confidential to the extent agreed by the parties in a signed record or as provided by the laws of this state other than this Part.

§377.16. Privilege against disclosure for collaborative family law communication; admissibility; discovery

A. Subject to R.S. 9:377.17 and 377.18, a collaborative family law communication is privileged in accordance with Subsection B of this Section, is not subject to discovery, and is not admissible in evidence.

B. In a proceeding, the following privileges apply:

(1) A party may refuse to disclose, and may prevent any other person from disclosing, a collaborative family law communication.

(2) A nonparty participant may refuse to disclose, and may prevent any other person from disclosing, a collaborative family law communication of the nonparty participant.

C. Evidence or information that is otherwise admissible or subject to discovery does not become inadmissible or protected from discovery solely because of its disclosure or use in a collaborative family law process.

§377.17. Waiver and preclusion of privilege

A. A privilege in accordance with R.S. 9:377.16 may be waived in a record or orally during a proceeding if it is expressly waived by all parties and, in the case of the privilege of a nonparty participant, it is also expressly waived by the nonparty participant.

B. A person who makes a disclosure or representation about a collaborative family law communication that prejudices another person in a proceeding may not assert a privilege in accordance with R.S. 9:377.16, but this preclusion applies only to the extent necessary for the person prejudiced to respond to the disclosure or representation.

§377.18. Limits of privilege

A. There is no privilege in accordance with R.S. 9:377.16 for a collaborative family law communication that is any of the following:

(1) Available to the public in accordance with R.S. 44:1 et seq. or made during a session of a collaborative family law process that is open, or is required by law to be open, to the public.

(2) A threat or statement of a plan to inflict bodily injury or commit a crime

of violence.

(3) Intentionally used to plan a crime, commit or attempt to commit a crime, or conceal an ongoing crime or ongoing criminal activity.

(4) In an agreement resulting from the collaborative family law process, evidenced by a record signed by all parties to the agreement.

B. The privileges in accordance with R.S. 9:377.16 for a collaborative family law communication do not apply to the extent that a communication is any of the following:

(1) Sought or offered to prove or disprove a claim or complaint of professional misconduct or malpractice arising from or related to a collaborative family law process.

(2) Sought or offered to prove or disprove abuse, neglect, abandonment, or exploitation of a child or adult, unless the Department of Children and Family Services is a party to or otherwise participates in the process.

C. There is no privilege in accordance with R.S. 9:377.16 if a tribunal finds, after a hearing in camera, that the party seeking discovery or the proponent of the evidence has shown that the evidence is not otherwise available, the need for the evidence substantially outweighs the interest in protecting confidentiality, and the collaborative family law communication is sought or offered in:

(1) A court proceeding involving a felony or misdemeanor.

(2) A proceeding seeking rescission or reformation of a contract arising out of the collaborative family law process or in which a defense to avoid liability on the contract is asserted.

D. If a collaborative family law communication is subject to an exception in accordance with Subsection B or C of this Section, only the part of the communication necessary for the application of the exception may be disclosed or admitted.

E. Disclosure or admission of evidence excepted from the privilege in accordance with Subsection B or C of this Section does not make the evidence or any other collaborative family law communication discoverable or admissible for any other purpose.

F. The privileges in accordance with R.S. 9:377.16 do not apply if the parties agree in advance in a signed record, or if a record of a proceeding reflects agreement by the parties, that all or part of a collaborative family law process is not privileged. This Subsection does not apply to a collaborative family law communication made by a person who did not receive actual notice of the agreement before the communication was made.

Revision Comments - 2024

It is the communication made in the collaborative law process that is protected by the collaborative law communication privilege, not the underlying evidence giving rise to the communication. Evidence that is communicated in the collaborative law process is subject to discovery, just as it would be if the collaborative law process had not occurred. More specifically, there is no "fruit of the poisonous tree" doctrine in the collaborative law communication privilege. For instance, a party who learns about a witness during a collaborative law process is not precluded by the privilege from subpoenaing that witness if the collaborative law process terminates and the matter goes to court.

§377.19. Authority of tribunal in case of noncompliance

A. If an agreement fails to meet the requirements of R.S. 9:377.4, or if a lawyer fails to comply with R.S. 9:377.14, a tribunal may nonetheless find that the parties intended to enter into a collaborative family law participation agreement if the parties:

(1) Signed a record indicating an intention to enter into a collaborative family law participation agreement.

(2) Reasonably believed that the parties were participating in a collaborative family law process.

B. If a tribunal makes the findings specified in Subsection A of this Section, and the interests of justice require, the tribunal may do the following:

(1) Enforce an agreement evidenced by a record resulting from the process in which the parties participated.

(2) Apply the disqualification provisions of R.S. 9:377.5, 377.6, 377.9, 377.10, and 377.11.

(3) Apply a privilege in accordance with R.S. 9:377.16.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 99

SENATE BILL NO. 199
BY SENATOR COUSSAN
AN ACT

To amend and reenact the section heading of R.S. 32:705 and to enact R.S. 32:705(E), relative to motor vehicle titles; to provide for the delivery of certificate of title; to require the acceptance of the assignment of title; to provide for exceptions to certificate of title requirements; to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. The section heading of R.S. 32:705 is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 32:705(E) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§705. Delivery Acceptance and delivery of certificate to purchaser of vehicle
* * *

E. (1) Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, the following errors in

an assignment of title shall not preclude the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, office of motor vehicles, from accepting the assignment of title when submitted with a document transferring ownership and properly endorsed, pursuant to Subsection B of this Section:

(a) Spelling of seller or purchaser's name is in error or illegible.

(b) The seller signed their name incorrectly.

(c) The seller assigned the title to himself in error.

(d) The seller or purchaser's name is misspelled and corrected with a strikeover.

(e) An error in the address.

(f) An error in the date of sale, provided that the error does not impact fees or penalties.

(2) The office of motor vehicles and licensed public tag agents shall be held harmless for relying upon information on a properly endorsed agreement to sell vehicle.

(3) The Department of Public Safety and Corrections shall promulgate rules as necessary for the implementation of this Subsection.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 100

SENATE BILL NO. 236

BY SENATOR FOIL AND REPRESENTATIVE CHASSION

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 32:412(Q) and R.S. 40:1321(S)(1), (2), (3), and (5) and to enact R.S. 32:412(R) and R.S. 40:1321(S)(6), relative to a driver's license designation for persons with a seizure disorder; to provide for special identification card designation; to provide for an application process; to provide for medical verification; to provide for a renewal process; to provide for penalties for false application; to provide for rulemaking; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 32:412(Q) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 32:412(R) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§412. Amount of fees; credit or refund; duration of license; veteran designation; ~~disabled veteran designation; university logo; "I'm a Cajun" designation; needs accommodation designation; autism spectrum disorder designation; disbursement of special needs or accommodation designations; disbursement of funds; renewal by mail or electronic commerce of Class "D" or "E" drivers' licenses; disposition of certain fees; exception.~~

* * *

Q.(1) Upon request of an applicant for a driver's license, a designation that the applicant has a seizure disorder shall be exhibited on the driver's license upon presentation of a statement from a qualified medical health professional licensed in Louisiana or any other state or territory of the United States verifying the applicant's disability as established by administrative rule. The qualified medical professional shall be authorized to diagnose a seizure disorder. No additional fee shall be charged to include such designation.

(2) Upon the renewal of a driver's license, a driver who has a seizure disorder shall provide a statement from a qualified medical health professional licensed in Louisiana or any other state or territory of the United States verifying his disability as established by administrative rule.

(3) Any person who has not been diagnosed with a seizure disorder who willfully and falsely represents himself as having the qualifications to obtain the special designation authorized by this Section shall be fined not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two hundred fifty dollars, or shall be imprisoned for not more than thirty days, or both. Any subsequent offense shall result in a fine of not less than two hundred fifty dollars nor more than five hundred dollars, or imprisonment for not more than ninety days, or both.

(4) The deputy secretary of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, public safety services, shall promulgate rules and regulations as necessary to implement the provisions of this Subsection, including a waiver of liability for the release of any medical information.

R. An applicant for any class of license may choose to donate one dollar in addition to any license fee required by this Section to the Louisiana Military Family Assistance Fund.

Section 2. R.S. 40:1321(S)(1), (2), (3), and (5) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 40:1321(S)(6) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1321. State identification cards; special identification cards; issuance; veteran designation; ~~disabled veteran designation; university logo; "I'm a Cajun" designation; needs accommodation designation; autism spectrum disorder designation; special needs or accommodation designations;~~ fees; expiration and renewal; exceptions; promulgation of rules; promotion of use; persons less than twenty-one years of age; the Protect and Save our Children Program; Selective Service Registration

* * *

S.(1) Upon request of an applicant for a special identification card, a designation that the applicant has autism spectrum disorder ~~or seizure disorder~~ shall be exhibited on the special identification card upon presentation of a statement from a qualified medical or mental health professional licensed in Louisiana or any other state or territory of the United States verifying the applicant's disability as established by administrative rule. The qualified

medical or mental health professional shall be authorized to diagnose autism spectrum disorder ~~or seizure disorder~~. No additional fee shall be charged to include such designation.

(2) Upon the renewal of a special identification card, an applicant who has autism spectrum disorder ~~or seizure disorder~~ shall provide a statement from a qualified medical or mental health professional licensed in Louisiana or any other state or territory of the United States verifying the applicant's disability as established by administrative rule.

(3) Any person who has not been diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder ~~or seizure disorder~~ who willfully and falsely represents himself as having the qualifications to obtain the special designation authorized by this Subsection shall be fined not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two hundred fifty dollars, or shall be imprisoned for not more than thirty days, or both. Any subsequent offense shall result in a fine of not less than two hundred fifty dollars nor more than five hundred dollars, or imprisonment for not more than ninety days, or both.

* * *

(5) In addition to the training requirements contained in R.S. 40:2404.2(C), the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, public safety services, shall establish and implement a law enforcement training course relative to law enforcement officers' interaction with persons who have a seizure disorder. The course shall instruct law enforcement officers on sensitivity and awareness to ensure equitable treatment and how to effectively interact with a person experiencing a seizure. At a minimum, the course shall include the following:

(a) Identification of indicators that a person is experiencing a seizure.

(b) Identification of procedures that an officer should employ when encountering a person experiencing a seizure.

(c) Demonstrations of techniques required to effectively respond to a person experiencing a seizure.

(d) Explanations that provide law enforcement officers with an understanding and examples of unexpected actions potentially taken by persons experiencing a seizure.

(e) Explanations of the resources available to assist an officer encountering a person who has seizure disorder.

(f) Descriptions of the procedures an officer should use to ensure compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act when encountering a person with seizure disorder.

~~(5)(6)~~ The deputy secretary of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, public safety services, shall promulgate rules and regulations as necessary to implement the provisions of this Subsection, including a waiver of liability for the release of any medical information. Notwithstanding the provisions of R.S. 49:966(B)(12), the House and Senate committees on transportation, highways and public works shall have oversight of the adoption of rules and regulations required by this Subsection.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 101

SENATE BILL NO. 249

BY SENATOR CATHEY AND REPRESENTATIVE THOMPSON

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 3:1382(E), 1391(7) through (26), 1392(B)(2), 1393(A), 1396(A)(1) and (6) through (9), and 1398(A) and to enact R.S. 3:1391(27), 1396(A)(10) through (13), and 1400(A)(5), relative to the Louisiana Agricultural Chemistry and Seed Commission; to provide relative to the state chemist's responsibilities; to provide for definitions; to provide relative to the commission's powers and authority; to provide relative to registration and labeling; to provide for commercial feed adulteration; to provide relative to inspection, sampling, and analysis regulations; to provide relative to deficiency assessments; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 3:1382(E), 1391(7) through (26), 1392(B)(2), 1393(A), 1396(A)(1) and (6) through (9), and 1398(A) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 3:1391(27), 1396(A)(10) through (13), and 1400(A)(5) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1382. Commission; creation

* * *

E. The state chemist shall be responsible for making any chemical analysis or other tests necessary for carrying out the provisions of this Chapter. He shall determine annually the values per pound of nitrogen, available phosphoric acid, potash, and any other substance claimed to have value as a fertilizer. The values so determined shall be used in determining and assessing penalties. In addition to his responsibilities, the following apply:

(1) The state chemist shall determine annually the values per pound of nitrogen, available phosphoric acid, potash, and any other substance claimed to have value as a fertilizer.

(2) The state chemist may determine the value of protein and any other substance guaranteed as a commercial feed.

(3) The values so determined shall be used in determining and assessing penalties.

§1391. Definitions

For the purposes of this Part the following definitions shall apply:

* * *

(7) "Guaranteed feeding units" means the minimum crude protein, minimum crude fat, maximum crude fiber, and minimum or maximum minerals expressed as percentages **or other required official units of measure, based on weight** and indicated on the label as being contained in the commercial feed.

(8) "Guarantor" means the entity listed on a commercial feed label or package that guarantees quality, quantity, and safety of the product.

~~(8)~~**(9)** "Ingredient" or "ingredients" means any of the constituent materials making up a commercial feed.

~~(9)~~**(10)** "Label" means a display of written, printed, or graphic matter upon or affixed to the container in which a commercial feed is distributed or on the invoice or delivery slip with which a commercial feed is distributed.

~~(10)~~**(11)** "Labeling" means all labels and other written, printed, or graphic matter which is located upon a commercial feed or any of its containers or wrapper or accompanying such commercial feed.

~~(11)~~**(12)** "Livestock" means cattle, buffalo, bison, oxen, and other bovine; horses, mules, donkeys, and other equine; sheep; goats; swine; domestic rabbits; fish, turtles, and other animals identified with aquaculture that are located in artificial reservoirs or enclosures that are both on privately owned property and constructed so as to prevent, at all times, the ingress and egress of fish life from public waters; imported exotic deer and antelope, elk, farm-raised white-tailed deer, farm-raised ratites, and other farm-raised exotic animals; chickens, turkeys, and other poultry; and animals placed under the jurisdiction of the commissioner of agriculture and forestry and any hybrid, mixture, or mutation of any such animal.

~~(12)~~**(13)** "Manufacture" means to grind, mix, blend, or further process a commercial feed for distribution.

~~(13)~~**(14)** "Manufacturer" means a person who manufactures a commercial feed or a customer-formula feed.

~~(14)~~**(15)** "Medication" means any drug, antibiotic, or other substance intended for use in the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease in animals other than man and any substance other than feed ingredients intended to affect the structure or any function of the animal body.

~~(15)~~**(16)** "Official sample" means a sample of feed taken by the commissioner or his agent in accordance with provisions of R.S. 3:1398.

~~(16)~~**(17)** "Package" means a parcel, bag, or other container.

~~(17)~~**(18)** "Percent" or "percentages" mean percentages by weights.

~~(18)~~**(19)** "Person" means any individual, partnership, corporation, and association, or other legal entity.

~~(19)~~**(20)** "Pet" means any domesticated animal normally maintained in or near the household of the owner thereof.

~~(20)~~**(21)** "Pet food" means any commercial feed prepared and distributed for consumption by pets.

~~(21)~~**(22)** "Premises" means any place such as, but not exclusively, warehouses, factories, stores, trucks, railroad cars, boats, etc.

~~(22)~~**(23)** "Protein derived from mammalian tissues" means any protein containing a portion of mammalian animals, excluding: blood and blood products, gelatin, inspected meat products which have been cooked and offered for human food and further heat-processed for feed such as plate waste and used cellulosic food casings; milk products including milk and milk proteins; and any product in which the only mammalian protein consists entirely of porcine or equine protein.

~~(23)~~**(24)** "Registrant" means the person registering a feed with the commission.

~~(24)~~**(25)** "Ruminant" includes any mammal of the suborder Ruminantia, which includes but is not limited to cattle, buffalo, sheep, goats, deer, elk, and antelopes.

~~(25)~~**(26)** "Ton" means a net weight of two thousand pounds avoirdupois.

~~(26)~~**(27)** "Value of the protein deficiency" means the value of the crude protein as set by the state chemist times the difference between the guaranteed protein analysis and the actual protein analysis of the feed sample.

§1392. Commission; powers and authority

* * *

B. In the interest of uniformity, the commission by regulation may adopt, unless it determines that they are inconsistent with the provisions of this Part or are not appropriate to conditions which exist in this state, the following:

* * *

(2) Any federal regulation promulgated pursuant to the authority of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, **the Food and Drug Administration, or the Food Safety Modernization Act.**

* * *

§1393. Registration and labeling

A. No person shall manufacture a commercial or customer-formula feed for distribution in this state unless he has registered with the commission by filing on forms provided by the commissioner his name, state of incorporation if incorporated, the location of his principal place of business, and the location of each manufacturing facility in this state when such facilities are so located. Registration shall be renewed annually on July first. Renewal of registration may be denied by the commissioner for cause. A distributor **or guarantor** may apply to the commission for registration as a manufacturer and for authority to label feeds for sale in this state. All provisions applicable to a manufacturer shall then apply to the distributor **or guarantor.**

* * *

§1396. Adulteration

A commercial feed shall be deemed to be adulterated:

(1) If it bears or contains any poisonous or deleterious substance which may render it injurious to **human or animal** health. If the substance is not an added substance, the commercial feed shall not be considered adulterated under this Paragraph if the quantity of the substance in the commercial feed does not ordinarily render it injurious to health.

* * *

(6) If it is, or it bears or contains any new animal drug which is unsafe within the meaning of Section 512 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

(7) If it consists in whole or in part of any filthy, putrid, or decomposed substance, or if it is otherwise unfit for feed.

(8) If it is, in whole or in part, the product of a diseased animal or of an animal which has died otherwise than by slaughter which is unsafe within the meaning of Section 402(a)(1) or (2) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

~~(9)~~ If any valuable constituent has been in whole or part omitted or abstracted therefrom or any less valuable substance substituted therefor.

~~(7)~~**(10)** If its composition or quality falls below or differs from that which it is purported or is represented to possess by its labeling.

(11) If the manufacture, processing, packaging, distribution and use do not comply with the requirements of Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 507, Subparts A, B, C, E, and F, except when the commission determines these federal regulations are not appropriate to the conditions which exist in this state.

~~(8)~~**(12)** If it contains a drug, **as defined by the Act,** or antibiotic and the methods used in ~~or the facilities or controls used for its~~ manufacture, processing, or packaging, **or distribution and use** do not conform to good manufacturing practice regulations promulgated by the commission to assure that the drug meets the requirement of this Part as to safety and has the identity and strength and meets the quality and purity characteristics which it purports or is represented to possess. In promulgating such regulations, the commission shall adopt the good manufacturing practice regulations for **Type A medicated articles,** medicated feed premixes and ~~for~~ medicated feeds in accordance with the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and 21 CFR Parts 225 and ~~507 226,~~ except when the commission determines these federal regulations are not appropriate to the conditions which exist in this state.

~~(9)~~**(13)** If it contains viable or poisonous weed seeds in amounts exceeding the limits which the commission shall establish by rule or regulation.

* * *

§1398. Inspection, sampling, and analysis

A. For the purpose of enforcement of this Part and in order to determine whether its provisions have been complied with including whether or not an operation may be subject to such provisions, officers or employees duly designated by the commissioner upon presenting appropriate credentials to the owner, operator, employee in charge, are authorized to enter, during normal business hours, any premises within the state in which commercial feeds are manufactured, processed, packed, held for distribution, or sold or to enter any vehicle being used to commercially transport or hold such feeds; and to obtain official samples and to inspect at reasonable times and within reasonable limits and in a reasonable manner such premises or vehicle and all pertinent equipment, finished and unfinished materials, containers, and labeling thereof. The inspection may include the verification of such records and production and control procedures as may be necessary to determine compliance with the good manufacturing practice regulations for medicated feeds by regulation of the commission. **In promulgating such regulations, the commission may adopt the good manufacturing practice regulations in accordance with Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations Part 225, Part 226, and Part 507 Subparts A, B, C, E, and F, except when the commission determines these federal regulations are not appropriate to the conditions which exist in this state.** Each such inspection shall be commenced and completed with reasonable promptness. Upon completion of the inspection, the person in charge of the facility or vehicle shall be notified.

* * *

§1400. Deficiency assessments; enforcement

A. If a given lot or shipment of feed is found by official sample and analysis to be deficient in one or more of the guaranteed feeding units, a deficiency assessment of no less than ten dollars shall be assessed against the registrant with respect to the lot or shipment of feed in question in accordance with the following provisions:

* * *

(5) All other guarantees: A deficiency assessment, not to exceed ten percent of the purchase price of the feed, if the deficiency or excess, where applicable, is greater than the tolerances established by the commission by rule.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 102

SENATE BILL NO. 272
BY SENATOR EDMONDS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 17:3047.1(C) and 3047.4(C)(2) and to enact R.S. 17:3047.6(D), relative to the M.J. Foster Promise Program; to provide relative to appropriations for the program; to provide with respect to administrative rules; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 17:3047.1(C) and 3047.4(C)(2) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 17:3047.6(D) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§3047.1. Advisory council; membership; responsibilities

* * *

~~C. By January 1, 2022, and at least once every three years thereafter, the advisory council shall review the workforce priorities of the state and each of its workforce regions and designate qualified programs. The Louisiana Workforce Commission shall convene the advisory council annually for program updates. At least once every three years, the advisory council shall review the workforce priorities of the state and each of its workforce regions and designate qualified programs.~~

§3047.4. Funding

* * *

* * *

C.(1)

* * *

(2) State appropriations for the program shall not exceed ~~ten million five hundred thousand~~ **forty million** dollars per year for students enrolled in public postsecondary education institutions or proprietary schools.

* * *

§3047.6. Coordination with other agencies

* * *

D. Pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act, the Louisiana Office of Student Financial Assistance shall define the period of the year to which a student must attend an educational program in order to qualify under the provisions of this Chapter.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 103

SENATE BILL NO. 302
BY SENATOR CATHEY
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 32:365(B) and to enact R.S. 32:46, 47, 48, and 49, relative to issuing traffic violation citations in certain circumstances; to prohibit certain agencies from using automated speed enforcement devices or other similar devices to issue citations by mail; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 32:365(B) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 32:46, 47, 48, and 49 are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§46. Electronic enforcement devices; school zone restrictions

A. For the purposes of this Section “electronic enforcement devices” shall mean automated speed enforcement devices, red light traffic cameras, and mobile speed cameras used for the purpose of regulating and enforcing traffic violations in which citations are issued by mail.

B. Local municipal authorities and local parish authorities shall only operate electronic enforcement devices in a school zone on school days during the specified time periods when children are in school. Devices shall only be operated one hour before and one hour after the beginning of a school day and one hour before and one hour after the end of a school day.

C.(1) Revenue generated as a result of electronic enforcement devices in school zones shall be divided between the governing authority of the school where the traffic citation was issued and the municipality after the governing authority pays the contractor or vendor for the costs of providing the electronic enforcement devices and related services.

(2) A cooperative endeavor agreement executed by the municipality and each governing authority of the schools located within the municipality’s boundaries shall be in place prior to implementation of automated speed enforcement devices and mobile speed cameras.

(3) Revenue generated within Orleans Parish outside of a school zone shall only be used for the purposes of stormwater drainage infrastructure, maintenance, and improvements.

(4) Revenue generated as a result of electronic enforcement devices outside of a school zone shall only be used for public safety purposes.

D.(1) Any jurisdiction that submits a local match waiver for capital outlay shall disclose the amount of revenue collected from handheld traffic cameras. The failure to disclose the information required by this Subsection shall result

in any local match waiver being revoked.

(2) No local match waiver shall be revoked pursuant to this Subsection for any of the following type of capital outlay projects:

(a) Water system projects.

(b) Sewer system projects.

(c) Natural gas system projects.

§47. Use of hand-held speed recording devices; restrictions

A. Automated speed enforcement devices or mobile speed cameras pursuant to R.S. 32:43 and R.S. 32:45 that are handheld or manned, and issue a citation of an alleged violation by mail, shall only be used by local municipal authorities or local parish authorities in the following instances:

(1) The device or camera is being operated by a trained member of law or traffic enforcement that are sworn or POST-certified. Deputized agents, contractors, subcontractors of an agency, office, local municipality, local authority, or any political subdivision of this state are strictly prohibited from operating handheld or manned devices for the purpose of issuing a citation violation by mail.

(2) The device or camera is not within one half mile of a speed limit change of ten miles an hour or greater. This provision shall not apply to school zones.

(3) There are forty-eight inch by forty-eight inch signs, the bottom of which shall be at least seven feet from the ground, indicating a device or camera is present, no less than five hundred feet and no more than one thousand feet before the device or camera, in a manner as to be clearly visible to approaching traffic. The signs shall be bright yellow and shall read “Photo enforcement devices at use”.

(4)(a) If a device or camera is used while in an authorized vehicle, the authorized vehicle shall be clearly marked, as a law enforcement vehicle.

(b) If a device or camera is used by a traffic or law enforcement officer while not in a vehicle, the officer shall wear a reflective vest, clearly indicating he is law enforcement or that he is conducting speed enforcement measures.

B. Criminal fines or fees shall not be imposed as a result of handheld or manned devices for the purpose of issuing a citation violation by mail, nor shall failure to pay the citation result in reporting to any credit bureaus.

§48. Violations; administrative hearing

A. Each local municipal authority or local parish authority that installs or utilizes automated speed enforcement devices, red light cameras, or mobile speed cameras, in which a citation is issued by mail shall establish an administrative hearing process for a motorist to appeal the citation violation.

B. The administrative process shall include, at a minimum, the following:

(1) A written citation with a detailed description of the alleged violation.

(2) Ability to request an administrative hearing before a traffic adjudication hearing officer appointed by the local governing authority. The traffic adjudication hearing officer shall be an independent, third party who was not a participant in issuance of the violation.

(3) Clear notice with a minimum of fifteen days to respond.

(4) It shall be an affirmative defense to the imposition of civil liability pursuant to this Subpart when:

(a) The traffic-control signal was not in proper position and sufficiently legible to an ordinarily observant person.

(b) The operator of the vehicle was acting in compliance with the lawful order or direction of a law enforcement or public safety officer.

(c) The operator of the vehicle violated the instructions of the traffic-control signal so as to yield the right-of-way to an immediately approaching authorized emergency vehicle.

(d) The vehicle was being operated as an authorized emergency vehicle under R.S. 32:24, and the operator was acting in compliance with R.S. 32:24.

(e) At the time of the violation, the person who received the notice of violation was not the owner of the vehicle at the time of the violation or the vehicle was in the care, custody, and control of another person where the owner furnishes a truthful affidavit which provides that the vehicle at the time of the violation was not in his care, custody, or control or that he was not the owner of the vehicle.

(f) The presence of ice, snow, unusual amounts of rain, or other unusually hazardous road conditions existed that would make compliance with this Subpart more dangerous under the circumstances than noncompliance.

(g) At the time of the violation the vehicle was a stolen vehicle or the license plate displayed on the vehicle was a stolen plate, which must include proof acceptable to the hearing officer that the theft of the vehicle or license plate had been timely reported to the appropriate law enforcement agency.

(5) The hearing officer at any administrative adjudication hearing under this Subpart shall issue an order clearly stating the decision rendered.

(6) Ability to seek petition for judicial review within thirty days of an adverse decision rendered by the hearing officer.

(7) The issuance of a citation under this Subpart shall not be considered a criminal conviction.

(8) A civil penalty may not be imposed under this Subpart on the owner of a vehicle if the operator of the vehicle was arrested or was issued a citation and notice to appear by a law or public safety officer as a violation of R.S. 32:232 if the violation was captured by an electronic enforcement device.

§49. Citations

Citations issued for violations of R.S. 32:47 and 48 shall contain on the back of the citation an attestation wherein the driver who receives the violation can attest either at the time of the violation the person who received the notice of violation was not the owner of the vehicle or the vehicle was in the care, custody, and control of another at the time of the violation. The driver who receives the violation shall have the option to provide information on who was the owner or driver of the vehicle at the time of the violation, but shall not be required to do

so.

§365. Television

* * *
* * *

B.(1) Law enforcement officers of the state or any political subdivision thereof shall be authorized to operate video recording equipment and monitors in their law enforcement vehicles while in the performance of their duties. However, this provision shall not be construed to allow law enforcement officers to record vehicles in violation of traffic safety laws with citations for such violations to be mailed to the alleged violator at a later date.

(2) Agents, contractors, or subcontractors of an agency, office, local municipality, local authority, or any political subdivision of this state with the authority to enforce traffic regulations shall be strictly prohibited from using video recording equipment and monitors while in the performance of their duties for the purpose of monitoring, recording, and issuing a traffic citation by mail, except as required to provide the ministerial tasks of providing law enforcement with video evidence necessary for law enforcement to make a determination to issue a traffic citation.

Section 2. No local ordinance shall supersede the provisions of this Act unless such local ordinance specifically prohibits the use of electronic enforcement devices.

Section 3. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 104

SENATE BILL NO. 396
BY SENATOR MCMATH
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 37:155(A)(2), relative to architects; to provide relative to the State Board of Architectural Examiners; to provide for licensing and registration requirements; to provide for exemptions; to provide relative to terms, conditions, requirements, proceedings, and procedures; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 37:155(A)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§155. Exemptions

A. The provisions of this Chapter, except as provided in this Section, requiring persons to be registered and licensed and forbidding the practice of architecture by unlicensed persons shall not apply to:

* * *

(2)(a) Subject to the provisions of Subsection B of this Section, civil engineers licensed in accordance with the terms of R.S. 37:681 through 703 or acts amendatory thereto, if such engineers do not use the designation "architect" or any term derived therefrom, therefrom, working on a building included in the following occupancy classifications listed herein:

(i) For Factory Industrial and Storage, the total proposed occupant load shall be unlimited.

(ii) For High Hazard, the total proposed occupant load shall not exceed two hundred ninety-nine occupants. The occupant load shall be defined and determined by the method set forth in the currently enforced building code.

(iii) For Utility and Miscellaneous, the total proposed occupant load shall not exceed two hundred ninety-nine occupants. The occupant load shall be defined and determined by the method set forth in the currently enforced building code.

(b) The provisions of this Paragraph shall not apply to any civil engineer working on a building included in the following occupancy classifications: Mercantile, Residential, Educational, Institutional, Assembly, or Business.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 1, 2025.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 105

SENATE BILL NO. 445
BY SENATOR JACKSON-ANDREWS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Civil Procedure Art. 4843(E), relative to thresholds for certain actions; to provide for the amount in dispute when the civil jurisdiction is concurrent with the district court; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Civil Procedure Art. 4843(E) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 4843. City court jurisdiction; amount in dispute; injunctive actions by state or political subdivision

* * *

E. In the City Court of Bogalusa, the City Court of Bunkie, the City Court of Eunice, the City Court of Marksville, the City Court of Natchitoches, a city court in New Orleans, the City Court of Opelousas, the City Court of Port Allen, the City Court of Ville Platte, and the City Court of Winnsboro, **and the City Court of Bastrop**, the civil jurisdiction is concurrent with the district court in cases where the amount in dispute, or the value of the property involved, does not exceed twenty-five thousand dollars.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 106

SENATE BILL NO. 446
BY SENATOR ABRAHAM
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 48:250.4.2, relative to the Department of Transportation and Development and the I-10 Calcasieu River Bridge public-private partnership; to provide for the department's use of toll revenue and credits generated in connection with the I-10 Calcasieu River Bridge project; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 48:250.4.2 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§250.4.2. Use of toll revenue and credits; I-10 Calcasieu River Bridge public-private partnership

A. The Department of Transportation and Development shall use any revenue or credits generated in connection with the I-10 Calcasieu River Bridge public-private partnership, including windfall proceeds payments, distributions of toll revenue, and toll credits only as follows:

(1) To reduce toll rates on the I-10 Calcasieu River Bridge, including the reduction or elimination of any scheduled toll rate increase.

(2) To shorten the term of the I-10 Calcasieu River Bridge public-private partnership.

(3) To construct other eligible capital improvement projects within Allen Parish, Beauregard Parish, Calcasieu Parish, Cameron Parish, or Jefferson Davis Parish.

B. Any use of funds or credits generated in connection with the I-10 Calcasieu River Bridge public-private partnership shall conform to the provisions of the comprehensive agreement governing the partnership and all applicable laws.

C. Prior to using any revenue or credits generated in connection with the I-10 Calcasieu River Bridge public-private partnership, the secretary shall provide notice of the intended use and consult with the legislative delegations from Allen Parish, Beauregard Parish, Calcasieu Parish, Cameron Parish, and Jefferson Davis Parish, before seeking approval for the use of funds from the Joint Legislative Committee on Transportation, Highways, and Public Works.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 107

HOUSE BILL NO. 10
BY REPRESENTATIVE ILLG
AN ACT

To repeal R.S. 11:1671(B), relative to the District Attorneys' Retirement System; to provide for interest on accounts maintained by the board of trustees; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article X, Section 29(C) of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 11:1671(B) is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 108

HOUSE BILL NO. 26

BY REPRESENTATIVE BAMBURG
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Criminal Procedure Article 404(H), relative to jury commissions; to provide for the functions of the jury commission in the parish of Red River; to transfer the functions of the jury commission to the clerk of court of Red River Parish; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Criminal Procedure Article 404(H) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 404. Appointment of jury commissions; term of office; oath; quorum; performance of functions of jury commissions in certain parishes

* * *

H. In the parishes of Caldwell, Claiborne, DeSoto, Franklin, Red River, Union, and Webster, the function of the jury commission shall be performed by the clerks of court of Caldwell Parish, Claiborne Parish, DeSoto Parish, Franklin Parish, Red River Parish, Union Parish, and Webster Parish or by a deputy clerk of court designated by the respective clerk in writing to act in his stead in all matters affecting the jury commission. The clerk of court or his designated deputy shall have the same powers, duties, and responsibilities, and shall be governed by all applicable provisions of law pertaining to jury commissioners. The clerks of court of Caldwell Parish, Claiborne Parish, DeSoto Parish, Franklin Parish, Red River Parish, Union Parish, and Webster Parish shall perform the duties and responsibilities otherwise imposed upon him by law with respect to jury venires, shall coordinate the jury venire process, and shall receive the compensation generally authorized for a jury commissioner.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 109

HOUSE BILL NO. 31

BY REPRESENTATIVES FREIBERG, BACALA, BAYHAM, BOYD,
BRASS, CHASSION, COX, FISHER, HUGHES, JACKSON, LARVADAIN,
MCMAKIN, MILLER, MYERS, NEWELL, SELDERS, STAGNI, WALTERS,
WILLARD, WYBLE, AND YOUNG

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 11:927(A) and to enact R.S. 11:927(B)(4) and (F), 929(B)(2)(d), and 932, relative to the optional retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana; to provide for election to join the defined benefit plan; to provide for membership; to provide relative to administrative fees charged by the system; to provide relative to certain single-sum cash payments from the optional retirement plan; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article X, Section 29(C) of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 11:927(A) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 11:927(B) (4) and (F), 929(B)(2)(d), and 932 are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§927. Contributions

A. Each participant shall contribute monthly to the optional retirement plan the same amount which he would be required to contribute to the regular retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana if he were a member of that retirement plan. Participant contributions may be made by employer pick-up in accordance with the provisions of Section 414(h) (2) of the United States Internal Revenue Code or any amendment thereto. The entirety of each participant's contribution, less the participant's share of any monthly fee established by the board to cover the cost of administration and maintenance of the optional retirement plan, shall be remitted to the appropriate designated company or companies for application to the participant's contract or contracts.

B.

* * *

(4) Beginning July 1, 2026, in addition to any contributions otherwise required to be submitted to the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana pursuant to this Subsection, each employer shall contribute to the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana on behalf of each participant in the optional retirement plan the employer's share of any monthly fee established by the board to cover the cost of administration and maintenance of the optional retirement plan. The Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana shall retain the contribution to cover the cost of administration and maintenance of the optional retirement plan.

* * *

E(1) Any monthly fee established by the board to cover the cost of administration and maintenance of the optional retirement plan shall be expressed as a percentage of the participant's earnable compensation. The participant's share of the monthly fee shall be the lesser of:

(a) One-half of the total monthly fee.

(b) Five-hundredths of one percent of the participant's earnable compensation.

(2) The employer's share of the monthly fee shall be the balance remaining after payment of the participant's share.

THE ADVOCATE
PAGE 40

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

* * *
§929. Benefits not obligation of the state; payment of benefits; eligibility in other plans

* * *

B.

* * *

(2) The Board of Trustees of the Teachers' Retirement System may approve the following single-sum cash payments:

* * *

(d) Annual disbursements in an amount sufficient to satisfy federal required minimum distributions.

* * *

§932. Regular plan membership; irrevocable election

A.(1) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, any active contributing participant in the optional retirement plan on June 30, 2024, whose first employment making him eligible for participation in the optional retirement plan occurred on or before July 31, 2020, and who, notwithstanding participation in the optional retirement plan, is otherwise eligible for membership in the regular retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana may make an irrevocable election to become a member of the regular retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana. The election shall be made in writing in a manner prescribed by the system and received by the system on or before June 30, 2025.

(2) For a participant whose election is received by the system on or before December 31, 2024, all contributions to the optional retirement plan from a participant making the election and from his employer shall cease on January 31, 2025. Beginning February 1, 2025, the participant shall begin contributing to and accruing benefits in the regular retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana as a member first eligible for membership in a state system on that date. The person's employing agency shall pay the system the contributions required pursuant to R.S. 11:102.

(3) For a participant whose election is received by the system on or after January 1, 2025, all contributions to the optional retirement plan from the participant and from his employer shall cease on the last day of the month following the month in which the system receives the election. Beginning on the first day of the following month, the participant shall begin contributing to and accruing benefits in the regular retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana as a member first eligible for membership in the state system on that date. The person's employing agency shall pay the system the contributions required pursuant to R.S. 11:102.

B.(1) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, any active contributing participant in the optional retirement plan whose first employment making him eligible for participation in the optional retirement plan occurred on or after August 1, 2020, and who, notwithstanding participation in the optional retirement plan, is otherwise eligible for membership in the regular retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana may make an irrevocable election to become a member of the regular retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana. The election shall be made in writing in a manner prescribed by the system and shall be received by the retirement system within five years of the participant's first employment making him eligible for participation in the optional retirement plan.

(2) For a participant making the election, all contributions to the optional retirement plan from the participant and from his employer shall cease on the last day of the month following the month in which the system receives the election. Beginning on the first day of the following month, the participant shall begin contributing to and accruing benefits in the regular retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana as a member first eligible for membership in a state system on that date. The person's employing agency shall pay the system the contributions required to R.S. 11:102.

C. Any and all distributions from the optional retirement plan to a participant who made the election provided for in this Section shall be in accordance with R.S. 11:929.

D. If any participant making an election to become a member of the regular retirement plan of the Teachers' Retirement System of Louisiana has, at the time of such election, prior service in the regular retirement plan, the prior service shall be used for calculation of benefits only and shall not be used to attain eligibility for any purpose, including but not limited to retirement, disability, or survivor benefits.

Section 2. The cost of this Act, if any, shall be funded with additional employer contributions in compliance with Article X, Section 29(F) of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Section 3. This Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on June 30, 2024, or on the day following such approval by the legislature, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 110

HOUSE BILL NO. 204

BY REPRESENTATIVES TURNER AND CHASSION

CODING: Words in ~~struck through~~ type are deletions from existing law; words underlined (House Bills) and underscoring and **boldfaced** (Senate Bills) are additions.

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 40:964(Schedule I)(F)(5), (6), and (26) and to enact R.S. 40:964(Schedule I)(A)(101) through (105), (C)(69) through (72), (D)(8) through (10), and (F)(30) and (Schedule IV)(B)(59), relative to naming language and the composition of various schedules of controlled substances; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 40:964(Schedule I)(F)(5), (6), and (26) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 40:964(Schedule I)(A)(101) through (105), (C)(69) through (72), (D)(8) through (10), and (F)(30) and (Schedule IV)(B)(59) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§964. Composition of schedules

Schedules I, II, III, IV, and V shall, unless and until added pursuant to R.S. 40:962, consist of the following drugs or other substances, by whatever official name, common or usual name, chemical name, or brand name designated:

SCHEDULE I

A. Opiates. Unless specifically excepted or unless listed in another schedule, any of the following opiates, including their isomers, esters, ethers, salts, or salts of isomers, esters, and ethers, whenever the existence of such isomers, esters, ethers, or salts is possible within the specific chemical designation:

* * *

- (101) 2',5'-dimethoxyfentanyl (N-(1-(2,5-dimethoxyphenethyl)piperidine-4-yl)-N-phenylpropionamide)
(102) alpha'-methyl butyryl fentanyl (2-methyl-N-(1-phenethylpiperidin-4-yl)-N-phenylbutanamide)
(103) para-methoxyfuranyl fentanyl (N-(4-methoxyphenyl)-N-(1-phenethylpiperidin-4-yl)furan-2-carboxamide)
(104) para-methylcyclopropyl fentanyl (N-(4-methylphenyl)-N-(1-phenethylpiperidin-4-yl)cyclopropanecarboxamide)
(105) 2-Methyl AP-237 (1-(2-methyl-4-(3-phenylprop-2-en-1-yl)piperazin-1-yl)butan-1-one)

* * *

C. Hallucinogenic substances. Unless specifically excepted or unless listed in another schedule, any material, compound, mixture, or preparation, which contains any quantity of the following hallucinogenic substances, or which contains any of their salts, isomers, or salts of isomers, whenever the existence of such salts, isomers, or salts of isomers is possible within the specific chemical designation, for purposes of this Subsection only, the term "isomer" includes the optical, position, and geometric isomers:

* * *

- (69) 4-chloro-2,5-dimethoxyamphetamine
(70) 4-iodo-2,5-dimethoxyamphetamine
(71) 5-methoxy-alpha-methyltryptamine (5-MEO-AMT)
(72) 5-methoxy-N,N-diethyltryptamine (5-MEO-DET)

D. Depressants. Unless specifically excepted or unless listed in another schedule, any material, compound, mixture, or preparation which contains any quantity of the following substances having a depressant effect on the central nervous system, including its salts, isomers, and salts of isomers whenever the existence of such salts, isomers, and salts of isomers is possible within the specific chemical designation:

* * *

- (8) Diclazepam
(9) Flubromazolam
(10) Bromazolam

* * *

F. Synthetic cannabinoids. Unless specifically excepted, or contained within a pharmaceutical product approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration, or unless listed in another schedule, any material, compound, mixture, or preparation which contains any quantity of a synthetic cannabinoid found to be in any of the following individual compounds or chemical groups, or any of those individual compounds or groups which contain any synthetic cannabinoid salts, isomers, salts of isomers, or nitrogen-heterocyclic analogs, whenever the existence of such salts, isomers, salts of isomers, or nitrogen-heterocyclic analogs is possible within the specific compounds or chemical groups:

* * *

(5) Butaldehydeamidoindoles: Any compound containing a N-(1-oxobutan-2yl)-1H-indole-3-carboxamide structure, with or without substitution on the indole ring by an alkyl, haloalkyl, cyanoalkyl, alkoxy, aryl, aryl halide, arylalkylhalide, alkylarylhalide, cycloalkylmethyl, cycloalkylethyl, alkenyl, haloalkenyl, aliphatic alcohol, hydroxyl, halide, morpholinoethyl, alkylmorpholinomethyl, alkylpiperidinylmethyl or a tetrahydropyranylmethyl group, whether or not further substituted on the butaldehyde group to any extent.

(6) Cumylindolecarboxamides: Any compound containing a N-(2-phenylpropane-2-yl)-1H-indole-3-carboxamide structure, with or without substitution on the indole ring by an alkyl, haloalkyl, cyanoalkyl, alkoxy, aryl, aryl halide, arylalkylhalide, alkylarylhalide, cycloalkylmethyl, cycloalkylethyl, alkenyl, haloalkenyl, aliphatic alcohol, hydroxyl, halide, morpholinoethyl, alkylmorpholinomethyl, alkylpiperidinylmethyl or a tetrahydropyranylmethyl group, whether or not further substituted on the phenyl group to any extent.

* * *

(26) Phenylpropionaldehydeamidoindoles: Any compound containing a N-(1-oxo-3-phenylpropan-2yl)-1H-indole-3-carboxamide structure, with or

without substitution on the indole ring by an alkyl, haloalkyl, cyanoalkyl, alkoxy, aryl, aryl halide, arylalkylhalide, alkylarylhalide, cycloalkylmethyl, cycloalkylethyl, alkenyl, haloalkenyl, aliphatic alcohol, hydroxyl, halide, morpholinoethyl, alkylmorpholinomethyl, alkylpiperidinylmethyl or a tetrahydropyranylmethyl group, whether or not further substituted on the phenylpropionaldehyde group to any extent.

* * *

(30) 5-Pentyl-2-(2-phenylpropan-2-yl)pyrido[4,3-b]indole-1-one [Cumyl-Pegaclone; SGT-151]

* * *

SCHEDULE IV

* * *

B. Depressants. Unless specifically excepted or unless listed in another schedule, any material, compound, mixture, or preparation containing any quantity of the following substances, including its salts, isomers, and salts of isomers, whenever the existence of such salts, isomers, and salts of isomers is possible within the specific chemical designation:

* * *

(59) Zuranolone

* * *

Section 2. The Louisiana State Law Institute is hereby authorized and directed to renumber the new entries to ensure that the substances are in alphabetical order.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry Secretary of State

ACT No. 111

HOUSE BILL NO. 257

BY REPRESENTATIVE MANDIE LANDRY

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 22:1995(A), relative to directives of the commissioner of insurance; to provide relative to consumer complaint directives; to provide timeframes for compliance; to provide for penalties; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:1995(A) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1995. Departmental complaint directives; failure to comply; fines; hearing A. Any person subject to the regulatory authority of the commissioner who fails to comply with any directive issued by the commissioner in connection with a consumer complaint may be fined an amount not to exceed two hundred fifty dollars for each occurrence. If the person fails to comply within thirty days of the date of the directive, he may be fined an amount not to exceed two hundred fifty dollars. If the person fails to comply within sixty days of the date of the directive, he may be fined an amount not to exceed five hundred dollars. If the person fails to comply within seventy-five days of the date of the directive, he may be fined an amount not to exceed one thousand dollars.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry Secretary of State

ACT No. 112

HOUSE BILL NO. 464

BY REPRESENTATIVE MIKE JOHNSON

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 15:255(Z), relative to witness fees; to provide relative to witness fees in the city of Pineville; to provide for the transfer of certain surplus witness fees; to provide for certain limitations and requirements; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 15:255(Z) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§255. Witness fees to off-duty law enforcement officers

* * *

Z. Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, the city of Pineville may adopt an ordinance which provides that on January first of each year, the amount of money in the witness fee fund for the City Court of Pineville which exceeds fifteen thousand dollars shall be transferred to the general fund of the city of Pineville to be used solely for the Community Affairs Division of the police department for crime suppression. The balance in the witness fee fund shall not be expended or encumbered and shall not be reduced below fifteen thousand dollars as a result of a transfer pursuant to the provisions of this Subsection.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry Secretary of State

ACT No. 113

HOUSE BILL NO. 520
BY REPRESENTATIVE FIRMENT
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 22:1964(14)(q), relative to unfair and deceptive acts and practices in the business of insurance; to provide relative to reports of adjusters; to provide relative to disclosure of certain repair estimates; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:1964(14)(q) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1964. Methods, acts, and practices which are defined as unfair or deceptive. The following are declared to be unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the business of insurance:

(14) Unfair claims settlement practices. Committing or performing with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice any of the following:

(q) Failing to make available, upon the written request of an insured, the original field adjuster's repair estimate, and if the estimate was revised, failing to identify the person who made the revisions.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 114

HOUSE BILL NO. 559
BY REPRESENTATIVE ZERINGUE
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 56:3007(E), relative to waterfowl hunting licenses; to allocate revenues collected from waterfowl hunting licenses to the Louisiana Duck License, Stamp, and Print Fund; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 56:3007(E) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§3007. Dedication of license revenue

E. ~~An amount equal to ten dollars~~ All funds from the sale of each waterfowl hunting license shall be deposited to the Louisiana Duck License, Stamp, and Print Fund.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 115

HOUSE BILL NO. 600
BY REPRESENTATIVES CARPENTER, BOYD, WILFORD CARTER,
CHASSION, DEWITT, FREIBERG, GREEN, MIKE JOHNSON, KNOX,
LAFLEUR, LARVADAIN, MARCELLE, MOORE, NEWELL, PHELPS,
SELDERS, STAGNI, TAYLOR, AND WALTERS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 17:500.2(F), 1202(F), and 1206.2(F), relative to sick leave banks for school employees; to authorize employees to donate leave directly to other employees; to require a certain percentage of leave balances to be retained in sick banks; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 17:500.2(F), 1202(F), and 1206.2(F) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§500.2. School bus operators; extended sick leave

F.(1) Each city, parish, and other local public school board shall develop and implement a sick leave bank policy to allow for the donation of sick leave among school bus operators.

(2) A school bus operator may donate sick leave directly to another school bus operator in an amount not to exceed one-half of the donating bus operator's accumulated leave as calculated at the beginning of the school year.

(3) At least ninety percent of the leave balance in the bank shall be retained in the bank from one school year to the next.

§1202. Teachers; extended sick leave

F.(1) Each city, parish, and other local public school board shall develop and implement a sick leave bank policy to allow for the donation of sick leave among teachers.

(2) A teacher may donate sick leave directly to another teacher in an amount not to exceed one-half of the donating teacher's accumulated leave as calculated at the beginning of the school year.

(3) At least ninety percent of the leave balance in the bank shall be retained in the bank from one school year to the next.

§1206.2. Employees; extended sick leave

F.(1) Each city, parish, and other local public school board shall develop and implement a sick leave bank policy to allow for the donation of sick leave among employees.

(2) An employee may donate sick leave directly to another employee in an amount not to exceed one-half of the donating employee's accumulated leave as calculated at the beginning of the school year.

(3) At least ninety percent of the leave balance in the bank shall be retained in the bank from one school year to the next.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 116

HOUSE BILL NO. 601
BY REPRESENTATIVES CARPENTER, ADAMS, BRYANT, CARRIER,
WILFORD CARTER, CHASSION, DOMANGUE, FISHER, FONTENOT,
JACKSON, MIKE JOHNSON, KNOX, MARCELLE, NEWELL, PHELPS,
SELDERS, TAYLOR, AND WALTERS
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 17:8.1(F), relative to teachers; to authorize the principal of each public school to notify parents upon a child's assignment to the classroom of a temporary, uncertified teacher or a teacher who has a nonstandard teaching certificate or has been granted authorization to teach; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 17:8.1(F) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§8.1. Certification of teachers; parental notification

F. The principal of each public school may notify the parents of any child assigned to the classroom of a temporary, uncertified teacher that the teacher is not certified; the teacher has a nonstandard teaching certificate and, if so, what type of certificate; or the teacher has been granted authorization to teach without certification.

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 117

HOUSE BILL NO. 746
BY REPRESENTATIVES MCMAHEN, BACALA, BAGLEY, FISHER,
HORTON, JACKSON, MIKE JOHNSON, TAYLOR, AND WALTERS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 13:5554.1(B)(introductory paragraph), (C)(2), (D), and (E), relative to the Bossier Parish Retired Employees Insurance Fund; to provide relative to eligible retired sheriffs and retired deputy sheriffs; to increase the total amount of principal and earnings in the Bossier Parish Retired Employees Insurance Fund; to provide relative to limitations on fixed income investments; to provide relative to limitations on withdrawal and appropriation of monies; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:5554.1(B)(introductory paragraph), (C)(2), (D), and (E) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§5554.1. Bossier Parish; payment of group insurance premiums; retired sheriffs and deputy sheriffs; creation of fund

B. The following monies shall be deposited into the BREIF until the total amount of the monies including principal and earnings in the BREIF equals the sum of ~~ten~~ fifteen million dollars:

C. Upon recommendation of the board established in Subsection G of this Section, the sheriff of Bossier Parish shall invest the monies in the BREIF as follows:

(2) At least twenty-five percent in fixed income investments, provided that a minimum of ~~twenty-five~~ seventy-five percent of the fixed income portion is rated as investment grade by a nationally recognized rating agency.

D. The earnings realized on the monies invested pursuant to Subsection C of this Section shall be available for the sheriff to withdraw for the sole purpose of paying the insurance premium costs provided in R.S. 13:5554(G) for retired sheriffs and retired deputy sheriffs of Bossier Parish, legal representation costs for the BREIF Board, or both, provided that no such earnings shall be withdrawn until the amount of principal and accumulated earnings in the BREIF is equal to the sum of ~~ten~~ fifteen million dollars. In the event that the total amount of monies derived from deposits provided in Subsection

B of this Section and investment earnings fall below the sum of ten fifteen million dollars, no earnings shall be withdrawn, and any balance owed for the payment of insurance premium costs as required by R.S. 13:5554(G) or legal representation costs for the BREIF Board shall be paid in full from the sheriff's general fund.

E. The monies deposited pursuant to Subsection B of this Section and the accumulated earnings up to a total of ten fifteen million dollars shall not be appropriated and shall only be used for making ~~income-producing~~ investments as provided in this Section.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 118

HOUSE BILL NO. 938
BY REPRESENTATIVE ADAMS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 47:463.73(G), relative to special prestige license plates; to provide for the "Baker High School" and the "East Feliciana High School" special prestige license plates; to provide for creation and application of existing issuance, design, fees, distributions, and rule promulgation applicable to license plates; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 47:463.73(G) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§463.73. Special prestige license ~~plate~~ plates; Louisiana parochial, public, and private high schools

* * *

G. The secretary shall establish special prestige license plates for Archbishop Hannan High School, Jesuit High School, Mount Carmel Academy, the Academy of the Sacred Heart, Saint Katharine Drexel Preparatory School, Acadiana High School, Baker High School, East Feliciana High School, Glen Oaks High School, Neville High School, Carroll High School, Brusly High School, Port Allen High School, Covington High School, Scotlandville Magnet High School, St. Michael the Archangel High School, St. Mary's Dominican High School, St. Paul's School, St. Scholastica Academy, St. Mary's Academy, and any other parochial, public, or private Louisiana high school in accordance with the provisions of this Section as it was enacted.

Section 2. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the secretary shall work in conjunction with Baker High School and East Feliciana High School or their designees to select the color and design of the plates, provided they are in compliance with R.S. 47:463(A)(3). The design for the Baker High School specialty plate shall include the words "Baker High School Buffaloes". Additionally, the design for the East Feliciana High School specialty plate shall include the words "East Feliciana High School Tigers".

Approved by the Governor, May 21, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 119

SENATE BILL NO. 34
BY SENATORS HENSGENS, ABRAHAM, KLEINPETER AND MIGUEZ
AND REPRESENTATIVE THOMPSON
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:64.4 and 65(A), relative to robbery; to provide relative to simple and second degree robbery; to provide relative to organized robbery from a retail establishment; to provide relative to penalties; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:64.4 and 65(A) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§64.4. Second degree robbery

A. **Second degree robbery is either of the following:**

(1) ~~Second degree robbery is the~~ **The** taking of anything of value belonging to another from the person of another or that is in the immediate control of another when the offender intentionally inflicts serious bodily injury.

(2) ~~Repealed by Acts 2019, No. 2, §3, eff. August 1, 2019~~ **The taking of, or the recruiting of another person who takes, anything of value from a retail establishment that is in the immediate control of a retail employee or employer when a person acts in concert with three or more individuals for the purpose of either overwhelming the response of an employer, an employee, or law enforcement to carry out the offense, avoid detection or apprehension, or create a reasonable belief that a reasonable person would not intercede because of fear.**

B.(1) Whoever commits the crime of second degree robbery shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not less than three years and for not more than forty years.

(2) Upon a second or subsequent conviction within ten years of a previous conviction, the offender shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not less than five years and not more than forty years.

(3) Any person who commits second degree robbery with a firearm shall be imprisoned at hard labor for an additional period of five years without benefit of parole, probation, or suspension of sentence. The additional penalty imposed pursuant to this Paragraph shall be served consecutively to the sentence imposed under this Subsection.

§65. Simple robbery

A. Simple robbery is either of the following:

(1) ~~The~~ **the** taking of anything of value belonging to another from the person of another or that is in the immediate control of another, by use of force or intimidation, but not armed with a dangerous weapon.

(2) ~~The taking of anything of value when a person is part of a group of three or more individuals and the person has the intent to take anything of value from a retail establishment that is in the immediate control of a retail employee or employer and there is a reasonable belief that a reasonable person would not intercede because of fear.~~

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 120

SENATE BILL NO. 44

BY SENATORS MCMATH, ABRAHAM, ALLAIN, BARROW, BASS, BOUDREAUX, BOUIE, CARTER, CATHEY, CLOUD, CONNICK, COUSSAN, DUPLESSIS, EDMONDS, FESI, FIELDS, HARRIS, HENRY, JACKSON-ANDREWS, KLEINPETER, LUNEAU, MILLER, MIZELL, MORRIS, OWEN, PRESSLY, REESE, SEABAUGH, STINE, TALBOT, WHEAT AND WOMACK AND REPRESENTATIVES BERAULT, CARRIER, CARVER, COX, FISHER, GLORIOSO, ILLG, MIKE JOHNSON, LARVADAIN, TURNER AND WILDER

AN ACT

To provide relative to state highways; to designate a portion of U.S. Route 11 Maestri Bridge in St. Tammany Parish as the "Jimmy Buffett 'Changes in Latitude' Memorial Crossing"; to provide for location and placement of signage; to provide for restrictions on costs of materials to the department; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the northern bascule of U.S. Route 11 Maestri Bridge in St. Tammany Parish, which connects Slidell and New Orleans across Lake Pontchartrain, is hereby designated as the "Jimmy Buffett 'Changes in Latitude' Memorial Crossing".

Section 2. (A) The Department of Transportation and Development is hereby directed to erect and maintain appropriate signs of this designation provided local or private monies are received by the department equal to the department's actual costs for material, fabrication, mounting posts, and installation of each sign, not to exceed the sum of five hundred fifty dollars per sign.

(B) The signage provided for by this Act shall be placed on the bridge near the approach to the northern bascule span service building and, to the extent that sufficient additional local or private monies are received, shall be placed on the sides of the northern bascule pier opposite the service building for visibility to crossing watercraft.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 121

SENATE BILL NO. 46

BY SENATORS MCMATH, BASS, BOUDREAUX, CLOUD, EDMONDS, HENRY, JACKSON-ANDREWS, JENKINS, LUNEAU, MILLER, MIZELL, OWEN, PRICE, SEABAUGH, STINE, TALBOT AND WOMACK AND REPRESENTATIVES AMEDEE, BERAULT, BILLINGS, BUTLER, CARRIER, CARVER, CHASSION, COX, DEVILLIER, DICKERSON, EDMONSTON, EGAN, FISHER, FREEMAN, FREIBERG, HUGHES, JACKSON, MIKE JOHNSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON, KNOX, LAFLEUR, MANDIE LANDRY, LARVADAIN, MCMAKIN, MELERINE, OWEN, SCHAMERHORN, SELDERS, STAGNI, TAYLOR, THOMPSON, WILLARD, WYBLE AND ZERINGUE

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 36:259(B)(20) and R.S. 40:2018.8, relative to the Alzheimer's and Related Dementias Advisory Council; to create the Alzheimer's and Related Dementias Advisory Council; to provide for composition of the council; to provide for duties of the council; to provide for effectiveness; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 36:259(B)(20) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§259. Transfer of agencies and functions to Louisiana Department of Health

* * *

B. The following agencies are placed within the Louisiana Department of Health and shall exercise and perform their powers, duties, functions, and responsibilities as otherwise provided by law:

(20) Alzheimer's and Related Dementias Advisory Council (R.S. 40:2018.8).

Section 2. R.S. 40:2018.8 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§2018.8. Alzheimer's and Related Dementias Advisory Council; composition; purpose

A. There is hereby established within the Louisiana Department of Health, the Louisiana Alzheimer's and Related Dementias Advisory Council, referred to in this Section as the "council".

B. The council shall consist of the following twenty-two members:

(1) A person with Alzheimer's disease or related dementia appointed by the governor. If the governor is unable to identify a person with Alzheimer's disease or related dementia, the governor shall appoint a second caregiver of a person with Alzheimer's disease or related dementia.

(2) A caregiver of a person with Alzheimer's disease or related dementia appointed by the governor.

(3) A representative of the nursing facility industry appointed by the governor.

(4) A representative of the assisted living industry appointed by the governor.

(5) A representative of the adult day services industry appointed by the governor.

(6) A physician specializing in neurology or geriatric care appointed by the governor.

(7) A representative from the rural health community appointed by the governor.

(8) A representative from an organization representing senior citizens appointed by the governor.

(9) A representative of the governor's office of elderly affairs Louisiana Ombudsman Program appointed by the governor.

(10) The executive director of the Alzheimer's Association, Louisiana Chapter or his designee.

(11) The assistant secretary of the office of behavioral health or his designee.

(12) The assistant secretary of the office of aging and adult services or his designee.

(13) The assistant secretary of the office of public health or his designee.

(14) The assistant secretary of the office of citizens with developmental disabilities or his designee.

(15) The Medicaid executive director or his designee.

(16) The executive director of the governor's office of elderly affairs or his designee.

(17) The secretary of the Louisiana Department of Veterans Affairs or his designee.

(18) The executive director of the Louisiana Commission on Law Enforcement or his designee.

(19) The executive director of the Louisiana Workforce Commission or his designee.

(20) A representative from the home health industry who has experience with dementia.

(21) Two representatives from academic research institutions in Louisiana that conduct dementia disease research appointed by the governor.

C. Members of the council shall serve four-year terms, concurrent with the term of the governor. Members are eligible for reappointment. Any designee shall serve at the pleasure of the designating authority.

D. Council members shall not receive compensation or a per diem for their services or attendance at council meetings, except for those travel-related expenses already provided for by their agency.

E. The chairman shall be elected by the council for a term to be determined by the council. No member shall serve more than two consecutive terms as chairman.

F. The council may establish subcommittees and appoint persons outside of the council to these bodies as it considers necessary and appropriate to carry out its duties.

G. The council shall hold its initial meeting no later than November 1, 2024. The council shall meet at least quarterly each calendar year and at any other times as it considers necessary.

H. The Louisiana Department of Health shall provide support for the council, including staff, facilities, and resources to facilitate remote participation in meetings to the extent authorized by law.

I. The council shall do all of the following:

(1) Conduct a review and assessment of the current status of Alzheimer's disease and other forms of dementia in this state, including:

(a) Trends in the state's Alzheimer's population and needs, including the changing population with dementia.

(b) Existing policies regarding dementia.

(c) Program utilization among people living with dementia.

(2) Submit a summary of the findings of the review and assessment to the Louisiana Department of Health.

(3) Review the existing five-year statewide plan to address Alzheimer's disease and related dementias prepared by the Louisiana Department of Health.

(4) Submit recommendations to the Louisiana Department of Health on revisions to the five-year statewide plan and recommendations on implementation of initiatives to address Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. The recommendations shall address topics, including but not limited to all of the following:

(a) Gaps identified in the review and assessment.

(b) Access to care, support, and treatment.

(c) Quality of care for people living with dementia.

(d) Risk reduction, early detection, and diagnosis.

(e) Coordinated statewide response to Alzheimer's disease and related dementias.

J. The Louisiana Department of Health shall consider all recommendations from the council and shall update the five-year statewide plan. The Louisiana Department of Health, on behalf of the council, shall submit the updated five-year statewide plan to the governor and the legislature every five years.

K. The council shall submit an annual written report on the progress of the five-year statewide plan to the governor and the legislature no later than November first of each year.

Section 3. The recommendations from the Alzheimer's and Related Dementias Advisory Council on the five-year statewide plan, the implementation of initiatives to address Alzheimer's disease and related dementias, and the summary of findings of the review and assessment on the current status of Alzheimer's disease required as enacted by Section 1 of this Act shall be submitted no later than July 1, 2025.

Section 4. The first updated five-year statewide plan to address Alzheimer's disease and related dementias required as enacted by Section 1 of this Act shall be submitted no later than December 31, 2025.

Section 5. The first annual written report on the progress of the five-year statewide plan required as enacted by Section 1 of this Act shall be submitted no later than November 1, 2026.

Section 6. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 122

SENATE BILL NO. 55
BY SENATORS CARTER, BOUDREAUX, HODGES, JACKSON-ANDREWS
AND LUNEAU AND REPRESENTATIVE CHASSION
AN ACT

To enact Part XII-A of Chapter 5-B of Title 40 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, to be comprised of R.S. 40:1124.1, relative to post-birth information; to require certain information to be provided upon discharge; to provide for the requirements of the Louisiana Department of Health; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Part XII-A of Chapter 5-B of Title 40 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, comprised of R.S. 40:1124.1, is hereby enacted to read as follows:

PART XII-A. PERINATAL PHYSICAL HEALTH POLICY

§1124.1. Discharge information; hospital and birthing center requirements

A. All hospitals and birthing centers that provide labor and delivery services shall, prior to discharge following birth, provide the mother and her family members information about post-birth warning signs, including symptoms and available resources.

B. The Louisiana Department of Health shall make the information available to hospitals and birthing centers and shall include the information on the department's website.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 123

SENATE BILL NO. 61
BY SENATOR FOIL (On Recommendation of the Louisiana State Law
Institute)
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Section 12 of Chapter 1 of Title VIII of Book I of the Civil Code, comprised of Arts. 354 through 362, relative to continuing tutorship; to provide for full continuing tutorship; to provide for limited continuing tutorship; to provide procedures; to provide for the petition; to provide for the contents of the decree; to provide for the authority of the tutor and undertutor; to provide for termination; to provide for legal capacity; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Section 12 of Chapter 1 of Title VIII of Book I of the Civil Code, comprised of Arts. 354 through 362, is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

SECTION 12 - OF CONTINUING OR PERMANENT TUTORSHIP OF PERSONS WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES

Art. 354. Procedure for placing ~~Placing~~ under ~~continuing~~ **Placing** under **continuing** tutorship ~~Persons, including certain Certain~~ children; with ~~intellectual~~ disabilities or ~~mental deficiencies~~ may be placed under ~~full or limited~~ **full or limited** continuing or ~~permanent~~ **permanent** tutorship without formal or complete interdiction in accordance with the following rules and the procedures stated in the Louisiana provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure.

Revision Comments – 2024

(a) This revision changes the law to provide for the possibility of a limited continuing tutorship for an unemancipated minor and to mirror the law of interdiction, which provides for the possibility of both full and limited interdiction for emancipated minors and persons over the age of majority. Where the unemancipated minor who is a candidate for continuing tutorship has an intellectual or adaptive functioning level that renders him consistently able to make reasoned decisions regarding some but not all matters, a limited continuing tutorship may be appropriate.

(b) This revision changes the nomenclature to refer only to “continuing” tutorship. Previously, the phrases “continuing tutorship” and “permanent tutorship” were used interchangeably. This revision suppresses the use of the phrase “permanent tutorship” to promote accuracy and to avoid superfluity.

Art. 355. Petition for ~~full or limited~~ continuing or ~~permanent~~ **full or limited** continuing or **permanent** tutorship

When a person ~~an unemancipated minor~~ above the age of fifteen possesses less than two-thirds of the intellectual or ~~adaptive~~ **adaptive** functioning of a person of the same age with average intellectual or ~~adaptive~~ **adaptive** functioning, evidenced by standard testing procedures administered by competent persons or other relevant evidence acceptable to the court, the parents of such person ~~the minor~~, or the person entitled to custody or tutorship ~~of the minor~~ if one or both parents are dead, incapacitated, or absent persons; or if the parents are judicially separated or divorced or have never been married to each other, may, with the written concurrence of the coroner of the parish of the ~~intellectually disabled person’s minor’s~~ domicile, petition the court of that district to place such person ~~the minor~~ under a **full or limited** continuing tutorship which ~~that~~ shall not automatically end at any age but shall continue until revoked by the court of domicile. The petitioner shall not bear the coroner’s costs or fees associated with securing the coroner’s concurrence.

Revision Comments – 2024

(a) This revision changes the standard for placing a person under continuing tutorship to allow the court to consider either intellectual or adaptive functioning. Prior law did not allow children functioning at very low levels in the areas of communication, daily living skills, and socialization to be placed under continuing tutorship if their intellectual functioning was near average. This revision permits broader considerations of disability, including, for example, adaptive functioning under the Vineland-3 Adaptive Behavior Scales.

(b) This revision also clarifies that continuing tutorship may be sought only for persons between the ages of fifteen and eighteen. Once a person reaches the age of majority, Louisiana’s law of interdiction applies. See, e.g., Civil Code Article 389 et seq.

Art. 356. Title of proceedings; procedural rules; parent to be named tutor

The title of the proceedings shall be Continuing Tutorship of (Name of Person), A Person with ~~an Intellectual a~~ **an Intellectual a** Disability.

(1) When the person to be placed under the continuing tutorship is above the age of fifteen, and under the age of majority, ~~and~~ the proceeding shall be conducted according to the procedural rules established for ordinary tutorships.

(2) When the person to be placed under the continuing tutorship is above the age of majority, the proceeding shall be conducted according to the procedural rules established for interdictions.

(3) When the parents of the person to be placed under the ~~a full or limited~~ **a full or limited** continuing tutorship are married to each other and petition jointly, the court shall appoint the parents as co-tutors, unless for good cause the court decrees otherwise.

(4) When the parents of the person to be placed under the ~~a full or limited~~ **a full or limited** continuing tutorship are married to each other but do not petition jointly, the court shall appoint either a petitioning parent as tutor or both individually petitioning parents as co-tutors, in accordance with the best interest of the child.

(5) Upon the petition of a parent of the person to be placed under the ~~full or limited~~ **full or limited** continuing tutorship, the court shall, unless good cause requires otherwise, appoint as tutor the petitioning parent who is:

(a) The surviving parent, if one parent is dead.

(b) The parent awarded custody ~~during minority~~ of the person ~~child~~ to be placed under the ~~full or limited~~ **full or limited** continuing tutorship, if the parents are divorced or judicially separated.

(c) The parent who ~~was is~~ tutor or tutrix ~~during minority~~, if the parents were never married to each other.

Art. 357. Decree; place of recording; notice

If the prayer for ~~full or limited~~ **full or limited** continuing or ~~permanent~~ **permanent** tutorship ~~be~~ **is** granted, the decree shall be recorded in the conveyance and mortgage records of the parish of the minor’s domicile, and of any future domicile, and in ~~such~~ other parishes as may be deemed expedient. The decree shall not be effective as to persons without notice thereof outside of the parishes in which it is recorded.

Art. 358. Authority; ~~Full continuing tutorship; authority; privileges; and duties of tutor and undertutor; termination of tutorship~~ **Full continuing tutorship; authority; privileges; and duties of tutor and undertutor; termination of tutorship**

The granting of the ~~a~~ **a** decree of ~~full continuing tutorship~~ **full continuing tutorship** shall confer upon the tutor and undertutor the same authority, privileges, and responsibilities

as in other tutorships, including the same authority to give consent for any medical treatment or procedure, to give consent for any educational plan or procedure, and to obtain medical, educational, or other records, but the responsibility of the tutor for the offenses or quasi-offenses of the person with an intellectual disability ~~under full continuing tutorship~~ **under full continuing tutorship** shall be the same as that of a curator for those of the ~~an~~ **an** interdicted person and the tutorship shall not terminate until the decree is set aside by the court of the domicile, or the court of last domicile if the domicile of the person with an intellectual disability is removed from the State of Louisiana.

~~Art. 358.1. Limited continuing tutorship; authority; privileges and duties of tutor and undertutor~~ **Art. 358.1. Limited continuing tutorship; authority; privileges and duties of tutor and undertutor**

~~The granting of a decree of limited continuing tutorship shall confer upon the tutor and undertutor only the authority, privileges, and responsibilities required to protect the interest of the person under limited continuing tutorship.~~ **The granting of a decree of limited continuing tutorship shall confer upon the tutor and undertutor only the authority, privileges, and responsibilities required to protect the interest of the person under limited continuing tutorship.**

~~Art. 358.2. Termination of continuing tutorship~~ **Art. 358.2. Termination of continuing tutorship**

~~A full or limited continuing tutorship shall not terminate until the decree is set aside by the court of the domicile of the person under continuing tutorship, or the court of last domicile if the domicile of the person under continuing tutorship is removed from the state.~~ **A full or limited continuing tutorship shall not terminate until the decree is set aside by the court of the domicile of the person under continuing tutorship, or the court of last domicile if the domicile of the person under continuing tutorship is removed from the state.**

Art. 359. Restriction on legal capacity

The decree if granted shall restrict ~~A person under full continuing tutorship has~~ the legal capacity of the person with an intellectual disability to that of a ~~minor of an unemancipated minor or any lesser capacity as may be ordered in the decree. A person under limited continuing tutorship has legal capacity in accordance with the decree of continuing tutorship.~~ **minor of an unemancipated minor or any lesser capacity as may be ordered in the decree. A person under limited continuing tutorship has legal capacity in accordance with the decree of continuing tutorship.**

Art. 360. Parents’ rights of administration

In addition to the rights of tutorship, the parents shall retain, during the marriage and ~~for during~~ **during** the minority of the child with an intellectual disability ~~under full or limited continuing tutorship~~, all rights of administration granted to parents of children without an intellectual disability ~~not under continuing tutorship~~ during their minority.

Art. 361. Contest of decree restricting legal capacity

The decree restricting his legal capacity may be contested in the court of domicile by the person ~~under full or limited continuing tutorship~~ **under full or limited continuing tutorship** himself or by anyone adversely affected by the decree. For good cause, the court may modify or terminate the decree restricting legal capacity.

Revision Comments – 2024

Under this Article, a person may contest the decree by objecting to its initial issuance or by seeking a later modification or termination of the decree.

Art. 362. Persons subject to interdiction.

Persons subject to ~~mental or physical illness or disability, whether of a temporary or permanent nature, of such a degree as to render them subject to interdiction, under in accordance with~~ the provisions of Title IX hereof of ~~this Book~~, remain subject to interdiction as provided in Articles 389 to ~~through~~ **399, inclusive; and such any other applicable** laws as may relate thereto.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 124

SENATE BILL NO. 183

BY SENATORS CARTER, BARROW, BOUDREAUX, BOUIE, CLOUD, CONNICK, DUPLESSIS, FESI, FIELDS, HARRIS, HENRY, HENSGENS, JACKSON-ANDREWS, JENKINS, KLEINPETER, LAMBERT, MCMATH, MIGUEZ, MILLER, MORRIS AND STINE AND REPRESENTATIVES COX, KNOX, LAFLEUR, MOORE, WALTERS AND WILEY

AN ACT

To amend and reenact Children’s Code Art. 905.1(G) and 908(C)(3) and to enact Children’s Code Art. 905.1(H), relative to delinquency; to require the provision of certain services to juveniles adjudicated as delinquent; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Children’s Code Art. 905.1(G) and 908(C)(3) are hereby amended and reenacted and Children’s Code Art. 905.1(H) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

Art. 905.1. Academic plan for children committed to the Department of Public Safety and Corrections

* * *

~~G. For purposes of this Code, “individualized learning plan” shall include vocational training.~~

~~H. Upon discharge from the department’s custody, a copy of the child’s academic plan and all progress reports shall be provided to the child’s parents or guardian. The department shall provide this information to the school or academic program in which the child is thereafter enrolled upon written request.~~

* * *

Art. 908. Care and treatment by department

* * *

C. At least six months prior to the release of the child, the department shall prepare a written, individualized, and thorough transitional plan developed in collaboration with the child and any agency or department assuming his custody, care, or responsibility.

* * *

(3) The transitional plan shall address the needs of the child, including but not limited to education, health, permanent connections, living arrangements, independent living skills, vocational training, and employment. The services included within the transitional plan shall be offered to the child.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.
A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 125

SENATE BILL NO. 271
BY SENATOR FOIL
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 52:6, relative to jurisdiction over lands under the administration of the United States Department of Defense in this state; to provide for concurrent jurisdiction; to provide for terms, conditions, requirements, and procedures; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 52:6 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§6. Jurisdiction over lands under the administration of the United States Department of Defense.

A. The legislature declares that the purpose of this Act is to ensure that law enforcement services are available on United States military installation property located in this state especially for the enforcement of state fish and game laws and any applicable regulations, and juvenile matters including but not limited to delinquency, children in need of care, families in need of services, and any other matters affecting the safety and welfare of juveniles within the state. The legislature further finds, determines, and declares that this Act is necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, or safety or for appropriations for the support and maintenance of the departments of the state and state institutions.

B.(1) The state of Louisiana hereby accepts the relinquishment of exclusive jurisdiction from the United States pursuant to this Section. The state of Louisiana shall have concurrent jurisdiction with the United States over the United States military installation property indicated pursuant to this Section for as long as the United States controls the property.

(2) The concurrent jurisdiction over the United States military installation property pursuant to this Section is effective upon the governor's written acceptance of a request pursuant to R.S. 52:3 filed by the principal officer, or an authorized representative of the United States who has supervision or control over the property pursuant to 10 U.S.C. 2683, of the property where concurrent jurisdiction is sought, relinquishing exclusive jurisdiction and retaining concurrent jurisdiction over the property.

(3) The governor shall not accept a request filed pursuant to this Section unless the request contains all of the following requirements:

(a) States the name, position, and legal authority of the person requesting the cession.

(b) Unambiguously states the matter for which concurrent jurisdiction is requested.

(c) Describes by metes and bounds the United States military installation property subject to the concurrent jurisdiction request.

(d) Indicates whether the request includes future contiguous expansions of land acquired for military purposes.

(4) If the governor accepts a request pursuant to this Section, the governor's written acceptance shall state the elements of the request that are accepted.

(5) If the governor accepts a request pursuant to this Section, the governor shall submit the following documents to the appropriate recording offices in the state for indexing and submit copies of all of the following documents to the person who requested concurrent jurisdiction:

(a) The United States' request for concurrent jurisdiction.

(b) The governor's written acceptance of concurrent jurisdiction.

(c) A description by metes and bounds of the United States military installation property subject to the concurrent jurisdiction.

C. Upon request by the United States through an authorized representative, the governor may execute appropriate documents to accomplish the cession granted by this Section.

D. The state shall not incur or assume any liability as a result of accepting concurrent jurisdiction pursuant to this Section.

E. Upon the establishment of the concurrent jurisdiction pursuant to this Section, a state agency, local government, or district may, at the sole discretion of the state agency, local government, or district, enter into a reciprocal agreement with a United States agency to designate duties related to the concurrent jurisdiction between the parties. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to create any affirmative obligation on the part of a state agency, local government, or district or to require a state agency, local government, or district to enter into any reciprocal agreement related to the investigation or prosecution of any case, incident, or allegation.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 126

SENATE BILL NO. 285

BY SENATORS CATHEY, BARROW, BASS, BOUIE, FESI AND JENKINS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 30:3(2), (10), (11), (12), (16)(a), 5(C)(2) and (6), 9(B) and (D), 10(A)(1)(a), 11, the introductory paragraph of 103.1(A), 103.1(A)(2)(a), and (C), and 103.2 and R.S. 31:4 and to enact R.S. 30:2.1, 3(18), (19), and (20) and 4(C)(18), (19), and (20), relative to brine extraction; to provide for definitions; to provide for exclusions; to provide for a multiple mineral development area; to provide for adjudication of conflicts; to provide for unit operations; to provide for pooling of production; to provide for production allocation; to provide for reporting; to provide for penalties; to provide for applicability; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 30:3(2), (10), (11), (12), (16)(a), 5(C)(2) and (6), 9(B) and (D), 10(A)(1)(a), 11, the introductory paragraph of 103.1(A), 103.1(A)(2)(a), and (C), and 103.2 are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 30:2.1, 3(18), (19), and (20) and 4(C)(18), (19), and (20) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§2.1. Ownership of brine produced incident to oil and gas operations

Unless expressly provided otherwise by contract, brine produced incident to the production of oil and gas by the person, including operators and producers acting on behalf of the person, who has the right to drill into and to produce from a pool and to appropriate the production, either for himself or for others, belongs to such person, regardless of whether such brine is saved, retained, used, or sold for the purpose of extracting the constituent parts, minerals, elements, compounds, or substances contained in or dissolved in the brine.

§3. Definitions

Unless the context otherwise requires, the words defined in this Section have the following meaning when found in this Chapter:

(2) "Field" means the general area which is underlaid or appears to be underlaid by at least one pool. It includes the underground reservoir or reservoirs containing crude petroleum oil ~~or~~, natural gas ~~or both~~, **brine, or any combination thereof**. The words "field" and "pool" mean the same thing when only one underground reservoir is involved; however, "field" unlike "pool", may relate to two or more pools.

(10) "Pool" means an underground reservoir containing a common accumulation of crude petroleum oil ~~or~~, natural gas ~~or both~~, **brine, or any combination thereof**. Each zone of a general structure which is completely separated from any other zone in the structure is covered by the term "pool" as used in this Chapter. However, to promote the development and production of marginally commercial sands, a zone may contain one or more common accumulations and the overall stratigraphic interval of the zone may be considered and treated as a pool for all purposes of this Chapter.

(11) "Producer" means the owner of a well capable of producing oil ~~or~~, gas ~~or both~~, **brine, or any combination thereof**.

(12) "Product" means any commodity made from oil ~~or~~, gas ~~or~~ **brine**. It includes **but is not limited to** refined crude oil, crude tops, topped crude, processed crude petroleum, residue from crude petroleum, cracking stock, uncracked fuel oil, fuel oil, treated crude oil, residuum, gas oil, casinghead gasoline, natural gas gasoline, naphtha, distillate, gasoline, kerosene, benzine, wash oil, waste oil, blended gasoline, lubricating oil, blends or mixtures of oil with one or more liquid products or by-products derived from oil or gas, ~~and~~ blends or mixtures of two or more liquid products or by-products derived from oil or gas, **lithium carbonate, lithium hydroxide, and any other commodity or product made from the brine or any constituent parts, minerals, elements, compounds, or substances contained in or dissolved in the brine**, whether hereinabove enumerated or not.

(16) "Waste", in addition to its ordinary meaning, means "physical waste" as that term is generally understood in the oil and gas industry. It includes:

(a) the inefficient, excessive, or improper use or dissipation of a reservoir energy; and the location, spacing, drilling, equipping, operating, or producing of an ~~oil or gas~~ well in a manner which results, or tends to result, in reducing the quantity of oil ~~or~~, gas, ~~or~~ **brine** ultimately recoverable from a pool; and

(18) "Brine" means **subterranean saltwater, whether contained in or produced from a reservoir, and all of the saltwater's constituent parts, minerals, elements, compounds, or substances contained in or dissolved in the saltwater, including but not limited to lithium, bromine, barium, magnesium, potassium, sodium, iodine, or other constituent parts, minerals, elements, compounds, or substances produced with or separated from the saltwater. "Brine" does not include brine produced as an incident to the production of oil and gas, unless the brine is saved, retained, used, or sold for the purpose of extracting the constituent parts, minerals, elements, compounds, or substances contained or dissolved in the brine. "Brine" also does not include underground sources of drinking water or brine created through solution mining.**

(19) "Brine production operations" means **the exploration for, development of, or production of brine through the use of a well or wells. "Brine production operations" may include the reinjection of the brine, including after possible extraction of any constituent parts, minerals, elements, compounds, or substances contained in or dissolved in the brine.**

(20) "Multiple mineral development area" means **an area designated by the commissioner for the management and development of various concurrent**

surface and sub-surface mineral or resource production or extraction operations, including exploratory activities, for the purpose of efficient and effective development of minerals or resources in the area without unreasonable interference.

§4. Jurisdiction, duties, and powers of the assistant secretary; rules and regulations

* * *

C. The commissioner has authority to make, after notice and hearings as provided in this Chapter, any reasonable rules, regulations, and orders that are necessary from time to time in the proper administration and enforcement of this Chapter, including rules, regulations, or orders for the following purposes:

* * *

(18) To regulate brine production operations.

(19) To designate an area within the state as a multiple mineral development area for purposes of brine production operations.

(20) To adjudicate and determine multiple mineral development conflicts among brine production operations if any of the following circumstances exist:

(a) There is potential injury to other mineral deposits or mineral development in or beneath the property affected.

(b) There are simultaneous or concurrent operations conducted by other mineral owners or lessees affecting the property.

* * *

§5. Permission to convert gas into carbon black; recycling gas; unit operations

* * *

C.(1)

* * *

(2) In connection with such an order of unit operation, the assistant secretary of the office of conservation shall have the right to unitize, pool, and consolidate all separately owned tracts and other property ownerships. Any order for such a unit operation shall be issued only after notice and hearing and shall be based on **all the following** findings ~~that~~:

(a) The order is reasonably necessary for the prevention of waste and the drilling of unnecessary wells, and will appreciably increase the ultimate recovery of oil ~~or~~, gas, **or brine** from the affected pool or combination of two pools;

(b) The proposed unit operation is economically feasible;

(c) The order will provide for the allocation to each separate tract within the unit of a proportionate share of the unit production which shall insure the recovery by the owners of that tract of their just and equitable share of the recoverable oil ~~or~~, gas, **or brine** in the unitized pool or combination of two pools; ~~and~~.

(d) **At least three-fourths of the owners and three-fourths of the royalty owners, as to a particular interest, as hereinafter defined, such three-fourths to be in interest as determined under Subparagraph (c) hereof of this Paragraph, shall have approved the plan and terms of unit operation, such approval to be evidenced by a written contract or contracts covering the terms and operation of the unitization signed and executed by the three-fourths in interest of the owners and three-fourths in interest of the said royalty owners and filed with the assistant secretary of the office of conservation on or before the day set for the hearing. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Subparagraph to the contrary, with respect to an order for unit operation for the production of brine, such approval shall only be required from at least three-fourths of the owners as to the particular interest, such approval to be evidenced by a written contract or contracts covering the terms and operation of the unitization signed and executed by the three-fourths in interest of the owners and filed with the assistant secretary of the office of conservation on or before the day set for the hearing.**

* * *

(6) No order of the commissioner entered pursuant hereto shall have the effect of enlarging, displacing, varying, altering, or in anywise whatsoever modifying or changing contracts in existence on the effective date of this Act concerning the unitization of any pool (reservoir) or pools (reservoirs) or field (as defined in the contract) for the production of oil ~~or~~, gas, ~~or both~~ **brine, or any combination thereof.**

* * *

§9. Production from pool; drilling units; equitable share; rules and regulations

A.

* * *

B. For the prevention of waste and to avoid the drilling of unnecessary wells, the commissioner shall establish a drilling unit or units for each pool, except for those pools which, prior to July 31, 1940, had been developed to an extent and where conditions exist making it impracticable or unreasonable to use a drilling unit at the present stage of development. A drilling unit, as contemplated herein, means the maximum area which may be efficiently and economically drained by the well or wells designated to serve the drilling unit as the unit well, substitute unit well, or alternate unit well. This unit shall constitute a developed area as long as a well is located thereon which is capable of producing oil ~~or~~, gas, **or brine** in paying quantities.

* * *

D. Subject to the reasonable necessities for the prevention of waste, and to reasonable adjustment because of structural position, a producer's just and equitable share of the oil ~~and~~, gas, **or brine** in the pool, also referred to as a tract's just and equitable share, is that part of the authorized production of the pool, whether it be the total which could be produced without any

restriction on the amount of production, or whether it be an amount less than that which the pool could produce if no restriction on amount were imposed, which is substantially in the proportion that the quantity of recoverable oil ~~and~~, gas, **or brine** in the developed area of his tract or tracts in the pool bears to the recoverable oil ~~and~~, gas, **or brine** in the total developed area of the pool, in so far as these amounts can be practically ascertained. To that end, the rules, regulations, and orders of the commissioner shall be such as will prevent or minimize reasonably avoidable net drainage from each developed area, that is, drainage not equalized by counter drainage, and will give to each producer the opportunity to use his just and equitable share of the ~~reservoir energy~~ **production**. In determining each producer's just and equitable share of the production authorized for the pool, the commissioner is authorized to give due consideration to the productivity of the well or wells located thereon, as determined by flow tests, bottom hole pressure tests, or any other practical method of testing wells and producing structures, and to consider other factors and geological and engineering tests and data as may be determined by the commissioner to be pertinent or relevant to ascertaining each producer's just and equitable share of the production ~~and reservoir energy~~ of the field or pool.

§10. Agreements for drilling units; pooling interests; terms and conditions; expenses

A.

* * *

(1)

* * *

(a) All orders requiring pooling shall be made after notice and hearing. They shall be upon terms and conditions that are just and reasonable and that will afford the owner of each tract the opportunity to recover or receive his just and equitable share of the oil ~~and~~, gas, **or brine** in the pool without unnecessary expense. They shall prevent or minimize reasonable avoidable drainage from each developed tract which is not equalized by counter drainage.

* * *

§11. Allocation of allowable production

A. Whenever the commissioner limits the total amount of oil ~~or~~, gas, **or brine** which may be produced, he shall allocate the allowable production among the fields. This allocation shall be made on a reasonable basis, giving, to each field with small wells of settled production, an amount which will prevent a general premature abandonment of the wells in the field.

B. The commissioner may limit the production of a pool to an amount less than that which the pool could produce if no restriction were imposed. This limitation may be imposed either as an incident to or without a limitation of the total amount of oil ~~or~~, gas, **or brine** which may be produced in this state. The commissioner shall prorate the allowable production among the producers in the pool on a reasonable basis so as to prevent or minimize avoidable drainage from each developed area which is not equalized by counter drainage, and so that each producer will have the opportunity to produce or receive his just and equitable share, subject to the reasonable necessities for the prevention of waste.

C. After the effective date of a rule, regulation, or order of the commissioner fixing the allowable production of oil ~~or~~, gas, or ~~both~~ **brine**, for a pool, no person shall produce from a well, lease, or property more than the allowable production which is applicable, nor shall the amount be produced in a different manner than that authorized.

* * *

§103.1. Operators and producers to report to owners of unleased oil ~~and~~, gas **or brine** interests

A. Whenever there is included within a drilling unit, as authorized by the commissioner of conservation, lands producing oil ~~or~~, gas, ~~or both~~ **brine, or any combination thereof**, upon which the operator or producer has no valid oil, gas, or mineral lease, ~~said the~~ operator or producer shall issue the following reports to the owners of ~~said the~~ interests by a sworn, detailed, itemized statement:

* * *

(2) After establishment of production from the unit well, quarterly reports which shall contain the following:

(a) The total amount of oil, gas, **brine**, or other hydrocarbons produced from the lands during the previous quarter.

* * *

C. Reports shall be sent by certified mail to each owner of an unleased oil ~~or~~, gas, **or brine** interest who has requested such reports in writing, by certified mail addressed to the operator or producer. The written request shall contain the unleased interest owner's name and address. Initial reports shall be sent no later than ninety calendar days after the completion of the well. The operator or producer shall begin sending quarterly reports within ninety calendar days after receiving the written request, whichever is later, and shall continue sending quarterly reports until cessation of production.

* * *

§103.2. Failure to report; penalty

Whenever the operator or producer permits ninety calendar days to elapse from completion of the well and thirty additional calendar days to elapse from date of receipt of written notice by certified mail from the owner or owners of unleased oil ~~and~~, gas, **or brine** interests calling attention to failure to comply with the provisions of R.S. 30:103.1, such operator or producer shall forfeit his right to demand contribution from the owner or owners of the unleased oil ~~and~~, gas, **or brine** interests for the costs of the drilling operations of the well.

Section 2. R.S. 31:4 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§4. Substances to which Code applicable

The provisions of this Code are applicable to all forms of minerals, including oil and gas. They are also applicable to rights to explore for or mine or remove from land the soil itself, gravel, shells, subterranean water **including brine**, or other substances occurring naturally in or as a part of the soil or geological formations on or underlying the land.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 127

SENATE BILL NO. 379

BY SENATORS MIGUEZ AND KLEINPETER AND REPRESENTATIVES
BOYER, BROWN, CHASSION, CREWS, EMERSON, MCCORMICK, OWEN,
ROMERO AND SCHAMERHORN

AN ACT

To repeal R.S. 32:57(J) and 268, relative to the Atchafalaya Basin Bridge; to repeal designation as a highway safety corridor; to repeal provisions for camera safety devices; to repeal provisions relative to traffic regulations; to repeal provisions for signs and penalties; and to provide for related matters. Be enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 32:57(J) and 268 are hereby repealed in their entirety.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 128

HOUSE BILL NO. 61

BY REPRESENTATIVES HORTON, ADAMS, AMEDEE, BAYHAM,
BILLINGS, BOYD, BRYANT, ROBBY CARTER, WILFORD CARTER,
CHASSION, CHENEVERT, DAVIS, DICKERSON, ECHOLS, EMERSON,
FONTENOT, JACKSON, MIKE JOHNSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON, KNOX,
MOORE, OWEN, RISER, SCHAMERHORN, SCHLEGEL, SELDERS,
TAYLOR, AND WALTERS AND SENATORS COUSSAN AND TALBOT

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 29:26.1(B)(9) (introductory paragraph), relative to the Louisiana National Guard; to provide relative to definitions; to provide relative to death and disability benefits; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 29:26.1(B)(9)(introductory paragraph) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§26.1. National Guard death and disability benefits

* * *

B. Definitions. As used in this Section, the following terms shall have the following meanings unless a different meaning is clearly required by context:

* * *

(9) "Period of activation" means service during any declared national emergency or contingency operations as defined by 10 U.S.C. 101(a)(13), or during ~~any state of emergency declared by the governor of the state of Louisiana any period of state active duty ordered by the governor of the state of Louisiana pursuant to R.S. 29:7, within any of the following:~~

* * *

Section 2. The provisions of this Act shall apply to all deaths or disabilities occurring on or after January 1, 2024.

Section 3. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 129

HOUSE BILL NO. 100
BY REPRESENTATIVE CARLSON
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Civil Procedure Article 4844 and R.S. 13:1443(B), relative to civil jurisdiction for parish and city courts; to remove the jurisdictional amounts in eviction proceedings; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Civil Procedure Article 4844 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 4844. Amount in dispute; eviction proceedings

~~A. Except as otherwise provided in this Article, a parish court or city~~

THE ADVOCATE
PAGE 48

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

court shall have jurisdiction, concurrent with the district court, over suits by owners and landlords for the possession of leased premises as follows:

~~(1) When the lease is by the day and the daily rental is one hundred fifty dollars or less.~~

~~(2) When the lease is by the week and the weekly rental is five hundred dollars or less.~~

~~(3) When the lease is by the month and the monthly rental is three thousand dollars or less.~~

~~(4) When the lease is by the year and the annual rental is thirty-six thousand dollars or less.~~

~~(5) When the suit is to evict an occupant as defined by Article 4704, if the annual value of the right of occupancy does not exceed the amount in dispute to which the jurisdiction of the court is limited by Articles 4842 and 4843 or as to the amounts set forth in Subparagraphs (3) and (4) of this Paragraph.~~

~~B. In the City Court of East St. Tammany, the city court shall have the same jurisdictional limit for possession of leased premises in eviction proceedings as provided for in Article 4912 for justice of the peace courts.~~

~~C. In the City Court of Hammond, the city court shall have jurisdiction over suits by owners and landlords for the possession of leased premises when the lease is by the month and the monthly rental is five thousand dollars or less.~~

~~D. In computing the jurisdictional amount for purposes of eviction suits, the daily, weekly, monthly, annual, or other rental provided by the lease, exclusive of interest, penalties, or attorney fees, shall determine the amount in dispute.~~

Notwithstanding Articles 4842(A) and 4843, a parish court or city court shall, within its territorial jurisdiction, have jurisdiction, concurrent with the district court, over the following matters, regardless of the amount of daily, monthly, or yearly rent or the rent for the unexpired term of the lease or the annual value of the right of occupancy:

(1) Suits by owners and landlords for the possession of leased premises.

(2) Suits by landowners or lessors for eviction of occupants or tenants of leased residential premises.

(3) Suits to evict an occupant as defined by Article 4704.

(4) Suits by landowners or lessors for the eviction of occupants or tenants of leased commercial premises and leased farmlands.

Section 2. R.S. 13:1443(B) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1443. Civil jurisdiction; amount in controversy; eviction suits; injunctive actions

* * *

B.(4) A parish court shall have jurisdiction, concurrent with the district court, over suits by owners and landlords for the possession of leased premises within its territorial jurisdiction, as follows: in accordance with Code of Civil Procedure Article 4844.

~~(a) When the amount of the rental does not exceed the jurisdictional amounts provided in Code of Civil Procedure Article 4844(A).~~

~~(b) When the suit is to evict an occupant, as defined by Article 4704 of the Code of Civil Procedure, if the annual value of the right of occupancy does not exceed the amount in dispute to which the jurisdiction of the court is limited by Subsection A of this Section.~~

~~(2) In computing the jurisdictional amount for purposes of eviction suits, the daily, weekly, monthly, annual, or other rental provided by the lease, exclusive of interest, penalties, or attorney fees shall determine the amount in dispute.~~

* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 130

HOUSE BILL NO. 175
BY REPRESENTATIVE MCMAKIN
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:107.4(A) and (C) and to enact R.S. 14:107.4(F), relative to unlawful posting of criminal activity for notoriety and publicity; to provide relative to the elements of the offense; to provide for a definition; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:107.4(A) and (C) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 14:107.4(F) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§107.4. Unlawful posting of criminal activity for notoriety and publicity

A. It shall be unlawful for a person who is either a principal or accessory to a crime to obtain an image, live-stream, or video of the commission of the crime using any camera, videotape, photo-optical, photo-electric, or any other image recording device and to transfer that image, live-stream, or video obtained during the commission of the crime by the use of a computer online service, Internet service, or any other means of electronic communication, including but not limited to a local bulletin board service, Internet chat room, electronic mail, or online messaging service for the purpose of gaining notoriety, publicity, or the attention of the public.

* * *

C. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to any of the following:

(1) The obtaining, use, or transference of such images, live-streams,

CODING: Words in struck through type are deletions from existing law; words under scored (House Bills) and underscored and boldfaced (Senate Bills) are additions.

or videos by a telephone company, cable television company, or any of its affiliates, an Internet provider, or commercial online service provider, or to the carrying, broadcasting, or performing of related activities in providing telephone, cable television, Internet, or commercial online services or in the production, exhibition, or presentation of an audiovisual work in any medium, including but not limited to a motion picture or television program.

(2) The obtaining, use, or transference of such images, live-streams, or videos by a law enforcement officer pursuant to investigation of criminal activity.

(3) The obtaining, use, or transference of such images, live-stream, or video by any bona fide member of the news media broadcasting a news report through television, cable television, or other telecommunication.

(4) The obtaining, use, or transference of such images, live-streams, or videos for use in a feature-length film, short subject film, video, television series, television program, public service announcement, or commercial.

F. For the purposes of this Section, “live-stream” shall mean a video of an event distributed on the Internet while the event is taking place.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 131

HOUSE BILL NO. 208

BY REPRESENTATIVES VILLIO, ADAMS, BACALA, BILLINGS, BOYD,
BOYER, CARLSON, CHASSION, CHENEVERT, DAVIS, DEWITT,
EMERSON, FISHER, HORTON, HUGHES, KNOX, LAFLEUR, MOORE,
NEWELL, OWEN, SCHLEGEL, SELDERS, AND TAYLOR

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:34.9(L) and (N) and 35.3(L) and (N), relative to certain domestic violence offenses; to provide for additional penalties when the offense involves strangulation; and to provide for related matters. Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:34.9(L) and (N) and 35.3(L) and (N) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§34.9. Battery of a dating partner
* * *

L.(1) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, if the offense involves strangulation, the offender, in addition to any other penalties imposed pursuant to this Section, shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not more than three years.

(2) If the strangulation results in serious bodily injury, the offender, in addition to any other penalties imposed pursuant to this Section, shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not less than five nor more than fifty years without benefit of probation, parole, or suspension of sentence.
* * *

N. Except as provided in Paragraph Paragraphs (L)(2) and (M)(2) and Subsection P of this Section, if the offender intentionally inflicts serious bodily injury, the offender, in addition to any other penalties imposed pursuant to this Section, shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not more than eight years.
* * *

§35.3. Domestic abuse battery
* * *

L.(1) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, if the domestic abuse battery involves strangulation, the offender, in addition to any other penalties imposed pursuant to this Section, shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not more than three years.

(2) If the strangulation results in serious bodily injury, the offender, in addition to any other penalties imposed pursuant to this Section, shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not less than five nor more than fifty years without benefit of probation, parole, or suspension of sentence.
* * *

N. Except as provided in Paragraph Paragraphs (L)(2) and (M)(2) and Subsection P of this Section, if the offender intentionally inflicts serious bodily injury, the offender, in addition to any other penalties imposed pursuant to this Section, shall be imprisoned at hard labor for not more than eight years.
* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 132

HOUSE BILL NO. 283

BY REPRESENTATIVES SCHLEGEL, ADAMS, BAYHAM, BERAULT, BOYD,
BOYER, BRAUD, BRYANT, BUTLER, CARLSON, CARPENTER, ROBBY
CARTER, WILFORD CARTER, CARVER, CHASSION, CHENEVERT,
COATES, COX, CREWS, DAVIS, DEWITT, DICKERSON, DOMANGUE,
EDMONSTON, EGAN, FISHER, FREEMAN, FREIBERG, HEBERT,

HORTON, HUGHES, JACKSON, MIKE JOHNSON, JORDAN, KNOX,
LAFLEUR, JACOB LANDRY, LARVADAIN, LYONS, MARCELLE,
MILLER, MOORE, MYERS, OWEN, RISER, SCHAMERHORN, SELDERS,
TAYLOR, VILLIO, WALTERS, WILDER, WILEY, AND WYBLE AND
SENATOR CONNICK

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 40:1464, relative to commercial driver's instruction; to require commercial driver's training offered by an educational institution or agency include instruction on human trafficking; to require the Board of Regents to establish industry specific anti-trafficking training materials; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 40:1464 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1464. Commercial driver's curriculum; human trafficking training

A. Beginning January 1, 2025, any trade school, community college, agency, public or private school, or person offering instruction in the operation of commercial motor vehicles as part of a commercial motor vehicle driving course curriculum shall include a minimum of thirty minutes of industry specific anti-trafficking training on the recognition, prevention, and reporting of human trafficking.

B. The Board of Regents shall identify and establish industry specific anti-trafficking training materials for use in instruction on the recognition, prevention, and effective reporting of human trafficking by applicants as a requirement to obtain a Class "A", "B", or "C" commercial driver's license. The board may collaborate with organizations that specialize in and offer training materials on the recognition, prevention, and reporting of human trafficking for commercial truckers. The board shall review and update the training materials to account for changes and trends in human trafficking once every three years, at minimum. The provisions contained in this Subsection shall become effective on August 1, 2024.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 133

HOUSE BILL NO. 480
BY REPRESENTATIVE MYERS
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 47:164(D)(3), (E), and (F), relative to income tax withholding; to provide requirements for income tax withholdings on certain winnings; to provide for procedures of the Department of Revenue with respect to certain income tax withholdings; to require reporting in connection with such withholdings; to require promulgation of administrative rules; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 47:164(D)(3), (E), and (F) are hereby enacted to read as follows:
§164. Information required and withholding of tax at source
* * *

D. Withholding of tax at source.
* * *

(3)(a)(i) Any person that pays gaming winnings won in this state shall withhold individual income taxes at the highest rate provided for in R.S. 47:32(A) if federal income taxes are required to be withheld on those winnings pursuant to 26 U.S.C. 3402.

(ii) Notwithstanding Item (i) of this Subparagraph, casinos that pay slot machine winnings and are required to issue an IRS Form W2-G to the recipient shall withhold individual income taxes on those winnings at the highest rate provided for in R.S. 47:32(A).

(iii) Any person that pays sports wagering or fantasy sports contest winnings won in this state shall withhold individual income taxes at the highest rate provided for in R.S. 47:32(A) if federal income taxes are required to be withheld on those winnings pursuant to 26 U.S.C. 3402.

(b) The requirements of Subparagraph (a) of this Paragraph shall apply with respect to winnings of all individuals, whether residents or nonresidents of this state.

(c) On or before the thirty-first day of January of each year, any person required to deduct and withhold income taxes on winnings in accordance with Subparagraph (a) of this Paragraph shall submit to the secretary of the Department of Revenue, in electronic format, a report listing the names of all persons whose winnings were subject to withholding in the prior calendar year and provide all other information in connection with such winnings as the department may require by rule.

E.(1) Any person required to deduct and withhold any tax pursuant to this Section shall electronically report and remit the withholdings to the secretary of the Department of Revenue in accordance with the requirements provided in R.S. 47:112(L) and 114.

(2) The provisions of R.S. 47:115 shall apply to this Section.

F. The secretary of the Department of Revenue shall promulgate in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act all such rules as are necessary to implement the provisions of this Section.

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:

Nancy Landry

ACT No. 134

HOUSE BILL NO. 519
BY REPRESENTATIVE FARNUM
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 13:1881(B), 1883(A)(introductory paragraph), (B), and (C), and 1889(A) and (B), relative to certain marshals and constables of city courts; to provide relative to elections and designations of marshals and constables; to provide for the compensation of certain marshals and constables; to provide for the designation of the marshal of the city of Sulphur; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:1881(B), 1883(A)(introductory paragraph), (B), and (C), and 1889(A) and (B) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1881. General powers and duties of marshal; deputy marshals
* * *

B. The marshal may appoint one or more deputy marshals having the same powers and authority as the marshal, but the marshal shall be responsible for their actions. The compensation of the deputy marshals shall be fixed and paid by the governing authorities of the ~~city or parish, or both city or cities or parish, or all governing authorities~~, where the court is ~~located~~ has territorial jurisdiction. The city marshal may use funds available for expenses of his office, including proceeds from costs assessed in criminal matters pursuant to R.S. 13:1899, to pay an amount in excess of the fixed salary or to pay the amount fixed or any portion thereof to deputy marshals or to employ additional deputies. However, nothing herein shall authorize the city marshal to fix or supplement his own salary. In no event shall the salary of any deputy exceed that of his city marshal.
* * *

§1883. Compensation of marshal

A. The marshals of the city courts enumerated in this Subsection shall receive as compensation for their services the following minimum salaries, payable monthly on their own warrant and which, except as otherwise indicated, shall be paid in equal proportions by the respective governing authorities of the ~~city and parish city or cities or parish, or all governing authorities~~, where the court is ~~located~~ has territorial jurisdiction:
* * *

B. The marshals of the following city courts shall receive an annual salary, payable monthly on their own warrants, which shall be fixed and paid by the respective governing authorities of the ~~city and parish city or cities or parish, or all governing authorities~~, where the court is ~~located or either of them~~ has territorial jurisdiction, in the proportions they may determine: Bastrop, Bogalusa, Bunkie, Crowley. The annual salary paid by the city of Bunkie shall not be less than \$600.

C. Except as provided in R.S. 13:2071, in all other cases the marshal's salary shall be paid by the governing body of the ~~city and parish city or cities or parish, or all governing authorities~~, where the court is ~~located~~ has territorial jurisdiction, in such amounts as they may determine, except that where the population of the territorial jurisdiction of the court is more than 10,000 inhabitants, the marshal shall receive a minimum annual salary of \$3,600 payable monthly in equal proportions by the governing authorities of the city and parish on the warrant of the marshal.
* * *

§1889. Court room and offices

A. The city where the court is situated shall furnish a suitable ~~city court~~ room and suitable offices for the judge, clerk, and marshal. It shall also furnish adequate fireproof vaults or other filing equipment for the preservation of the records of the court.

B. The necessary expenses of operation and maintenance of the court ~~room~~ and offices shall be borne by the ~~city, or may be apportioned between the city and parish as the respective governing authorities may determine city or cities or parish, or all governing authorities~~, as determined by the respective governing authorities.
* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State

ACT No. 135

HOUSE BILL NO. 605
BY REPRESENTATIVE HENRY
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 22:1968, 1969(A)(introductory paragraph), and 2191(B)(1), relative to insurance matters; to provide relative to hearing notices and violations; to provide for electronic or physical delivery of notices; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:1968, 1969(A)(introductory paragraph), and 2191(B)(1) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1968. Notice of hearing

~~A. Whenever~~ If the commissioner ~~shall have~~ has reason to believe that any person has been engaged or is engaging in this state in any unfair trade practice as defined in this Code, whether or not defined in this Part, the commissioner shall issue a notice of wrongful conduct to that person in accordance and compliance with R.S. 49:977.3 describing the unfair trade practice and citing the law which is deemed by the commissioner to be violated.

B. The commissioner may promulgate and adopt rules in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act to provide means of electronic delivery of the notice required in this Section.

§1969. Violations; penalties

A. If, after receiving the person's answer or response or if no answer or response is received within twenty days of receipt of mailing, faxing, or electronic or physical delivery of the notice, the commissioner shall determine that the person charged has engaged in an unfair method of competition or an unfair or deceptive act or practice, the commissioner shall reduce his findings to writing and shall issue and cause to be served upon the person charged with the violation a copy of such findings and an order requiring such person to cease and desist from engaging in such method of competition, act, or practice and order any one or more of the following:
* * *

§2191. Hearings
* * *

B.(1) Any demand for a hearing shall be filed by the aggrieved party with the commissioner within thirty days after mailing of notice of the act or order to the aggrieved party's last known address or within thirty days after the electronic or physical delivery of notice of the act or order to the aggrieved party. The demand for hearing shall specify in what respects the person is aggrieved and the grounds upon which relief should be granted at the hearing. The aggrieved person shall reference the particular sections of the statutes and rules involved, shall provide a short and plain statement of matters asserted for review, and shall attach a copy of any order or decision of the commissioner for review.
* * *

Approved by the Governor, May 22, 2024.

A true copy:
Nancy Landry
Secretary of State